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PART I. CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1. Financial Statements

iStar Inc.
Consolidated Balance Sheets
(In thousands, except per share data)
(unaudited)

ASSETS

Real estate

Real estate, at cost

Less: accumulated depreciation

Real estate, net

Real estate available and held for sale

Total real estate

Net investment in leases
Land and development, net
Loans receivable and other lending investments, net
Other investments
Cash and cash equivalents
Accrued interest and operating lease income receivable, net
Deferred operating lease income receivable, net
Deferred expenses and other assets, net

Total assets

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Liabilities:
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities
Liabilities associated with properties held for sale
Loan participations payable, net
Debt obligations, net

Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies (refer to Note 12)
Equity:
iStar Inc. shareholders' equity:
Preferred Stock Series D, G and I, liquidation preference $25.00 per share (refer to Note 14)
Convertible Preferred Stock Series J, liquidation preference $50.00 per share (refer to Note 14)

Common Stock, $0.001 par value, 200,000 shares authorized, 62,168 and 68,085 shares issued and outstanding as of September 30, 2019 and
December 31, 2018, respectively

Additional paid-in capital

Accumulated deficit

Accumulated other comprehensive loss (refer to Note 14)
Total iStar Inc. shareholders' equity

Noncontrolling interests
Total equity
Total liabilities and equity

Note - Refer to Note 2 for details on the Company's consolidated variable interest entities ("VIEs").

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.

As of
December 31,
September 30, 2019 2018
1,756,524 $ 2,076,333
(226,408) (305,314)
1,530,116 1,771,019
12,688 22,551
1,542,804 1,793,570
421,252 —
610,380 598,218
808,289 988,224
733,793 304,275
917,309 931,751
8,337 10,669
50,366 98,302
487,428 289,268
5,579,958 $ 5,014,277
418,676 $ 316,251
165 2,341
33,135 22,484
3,827,359 3,609,086
4,279,335 3,950,162
12 12
4 4
62 68
3,297,805 3,352,225
(2,153,245) (2,472,061)
(40,522) (17,270)
1,104,116 862,978
196,507 201,137
1,300,623 1,064,115
5,579,958 $ 5,014,277
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Revenues:
Operating lease income
Interest income
Interest income from sales-type leases
Other income
Land development revenue
Total revenues
Costs and expenses:
Interest expense
Real estate expense
Land development cost of sales
Depreciation and amortization
General and administrative
(Recovery of) provision for loan losses
Impairment of assets
Other expense
Total costs and expenses
Income from sales of real estate
Income (loss) from operations before earnings from equity method investments and other items
Loss on early extinguishment of debt, net
Earnings (losses) from equity method investments
Selling profit from sales-type leases
Gain on consolidation of equity method investment
Net income (loss) before income taxes
Income tax expense
Net income (loss)
Net (income) attributable to noncontrolling interests
Net income (loss) attributable to iStar Inc.
Preferred dividends
Net income (loss) allocable to common shareholders
Per common share data:
Net income (loss) allocable to common shareholders:
Basic
Diluted
Weighted average number of common shares:
Basic

Diluted

iStar Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Operations
(In thousands, except per share data)
(unaudited)

For the Three Months Ended September 30,

For the Nine Months Ended September 30,

2019 2018 2019 2018

$ 44,110 59,109 158,210 149,516
19,701 22,915 60,417 74,824

8,339 — 12,157 —

18,270 27,808 43,133 63,951

54,918 12,309 76,691 369,665

145,338 122,141 350,608 657,956

46,522 47,219 136,851 135,572

23,187 32,287 71,165 105,511

48,101 12,114 71,785 318,881

14,199 19,979 43,586 41,857

24,110 21,613 72,512 73,655

(3,805) 200 (3,792) 18,237

= 989 4,953 11,177

407 298 12,798 5,180

152,721 134,699 409,858 710,070

3,476 5,409 233,406 79,353

(3,907) (7,149) 174,156 27,239

— (911) (468) (3,447)
7,617 (635) 16,566 (4,581)

— 180,416 —

= = 67,877

3,710 (8,695) 370,670 87,088
(84) (137) (323) (386)

3,626 (8,832) 370,347 86,702

(2,845) (2,028) (8,168) (11,632)

781 (10,860) 362,179 75,070

(8,124) (8,124) (24,372) (24,372)

$ (7,343) (18,984) 337,807 50,698
$ (0.12) (0.28) 5.23 0.75
$ (0.12) (0.28) 4.26 0.69
62,168 67,975 64,624 67,940

62,168 67,975 80,876 83,729

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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iStar Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss)
(In thousands)

(unaudited)
For the Three Months Ended September 30, For the Nine Months Ended September 30,
2019 2018 2019 2018
Net income (loss) $ 3,626 $ 8,832) $ 370,347  $ 86,702
Other comprehensive income (loss):
Impact from adoption of new accounting standards — — — 276
Reclassification of losses on cumulative translation adjustment into earnings upon realization® — — — 721
Reclassification of (gains) losses on cash flow hedges into earnings upon realization® 665 101 13,408 (1,683)
Unrealized gains (losses) on available-for-sale securities 777 (558) 2,486 (1,514)
Unrealized gains (losses) on cash flow hedges (9,091) 3,900 (45,090) 6,258
Unrealized losses on cumulative translation adjustment — — — (364)
Other comprehensive income (loss) (7,649) 3,443 (29,196) 3,694
Comprehensive income (loss) (4,023) (5,389) 341,151 90,396
Comprehensive (income) loss attributable to noncontrolling interests (1,581) (2,848) (2,224) (12,452)
Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to iStar Inc. $ (5,604) $ 8,237) $ 338,927 $ 77,944
1) Amounts were reclassified to "Earnings (losses) from equity method investments" in the Company's consolidated statements of operations.
[@)] Amounts reclassified to "Interest expense” in the Company's consolidated statements of operations is $539 and $957 for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2019, respectively, and $144 for each of the three and nine months

ended September 30, 2018. Amount reclassified to "Income from sales of real estate” in the Company's consolidated statements of operations is $806 for the nine months ended September 30, 2019 and amount reclassified to "Gain on
consolidation of equity method investment" for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 is $1,876. Amounts reclassified to "Earnings (losses) from equity method investments" in the Company's consolidated statements of operations are
$126 and $(28) for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2019, respectively, and $(43) and $47 for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2018, respectively. Amount reclassified to "Other expense" in the Company's
consolidated statements of operations is $11,673 for the nine months ended September 30, 2019 resulting from hedged forecasted transactions becoming not probable to occur.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.



Balance as of June 30, 2019

Dividends declared—preferred

Dividends declared—common ($0.10 per share)

Issuance of stock/restricted stock unit amortization, net
Net income

Change in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)
Repurchase of stock

Distributions to noncontrolling interests

Balance as of September 30, 2019

Balance as of June 30, 2018

Dividends declared—preferred

Dividends declared—common ($0.09 per share)
Issuance of stock/restricted stock unit amortization, net
Net income (loss)

Change in accumulated other comprehensive income
Contributions from noncontrolling interests
Distributions to noncontrolling interests

Balance as of September 30, 2018

iStar Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity

(In thousands)
(unaudited)

iStar Inc. Shareholders’ Equity

Accumulated
Preferred Common Additional Retained Other
Preferred Stock Series Stock at Paid-In Earnings Comprehensive Noncontrolling Total
Stock® Jo Par Capital (Deficit) Income (Loss) Interests Equity
12 $ 4 62 $ 3,297,303 $  (2139611) $ (34,137) $ 197,564 $ 1,321,197
— — — — (8,124) — — (8,124)
— — — — (6,291) — — (6,291)
— — — 944 — — 677 1,621
— — — — 781 — 2,845 3,626
— — — — — (6,385) (1,264) (7,649)
— — — (442) — — — (442)
— — — — — — (3,315) (3,315)
12 $ 4 62 $ 3,297,805 $ (2,153,245) $ (40,522)  $ 196,507 $ 1,300,623
12 $ 4 68 $ 3,350,750 $  (2,325289) $ (2231) $ 189,264 $ 1,212,578
_ _ _ — (8,124) — — (8,124)
— — — — (6,165) — — (6,165)
— — — 828 — — — 828
— — — — (10,860) — 2,028 (8,832)
— — — — — 2,623 820 3,443
— — — — — — 1,300 1,300
— — — — — — (2,826) (2,826)
12 $ 4 68 $ 3,351,578 $ (2,350,438) $ 392 $ 190,586 $ 1,192,202

(€] Refer to Note 14 for details on the Company's Preferred Stock.



iStar Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity
(In thousands)
(unaudited)

iStar Inc. Shareholders' Equity

Accumulated
Preferred Common Additional Retained Other
Preferred Stock Series Stock at Paid-In Earnings Comprehensive Noncontrolling Total
Stock® Jo Par Capital (Deficit) Income (Loss) Interests Equity

Balance as of December 31, 2018 $ 12 $ 4 $ 68 $ 3,352,225 $  (2472,061) $ (17,270) $ 201,137 $ 1,064,115
Dividends declared—preferred — — — — (24,372) — — (24,372)
Dividends declared—common ($0.29 per share) — — — — (18,991) — — (18,991)
Issuance of stock/restricted stock unit amortization, net — — — 4,361 — — 2,032 6,393
Net income — — — — 362,179 — 8,168 370,347
Change in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) — — — — — (23,252) (5,944) (29,196)
Repurchase of stock — — (6) (58,781) — — — (58,787)
Contributions from noncontrolling interests — — — — — — 2,039 2,039
Distributions to noncontrolling interests — — — — — — (10,925) (10,925)
Balance as of September 30, 2019 $ 12 $ 4 $ 62 $ 3,297,805 $ (2,153,245) $ (40,522) $ 196,507 $ 1,300,623
Balance as of December 31, 2017 $ 12 % 4 % 68 $ 3352665 $ (2,470,564) $ (2,482 $ 34546 |[$ 914,249
Dividends declared—preferred — — — — (24,372) — — (24,372)
Dividends declared—common ($0.09 per share) — — — — (6,165) — — (6,165)
Issuance of stock/restricted stock unit amortization, net — — 1 7,216 — — — 7,217
Net income — — — — 75,070 — 11,632 86,702
Change in accumulated other comprehensive income — — — — — 2,598 820 3,418
Repurchase of stock — — 1) (8,303) — — — (8,304)
Contributions from noncontrolling interests — — — — — — 1,309 1,309
Distributions to noncontrolling interests — — — — — — (46,000) (46,000)
Change in noncontrolling interest attributable to consolidation of equity

method investment (refer to Note 8) — — — — — — 188,279 188,279
Impact from adoption of new accounting standards — — — — 75,593 276 — 75,869
Balance as of September 30, 2018 $ 12 $ 4 $ 68 $ 3,351,578 $ (2,350438) $ 392 $ 190,586 $ 1,192,202

(€3] Refer to Note 14 for details on the Company's Preferred Stock.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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iStar Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(In thousands)
(unaudited)

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to cash flows from operating activities:
Provision for loan losses
Impairment of assets
Depreciation and amortization
Non-cash interest income from sales-type leases
Stock-based compensation expense
Amortization of discounts/premiums and deferred financing costs on debt obligations, net
Amortization of discounts/premiums and deferred interest on loans, net
Deferred interest on loans received
Gain from consolidation of equity method investment
Selling profit from sales-type leases
Earnings from equity method investments
Distributions from operations of other investments
Deferred operating lease income
Income from sales of real estate
Land development revenue in excess of cost of sales
Loss on early extinguishment of debt, net
Other operating activities, net
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Deposit on loan to be held for sale
Changes in accrued interest and operating lease income receivable
Changes in deferred expenses and other assets, net
Changes in accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities
Cash flows used in operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities:
Originations and fundings of loans receivable, net
Capital expenditures on real estate assets
Capital expenditures on land and development assets
Acquisitions of real estate, net investments in leases and land assets
Repayments of and principal collections on loans receivable and other lending investments, net
Net proceeds from sales of loans receivable
Net proceeds from sales of real estate
Net proceeds from sales of land and development assets
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash acquired upon consolidation of equity method investment
Distributions from other investments
Contributions to and acquisition of interest in other investments
Other investing activities, net
Cash flows provided by (used in) investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities:
Borrowings from debt obligations
Repayments and repurchases of debt obligations
Preferred dividends paid
Common dividends paid
Repurchase of stock
Payments for deferred financing costs
Payments for withholding taxes upon vesting of stock-based compensation

Contributions from noncontrolling interests
Distributions to noncontrolling interests

Other financing activities, net
Cash flows used in financing activities
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash
Changes in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of period

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at end of period

For the Nine Months Ended September 30,

2019 2018
370,347  $ 86,702
(3,792) 18,237
4,953 11,177
43,586 41,857
(2,228) —
20,694 16,245
10,573 11,715
(33,136) (29,138)
9,507 40,463
— (67,877)
(180,416) —
(16,566) 4,581
15,712 10,875
(12,210) (8,119)
(233,406) (79,353)
(4,906) (50,784)
468 3,447
12,827 1,775
(21,226) —
2,010 2,574
(8,268) (3,767)
(50,319) (47,227)
(75,796) (36,617)
(191,559) (421,518)
(21,081) (44,211)
(93,395) (98,489)
(240,487) (3,390)
380,071 714,898
5,898 —
307,493 271,358
73,733 183,520
— 13,608
60,411 27,086
(494,339) (68,666)
(28,002) 5,019
(241,257) 579,215
834,980 349,988
(389,571) (690,452)
(24,372) (24,372)
(18,764) (6,103)
(58,787) (8,304)
(11,416) (6,276)
(1,842) (4,187)
2,039 9
(10,925) (46,000)
_ 7,694
321,342 (428,003)
(15) 30
4274 114,625
974,544 677,733
978,818  $ 792,358
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Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing and financing activity:
Fundings and (repayments) of loan receivables and loan participations, net
Accounts payable for capital expenditures on real estate assets
Contributions of land and development assets to equity method investments, net
Sales-type lease origination
Acquisition of land and development asset through joint venture consolidation
Accounts payable for capital expenditures on land and development assets
Assumption of mortgage by third party
Accounts payable for finance costs
Acquisitions of land and development assets through foreclosure
Financing provided on sales of land and development assets, net
Increase in net lease assets upon consolidation of equity method investment

Increase in debt obligations upon consolidation of equity method investment

Increase in noncontrolling interests upon consolidation of equity method investment

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.

iStar Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(In thousands)
(unaudited)

For the Nine Months Ended September 30,

2019 2018
10,547  $ (84,213)
= 2,184
4,073 —
411,523 —
27,000 —
— 9,169
228,000 —
1,878 —
— 4,600

_ 142,639

_ 844,550

— 464,706

— 200,093
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iStar Inc.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(unaudited)

Note 1—Business and Organization

Business—iStar Inc. (the "Company") finances, invests in and develops real estate and real estate related projects as part of its fully-integrated investment platform. The Company also manages
entities focused on ground lease and net lease investments (refer to Note 8). The Company has invested over $40 billion of capital over the past two decades and is structured as a real estate
investment trust ("REIT") with a diversified portfolio focused on larger assets located in major metropolitan markets. The Company's primary reportable business segments are real estate finance, net
lease, operating properties and land and development (refer to Note 18).

Organization—The Company began its business in 1993 through the management of private investment funds and became publicly traded in 1998. Since that time, the Company has grown
through the origination of new investments and corporate acquisitions.

Note 2—Basis of Presentation and Principles of Consolidation

Basis of Presentation—The accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements have been prepared in conformity with the instructions to Form 10-Q and Article 10-01 of Regulation S-
X for interim financial statements. Accordingly, they do not include all the information and footnotes required by generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America ("GAAP")
for complete financial statements. These unaudited consolidated financial statements and related notes should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and related notes
included in the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2018 (the "Annual Report").

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the dates of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting periods. Actual results could differ from
those estimates.

In the opinion of management, the accompanying consolidated financial statements contain all adjustments, consisting of normal recurring adjustments, necessary for a fair statement of the
results for the interim periods presented. Such operating results may not be indicative of the expected results for any other interim periods or the entire year. Certain prior year amounts have been
reclassified in the Company's consolidated financial statements and the related notes to conform to the current period presentation.

Principles of Consolidation—The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company, its wholly owned subsidiaries, controlled partnerships and VIEs for which
the Company is the primary beneficiary. All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. The Company's involvement with VIEs affects its financial performance
and cash flows primarily through amounts recorded in "Operating lease income," "Interest income," "Earnings from equity method investments," "Real estate expense" and "Interest expense" in the
Company's consolidated statements of operations. The Company has provided no financial support to those VIEs that it was not previously contractually required to provide.
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iStar Inc.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

(unaudited)

Consolidated VIEs—The Company consolidates VIEs for which it is considered the primary beneficiary. The liabilities of these VIEs are non-recourse to the Company and can only be
satisfied from each VIE's respective assets. The Company did not have any unfunded commitments related to consolidated VIEs as of September 30, 2019. The following table presents the assets and
liabilities of the Company's consolidated VIEs as of September 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018 ($ in thousands):

As of
September 30, December 31,
9 2018
ASSETS

Real estate

Real estate, at cost $ 888,277 $ 848,052

Less: accumulated depreciation (31,458) (15,365)

Real estate, net 856,819 832,687
Land and development, net 282,082 279,031
Other investments 52 72
Cash and cash equivalents 26,153 25,219
Accrued interest and operating lease income receivable, net 858 1,302
Deferred operating lease income receivable, net 16,958 8,972
Deferred expenses and other assets, net 137,261 167,324

Total assets $ 1,320,183 $ 1,314,607

LIABILITIES

Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities $ 117,136  $ 106,907
Debt obligations, net 485,032 485,000

Total liabilities 602,168 591,907

Unconsolidated VIEs—The Company has investments in VIEs where it is not the primary beneficiary and accordingly the VIEs have not been consolidated in the Company's consolidated
financial statements. As of September 30, 2019, the Company's maximum exposure to loss from these investments does not exceed the sum of the $115.8 million carrying value of the investments,
which are classified in "Other investments" on the Company's consolidated balance sheets, and $21.6 million of related unfunded commitments.

Note 3—Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
The following paragraphs describe the impact on the Company's consolidated financial statements from the adoption of Accounting Standards Updates ("ASUs") on January 1, 2019.

ASU 2016-02 and ASU 2018-11—Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") 2016-02, Leases ("ASU 2016-02") required the recognition of right-of-use lease assets and lease liabilities by the
Company as lessee for those leases classified as operating or finance leases, both measured at the present value of the lease payments, on its consolidated balance sheets. For operating lease
arrangements as of December 31, 2018 for which the Company was the lessee, primarily under leases of office space and certain ground leases, the Company recorded operating lease right-of-use
assets of $31.6 million in "Deferred expenses and other assets, net" and operating lease liabilities of $31.6 million in "Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities" on its consolidated
balance sheets. In addition, the Company entered into finance leases in 2019, and as of September 30, 2019, recorded finance lease right-of-use assets of $145.5 million in "Deferred expenses and
other assets, net" and finance lease liabilities of $147.1 million in "Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities" on its consolidated balance sheets (refer to Significant Accounting
Policies below).

The Company, as lessor, recognizes certain of its leases on net lease properties as sales-type leases and records the leases as "Net investment in leases" on the Company's consolidated
balance sheets (refer to Note 5). For the Company's leases which qualify as sales-type leases, the Company records "Interest income from sales-type leases" in the Company's consolidated statements

9



Table of Contents
iStar Inc.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

(unaudited)

of operations. The amount recorded as interest income from sales-type leases in any given period will likely be different than the straight-line lease income that would have been recorded under the
superseded guidance.

Management elected the practical expedient package that allowed the Company: (a) to not reassess whether any expired or existing contracts entered into prior to January 1, 2019 are or
contain leases; (b) to not reassess the lease classification for any expired or existing leases entered into prior to January 1, 2019; and (c) to not reassess initial direct costs for any expired or existing
leases entered into prior to January 1, 2019. In addition, the Company elected to not record on its consolidated balance sheets leases whose term is less than 12 months at lease inception.

ASU 2018-11, Leases amended ASU 2016-02 so that: (i) entities could elect to not recast the comparative periods presented when transitioning to ASC 842 by allowing entities to change
their initial application to the beginning of the period of adoption; and (ii) provided lessors with a practical expedient to not separate non-lease components from the associated lease component of the
contractual payments if certain conditions are met. Management elected both of these provisions.

ASU 2018-16—ASU 2018-16, Derivatives and Hedging (Topic 815): Inclusion of the Secured Overnight Financing Rate ("SOFR") Overnight Index Swap ("OIS") Rate as a Benchmark
Interest Rate for Hedge Accounting Purposes was issued in October 2018 and expands the list of U.S. benchmark interest rates permitted in the application of hedge accounting by adding the OIS rate
based on SOFR as an eligible benchmark interest rate. The adoption of ASU 2018-16 did not have a material impact on the Company's consolidated financial statements.

Significant Accounting Policies

Real estate available and held for sale—The Company reports real estate assets to be sold at the lower of their carrying amount or estimated fair value less costs to sell and classifies them as
“Real estate available and held for sale” on the Company's consolidated balance sheets. If the estimated fair value less costs to sell is less than the carrying value, the difference will be recorded as an
impairment charge. Impairment for real estate assets disposed of or classified as held for sale are included in "Impairment of assets" in the Company's consolidated statements of operations. Once a
real estate asset is classified as held for sale, depreciation expense is no longer recorded.

The Company classifies its real estate assets as held for sale in the period in which all of the following conditions are met: (i) the Company commits to a plan and has the authority to sell the
asset; (ii) the asset is available for sale in its current condition; (iii) the Company has initiated an active marketing plan to locate a buyer for the asset; (iv) the sale of the asset is both probable and
expected to qualify for full sales recognition within a period of 12 months; (v) the asset is being actively marketed for sale at a price that is reflective of its current fair value; and (vi) the Company
does not anticipate changes to its plan to sell the asset.

Net Investment in Leases—Net investment in leases are recognized when the Company's leases qualify as sales-type leases. The net investment in leases is initially measured at the present
value of the fixed and determinable lease payments, including any guaranteed or unguaranteed residual value of the asset at the end of the lease, discounted at the rate implicit in the lease. If a lease
qualifies as a sales-type lease, it is further evaluated to determine whether the transaction is considered a sale leaseback transaction. If the sales-type lease does not qualify as a sale leaseback
transaction, the lease is considered a financing receivable and is recognized in accordance with ASC 310 (refer to Note 5) and recorded in "Loans receivable and other lending investments, net" on
the Company's consolidated balance sheets.

Interest Income from Sales-Type Leases—Interest income from sales-type leases is recognized in "Interest income from sales-type leases" in the Company's consolidated statements of
operations under the effective interest method. The effective interest method produces a constant yield on the net investment in the lease over the term of the lease. Rent payments that are not fixed
and determinable at lease inception, such as percentage rent and CPI adjustments, are not included in the effective interest method calculation and are recognized in "Interest income from sales-type
leases" in the Company's consolidated statements of operations in the period earned.
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Restricted cash—The following table provides a reconciliation of the cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash reported in the Company's consolidated balance sheets that total to the
same amount as reported in the consolidated statements of cash flows (in thousands):

September 30, 2019 December 31, 2018 September 30, 2018 December 31, 2017
Cash and cash equivalents $ 917,309 $ 931,751 $ 757,384  $ 657,688
Restricted cash included in deferred expenses and other assets, net™ 61,509 42,793 34,974 20,045
Total cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash reported in the consolidated
statements of cash flows $ 978,818 $ 974,544  $ 792,358 $ 677,733
(€3] Restricted cash represents amounts required to be maintained under certain of the Company's debt obligations, loans, leasing, land development, sale and derivative transactions.

Deferred expenses and other assets and accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities—Effective January 1, 2019 with the adoption of ASU 2016-02, the Company, as lessee,

records right-of-use lease assets in "Deferred expenses and other assets" and lease liabilities in "Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities" on its consolidated balance sheets for
operating and finance leases, both measured at the present value of the lease payments. Some of the Company's lease agreements include extension options, which are not included in the lease
payments unless the extensions are reasonably certain to be exercised.
For operating leases, the Company recognizes a single lease cost for office leases in "General and administrative" and a single lease cost for ground leases in "Real estate expense" in the consolidated
statements of operations, calculated so that the cost of the lease is allocated generally on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease, and classifies all cash payments within operating activities in
the consolidated statements of cash flows. For finance leases, the Company recognizes amortization of the right-of-use assets on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease in "Depreciation and
amortization" and interest expense on the lease liability using the effective interest method in "Interest expense" in the consolidated statements of operations. Repayments of the principal portion of
the finance lease liability are classified within financing activities in the consolidated statements of cash flows and payments of interest on a finance lease liability are classified within operating
activities in the consolidated statement of cash flows.

For the remainder of the Company's significant accounting policies, refer to the Company's Annual Report.

New Accounting Pronouncements—In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13, Financial Instruments - Credit Losses: Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments ("ASU 2016-
13"), which was issued to provide financial statement users with more decision-useful information about the expected credit losses on financial instruments held by a reporting entity. This amendment
replaces the incurred loss impairment methodology in current GAAP with a methodology that reflects expected credit losses and requires consideration of a broader range of reasonable and
supportable information to inform credit loss estimates. The Company currently records a general reserve that covers performing loans and reserves for loan losses are recorded when: (i) available
information as of each balance sheet date indicates that it is probable a loss has occurred in the portfolio; and (ii) the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. The formula-based general
reserve is derived from estimated principal default probabilities and loss severities applied to groups of loans based upon risk ratings assigned to loans with similar risk characteristics during our
quarterly loan portfolio assessment. The Company estimates loss rates based on historical realized losses experienced within its portfolio and take into account current economic conditions affecting
the commercial real estate market when establishing appropriate time frames to evaluate loss experience. ASU 2016-13 is effective for interim and annual reporting periods beginning after December
15, 2019. Early adoption is permitted for interim and annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2018. Management is currently evaluating the impact from ASU 2016-13 on the
Company's consolidated financial statements.

In May 2019, the FASB issued ASU 2019-04, Codification Improvements to Topic 326, Financial Instruments—Credit Losses, Topic 815, Derivatives and Hedging, and Topic 825, Financial
Instruments ("ASU 2019-04") to clarify certain accounting topics from previously issued ASUs, including ASU 2016-13. ASU 2019-04 addresses certain aspects of ASU 2016-13, including but not
limited to, accrued interest receivable, loan recoveries, interest rate projections for variable-rate financial instruments and expected prepayments. ASU 2019-04 provides alternatives that allow entities
to measure credit losses on accrued interest separate from credit losses on the principal portion of a loan, clarifies that entities should include expected recoveries in the measurement of credit losses,
allows entities to consider future interest rates when measuring credit losses and can elect to adjust effective interest rates used to discount expected cash flows for expected loan prepayments. ASU
2019-04 is effective upon the adoption of ASU 2016-13. Management is currently evaluating the impact of ASU 2019-04 on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
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Note 4—Real Estate
The Company's real estate assets were comprised of the following ($ in thousands):
Operating
Net Lease Properties Total
As of September 30, 2019
Land, at cost $ 201,197 $ 106,187 $ 307,384
Buildings and improvements, at cost 1,342,319 106,821 1,449,140
Less: accumulated depreciation (213,618) (12,790) (226,408)
Real estate, net 1,329,898 200,218 1,530,116
Real estate available and held for sale @ — 12,688 12,688
Total real estate $ 1,329,898 $ 212,906 $ 1,542,804
As of December 31, 2018
Land, at cost $ 336,740 $ 133,599 $ 470,339
Buildings and improvements, at cost 1,487,270 118,724 1,605,994
Less: accumulated depreciation (287,516) (17,798) (305,314)
Real estate, net 1,536,494 234,525 1,771,019
Real estate available and held for sale @ 1,055 21,496 22,551
Total real estate $ 1,537,549 $ 256,021 $ 1,793,570
1 In May 2019, the Company modified certain of its leases. As a result of these modifications, the Company is required to account for the leases as sales-type leases and recorded $424.1 million in "Net investment in leases" and derecognized
$193.4 million from "Real estate, net" and "Real estate available and held for sale" on its consolidated balance sheet (refer to Note 5).
) As of September 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018, the Company had $11.7 million and $20.6 million, respectively, of residential condominiums available for sale in its operating properties portfolio.

Acquisitions—During the nine months ended September 30, 2019, the Company acquired a net lease asset for $11.5 million. In addition, the Company acquired the leasehold interest in a net
lease asset for $98.2 million, inclusive of closing costs, and simultaneously entered into a new 98-year Ground Lease with SAFE (refer to Note 8) and also acquired the leasehold interest in a net lease
asset for $110.6 million and simultaneously entered into a new 99-year Ground Lease with SAFE (refer to Note 8).
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Dispositions—The following table presents the net proceeds and income recognized for properties sold, by property type ($ in millions):

Nine Months Ended September 30,

2019 2018

Operating Properties

Proceeds") $ 802 $ 228.7

Income from sales of real estate® 10.2 54.5
Net Lease

Proceeds® $ 452.7  $ 38.4

Income from sales of real estate®® 2232 24.9
Total

Proceeds $ 5329 § 267.1

Income from sales of real estate 233.4 79.4
()] During the nine months ended September 30, 2019, the Company sold commercial and residential operating properties with an aggregate carrying value of $70.0 million and recognized gains of $10.2 million in "Income from sales of real

estate” in the Company's consolidated statements of operations. During the nine months ended September 30, 2018, the Company sold commercial and residential operating properties and recognized $54.5 million of gains in "Income from
sales of real estate" in the Company's consolidated statements of operations, of which $9.8 million was attributable to a noncontrolling interest at one of the properties.

) During the nine months ended September 30, 2019, the Company sold a portfolio of net lease assets with an aggregate carrying value of $220.4 million and recognized gains of $219.7 million in "Income from sales of real estate” in the
Company's consolidated statements of operations. In connection with the sale of this portfolio of assets the buyer assumed a $228.0 million non-recourse mortgage. During the nine months ended September 30, 2018, the Company sold net
lease assets and recognized $24.9 million of gains in "Income from sales of real estate” in the Company's consolidated statements of operations.

Impairments—During the nine months ended September 30, 2019, the Company recorded an impairment of $3.3 million on a commercial operating property based on an executed purchase
and sale agreement and recorded $0.6 million of impairments in connection with the sale of residential condominium units. During the nine months ended September 30, 2018, the Company recorded
aggregate impairments of $9.9 million resulting from the determination that the Company's total recovery related to a net lease asset was less than its carrying value and from the sale of commercial
and residential operating properties.

Tenant Reimbursements—The Company receives reimbursements from tenants for certain facility operating expenses including common area costs, insurance, utilities and real estate taxes.
Tenant expense reimbursements were $4.9 million and $14.8 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2019, respectively, and $5.7 million and $16.3 million for the three and nine
months ended September 30, 2018, respectively. These amounts are included in "Operating lease income" in the Company's consolidated statements of operations.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts—As of September 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018, the allowance for doubtful accounts related to real estate tenant receivables was $1.2 million and $1.5
million, respectively, and the allowance for doubtful accounts related to deferred operating lease income was $1.1 million and $1.8 million as of September 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018,
respectively. These amounts are included in "Accrued interest and operating lease income receivable, net" and "Deferred operating lease income receivable, net," respectively, on the Company's
consolidated balance sheets.
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Note 5—Net Investment in Leases

In May 2019, the Company entered into a transaction with an operator of bowling entertainment venues, consisting of the purchase of nine bowling centers for $56.7 million, of which seven
were acquired from the lessee for $44.1 million, and a commitment to invest up to $55.0 million in additional bowling centers over the next several years. The new centers were added to the
Company's existing master leases with the tenant. In connection with this transaction, the maturities of the master leases were extended by 15 years to 2047.

As a result of the modifications to the leases, the Company classified the leases as sales-type leases and recorded $424.1 million in "Net investment in leases" and derecognized $193.4 million
from "Real estate, net" and "Real estate available and held for sale," $25.4 million from "Deferred operating lease income receivable, net," $13.4 million from "Deferred expenses and other assets,
net" and $1.9 million from "Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities" on its consolidated balance sheet. The Company recognized $180.4 million in "Selling profit from sales-type
leases" in its consolidated statements of operations for the nine months ended September 30, 2019 as a result of the transaction. For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2019, the
Company recognized $8.3 million and $12.2 million, respectively, of "Interest income from sales-type leases" in the Company's consolidated statements of operations. The Company determined that
the seven bowling centers acquired from the lessee did not qualify as a sale leaseback transaction and recorded $44.1 million in "Loans receivable and other lending investments, net" on its
consolidated balance sheet (refer to Note 7).

Future Minimum Lease Payments under Sales-type Leases—Future minimum lease payments to be collected under sales-type leases, excluding lease payments that are not fixed and
determinable, in effect as of September 30, 2019, are as follows by year ($ in thousands):

Amount
2019 (remaining three months) $ 6,891
2020 27,565
2021 28,062
2022 30,549
2023 30,549
Thereafter 925,293
Total undiscounted cash flows 1,048,909
Unguaranteed estimated residual value 343,995
Present value discount (971,652)
Net investment in leases as of September 30, 2019 $ 421,252

Note 6—Land and Development

The Company's land and development assets were comprised of the following ($ in thousands):

As of
September 30, December 31,
2019 2018
Land and land development, at cost $ 619,745 $ 606,849
Less: accumulated depreciation (9,365) (8,631)
Total land and development, net $ 610,380 $ 598,218

Acquisitions—During the nine months ended September 30, 2019, the Company acquired a land and development asset from an unconsolidated entity in which the Company owned a
noncontrolling 50% equity interest for $34.3 million, which consisted of a $7.3 million cash payment and the assumption of a $27.0 million loan (refer to Note 8).
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During the nine months ended September 30, 2018, the Company acquired, via foreclosure, title to a land asset which had a total fair value of $4.6 million and had previously served as
collateral for loans receivable held by the Company. No gain or loss was recorded in connection with this transaction.

Dispositions—During the nine months ended September 30, 2019 and 2018, the Company sold land parcels and residential lots and units and recognized land development revenue of $76.7
million and $369.7 million, respectively. In connection with the sale of two land parcels totaling 93 acres during the nine months ended September 30, 2018, the Company provided an aggregate
$145.0 million of financing to the buyers, of which $85.1 million was outstanding as of September 30, 2019. During the nine months ended September 30, 2019 and 2018, the Company recognized
land development cost of sales of $71.8 million and $318.9 million, respectively, from its land and development portfolio.

Impairments—During the nine months ended September 30, 2019, the Company recorded an impairment of $1.1 million on a land and development asset due to a change in business strategy.
During the nine months ended September 30, 2018, the Company recorded an impairment of $1.3 million on a land and development asset based upon market comparable sales.

Note 7—Loans Receivable and Other Lending Investments, net

The following is a summary of the Company's loans receivable and other lending investments by class ($ in thousands):

As of
September 30, December 31,

Type of Investment 2019 2018
Senior mortgages $ 554,567 $ 760,749
Corporate/Partnership loans 121,500 148,583
Subordinate mortgages 10,695 10,161

Total gross carrying value of loans 686,762 919,493
Reserves for loan losses (30,401) (53,395)

Total loans receivable, net 656,361 866,098
Other lending investments® 151,928 122,126

Total loans receivable and other lending investments, net $ 808,289 $ 988,224
1) As of September 30, 2019, includes $44.2 million related to the acquisition of bowling centers from one of the Company's lessees (refer to Note 5).

Reserve for Loan Losses—Changes in the Company's reserve for loan losses were as follows ($ in thousands):
For the Three Months Ended September 30, For the Nine Months Ended September 30,
2019 2018 2019 2018

Reserve for loan losses at beginning of period $ 53,408 $ 54,495 $ 53,395 $ 78,489

(Recovery of) provision for loan losses (3,805) 200 (3,792) 18,237

Charge-offs (19,202) — (19,202) (42,031)
Reserve for loan losses at end of period $ 30,401  $ 54,695 $ 30,401 $ 54,695
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The Company's recorded investment in loans (comprised of a loan's carrying value plus accrued interest) and the associated reserve for loan losses were as follows ($ in thousands):

Individually Collectively
Evaluated for Evaluated for
Impairment® Impairment® Total
As of September 30, 2019
Loans $ 38,400 $ 652,523 $ 690,923
Less: Reserve for loan losses (21,701) (8,700) (30,401)
Total® $ 16,699 $ 643,823 $ 660,522
As of December 31, 2018
Loans $ 66,725 $ 857,662 $ 924,387
Less: Reserve for loan losses (40,395) (13,000) (53,395)
Total® $ 26,330 $ 844,662 $ 870,992
(€3] The carrying value of these loans include unamortized discounts, premiums, deferred fees and costs totaling net discounts of $0.1 million and $0.5 million as of September 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively. The Company's
loans individually evaluated for impairment primarily represent loans on non-accrual status; therefore, the unamortized amounts associated with these loans are not currently being amortized into income.
2 The carrying value of these loans include unamortized discounts, premiums, deferred fees and costs totaling net discounts of $1.3 million and $3.1 million as of September 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively.
3) The Company's recorded investment in loans as of September 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018 includes accrued interest of $4.2 million and $4.9 million, respectively, which is included in "Accrued interest and operating lease income

receivable, net" on the Company's consolidated balance sheets. As of September 30, 2019, excludes $44.2 million of other lending investments that are evaluated for impairment when, based upon current information and events, the
Company believes it is probable that it will be unable to collect all amounts due under the contractual terms of the lease (refer to Note 5). As of September 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018, the total amounts exclude $107.7 million and

$122.1 million, respectively, of securities that are evaluated for impairment under ASC 320.

Credit Characteristics—As part of the Company's process for monitoring the credit quality of its loans, it performs a quarterly loan portfolio assessment and assigns risk ratings to each of its
performing loans. Risk ratings, which range from 1 (lower risk) to 5 (higher risk), are based on judgments, which are inherently uncertain, and there can be no assurance that actual performance will
be similar to current expectation. The Company designates loans as non-performing at such time as: (1) the loan becomes 90 days delinquent; (2) the loan has a maturity default; or (3) management
determines it is probable that we will be unable to collect all amounts due according to the contractual terms of the loan. All non-performing loans are placed on non-accrual status and income is only
recognized in certain cases upon actual cash receipt.

The Company's recorded investment in performing loans, presented by class and by credit quality, as indicated by risk rating, was as follows ($ in thousands):

Senior mortgages

Corporate/Partnership loans

Subordinate mortgages
Total

As of September 30, 2019 As of December 31, 2018
‘Weighted Weighted
Performing Average Performing Average
Loans Risk Ratings Loans Risk Ratings
519,289 271 $ 697,807 2.76
122,507 3.15 149,663 2.84
10,727 3.00 10,192 3.00
652,523 280 $ 857,662 2.77
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The Company's recorded investment in loans, aged by payment status and presented by class, was as follows ($ in thousands):

Less Than Greater
and Equal Than Total
Current to 90 Days 90 Days® Past Due Total
As of September 30, 2019
Senior mortgages $ 519,289 $ — $ 38,400 $ 38,400 $ 557,689
Corporate/Partnership loans 122,507 — — — 122,507
Subordinate mortgages 10,727 — — — 10,727
Total $ 652,523 $ — $ 38,400 $ 38,400 $ 690,923
As of December 31, 2018
Senior mortgages $ 703,807 $ — 3 60,725  $ 60,725 $ 764,532
Corporate/Partnership loans 149,663 — — — 149,663
Subordinate mortgages 10,192 — — — 10,192
Total $ 863,662 $ — $ 60,725 $ 60,725 $ 924,387
(€3] As of September 30, 2019, the Company had one loan which was greater than 90 days delinquent and was in various stages of resolution, including legal and environmental matters, and was 10.3 years outstanding. As of December 31, 2018,
;}lﬁsg(;lrg&?y had two loans which were greater than 90 days delinquent and were in various stages of resolution, including legal and foreclosure-related proceedings and environmental matters, and ranged from 4.0 years to 9.0 years

Impaired Loans—The Company's recorded investment in impaired loans, presented by class, was as follows ($ in thousands)(1):

As of September 30, 2019 As of December 31, 2018
Unpaid Unpaid
Recorded Principal Related Recorded Principal Related
Investment Balance Allowance Investment Balance Allowance
With an allowance recorded:
Senior mortgages $ 38,400 $ 38,501 $ (21,701) $ 66,725  $ 66,777  $ (40,395)
Total $ 38,400 $ 38,501 $ (21,701) $ 66,725  $ 66,777  $ (40,395)
1 All of the Company's non-accrual loans are considered impaired and included in the table above.
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The Company's average recorded investment in impaired loans and interest income recognized, presented by class, were as follows ($ in thousands):

For the Three Months Ended September 30, For the Nine Months Ended September 30,
2019 2018 2019 2018
Average Interest Average Interest Average Interest Average Interest
Recorded Income Recorded Income Recorded Income Recorded Income
Investment Recognized Investment Recognized Investment Recognized Investment Recognized
With no related allowance recorded:
Subordinate mortgages $ —  § — —  § 209 $ — 3 —  $ — 3 301
Subtotal — — — 209 — — — 301
With an allowance recorded:
Senior mortgages 38,572 — 67,001 — 39,074 — 70,696 —
Corporate/Partnership loans — — — — — — 78,302 —
Subtotal 38,572 — 67,001 — 39,074 — 148,998 —
Total:
Senior mortgages 38,572 — 67,001 — 39,074 — 70,696 —
Corporate/Partnership loans — — — — — — 78,302 —
Subordinate mortgages — — — 209 — — — 301
Total $ 38,572 $ — $ 67,001 $ 209 $ 39,074  $ — 3 148,998 $ 301

Other lending investments—Other lending investments includes the following securities ($ in thousands):

Face Amortized Cost Estimated Fair
Value Basis Net Unrealized Gain Value Net Carrying Value
As of September 30, 2019
Available-for-Sale Securities
Municipal debt securities $ 21,140 $ 21,140 $ 2962 $ 24,102  $ 24,102
Held-to-Maturity Securities
Debt securities 100,000 83,593 — 83,593 83,593
Total $ 121,140 $ 104,733 $ 2962 % 107,695 $ 107,695
As of December 31, 2018
Available-for-Sale Securities
Municipal debt securities $ 21,185 $ 21,185 $ 476 $ 21,661 $ 21,661
Held-to-Maturity Securities
Debt securities 120,866 100,465 7 100,472 100,465
Total $ 142,051 $ 121,650 $ 483 $ 122,133  § 122,126
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As of September 30, 2019, the contractual maturities of the Company's securities were as follows ($ in thousands):

Maturities
Within one year
After one year through 5 years
After 5 years through 10 years
After 10 years
Total

Note 8—Other Investments

Held-to-Maturity Securities

Available-for-Sale Securities

Amortized Cost Basis Estimated Fair Value Amortized Cost Basis Estimated Fair Value
— 3 — 3 — 3 —
83,593 83,593 — —
— — 21,140 24,102
83,593 § 83,593 § 21,140 $ 24,102

The Company's other investments and its proportionate share of earnings from equity method investments were as follows ($ in thousands):

Equity in Earnings (Losses)

For the Three Months Ended For the Nine Months
Carrying Value as of September 30, Ended September 30,
September 30, 2019 December 31, 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
Real estate equity investments
Safehold Inc. ("SAFE") $ 581,059 $ 149,589 $ 2,946 $ 775 14,076 $ 2,927
iStar Net Lease II LLC ("Net Lease Venture II") 5,300 16,215 (98) — (416) —
iStar Net Lease I LLC ("Net Lease Venture")® — — — — — 4,100
Other real estate equity investments® 103,021 130,955 4,574 (2,062) 2,744 (2,087)
Subtotal 689,380 296,759 7,422 (1,287) 16,404 4,940
Other strategic investments(® 44,413 7,516 195 652 162 (9,521)
Total $ 733,793 $ 304,275 $ 7,617 $ (635) 16,566 $ (4,581)
(€3] The Company consolidated the assets and liabilities of the Net Lease Venture on June 30, 2018 (refer to Net Lease Venture below).
2 During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2019, equity in earnings (losses) includes $8.2 million of income resulting from the sale of a property at one of the Company's equity method investments.
3) For the nine months ended September 30, 2018, equity in earnings (losses) includes a $10.0 million impairment on a foreign equity method investment due to local market conditions.

Safehold Inc.—Safehold Inc. ("SAFE"), formerly known as Safety, Income & Growth Inc., is a publicly-traded company formed by the Company primarily to acquire, own, manage, finance
and capitalize ground leases. Ground leases generally represent ownership of the land underlying commercial real estate projects that is net leased by the fee owner of the land to the owners/operators

of the real estate projects built thereon ("Ground Leases").

On January 2, 2019, the Company purchased 12,500,000 newly designated limited partnership units (the "Investor Units") in SAFE's operating partnership ("SAFE OP"), at a purchase price of
$20.00 per unit, for a total purchase price of $250.0 million. The purpose of the investment was to allow SAFE to fund additional Ground Lease acquisitions and originations. Each Investor Unit
received distributions equivalent to distributions declared and paid on one share of SAFE's common stock. The Investor Units had no voting rights. They had limited protective consent rights over
certain matters such as amendments to the terms of the Investor Units that would adversely affect the Investor Units. In May 2019, after the approval of SAFE's stockholders, the Investor Units were
exchanged for shares of SAFE's common stock on a one-for-one basis. Following the exchange, the Investor Units were retired.
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In connection with the Company's purchase of the Investor Units, it entered into a Stockholder's Agreement with SAFE on January 2, 2019. The Stockholder's Agreement:

« limits the Company's discretionary voting power to 41.9% of the outstanding voting power of SAFE's common stock until its aggregate ownership of SAFE common stock is less than
41.9%;

* requires the Company to cast all of its voting power in favor of three director nominees to SAFE's board who are independent of each of the Company and SAFE for three years;
* subjects the Company to certain standstill provisions for two years;
* restricts the Company's ability to transfer shares of SAFE common stock issued in exchange for Investor Units, or "Exchange Shares," for one year after their issuance;

+ prohibits the Company from transferring shares of SAFE common stock representing more than 20% of the outstanding SAFE common stock in one transaction or a series of related
transactions to any person or group, other than pursuant to a widely distributed public offering, unless SAFE's other stockholders have participation rights in the transaction; and

+ provides the Company certain preemptive rights.
A wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company is the external manager of SAFE and is entitled to a management fee. Following are the key terms of the management agreement:

+ The Company received no management fee through June 30, 2018, which covered the first year of the management agreement;

» The Company receives a fee equal to 1.0% of total SAFE equity (as defined in the management agreement) up to $1.5 billion; 1.25% of total SAFE equity (for incremental equity of $1.5
billion - $3.0 billion); 1.375% of total SAFE equity (for incremental equity of $3.0 billion - $5.0 billion); and 1.5% of total SAFE equity (for incremental equity over $5.0 billion);

* Fee to be paid in cash or in shares of SAFE common stock, at the discretion of SAFE's independent directors;

* The stock is locked up for two years, subject to certain restrictions;

* There is no additional performance or incentive fee;

* From January 1, 2019 through June 30, 2022, the management agreement is non-terminable by SAFE except for cause; and

+ Automatic annual renewals thereafter, subject to non-renewal upon certain findings by SAFE's independent directors and payment of termination fee equal to three times the prior year's
management fee, subject to SAFE having raised $820 million of total equity since inception.

In August 2019, the Company acquired 6.0 million shares of SAFE's common stock in a private placement for $168.0 million. As of September 30, 2019, the Company owned approximately
67.1% of SAFE's common stock outstanding.

During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2019, the Company recorded $1.9 million and $5.0 million, respectively, of management fees and during the three months ended
September 30, 2018, the Company recorded $0.9 million of management fees pursuant to its management agreement with SAFE. For the six months ended June 30, 2018, the Company waived $1.8
million of management fees pursuant to its management agreement with SAFE. During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2019, the Company received 56,610 shares and 178,215
shares, respectively, of SAFE common stock for payment of management fees.

The Company is also entitled to receive expense reimbursements, including for the allocable costs of its personnel that perform certain legal, accounting, due diligence tasks and other services
that third-party professionals or outside consultants otherwise would perform. The Company waived certain of the expense reimbursements through June 30, 2018. For the three and nine months
ended September 30, 2019, the Company was reimbursed $0.5 million and $1.6 million, respectively, of expense reimbursements. For the three months ended September 30, 2018, the Company was
reimbursed $0.4 million of expense reimbursements. For the six months ended June 30, 2018, the Company waived $0.8 million of expense reimbursements pursuant to its management agreement
with SAFE.

The Company has an exclusivity agreement with SAFE pursuant to which it agreed, subject to certain exceptions, that it will not acquire, originate, invest in, or provide financing for a third
party’s acquisition of, a Ground Lease unless it has first offered that opportunity to SAFE and a majority of its independent directors has declined the opportunity.
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Following is a list of investments that the Company has transacted with SAFE, all of which were approved by the Company's and SAFE's independent directors, for the periods presented:

In August 2017, the Company committed to provide a $24.0 million loan to the ground lessee of a Ground Lease originated at SAFE. The loan was for the renovation of a medical office
building in Atlanta, GA. The Company funded $18.4 million of the loan, which was repaid in August 2019. During the three months ended September 30, 2019 and 2018, the Company recorded $0.3
million and $0.4 million, respectively, of interest income on the loan. During the nine months ended September 30, 2019 and 2018, the Company recorded $1.2 million and $1.0 million, respectively,
of interest income on the loan.

In October 2017, the Company closed on a 99-year Ground Lease and a $80.5 million construction financing commitment to support the ground-up development of a to-be-built luxury multi-
family project in San Jose, CA. The transaction includes a combination of: (i) a newly created Ground Lease and a $7.2 million leasehold improvement allowance, which was fully funded as of
September 30, 2019; and (ii) a $80.5 million leasehold first mortgage. As of September 30, 2019, $27.3 million of the loan was funded. During the three months ended September 30, 2019 and 2018,
the Company recorded $0.4 million and $0.1 million, respectively, of interest income on the loan. During the nine months ended September 30, 2019 and 2018, the Company recorded $0.7 million
and $0.2 million, respectively, of interest income on the loan. The Company entered into a forward purchase contract with SAFE under which SAFE would acquire the Ground Lease in November
2020 for approximately $34.0 million.

In May 2018, the Company provided a $19.9 million leasehold mortgage loan to the ground lessee of a Ground Lease originated at SAFE. As of September 30, 2019, the loan was fully funded.
The loan was for the acquisition of two multi-tenant office buildings in Atlanta, GA. During the three months ended September 30, 2019 and 2018, the Company recorded $0.5 million and $0.6
million, respectively, of interest income on the loan. During the nine months ended September 30, 2019 and 2018, the Company recorded $1.6 million and $0.8 million, respectively, of interest
income on the loan.

In June 2018, the Company sold two industrial facilities located in Miami, FL to a third-party and simultaneously structured and entered into two Ground Leases. The Company then sold the
two Ground Leases to SAFE. Net proceeds from the transactions totaled $36.1 million and the Company recognized a $24.5 million gain on sale.

In January 2019, the Company committed to provide a $13.3 million loan to the ground lessee of a Ground Lease originated at SAFE. The loan is for the conversion of an office building into a
multi-family property in Washington, DC. As of September 30, 2019, $12.4 million of the loan was funded. During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2019, the Company recorded $0.3
million and $0.7 million, respectively, of interest income on the loan.

In February 2019, the Company acquired the leasehold interest in an office property and simultaneously entered into a new 98-year Ground Lease with SAFE (refer to Note 4).
In August 2019, the Company acquired the leasehold interest in a net lease asset and simultaneously entered into a new 99-year Ground Lease with SAFE (refer to Note 4).

Net Lease Venture—In February 2014, the Company partnered with a sovereign wealth fund to form the Net Lease Venture to acquire and develop net lease assets and gave a right of first offer
to the venture on all new net lease investments. The Company and its partner had joint decision making rights pertaining to the acquisition of new investments. Upon the expiration of the investment
period on June 30, 2018, the Company obtained control of the venture through its unilateral rights of management and disposition of the assets. As a result, the expiration of the investment period
resulted in a reconsideration event under GAAP and the Company determined that the Net Lease Venture is a VIE for which the Company is the primary beneficiary. Effective June 30, 2018, the
Company consolidated the Net Lease Venture as an asset acquisition under ASC 810. The Company recorded a gain of $67.9 million in "Gain on consolidation of equity method investment" in the
Company's consolidated statement of operations as a result of the consolidation. The Net Lease Venture had previously been accounted for as an equity method investment. The Company has an
equity interest in the Net Lease Venture of approximately 51.9% and recorded a $188.3 million increase to "Noncontrolling interests." The Company is responsible for sourcing new opportunities and
managing the venture and its assets in exchange for a management fee and incentive fee. Several of the Company's senior executives whose time is substantially devoted to the Net Lease Venture own
a total of 0.6% equity ownership in the venture via co-investment. These senior executives are also entitled to an amount equal to 50% of any incentive fee received based on the 47.5% partner's
interest.

During the nine months ended September 30, 2018, the Company recorded $1.3 million of management fees from the Net Lease Venture. The management fees are included in "Other income"
in the Company's consolidated statements of operations. Beginning after the Company's consolidation of the Net Lease Venture on June 30, 2018 and after the effect of eliminations, the
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Company earned $0.4 million and $1.1 million, respectively, of management fees during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2019 and $0.3 million during the three months ended
September 30, 2018 with respect to services provided to other investors in the Net Lease Venture, which was recorded as a reduction to "Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests" in the
Company's consolidated statements of operations.

Net Lease Venture II—In July 2018, the Company entered into a new venture ("Net Lease Venture II") with an investment strategy similar to the Net Lease Venture. The Net Lease Venture II
has a right of first offer on all new net lease investments (excluding Ground Leases) originated by the Company. Net Lease Venture II is a voting interest entity and the Company has an equity interest
in the venture of approximately 51.9%, which will be accounted for as an equity method investment, and is responsible for managing the venture in exchange for a management fee and incentive fee.
During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2019, the Company recorded $0.4 million and $1.1 million, respectively, of management fees from the Net Lease Venture II.

In December 2018, Net Lease Venture II acquired four buildings comprising 168,636 square feet (the "Properties") located in Livermore, CA. Net Lease Venture II acquired the Properties for
$31.2 million which are 100% leased with four separate leases that expire in December 2028.

Other real estate equity investments—As of September 30, 2019, the Company's other real estate equity investments include equity interests in real estate ventures ranging from 16.0% to
95.0%, comprised of investments of $60.3 million in operating properties and $42.7 million in land assets. As of December 31, 2018, the Company's other real estate equity investments included
$65.6 million in operating properties and $65.3 million in land assets.

In August 2018, the Company provided a mezzanine loan with a principal balance of $32.4 million and $30.5 million as of September 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively, to an
unconsolidated entity in which the Company owns a 50% equity interest. As of September 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018, the loan is included in "Loans receivable and other lending investments,
net" on the Company's consolidated balance sheet. During the three months ended September 30, 2019 and 2018, the Company recorded $0.7 million and $0.4 million, respectively, of interest income
on the mezzanine loan. During the nine months ended September 30, 2019 and 2018, the Company recorded $2.1 million and $0.4 million, respectively, of interest income on the mezzanine loan.

In December 2016, the Company sold a land and development asset to a newly formed unconsolidated entity in which the Company owned a 50.0% equity interest. The Company provided
financing to the entity in the form of a $27.0 million senior loan, all of which was funded as of December 31, 2018 and was included in "Loans receivable and other lending investments, net" on the
Company's consolidated balance sheets. In April 2019, the Company acquired the land and development asset from the entity for $34.3 million, which consisted of a $7.3 million cash payment and
the assumption of the $27.0 million senior loan. During the three months ended September 30, 2018, the Company recorded $0.5 million of interest income on the senior loan. During the nine months
ended September 30, 2019 and 2018, the Company recorded $0.6 million and $1.5 million, respectively, of interest income on the senior loan.

Other strategic investments—As of September 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018, the Company also had investments in real estate related funds and other strategic investments in real estate
entities.
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Deferred expenses and other assets, net, consist of the following items ($ in thousands):

As of
September 30, 2019 December 31, 2018
Intangible assets, net® $ 176,557 156,281
Restricted cash 61,509 42,793
Finance lease right-of-use assets® 145,528 —
Operating lease right-of-use assets® 27,816 —
Other assets® 23,826 32,333
Other receivables® 42,129 46,887
Leasing costs, net(® 4,585 6,224
Corporate furniture, fixtures and equipment, net(® 2,980 3,850
Deferred financing fees, net 2,498 900
Deferred expenses and other assets, net $ 487,428 289,268

@

(&)

(3)
“)

)
6

Intangible assets, net includes above market and in-place lease assets and lease incentives related to the acquisition of real estate assets. Accumulated amortization on intangible assets, net was $30.5 million and $27.0 million as of
September 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively. The amortization of above market leases and lease incentive assets decreased operating lease income in the Company's consolidated statements of operations by $0.4 million and
$1.4 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2019, respectively, and $0.9 million and $1.6 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2018, respectively. These intangible lease assets are amortized over the
remaining term of the lease. The amortization expense for in-place leases was $2.4 million and $6.9 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2019, respectively, and $4.0 million and $4.7 million for the three and nine
months ended September 30, 2018, respectively. These amounts are included in "Depreciation and amortization" in the Company's consolidated statements of operations.

Right-of-use lease assets relate primarily to the Company's leases of office space and certain of its ground leases. Right-of use lease assets initially equal the lease liability. The lease liability (see table below) equals the present value of the
minimum rental payments due under the lease discounted at the rate implicit in the lease or the Company's incremental secured borrowing rate for similar collateral. For operating leases, lease liabilities were discounted at the Company's
weighted average incremental secured borrowing rate for similar collateral estimated to be 5.6% and the weighted average lease term is 9.7 years. For finance leases, lease liabilities were discounted at a weighted average rate implicit in the
lease of 5.5% and the weighted average lease term is 98.2 years. Right-of-use assets for finance leases are amortized on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease and are recorded in "Depreciation and amortization" in the Company's
consolidated statements of operations. During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2019, the Company recognized $1.7 million and $3.0 million, respectively, in "Interest expense" and $0.3 million and $0.5 million, respectively,
in "Depreciation and amortization" in its consolidated statement of operations relating to finance leases. For operating leases, rent expense is recognized on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease and is recorded in "General and
administrative” and "Real estate expense" in the Company's consolidated statements of operations (refer to Note 3). During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2019, the Company recognized $0.9 million and $2.8 million,
respectively, in "General and administrative" and $0.9 million and $2.6 million, respectively, in "Real estate expense" in its consolidated statement of operations relating to operating leases.

Other assets primarily includes derivative assets, prepaid expenses and deposits for certain real estate assets.

As of December 31, 2018, includes $26.0 million of reimbursements receivable related to the construction and development of an operating property that was received in 2019. As of September 30, 2019, includes $21.2 million of receivables
held in escrow.

Accumulated amortization of leasing costs was $3.4 million and $4.4 million as of September 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively.

Accumulated depreciation on corporate furniture, fixtures and equipment was $12.8 million and $11.9 million as of September 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively.
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Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities consist of the following items ($ in thousands):

As of
September 30, 2019 December 31, 2018
Other liabilities" $ 85,273 143,325
Accrued expenses 85,408 95,149
Finance lease liabilities (see table above) 147,064 —
Intangible liabilities, net® 49,185 35,108
Operating lease liabilities (see table above) 27,830 —
Accrued interest payable 23916 42,669
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities $ 418,676  $ 316,251

) As of September 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018, other liabilities includes $0.2 million and $18.5 million, respectively, related to profit sharing arrangements with developers for certain properties sold. As of September 30, 2019 and
December 31, 2018, other liabilities also includes $6.8 million and $9.4 million, respectively, related to tax increment financing bonds which were issued by government entities to fund development within two of the Company's land
projects. The amount represents tax assessments associated with each project, which will decrease as the Company sells units.

(@] Intangible liabilities, net includes below market lease liabilities related to the acquisition of real estate assets. Accumulated amortization on below market lease liabilities was $4.5 million and $2.8 million as of September 30, 2019 and
December 31, 2018, respectively. The amortization of below market leases increased operating lease income in the Company's consolidated statements of operations by $0.7 million and $1.8 million for the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2019, respectively, and $3.1 million and $3.4 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2018, respectively.

Note 10—Loan Participations Payable, net
The Company's loan participations payable, net were as follows ($ in thousands):

Carrying Value as of

September 30, 2019 December 31, 2018
Loan participations payable® $ 33,189 $ 22,642
Debt discounts and deferred financing costs, net (54) (158)
Total loan participations payable, net $ 33,135 $ 22,484

) As of September 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018, the Company had one loan participation payable with an interest rate of 6.5%.

Loan participations represent transfers of financial assets that did not meet the sales criteria established under ASC Topic 860 and are accounted for as loan participations payable, net as of
September 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018. As of September 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018, the corresponding loan receivable balances were $33.1 million and $22.5 million, respectively, and
are included in "Loans receivable and other lending investments, net" on the Company's consolidated balance sheets. The principal and interest due on these loan participations payable are paid from
cash flows of the corresponding loans receivable, which serve as collateral for the participations.
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Note 11—Debt Obligations, net
The Company's debt obligations were as follows ($ in thousands):
Carrying Value as of
Stated Scheduled
September 30, 2019 December 31, 2018 Interest Rates Maturity Date

Secured credit facilities and mortgages:

2015 $350 million Revolving Credit Facility $ — $ — LIBOR +2.25% O September 2022
2016 Senior Term Loan 641,875 646,750 LIBOR +2.75% @ June 2023
Mortgages collateralized by net lease assets® 724,651 802,367 3.62%-7.26% ©

Total secured credit facilities and mortgages 1,366,526 1,449,117

Unsecured notes:

5.00% senior notes® — 375,000 5.00% —
4.625% senior notes® 400,000 400,000 4.625% —
6.50% senior notes® 275,000 275,000 6.50% —
6.00% senior notes”) 375,000 375,000 6.00% April 2022
5.25% senior notes® 400,000 400,000 5.25% September 2022
3.125% senior convertible notes® 287,500 287,500 3.125% September 2022
4.75% senior notes(1?) 675,000 — 4.75% October 2024

Total unsecured notes 2,412,500 2,112,500

Other debt obligations:

Trust preferred securities 100,000 100,000 LIBOR + 1.50% October 2035

Total debt obligations 3,879,026 3,661,617

Debt discounts and deferred financing costs, net (51,667) (52,531)

Total debt obligations, net) $ 3,827,359 $ 3,609,086

(€3] The loan bears interest at the Company's election of either: (i) a base rate, which is the greater of (a) prime, (b) federal funds plus 0.50% or (c) LIBOR plus 1.0% and subject to a margin ranging from 1.00% to 1.50%; or (ii) LIBOR subject
to a margin ranging from 2.00% to 2.50%. At maturity, the Company may convert outstanding borrowings to a one year term loan which matures in quarterly installments through September 2023.

(@] The loan bears interest at the Company's election of either: (i) a base rate, which is the greater of (a) prime, (b) federal funds plus 0.5% or (c) LIBOR plus 1.0% and subject to a margin of 1.75%; or (ii) LIBOR subject to a margin of 2.75%.

3) In June 2019, the buyer of a portfolio of net lease assets assumed a $228.0 million non-recourse mortgage (refer to Note 4). As of September 30, 2019, the weighted average interest rate of these loans is 4.4%, inclusive of the effect of
interest rate swaps.

()] The Company prepaid these senior notes in March 2019 without penalty.

5) The Company prepaid these senior notes in October 2019 with a $6.0 million prepayment penalty.

(6) The Company prepaid these senior notes in October 2019 with a $4.5 million prepayment penalty.

) The Company can prepay these senior notes without penalty beginning April 1, 2021.

8) The Company can prepay these senior notes without penalty beginning September 15, 2021.

) The Company's 3.125% senior convertible fixed rate notes due September 2022 ("3.125% Convertible Notes") are convertible at the option of the holders at any time prior to the close of business on the business day immediately preceding
September 15, 2022. The conversion rate as of September 30, 2019 was 67.3711 shares per $1,000 principal amount of 3.125% Convertible Notes, which equals a conversion price of $14.84 per share. The conversion rate is subject to
adjustment from time to time for specified events. Upon conversion, the Company will pay or deliver, as the case may be, a combination of cash and shares of its common stock. As such, at issuance in September 2017, the Company valued
the debt component at $221.8 million, net of fees, and the equity component of the conversion feature at $22.5 million, net of fees, and recorded the equity component in "Additional paid-in capital" on the Company's consolidated balance
sheet. In October 2017, the initial purchasers of the 3.125% Convertible Notes exercised their option to purchase an additional $37.5 million aggregate principal amount of the 3.125% Convertible Notes. At issuance, the Company valued the
debt component at $34.0 million, net of fees, and the equity component of the conversion feature at $3.4 million, net of fees, and recorded the equity component in "Additional paid-in capital" on the Company's consolidated balance sheet.
As of September 30, 2019, the carrying value of the 3.125% Convertible Notes was $267.1 million, net of fees, and the unamortized discount of the 3.125% Convertible Notes was $16.8 million, net of fees. During the three and nine months
ended September 30, 2019, the Company recognized $2.2 million and $6.7 million, respectively, of contractual interest and $1.3 million and $3.7 million, respectively, of discount amortization on the 3.125% Convertible Notes. During the
three and nine months ended September 30, 2018, the Company recognized $2.2 million and $6.7 million, respectively, of contractual interest and $1.2 million and $3.5 million, respectively, of discount amortization on the 3.125%
Convertible Notes. The effective interest rate was 5.2%.

(10)  The Company can prepay these senior notes without penalty beginning July 1, 2024.

(11)  The Company capitalized interest relating to development activities of $0.5 million and $6.9 million during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2019, respectively, and $4.0 million and $8.5 million during the three and nine

months ended September 30, 2018, respectively..
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Future Scheduled Maturities—As of September 30, 2019, future scheduled maturities of outstanding debt obligations are as follows ($ in thousands):

Unsecured Debt Secured Debt Total

2019 (remaining three months) $ —  $ — 8 —
2020M 400,000 — 400,000
2021M 275,000 159,802 434,802
2022 1,062,500 48,174 1,110,674
2023 — 641,875 641,875
Thereafter 775,000 516,675 1,291,675
Total principal maturities 2,512,500 1,366,526 3,879,026
Unamortized discounts and deferred financing costs, net (42,487) (9,180) (51,667)
Total debt obligations, net $ 2,470,013 $ 1,357,346  $ 3,827,359
(€3] The $400.0 million principal amount outstanding of the 4.625% senior unsecured notes due September 2020 and the $275.0 million principal amount outstanding of the 6.50% senior unsecured notes due July 2021 were repaid in full in

October 2019.

2016 Senior Term Loan—In June 2016, the Company entered into a senior term loan of $450.0 million (the "2016 Senior Term Loan"). In August 2016, the Company upsized the facility to
$500.0 million. The initial $450.0 million of the 2016 Senior Term Loan was issued at 99% of par and the upsize was issued at par. In September 2017, the Company reduced, repriced and extended
the 2016 Senior Term Loan to $400.0 million priced at LIBOR plus 3.00% with a 0.75% LIBOR floor and maturing in October 2021. In June 2018, the Company increased the 2016 Senior Term
Loan to $650.0 million, re-priced at LIBOR plus 2.75% and extended its maturity to June 2023. The facility was also modified to permit substitution of collateral, subject to overall collateral pool
coverage and concentration limits, over the life of the facility. This modification eliminates the mandatory amortization upon payoff or sale of collateral which existed prior to the upsize and broadens
the types of collateral permitted under the facility. The Company may make optional prepayments, subject to prepayment fees, and is required to repay 0.25% of the principal amount each quarter.

During the nine months ended September 30, 2018, repayments of the 2016 Senior Term Loan resulted in losses on early extinguishment of debt of $2.5 million.

2015 Revolving Credit Facility—In March 2015, the Company entered into a secured revolving credit facility with a maximum capacity of $250.0 million (the "2015 Revolving Credit
Facility"). In September 2017, the Company upsized the 2015 Revolving Credit Facility to $325.0 million, added additional lenders to the syndicate, extended the maturity date to September 2020
and made certain other changes. In September 2019, the Company upsized the 2015 Revolving Credit Facility to $350.0 million, added an additional lender to the syndicate, extended the maturity
date to September 2022 and made certain other changes. This facility is secured by a pledge of the equity interest in a pool of assets which provide asset value coverage for borrowings under the
facility. Borrowings under this credit facility bear interest at a floating rate indexed to one of several base rates plus a margin which adjusts upward or downward based upon the Company's corporate
credit rating. An undrawn credit facility commitment fee ranges from 0.25% to 0.45%, based on corporate credit ratings. At maturity, the Company may convert outstanding borrowings to a one year
term loan which matures in quarterly installments through September 2023. As of September 30, 2019, based on the Company's borrowing base of assets, the Company had $350.0 million of
borrowing capacity available under the 2015 Revolving Credit Facility.

Unsecured Notes—In September 2019, the Company issued $675.0 million principal amount of 4.75% senior unsecured notes due October 2024. Proceeds from the offering, together with
cash on hand, were used in October 2019 to repay in full the $400.0 million principal amount outstanding of the 4.625% senior unsecured notes due September 2020 and the $275.0 million principal
amount outstanding of the 6.50% senior unsecured notes due July 2021.

In March 2019, the Company repaid in full the 5.00% senior unsecured notes due July 2019. During the nine months ended September 30, 2019, repayments of unsecured notes prior to
maturity resulted in losses on early extinguishment of debt of $0.5 million.
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Collateral Assets—The carrying value of the Company's assets that are directly pledged or are held by subsidiaries whose equity is pledged as collateral to secure the Company's obligations
under its secured debt facilities are as follows, by asset type ($ in thousands):

As of
September 30, 2019 December 31, 2018

Collateral Assets® Non-Collateral Assets Collateral Assets® Non-Collateral Assets

Real estate, net $ 1,413,531 $ 116,585 $ 1,620,008 $ 151,011
Real estate available and held for sale — 12,688 1,055 21,496
Net investment in leases 421,252 — — —
Land and development, net 42,402 567,978 12,300 585,918
Loans receivable and other lending investments, net(®) 308,474 475,374 498,524 480,154
Other investments — 733,793 — 304,275
Cash and other assets 2,645 1,460,795 — 1,329,990
Total $ 2,188,304 $ 3,367,213 $ 2,131,887 $ 2,872,844

) The 2016 Senior Term Loan and the 2015 Revolving Credit Facility are secured only by pledges of equity of certain of the Company's subsidiaries and not by pledges of the assets held by such subsidiaries. Such subsidiaries are subject to
contractual restrictions under the terms of such credit facilities, including restrictions on incurring new debt (subject to certain exceptions). As of September 30, 2019, Collateral Assets includes $412.0 million carrying value of assets held by
entities pledged as collateral for the 2015 Revolving Credit Facility that is undrawn as of September 30, 2019.

) As of September 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018, the amounts presented exclude general reserves for loan losses of $8.7 million and $13.0 million, respectively.

3) As of September 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018, the amounts presented exclude loan participations of $33.1 million and $22.5 million, respectively.

Debt Covenants

The Company's outstanding unsecured debt securities contain corporate level covenants that include a covenant to maintain a ratio of unencumbered assets to unsecured indebtedness, as such
terms are defined in the indentures governing the debt securities, of at least 1.2x and a covenant not to incur additional indebtedness (except for incurrences of permitted debt), if on a pro forma basis
the Company's consolidated fixed charge coverage ratio, determined in accordance with the indentures governing the Company's debt securities, is 1.5x or lower. If any of the Company's covenants
are breached and not cured within applicable cure periods, the breach could result in acceleration of its debt securities unless a waiver or modification is agreed upon with the requisite percentage of
the bondholders. If the Company's ability to incur additional indebtedness under the fixed charge coverage ratio is limited, the Company is permitted to incur indebtedness for the purpose of
refinancing existing indebtedness and for other permitted purposes under the indentures.

The Company's 2016 Senior Term Loan and the 2015 Revolving Credit Facility contain certain covenants, including covenants relating to collateral coverage, restrictions on fundamental
changes, transactions with affiliates, matters relating to the liens granted to the lenders and the delivery of information to the lenders. In particular, the 2016 Senior Term Loan requires the Company
to maintain collateral coverage of at least 1.25x outstanding borrowings on the facility. The 2015 Revolving Credit Facility is secured by a borrowing base of assets and requires the Company to
maintain both borrowing base asset value of at least 1.5x outstanding borrowings on the facility and a consolidated ratio of cash flow to fixed charges of at least 1.5x. The 2015 Revolving Credit
Facility does not require that proceeds from the borrowing base be used to pay down outstanding borrowings provided the borrowing base asset value remains at least 1.5x outstanding borrowings on
the facility. To satisfy this covenant, the Company has the option to pay down outstanding borrowings or substitute assets in the borrowing base. The Company may not pay common dividends if it
ceases to qualify as a REIT. In June 2018, the Company amended the terms of the 2016 Senior Term Loan and the 2015 Revolving Credit Facility to include the ability to pay common dividends with
no restrictions so long as the Company is not in default on any of its debt obligations.

The Company's 2016 Senior Term Loan and the 2015 Revolving Credit Facility contain cross default provisions that would allow the lenders to declare an event of default and accelerate the
Company's indebtedness to them if the Company fails to pay amounts due in respect of its other recourse indebtedness in excess of specified thresholds or if the lenders under such other indebtedness
are otherwise permitted to accelerate such indebtedness for any reason. The indentures governing the Company's unsecured public debt securities permit the bondholders to declare an event of default
and accelerate the Company's indebtedness
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to them if the Company's other recourse indebtedness in excess of specified thresholds is not paid at final maturity or if such indebtedness is accelerated.

Note 12—Commitments and Contingencies

Unfunded Commitments—The Company generally funds construction and development loans and build-outs of space in real estate assets over a period of time if and when the borrowers and
tenants meet established milestones and other performance criteria. The Company refers to these arrangements as Performance-Based Commitments. In addition, the Company has committed to

invest capital in several real estate funds and other ventures. These arrangements are referred to as Strategic Investments.

As of September 30, 2019, the maximum amount of fundings the Company may be required to make under each category, assuming all performance hurdles and milestones are met under the
Performance-Based Commitments and that 100% of its capital committed to Strategic Investments is drawn down, are as follows ($ in thousands):

Loans and Other Lending Other
Investments® Real Estate®® Investments Total

Performance-Based Commitments $ 294,059 $ 77,251  $ — 371,310
Strategic Investments — — 24,177 24,177

Total $ 294,059 $ 77,251 $ 24,177 395,487
(€3] Excludes $16.8 million of commitments on loan participations sold that are not the obligation of the Company.
(@] Includes a commitment to invest up to $55.0 million in additional bowling centers over the next several years (refer to Note 5).

Other Commitments—Future minimum lease obligations under operating and finance leases as of September 30, 2019 are as follows ($ in thousands):
Operating®® Finance®

2019 (remaining three months) $ 1,079 $ 1,330
2020 4,054 5,386
2021 1,468 5,494
2022 869 5,604
2023 728 5,716
Thereafter 2,074 1,579,655
Total undiscounted cash flows 10,272 1,603,185
Present value discount™® (1,141) (1,456,121)
Other adjustments® 18,699 —
Lease liabilities $ 27,830 $ 147,064
) During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2019, the Company made payments of $1.0 million and $3.0 million, respectively, related to its operating leases and $1.1 million and $2.0 million, respectively, related to its finance

leases (refer to Note 4). The weighted average lease term for the Company's operating leases, excluding operating leases for which the Company's tenants pay rent on its behalf, was 4.2 years and the weighted average discount rate was

5.6%. The weighted average lease term for the Company's finance leases was 98.2 years and the weighted average discount rate was 5.5%.

) The Company is obligated to pay ground rent under certain operating leases; however, the Company's tenants at the properties pay this expense directly under the terms of various subleases and these amounts are excluded from lease

obligations. The amount shown above is the net present value of the payments to be made by the Company's tenants on its behalf.
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Future minimum lease obligations under operating leases as of December 31, 2018 are as follows ($ in thousands):

Operating®
2019 $ 4,340
2020 4,016
2021 1,589
2022 991
2023 849
Thereafter 2,469
1) The Company is obligated to pay ground rent under certain operating leases; however, the Company's tenants at the properties pay this expense directly under the terms of various subleases and these amounts are excluded from lease

obligations.

Legal Proceedings—The Company and/or one or more of its subsidiaries is party to various pending litigation matters that are considered ordinary routine litigation incidental to the
Company's business as a finance and investment company focused on the commercial real estate industry, including foreclosure-related proceedings. The Company believes it is not a party to, nor are
any of its properties the subject of, any pending legal proceeding that would have a material adverse effect on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

Note 13—Derivatives

The Company's use of derivative financial instruments has historically been limited to the utilization of interest rate swaps, interest rate caps and foreign exchange contracts. The principal
objective of such financial instruments is to minimize the risks and/or costs associated with the Company's operating and financial structure and to manage its exposure to interest rates and foreign
exchange rates. The Company may have derivatives that are not designated as hedges because they do not meet the strict hedge accounting requirements. Although not designated as hedges, such
derivatives are entered into to manage the Company's exposure to interest rate movements, foreign exchange rate movements and other identified risks.

The table below presents the fair value of the Company's derivative financial instruments as well as their classification on the consolidated balance sheets as of September 30, 2019 and
December 31, 2018 ($ in thousands)®:

Derivative Assets Derivative Liabilities
Balance Sheet Fair Balance Sheet Fair
As of September 30, 2019 Location Value Location Value

Derivatives Designated in Hedging Relationships
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other

Interest rate swaps Deferred expenses and other assets, net $ 94 liabilities $ 11,572
Total $ 94 $ 11,572
Derivative Assets Derivative Liabilities
Balance Sheet Fair Balance Sheet Fair
As of December 31, 2018 Location Value Location Value

Derivatives Designated in Hedging Relationships
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other

Interest rate swaps Deferred expenses and other assets, net $ 3,669  liabilities $ 10,244
Total $ 3,669 $ 10,244
1) Over the next 12 months, the Company expects that $4.8 million related to cash flow hedges will be reclassified from "Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)" as a reduction to interest expense. As of December 31, 2018, the

Company posted cash collateral of $6.4 million in connection with its derivatives which were in a liability position and would not have been required to post any additional collateral to settle these contracts had the Company been declared in
default on its derivative obligations.
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The tables below present the effect of the Company's derivative financial instruments, including the Company's share of derivative financial instruments at certain of its equity method
investments, in the consolidated statements of operations and the consolidated statements of comprehensive income (loss) ($ in thousands):

Amount of Gain (Loss) Reclassified

Amount of Gain (Loss) Recognized from Accumulated Other
Location of Gain (Loss) in Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income into
Derivatives Designated in Hedging Relationships ‘When Recognized in Income Comprehensive Income Earnings
For the Three Months Ended September 30, 2019
Interest rate swaps Earnings from equity method $ (6,082) $ (126)
investments
Interest rate swaps Interest expense (3,009) (539)
For the Three Months Ended September 30, 2018
Interest rate swaps Interest Expense 2,702 (144)
Interest rate swaps Earnings from equity method 1,197 44
investments
For the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2019
Interest rate swaps Earnings from equity method (21,309) 28
investments
Interest rate swaps Interest expense (23,781) (957)
For the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2018
Interest rate swaps Interest Expense 1,552 (144)
Interest rate swaps Earnings from equity method
investments 4,705 47)
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Note 14—Equity

Preferred Stock—The Company had the following series of Cumulative Redeemable and Convertible Perpetual Preferred Stock outstanding as of September 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018:

Cumulative Preferential Cash

Dividends®)®
Shares Issued and

Outstanding Liquidation Annual Carrying Value

Series (in thousands) Par Value Preference®® Rate per Annum Dividend Per Share (in thousands)
D 4,000 $ 0.001 $ 25.00 8.00% $ 200 $ 89,041
G 3,200 0.001 25.00 7.65% 1.91 72,664
I 5,000 0.001 25.00 7.50% 1.88 120,785
J (convertible)® 4,000 0.001 50.00 4.50% 2.25 193,510
16,200 $ 476,000

) Holders of shares of the Series D, G, I and J preferred stock are entitled to receive dividends, when and as declared by the Company's Board of Directors, out of funds legally available for the payment of dividends. Dividends are cumulative

from the date of original issue and are payable quarterly in arrears on or before the 15th day of each March, June, September and December or, if not a business day, the next succeeding business day. Any dividend payable on the preferred
stock for any partial dividend period will be computed on the basis of a 360-day year consisting of twelve 30-day months. Dividends will be payable to holders of record as of the close of business on the first day of the calendar month in
which the applicable dividend payment date falls or on another date designated by the Company's Board of Directors for the payment of dividends that is not more than 30 nor less than 10 days prior to the dividend payment date.

) The Company declared and paid dividends of $6.0 million, $4.6 million and $7.0 million on its Series D, G and I Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock during the nine months ended September 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively. The
Company declared and paid dividends of $6.8 million on its Series J Convertible Perpetual Preferred Stock during the nine months ended September 30, 2019 and 2018. The character of the 2018 dividends was 100% capital gain
distribution, of which 26.02% represented unrecaptured section 1250 gain and 73.98% represented long term capital gain. There are no dividend arrearages on any of the preferred shares currently outstanding.

3) The Company may, at its option, redeem the Series G and I Preferred Stock, in whole or in part, at any time and from time to time, for cash at a redemption price equal to 100% of the liquidation preference of $25.00 per share, plus accrued
and unpaid dividends, if any, to the redemption date.
) Each share of the Series J Preferred Stock is convertible at the holder's option at any time into shares of the Company's common stock. The Company may, at its option, redeem the Series J Preferred Stock, in whole or in part, at any time and

from time to time, for cash at a redemption price equal to 100% of the liquidation preference of $50.00 per share, plus accrued and unpaid dividends, if any, to the redemption date. The conversion rate as of September 30, 2019 was 4.0918
shares of the Company's common stock (equal to a conversion price of approximately $12.22 per share). The conversion rate is subject to adjustment from time to time for specified events.

Dividends—To maintain its qualification as a REIT, the Company must annually distribute, at a minimum, an amount equal to 90% of its taxable income, excluding net capital gains, and must
distribute 100% of its taxable income (including net capital gains) to eliminate corporate federal income taxes payable by the REIT. The Company has recorded NOLs and may record NOLs in the
future, which may reduce its taxable income in future periods and lower or eliminate entirely the Company's obligation to pay dividends for such periods in order to maintain its REIT qualification.
As of December 31, 2018, the Company had $567.7 million of NOL carryforwards at the corporate REIT level that can generally be used to offset both ordinary taxable income and capital gain net
income in future years. The NOL carryforwards will begin to expire in 2031 and will fully expire in 2036 if unused. Because taxable income differs from cash flow from operations due to non-cash
revenues and expenses (such as depreciation and certain asset impairments), in certain circumstances, the Company may generate operating cash flow in excess of its dividends, or alternatively, may
need to make dividend payments in excess of operating cash flows. The 2016 Senior Term Loan and the 2015 Revolving Credit Facility permit the Company to pay common dividends with no
restrictions so long as the Company is not in default on any of its debt obligations. The Company declared common stock dividends of $19.0 million, or $0.29 per share, for the nine months ended
September 30, 2019. The Company declared common stock dividends of $6.2 million, or $0.09 per share, for the nine months ended September 30, 2018.

Stock Repurchase Program—The Company may repurchase shares in negotiated transactions or open market transactions, including through one or more trading plans. During the nine
months ended September 30, 2019, the Company repurchased 6.2 million shares of its outstanding common stock for $58.8 million, for an average cost of $9.44 per share. During the nine months
ended September 30, 2018, the Company repurchased 0.8 million shares of its outstanding common stock for $8.3 million, for an average cost of $10.22 per share. As of September 30, 2019, the
Company had remaining authorization to repurchase up to $22.1 million of common stock under its stock repurchase program.
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Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)—"Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)" reflected in the Company's shareholders' equity is comprised of the following ($ in
thousands):

As of
September 30, 2019 December 31, 2018
Unrealized gains on available-for-sale securities $ 2962 $ 475
Unrealized losses on cash flow hedges (39,285) (13,546)
Unrealized losses on cumulative translation adjustment (4,199) (4,199)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss $ (40,522) $ (17,270)

Note 15—Stock-Based Compensation Plans and Employee Benefits

Stock-Based Compensation—The Company recorded stock-based compensation expense, including the expense related to performance incentive plans (see below), of $6.7 million and $20.7
million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2019, respectively, and $3.7 million and $16.2 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2018, respectively, in "General
and administrative” in the Company's consolidated statements of operations.

Performance Incentive Plans—The Company's Performance Incentive Plans ("iPIP") are designed to provide, primarily to senior executives and select professionals engaged in the Company's
investment activities, long-term compensation which has a direct relationship to the realized returns on investments included in the plans. Awards vest over six years, with 40% being vested at the end
of the second year and 15% each year thereafter.

2019-2020 iPIP Plan—The Company's 2019-2020 iPIP plan is an equity-classified award which is measured at the grant date fair value and recognized as compensation cost in "General and
administrative" in the Company's consolidated statements of operations and "Noncontrolling interests" in the Company's consolidated statements of changes in equity over the requisite service period.
Investments in the 2019-2020 iPIP plan will be held by a consolidated subsidiary of the Company that has two ownership classes, class A units and class B units. The Company owns 100% of the
class A units and the class B units were issued to employees as long-term compensation. Except for certain clawback provisions, participants can retain vested class B units upon their termination of
employment with the Company. The class B units are entitled to distributions from the net cash realized from the investments in the plan after the Company, through its ownership of the class A units,
has received a specified return on its invested capital and a return of its invested capital. Distributions on the class B units are also subject to reductions under a total shareholder return ("TSR")
adjustment. The fair value of the class B units was determined using a model that forecasts the underlying cash flows from the investments within the entity to which the class B units have ownership
rights. During the nine months ended September 30, 2019, the Company recorded $2.0 million of expense related to the 2019-2020 iPIP plan. Distributions on the class B units will be 50% in cash
and 50% in shares of the Company's common stock.

2013-2018 iPIP Plans—The remainder of the Company's iPIP plans, as shown in the table below, are liability-classified awards and are remeasured each reporting period at fair value until the
awards are settled. Certain employees will be granted awards that entitle employees to receive the residual cash flows from the investments in the plans after the Company has received a specified
return on its invested capital and a return of its invested capital. Awards are also subject to reductions under a TSR adjustment. The fair value of awards is determined using a model that forecasts the
Company's projected investment performance. Settlement of the awards will be 50% in cash and 50% in shares of the Company's common stock.

The following is a summary of the status of the Company’s liability-classified iPIP plans and changes during the nine months ended September 30, 2019.

iPIP Investment Pool

2013-2014 2015-2016 2017-2018
Points at beginning of period 85.77 79.41 82.43
Granted = = =
Forfeited (1.60) (2.73) (3.72)
Points at end of period 84.17 76.68 78.71

During the nine months ended September 30, 2019, the Company made distributions to participants in the 2013-2014 investment pool. The iPIP participants received total distributions in the
amount of $7.4 million as compensation, comprised of
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$3.8 million in cash and 389,545 shares of the Company's common stock, with a fair value of $3.6 million or $9.21 per share, which are fully-vested and issued under the 2009 LTIP (see below).
After deducting statutory minimum tax withholdings, a total of 209,118 shares of the Company's common stock were issued. As of September 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018, the Company had
accrued compensation costs relating to iPIP of $44.2 million and $37.5 million, respectively, which are included in "Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities" on the Company's
consolidated balance sheets.

Long-Term Incentive Plan—The Company's 2009 Long-Term Incentive Plan (the "2009 LTIP") is designed to provide incentive compensation for officers, key employees, directors and
advisors of the Company. The 2009 LTIP provides for awards of stock options, shares of restricted stock, phantom shares, restricted stock units, dividend equivalent rights and other share-based
performance awards. All awards under the 2009 LTIP are made at the discretion of the Company's Board of Directors or a committee of the Board of Directors. The Company's shareholders approved
the 2009 LTIP in 2009 and approved the performance-based provisions of the 2009 LTIP, as amended, in 2014. In May 2019, the Company's shareholders approved an increase in the number of
shares available for issuance under the 2009 LTIP from 8.0 million to 8.9 million and extended the expiration date of the 2009 LTIP from May 2019 to May 2029.

As of September 30, 2019, an aggregate of 3.0 million shares remain available for issuance pursuant to future awards under the Company's 2009 LTTP.

Restricted Stock Unit Activity—A summary of the Company’s stock-based compensation awards to certain employees in the form of long-term incentive awards for the nine months ended
September 30, 2019, is as follows (in thousands):

Nonvested at beginning of period 357
Granted 481
Vested (52)
Forfeited (89)
Nonvested at end of period 697

As of September 30, 2019, there was $3.3 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to all unvested restricted stock units that are expected to be recognized over a weighted
average remaining vesting/service period of 1.4 years.

Directors' Awards—During the nine months ended September 30, 2019, the Company granted 80,270 restricted shares of common stock to non-employee Directors at a fair value of $8.74 at
the time of grant for their annual equity awards and also issued 4,856 common stock equivalents ("CSEs") at a fair value of $10.82 per CSE in respect of dividend equivalents on outstanding CSEs.
As of September 30, 2019, a combined total of 257,296 CSEs and restricted shares of common stock granted to members of the Company's Board of Directors remained outstanding under the
Company's Non-Employee Directors Deferral Plan, with an aggregate intrinsic value of $3.4 million.

401(k) Plan—The Company made contributions of $0.1 million and $0.8 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2019, respectively, and $0.1 million and $0.9 million for
the three and nine months ended September 30, 2018, respectively.
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Note 16—Earnings Per Share

The following table presents a reconciliation of income from operations used in the basic and diluted earnings per share ("EPS") calculations ($ in thousands, except for per share data):

For the Three Months Ended September For the Nine Months Ended September

30, 30,
2019 2018 2019 2018
Net income (loss) $ 3,626 $ 8,832) $ 370,347  $ 86,702
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests (2,845) (2,028) (8,168) (11,632)
Preferred dividends (8,124) (8,124) (24,372) (24,372)
Net income (loss) allocable to common shareholders for basic earnings per common share $ (7,343) $ (18,984) $ 337,807 $ 50,698
Add: Effect of Series J convertible perpetual preferred stock — — 6,750 6,750
Net income (loss) allocable to common shareholders for diluted earnings per common share $ (7,343) $ (18,984) $ 344,557 $ 57,448

For the Three Months Ended September For the Nine Months Ended September

30, 30,
2019 2018 2019 2018

Earnings allocable to common shares:
Numerator for basic earnings per share:

Net income (loss) allocable to common shareholders $ (7,343)  $ (18,984) $ 337,807 $ 50,698
Numerator for diluted earnings per share:

Net income (loss) allocable to common shareholders $ (7,343)  $ (18,984) $ 344,557 $ 57,448
Denominator for basic and diluted earnings per share:

Weighted average common shares outstanding for basic earnings per common share 62,168 67,975 64,624 67,940

Add: Effect of assumed shares issued under treasury stock method for restricted stock units — — 114 131

Add: Effect of series J convertible perpetual preferred stock — — 16,138 15,658

Weighted average common shares outstanding for diluted earnings per common share 62,168 67,975 80,876 83,729
Basic earnings per common share:

Net income (loss) allocable to common shareholders $ 0.12) $ (0.28) $ 523 $ 0.75
Diluted earnings per common share:(®

Net income (loss) allocable to common shareholders $ 0.12) $ 0.28) $ 426 % 0.69

(€3] For the three months ended September 30, 2019 and 2018, 16,306 and 15,703, respectively of Series J convertible perpetual preferred stock was anti-dilutive. For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2019 and the three months
ended September 30, 2018, the effect of certain of the Company's restricted stock awards were anti-dilutive. The Company will settle conversions of the 3.125% Convertible Notes (refer to Note 11) by paying the conversion value in cash up
to the original principal amount of the notes being converted and shares of common stock to the extent of any conversion premium. The amount of cash and shares of common stock, if any, due upon conversion will be based on a daily
conversion value calculated for each trading day in a 40 consecutive day observation period. Based upon the conversion price of the 3.125% Convertible Notes, no shares of common stock would have been issuable upon conversion of the
3.125% Convertible Notes for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2019 and therefore the 3.125% Convertible Notes had no effect on diluted EPS for such periods.
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Note 17—Fair Values

Fair value represents the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The following
fair value hierarchy prioritizes the inputs to be used in valuation techniques to measure fair value:

Level 1:  Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets that are accessible at the measurement date for identical, unrestricted assets or liabilities;
Level 2: Quoted prices in markets that are not active, or inputs which are observable, either directly or indirectly, for substantially the full term of the asset or liability; and
Level 3: Prices or valuation techniques that require inputs that are both significant to the fair value measurement and unobservable (i.e., supported by little or no market activity).

Certain of the Company's assets and liabilities are recorded at fair value either on a recurring or non-recurring basis. Assets required to be marked-to-market and reported at fair value every
reporting period are classified as being valued on a recurring basis. Assets not required to be recorded at fair value every period may be recorded at fair value if a specific provision or other
impairment is recorded within the period to mark the carrying value of the asset to market as of the reporting date. Such assets are classified as being valued on a non-recurring basis.
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The following fair value hierarchy table summarizes the Company's assets and liabilities recorded at fair value on a recurring and non-recurring basis by the above categories ($ in thousands):

Fair Value Using
Quoted market Significant other Significant
prices in observable unobservable
active markets inputs inputs
Total (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
As of September 30, 2019
Recurring basis:
Derivative assets() $ 94 $ — 5 94 3 =
Derivative liabilities() 11,572 — 11,572 —
Available-for-sale securities) 24,102 — — 24,102
As of December 31, 2018
Recurring basis:
Derivative assets®) $ 3,669 $ — 5 3669 $ —
Derivative liabilities() 10,244 — 10,244 —
Available-for-sale securities™ 21,661 — — 21,661
Non-recurring basis:
Impaired real estate® 29,400 — — 29,400
Impaired real estate available and held for sale® 19,300 — — 19,300
Impaired land and development®) 78,400 — — 78,400
(1)  The fair value of the Company's derivatives are based upon widely accepted valuation techniques utilized by a third-party specialist using observable inputs such as interest rates and contractual cash flow and are classified as Level 2. The fair
value of the Company's available-for-sale securities are based upon unadjusted third-party broker quotes and are classified as Level 3.
(2)  The Company recorded aggregate impairments of $76.3 million on three real estate assets with an estimated aggregate fair value of $29.4 million. The impairments were as follows:
a. A $23.2 million impairment on a commercial operating property based on a decline in expected operating performance. The fair value is based on the Company's estimate of the recoverability of its investment in the project.
b. A $6.0 million impairment on a property based on a strategic decision to sell the asset. The fair value is based on purchase offers received from third parties, which is consistent with the Company's estimate of fair value.
c A $47.1 million impairment on a commercial operating property based on a strategic decision to sell the asset. The fair value is based on purchase offers received from third parties, which is consistent with the Company's estimate
of fair value.
(3)  The Company recorded aggregate impairments of $3.7 million on two real estate assets held for sale. The fair values are based on market comparable sales.
(4)  The Company recorded aggregate impairments of $55.4 million on four land and development assets with an estimated aggregate fair value of $78.4 million. The impairments were as follows:

a. A $25.0 million impairment on a waterfront land and development asset based on a strategic decision to sell the asset. The fair value is based on purchase offers received from third parties, which is consistent with the Company's
estimate of fair value.

b. A $21.6 million impairment on a master planned community based on a strategic decision to sell the asset. The fair value is based on purchase offers received from third parties, which is consistent with the Company's estimate of
fair value.

c. A $6.9 million impairment on an infill land and development asset based on the deterioration of the asset. The fair value is based on purchase offers received from third parties, which is consistent with the Company's estimate of
fair value.

d. A $1.9 million impairment on a waterfront land and development asset based on the sale of the asset in 2019.
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The following table summarizes changes in Level 3 available-for-sale securities reported at fair value on the Company's consolidated balance sheets for the nine months ended September 30,
2019 and 2018 ($ in thousands):

2019 2018
Beginning balance $ 21,661 $ 22,842
Repayments (45) (46)
Unrealized gains (losses) recorded in other comprehensive income 2,486 (1,514)
Ending balance $ 24,102 $ 21,282

Fair values of financial instruments—The Company's estimated fair values of its loans receivable and other lending investments and outstanding debt was $0.8 billion and $4.0 billion,
respectively, as of September 30, 2019 and $1.0 billion and $3.5 billion, respectively, as of December 31, 2018. The Company determined that the significant inputs used to value its loans receivable
and other lending investments and debt obligations fall within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. The carrying value of other financial instruments including cash and cash equivalents, restricted
cash, accrued interest receivable, net investment in leases and accounts payable, approximate the fair values of the instruments. Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash values are considered
Level 1 on the fair value hierarchy. The fair value of other financial instruments, including derivative assets and liabilities, is included in the fair value hierarchy table above.

Note 18—Segment Reporting

The Company has determined that it has four reportable segments based on how management reviews and manages its business. These reportable segments include: Real Estate Finance, Net
Lease, Operating Properties and Land and Development. The Real Estate Finance segment includes all of the Company's activities related to senior and mezzanine real estate loans and real estate
related securities. The Net Lease segment includes the Company's activities and operations related to the ownership of properties generally leased to single corporate tenants and its investment in
SAFE (refer to Note 8). The Operating Properties segment includes the Company's activities and operations related to its commercial and residential properties. The Land and Development segment
includes the Company's activities related to its developable land portfolio.
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The Company evaluates performance based on the following financial measures for each segment. The Company's segment information is as follows ($ in thousands):

Three Months Ended September 30, 2019:
Operating lease income
Interest income
Interest income from sales-type leases
Other income
Land development revenue
Earnings (losses) from equity method investments
Income from sales of real estate
Total revenue and other earnings
Real estate expense
Land development cost of sales
Other expense
Allocated interest expense
Allocated general and administrative®®
Segment profit (loss)®

Other significant items:

Recovery of loan losses

Depreciation and amortization

Capitalized expenditures

Three Months Ended September 30, 2018:
Operating lease income
Interest income
Other income
Land development revenue
Earnings (losses) from equity method investments
Income from sales of real estate
Total revenue and other earnings
Real estate expense
Land development cost of sales
Other expense
Allocated interest expense
Allocated general and administrative®
Segment profit (loss)®

Other significant items:

Provision for loan losses

Impairment of assets

Depreciation and amortization

Capitalized expenditures

38

Operating Land and
Real Estate Finance Net Lease Properties Development Corporate/Other® Company Total
$ — 38,006 6,034 $ 70 3 — 44,110
18,912 789 — — — 19,701
— 8,339 — — — 8,339
115 6,347 7,611 2,124 2,073 18,270
— — — 54,918 — 54,918
— 2,848 4,875 (301) 195 7,617
— 3,458 18 — — 3,476
19,027 59,787 18,538 56,811 2,268 156,431
— (6,460) (9,314) (7,413) — (23,187)
— — — (48,101) — (48,101)
(49) — — — (358) (407)
(6,902) (25,176) (2,393) (5,268) (6,783) (46,522)
(2,035) (6,887) (727) (3,019) (4,702) (17,370)
$ 10,041 21,264 6,104 $ (6,990) $ (9,575) 20,844
$ (3,805) - = $ — — (3,805)
— 12,409 1,244 243 303 14,199
— 7,846 2,816 20,536 — 31,198
$ — 45,204 13,803 $ 102 $ — 59,109
22,915 — — — — 22,915
753 1,008 21,253 857 3,937 27,808
— — — 12,309 — 12,309
— 775 (2,223) 161 652 (635)
— — 5,409 — — 5,409
23,668 46,987 38,242 13,429 4,589 126,915
— (4,774) (18,649) (8,864) — (32,287)
— — — (12,114) — (12,114)
(179) — — — (119) (298)
(9,558) (16,454) (4,547) (5,014) (11,646) (47,219)
(2,693) (5,740) (1,429) (3,576) (4,524) (17,962)
$ 11,238 20,019 13,617 $ (16,139) $ (11,700) 17,035
$ 200 — — $ — 8 — 200
— — 989 — — 989
— 12,554 6,857 263 305 19,979
— 28,315 5,860 33,608 — 67,783
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Nine Months Ended September 30, 2019:
Operating lease income
Interest income
Interest income from sales-type leases
Other income
Land development revenue
Earnings (losses) from equity method investments
Selling profit from sales-type leases
Income from sales of real estate
Total revenue and other earnings
Real estate expense
Land development cost of sales
Other expense
Allocated interest expense
Allocated general and administrative®
Segment profit (loss)®

Other significant non-cash items:

Recovery of loan losses

Impairment of assets

Depreciation and amortization

Capitalized expenditures

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2018:
Operating lease income
Interest income
Other income
Land development revenue
Earnings (losses) from equity method investments
Gain from consolidation of equity method investment
Income from sales of real estate
Total revenue and other earnings
Real estate expense
Land development cost of sales
Other expense
Allocated interest expense
Allocated general and administrative®
Segment profit (loss)®

Other significant non-cash items:

Provision for loan losses

Impairment of assets

Depreciation and amortization

Capitalized expenditures

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

iStar Inc.
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(unaudited)
Operating Land and
Real Estate Finance Net Lease Properties Development Corporate/Other® Company Total

$ = $ 136,150 21,844 216§ = 158,210
59,220 1,197 — — — 60,417

= 12,157 = = = 12,157

2,836 12,705 13,960 6,877 6,755 43,133

— — — 76,691 — 76,691

— 13,660 (166) 2,910 162 16,566

— 180,416 — — — 180,416

— 223,200 10,206 — — 233,406

62,056 579,485 45,844 86,694 6,917 780,996
— (18,335) (28,646) (24,184) — (71,165)
— — — (71,785) = (71,785)
(359) — — — (12,439) (12,798)
(23,251) (70,548) (7,859) (15,888) (19,305) (136,851)
(6,523) (19,299) (2,214) (9,199) (14,583) (51,818)

$ 31,923 $ 471,303 7,125 (34,362) $ (39,410) 436,579
$ (3,792) $ — — — — (3,792)
— — 3,853 1,100 — 4,953

— 38,242 3,701 733 910 43,586

— 12,707 4,878 86,029 — 103,614

$ — 8 104,241 44,818 457 § — 149,516
74,824 — — — — 74,824

4,271 2,755 46,748 2,640 7,537 63,951

— — — 369,665 — 369,665
= 7,028 (4,814) 2,726 (9,521) (4,581)

— 67,877 — — — 67,877

— 24,907 54,446 — — 79,353

79,095 206,808 141,198 375,488 (1,984) 800,605

= (12,186) (64,091) (29,234) = (105,511)

— — — (318,881) — (318,881)

(869) — — — (4,311) (5,180)

(31,971) (44,246) (14,653) (16,795) (27,907) (135,572)

(10,514) (15,179) (5,447) (11,128) (15,142) (57,410)

$ 35741 $ 135,197 57,007 (550) $ (49,344) 178,051
$ 18237  $ — — —  $ — 18,237
— 4,342 5,535 1,300 — 11,177

— 25,205 14,522 1,095 1,035 41,857

- 29,512 18,186 107,658 = 155,356
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

(unaudited)
Operating Land and
Real Estate Finance Net Lease Properties Development Corporate/Other® Company Total
As of September 30, 2019
Real estate
Real estate, net $ — $ 1,329,896 $ 200,220 $ — $ — $ 1,530,116
Real estate available and held for sale — — 12,688 — — 12,688
Total real estate — 1,329,896 212,908 — — 1,542,804
Net investment in leases — 421,252 — — — 421,252
Land and development, net — — — 610,380 — 610,380
Loans receivable and other lending investments, net 764,055 44,234 — — — 808,289
Other investments — 586,358 60,347 42,675 44,413 733,793
Total portfolio assets $ 764,055 $ 2,381,740 $ 273,255 $ 653,055 $ 44,413 4,116,518
Cash and other assets 1,463,440
Total assets $ 5,579,958
As of December 31, 2018
Real estate
Real estate, net $ — $ 1,536,494 $ 234,525 $ —  $ — s 1,771,019
Real estate available and held for sale — 1,055 21,496 — — 22,551
Total real estate — 1,537,549 256,021 — — 1,793,570
Land and development, net — — — 598,218 — 598,218
Loans receivable and other lending investments, net 988,224 — — — — 988,224
Other investments — 165,804 65,643 65,312 7,516 304,275
Total portfolio assets $ 988,224 $ 1,703,353 $ 321,664 $ 663,530 $ 7,516 3,684,287
Cash and other assets 1,329,990
Total assets $ 5,014,277
1) Corporate/Other represents all corporate level and unallocated items including any intercompany eliminations necessary to reconcile to consolidated Company totals. This caption also includes the Company's joint venture investments and
strategic investments that are not included in the other reportable segments above.
) General and administrative excludes stock-based compensation expense of $6.7 million and $20.7 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2019, respectively, and $3.7 million and $16.2 million for the three and nine
months ended September 30, 2018, respectively.
3) The following is a reconciliation of segment profit to net income (loss) ($ in thousands):
For the Three Months Ended September 30, For the Nine Months Ended September 30,
2019 2018 2019 2018
Segment profit $ 20,844 $ 17,035 § 436,579  $ 178,051
Add/Less: Recovery of (provision for) loan losses 3,805 (200) 3,792 (18,237)
Less: Impairment of assets — (989) (4,953) (11,177)
Less: Stock-based compensation expense (6,740) (3,651) (20,694) (16,245)
Less: Depreciation and amortization (14,199) (19,979) (43,586) (41,857)
Less: Income tax expense (84) (137) (323) (386)
Less: Loss on early extinguishment of debt, net — (911) (468) (3,447)
Net income (loss) $ 3,626 $ (8,832) $ 370,347 $ 86,702
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Item 2. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Certain statements in this report, other than purely historical information, including estimates, projections, statements relating to our business plans, objectives and expected operating results,
and the assumptions upon which those statements are based, are "forward-looking statements" within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, Section 27A of the
Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Act"), and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"). Forward-looking statements are included with
respect to, among other things, iStar Inc.'s (the "Company's") current business plan, business strategy, portfolio management, prospects and liquidity. These forward-looking statements generally are
identified by the words "believe," "project," "expect," "anticipate," "estimate," "intend," "strategy," "plan," "may," "should," "will," "would," "will be," "will continue," "will likely result," and similar
expressions. Forward-looking statements are based on current expectations and assumptions that are subject to risks and uncertainties which may cause actual results or outcomes to differ materially
from those contained in the forward-looking statements. We undertake no obligation to update or revise publicly any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events
or otherwise. In assessing all forward-looking statements, readers are urged to read carefully all cautionary statements contained in this Form 10-Q and the uncertainties and risks described in
Item 1A—"Risk Factors" in our Annual Report, all of which could affect our future results of operations, financial condition and liquidity. For purposes of Management's Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations, the terms "we," "our" and "us" refer to iStar Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries, unless the context indicates otherwise.

"o "o "o won o

The discussion below should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and related notes in this quarterly report on Form 10-Q and our Annual Report. These historical
financial statements may not be indicative of our future performance. We have reclassified certain items in our consolidated financial statements of prior periods to conform to our current financial
statements presentation.

Introduction

iStar Inc. ("iStar") finances, invests in and develops real estate and real estate related projects as part of its fully-integrated investment platform. We also manage entities focused on ground
lease ("Ground Lease") and net lease investments. We have invested over $40 billion of capital over the past two decades and are structured as a real estate investment trust ("REIT") with a
diversified portfolio focused on larger assets located in major metropolitan markets. Our primary business segments are real estate finance, net lease, operating properties and land and development.

Executive Overview

Capital remains cheap and plentiful in most traditional lending sectors of the commercial real estate markets, and we expect that to continue for the remainder of 2019. In addition, interest rates
and the equity markets have experienced some volatility. We have taken a cautious approach in these conditions, focusing on providing capital to customers with whom we have a pre-existing
relationship, originating fewer traditional loans and aggressively seeking to monetize legacy assets.

In September 2019, we issued $675.0 million principal amount of 4.75% senior unsecured notes due October 2024. Proceeds from the offering, together with cash on hand, were used in
October 2019 to repay in full the $400.0 million principal amount outstanding of the 4.625% senior unsecured notes due September 2020 and the $275.0 million principal amount outstanding of the
6.50% senior unsecured notes due July 2021. We have no debt maturities through April 2022. As of September 30, 2019, we had $917.3 million of cash and $350.0 million of credit facility
availability. We expect to use our unrestricted cash balance primarily to fund future investment activities, pay debt service, make distributions to shareholders and for general working capital needs.

Consistent with our historical approach of offering differentiated capital where we believe we can capture better risk-adjusted returns, we have invested, and intend to continue to invest, more of
our capital and resources in the Ground Lease business. In January 2019, we expanded our relationship with SAFE through an additional $250.0 million equity investment and an amendment of our
management agreement with SAFE that gives us greater protection against a termination of the agreement, and incentivizes us to grow SAFE's portfolio. In August 2019, we further expanded our
relationship with SAFE through a private placement in which we acquired 6.0 million shares of SAFE's common stock for $168.0 million. We have also pursued and will continue to pursue joint
transactions with SAFE, such as offering customers a SAFE Ground Lease and an iStar leasehold loan.

In July 2018, we entered into "Net Lease Venture II" with total capital commitments of $526 million and an investment strategy similar to the Net Lease Venture. We have an equity interest in
the new venture of approximately 51.9% and are responsible for managing the venture in exchange for management and incentive fees.
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For the three months ended September 30, 2019, we recorded a net loss allocable to common shareholders of $7.3 million, compared to a net loss of $19.0 million during the same period in the
prior year. Adjusted income allocable to common shareholders for the three months ended September 30, 2019 was $3.4 million, compared to $3.7 million during the same period in the prior year

(see "Adjusted Income" for a reconciliation of adjusted income to net income (loss)).

We continue to work on monetizing, repositioning or redeveloping our legacy portfolio, which includes transitional operating properties and land and development assets, such as the Asbury
Park assemblage and the Magnolia Green community (refer to our Annual Report on Form 10-K), in order to maximize their value.

Portfolio Overview

As of September 30, 2019, based on our gross book value, including the carrying value of our equity method investments exclusive of accumulated depreciation, our total investment portfolio
has the following characteristics:

MNet Lease 47.4%

SAFE 13.1%

frategic Investments 1.0%

Operating Properties 6.9%

Real Estate Finance 17.0%

Land and Development
14.6%

As of September 30, 2019, based on our gross book value, including the carrying value of our equity method investments gross of accumulated depreciation, our total investment portfolio has
the following property/collateral type and geographic characteristics ($ in thousands):

Real Estate Net Operating % of
Property/Collateral Types Finance Lease Properties Land & Development Total Total
Office / Industrial $ 83,835 § 1,150,760  $ 98,874 $ —  $ 1,333,469 29.4%
Entertainment / Leisure — 934,351 15,869 — 950,220 20.9%
Land and Development 84,597 — — 662,419 747,016 16.4%
Ground Leases — 611,209 — — 611,209 13.4%
Hotel 160,630 — 76,433 — 237,063 5.2%
Mixed Use / Mixed Collateral 194,581 — 39,210 — 233,791 5.1%
Multifamily 127,700 — 32,154 — 159,854 3.5%
Other Property Types 36,053 57,348 — — 93,401 2.1%
Condominium 63,759 — 11,742 — 75,501 1.7%
Retail 21,600 — 39,654 — 61,254 1.3%
Strategic Investments — — — — 44,413 1.0%
Total $ 772,755  $ 2,753,668 $ 313,936 $ 662,419 $ 4,547,191 100.0%
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Real Estate Net Operating % of
Geographic Region Finance Lease Properties Land & Development Total Total
Northeast $ 286,918 $ 767,249  $ 92,656 $ 317,707  $ 1,464,530 32.3%
West 224,598 509,625 56,170 75,801 866,194 19.0%
Mid-Atlantic 12,287 486,862 — 131,656 630,805 13.9%
Southwest 30,100 422,278 105,802 51,493 609,673 13.4%
Southeast 62,536 320,101 15,422 54,262 452,321 9.9%
Central 60,771 238,385 43,886 31,500 374,542 8.2%
Various 95,545 9,168 — — 104,713 2.3%
Strategic Investments — — — — 44,413 1.0%
Total $ 772,755 $ 2,753,668  $ 313,936 $ 662,419 $ 4,547,191 100.0%

Real Estate Finance

Our real estate finance business targets sophisticated and innovative owner/operators of real estate and real estate related projects by providing one-stop capabilities that encompass financing
alternatives ranging from full envelope senior loans to mezzanine and preferred equity capital positions. As of September 30, 2019, our real estate finance portfolio, including securities and other
lending investments, totaled $817.0 million, exclusive of general loan loss reserves. The portfolio, excluding securities and other lending investments, included $648.4 million of performing loans
with a weighted average maturity of 1.7 years.

The tables below summarize our loans and the reserves for loan losses associated with our loans ($ in thousands):

September 30, 2019
Reserve for Loan Losses as
Gross Carrying Reserve for a % of Gross Carrying
Number of Loans Value Loan Losses Carrying Value % of Total Value
Performing loans 25 % 648,362 $ (8,700) $ 639,662 97.5% 1.3%
Non-performing loans 1 38,400 (21,701) 16,699 2.5% 56.5%
Total 26 $ 686,762 $ (30,401) $ 656,361 100.0% 4.4%

December 31, 2018

Reserve for Loan Losses as

Gross Carrying Reserve for a % of Gross Carrying
Number of Loans Value Loan Losses Carrying Value % of Total Value
Performing loans 35 § 852,768  $ (13,000) $ 839,768 97.0% 1.5%
Non-performing loans 3 66,725 (40,395) 26,330 3.0% 60.5%
Total 38 $ 919,493 $ (53,395) $ 866,098 100.0% 5.8%

Performing Loans—The table below summarizes our performing loans exclusive of reserves ($ in thousands):

September 30, 2019 December 31, 2018
Senior mortgages $ 516,168 $ 694,025
Corporate/Partnership loans 121,500 148,583
Subordinate mortgages 10,694 10,160
Total $ 648,362  $ 852,768
Weighted average LTV 64% 63%
Yield 9.0% 9.2%

Non-Performing Loans—We designate loans as non-performing at such time as: (1) the loan becomes 90 days delinquent; (2) the loan has a maturity default; or (3) management determines it is
probable that we will be unable to collect all amounts due
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according to the contractual terms of the loan. All non-performing loans are placed on non-accrual status and income is only recognized in certain cases upon actual cash receipt. As of September 30,
2019, we had a non-performing loan with an aggregate carrying value of $16.7 million compared to non-performing loans with an aggregate carrying value of $26.3 million as of December 31, 2018.
We expect that our level of non-performing loans will fluctuate from period to period.

Reserve for Loan Losses—The reserve for loan losses was $30.4 million as of September 30, 2019, or 4.4% of total loans, compared to $53.4 million or 5.8% as of December 31, 2018. For the
nine months ended September 30, 2019, the recovery of loan losses included a decrease in the general reserve of $4.3 million offset by an increase in the specific reserve of $0.5 million. We also
charged-off $19.2 million from the specific reserve due to the resolution of a non-performing loan. We expect that our level of reserve for loan losses will fluctuate from period to period. Due to the
volatility of the commercial real estate market, the process of estimating collateral values and reserves requires the use of significant judgment. We currently believe there is adequate collateral and
reserves to support the carrying values of the loans.

The reserve for loan losses includes an asset-specific component and a formula-based component. An asset-specific reserve is established for an impaired loan when the estimated fair value of
the loan's collateral less costs to sell is lower than the carrying value of the loan. As of September 30, 2019, asset-specific reserves decreased to $21.7 million compared to $40.4 million as of
December 31, 2018, primarily due to a $19.2 million charge-off from the specific reserve due to the resolution of a non-performing loan.

The formula-based general reserve is derived from estimated principal default probabilities and loss severities applied to groups of performing loans based upon risk ratings assigned to loans
with similar risk characteristics during our quarterly loan portfolio assessment. During this assessment, we perform a comprehensive analysis of our loan portfolio and assign risk ratings to loans that
incorporate management's current judgments and future expectations about their credit quality based on all known and relevant factors that may affect collectability. We consider, among other things,
payment status, lien position, borrower financial resources and investment in collateral, collateral type, project economics and geographical location as well as national and regional economic factors.
This methodology results in loans being segmented by risk classification into risk rating categories that are associated with estimated probabilities of default and principal loss. We estimate loss rates
based on historical realized losses experienced within our portfolio and take into account current economic conditions affecting the commercial real estate market when establishing appropriate time
frames to evaluate loss experience.

The general reserve decreased to $8.7 million or 1.3% of performing loans as of September 30, 2019, compared to $13.0 million or 1.5% of performing loans as of December 31, 2018. The
decrease was primarily attributable to a decrease in the balance of our performing loans.

Net Lease

Our net lease business seeks to create stable cash flows through long-term net leases primarily to single tenants on our properties. We target mission-critical facilities leased on a long-term basis
to tenants, offering structured solutions that combine our capabilities in underwriting, lease structuring, asset management and build-to-suit construction. Leases typically provide for expenses at the
facility to be paid by the tenant on a triple net lease basis. Under a typical net lease agreement, the tenant agrees to pay a base monthly operating lease payment and most or all of the facility operating
expenses (including taxes, utilities, maintenance and insurance). We generally intend to hold our net lease assets for long-term investment. However, we may dispose of assets if we deem the
disposition to be in our best interests.
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The net lease segment includes our traditional net lease investments and our investment in SAFE. As of September 30, 2019, our consolidated net lease portfolio totaled $2.2 billion. Our net
lease portfolio, including the carrying value of our equity method investments in SAFE and Net Lease Venture II, exclusive of accumulated depreciation, totaled $2.8 billion. The table below provides
certain statistics for our net lease portfolio.

Consolidated

Real Estate® Net Lease Venture 11 SAFE
Ownership % 100.0% 51.9% 67.1%
Gross book value (millions)@® $ 2,154  $ 31§ 1,452
% Leased 98.0% 100.0% 100.0%
Square footage (thousands) 16,230 169 N/A
Weighted average lease term (years)®) 17.8 9.3 87.6
Weighted average yield® 8.0% 8.1% 4.3%

(1)  We own 51.9% of the Net Lease Venture which is consolidated in our GAAP financial statements.
(2)  Gross book value represents the acquisition cost of real estate and any additional capital invested into the property by us.
(3)  Weighted average lease term is calculated using GAAP rent and the initial maturity and does not include extension options.

(4)  Yield for SAFE is calculated over the trailing twelve months and excludes management fees earned by us.

Net Lease Venture—In 2014, the Company partnered with a sovereign wealth fund to form a venture to acquire and develop net lease assets and gave a right of first refusal to the venture on all
new net lease investments that met specified investment criteria (refer to Note 8 in our consolidated financial statements for more information on our Net Lease Venture). The Net Lease Venture's
investment period expired on June 30, 2018 and the remaining term of the venture extends through February 13, 2022, subject to two, one-year extension options at the discretion of us and our
partner. We obtained control over the Net Lease Venture when the investment period expired on June 30, 2018 and consolidated the assets and liabilities of the venture, which had previously been
accounted for as an equity method investment.

Net Lease Venture II—In July 2018, we entered into Net Lease Venture II with similar investment strategies as the Net Lease Venture (refer to Note 8). The Net Lease Venture II has a right of
first offer on all new net lease investments (excluding Ground Leases) originated by us. We have an equity interest in the new venture of approximately 51.9%, which is accounted for as an equity
method investment, and are responsible for managing the venture in exchange for a management fee and incentive fee.

SAFE—SAFE is a publicly-traded company that originates and acquires Ground Leases in order to generate attractive long-term risk-adjusted returns from its investments. We believe its
business has characteristics comparable to a high-grade fixed income investment business, but with certain unique advantages. Relative to alternative fixed income investments generally, SAFE's
Ground Leases typically benefit from built-in growth derived from contractual rent increases, and the opportunity to realize value from residual rights to acquire the buildings and other improvements
on its land at no additional cost. We believe that these features offer us the opportunity through our ownership in SAFE to realize superior risk-adjusted total returns when compared to certain
alternative highly-rated investments. As of September 30, 2019, we owned approximately 67.1% of SAFE's common stock outstanding.

We account for our investment in SAFE as an equity method investment (refer to Note 8). We are SAFE's external manager, and we have an exclusivity agreement with SAFE pursuant to which
we agreed, subject to certain exceptions, that we will not acquire, originate, invest in, or provide financing for a third party’s acquisition of, a Ground Lease unless we have first offered that
opportunity to SAFE and a majority of its independent directors has declined the opportunity.

Operating Properties

Our operating properties represent a pool of assets across a broad range of geographies and collateral types including office, retail, hotel and residential properties. As of September 30, 2019,
our operating property portfolio, including the carrying value of our equity method investments gross of accumulated depreciation, totaled $313.9 million.

45



Table of Contents

Land and Development

The following table presents a land and development portfolio rollforward for the nine months ended September 30, 2019.

Land and Development Portfolio Rollforward

Asbury Ocean Club and All Total

Asbury Park Waterfront Others Segment
Beginning balance® $ 1095 $ 2486 $ 598.2
Asset sales?® (12.1) (25.4) (69.2)
Capital expenditures 15.7 6.7 86.0
Other® 1.7) 25.9 (4.6)
Ending balance® $ 114 § 2558 § 610.4
(€3] As of September 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018, Total Segment excludes $42.7 million and $65.3 million, respectively, of equity method investments.
) Represents gross book value of the assets sold, rather than proceeds received.
3) For Asbury Ocean Club and Asbury Park Waterfront, other represents assets transferred to the operating properties segment.

Results of Operations for the Three Months Ended September 30, 2019 compared to the Three Months Ended September 30, 2018

Operating lease income
Interest income
Interest income from sales-type leases
Other income
Land development revenue
Total revenue
Interest expense
Real estate expense
Land development cost of sales
Depreciation and amortization
General and administrative
(Recovery of) provision for loan losses
Impairment of assets
Other expense
Total costs and expenses
Income from sales of real estate
Loss on early extinguishment of debt, net
Earnings (losses) from equity method investments
Income tax expense

Net income (loss)

For the Three Months Ended September 30,

2019 2018 $ Change
(in thousands)

$ 44110 $ 59,109 (14,999)
19,701 22,915 (3,214)

8,339 — 8,339
18,270 27,808 (9,538)

54,918 12,309 42,609

145,338 122,141 23,197
46,522 47,219 (697)
23,187 32,287 (9,100)

48,101 12,114 35,987
14,199 19,979 (5,780)

24,110 21,613 2,497
(3,805) 200 (4,005)
= 989 (989)

407 298 109

152,721 134,699 18,022
3,476 5,409 (1,933)

— (911) 911

7,617 (635) 8,252

(84) (137) 53

$ 3626 $ (8,832) 12,458
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Revenue—Operating lease income, which primarily includes income from net lease assets and commercial operating properties, decreased $15.0 million, or 25%, to $44.1 million during the
three months ended September 30, 2019 from $59.1 million for the same period in 2018. The following table summarizes our operating lease income by segment ($ in millions).

Three Months Ended September 30,

2019 2018 Change
Net Lease(®) $ 380 $ 452 $ (7.2)
Operating Properties® 6.0 13.8 (7.8)
Land and Development 0.1 0.1 —
Total $ 441 8 59.1 % (15.0)

(1) Change primarily due to the reclassification of certain operating leases to sales-type leases in May 2019 (refer to Note 5) and asset sales, partially offset by new acquisitions.
(2) Change primarily due to asset sales.

The following table shows certain same store statistics for our Net Lease segment. Same store assets are defined as assets we owned on or prior to July 1, 2018 and were in service through
September 30, 2019 (Operating lease income in millions).

Three Months Ended September 30,

2019 2018
Operating lease income $ 397 $ 38.5
Rent per square foot $ 1068  $ 10.33
Occupancy® 98.1% 98.6%

(1) Occupancy as of September 30, 2019 and 2018.

Interest income decreased $3.2 million, or 14%, to $19.7 million during the three months ended September 30, 2019 from $22.9 million for the same period in 2018. The decrease was due
primarily to a decrease in the average balance of our performing loans and other lending investments, which was $865.6 million for the three months ended September 30, 2019 and $1.03 billion for
the three months ended September 30, 2018. The weighted average yield on our performing loans and other lending investments was 8.7% for the three months ended September 30, 2019 and 2018.

Interest income from sales-type leases was $8.3 million for the three months ended September 30, 2019. On January 1, 2019, we adopted new accounting standards (refer to Note 3) and classify
certain of our leases as sales-type leases. Under sales-type leases, we accrue interest income from sales-type leases under the effective interest method as opposed to recognition of operating lease
income under the straight-line rent method for our leases that do not qualify as sales-type leases.

Other income decreased $9.5 million, or 34%, to $18.3 million during the three months ended September 30, 2019 from $27.8 million for the same period in 2018. Other income during the three
months ended September 30, 2019 consisted primarily of income from our hotel properties, lease termination fees, other ancillary income from our operating properties, land and development
projects and loan portfolio and interest income on our cash. Other income during the three months ended September 30, 2018 consisted primarily of lease termination fees, income from our hotel
properties, other ancillary income from our operating properties and interest income on our cash.

Land development revenue and cost of sales—During the three months ended September 30, 2019, we sold residential lots and units and recognized land development revenue of $54.9 million
which had associated cost of sales of $48.1 million. During the three months ended September 30, 2018, we sold residential lots and units and recognized land development revenue of $12.3 million
which had associated cost of sales of $12.1 million. The increase in 2019 was primarily due to sales of residential units at Asbury Ocean Club.

Costs and expenses—Interest expense decreased $0.7 million, or 1%, to $46.5 million during the three months ended September 30, 2019 from $47.2 million for the same period in 2018 due to
a decrease in the balance of our average outstanding debt, inclusive of loan participations and lease liabilities associated with finance-type leases, which decreased to $3.50 billion for the three months
ended September 30, 2019 from $3.69 billion for the same period in 2018. Our weighted average cost of debt for the three months ended September 30, 2019 and 2018 was 5.3% and 5.4%,
respectively.
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Real estate expenses decreased $9.1 million, or 28%, to $23.2 million during the three months ended September 30, 2019 from $32.3 million for the same period in 2018. The following table
summarizes our real estate expenses by segment ($ in millions).

Three Months Ended September 30,

2019 2018 Change
Operating Properties() $ 94 $ 186 $ 9:2)
Land and Development® 7.4 8.9 (1.5)
Net Lease(® 6.4 4.8 1.6
Total $ 232 $ 323 $ 9.1

(1) Change primarily due to asset sales.
(2) Change primarily due to a decrease in legal and consulting costs, partially offset by new operating properties.
(3) Change primarily due to new acquisitions.

Depreciation and amortization decreased $5.8 million, or 29%, to $14.2 million during the three months ended September 30, 2019 from $20.0 million for the same period in 2018, primarily
due to asset sales.

General and administrative expenses increased $2.5 million, or 12%, to $24.1 million during the three months ended September 30, 2019 from $21.6 million for the same period in 2018. The
following table summarizes our general and administrative expenses for the three months ended September 30, 2019 and 2018 (in millions):

Three Months Ended September 30,

2019 2018 Change
Payroll and related costs $ 14.2 $ 142 $ =
Performance Incentive Plans() 5.1 5.0 2.4 2.7
Public company costs 1.5 1.0 0.5
Occupancy costs 1.1 1.2 (0.1)
Other 2.2 2.8 (0.6)
Total $ 24.1 $ 216 $ 2.5

(1) Represents the fair value of points issued and change in fair value of the plans during the periods presented. For liability-classified awards, such amounts may increase or decrease over time until the awards are settled. Please refer to Note
15 - Stock-Based Compensation Plans and Employee Benefits for a description of the Performance Incentive Plans.

The recovery of loan losses was $3.8 million during the three months ended September 30, 2019 as compared to a provision for loan losses of $0.2 million for the same period in 2018. The
recovery of loan losses for the three months ended September 30, 2019 was due to a decrease in the general reserve. The provision for loan losses for the three months ended September 30, 2018 was
due to an increase in the general reserve.

During the three months ended September 30, 2018, we recorded an aggregate impairment of $1.0 million that resulted from the sale of commercial operating properties and residential
condominium units.

Other expense increased slightly to $0.4 million during the three months ended September 30, 2019 from $0.3 million for the same period in 2018.

Income from sales of real estate—Income from sales of real estate increased to $3.5 million during the three months ended September 30, 2019 from $5.4 million for the same period in 2018.
The following table presents our income from sales of real estate by segment ($ in millions).

Three Months Ended September 30,

2019 2018
Net Lease $ 35 §$ =
Operating Properties — 5.4
Total $ 35 $ 5.4
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Loss on early extinguishment of debt, net—During the three months ended September 30, 2018, we incurred losses on early extinguishment of debt of $0.9 million resulting from the
repayment of senior notes prior to maturity.

Earnings (losses) from equity method investments—Earnings (losses) from equity method investments increased to $7.6 million during the three months ended September 30, 2019 from $(0.6)
million for the same period in 2018. During the three months ended September 30, 2019, we recognized $8.2 million resulting from the sale of an asset in an operating property venture, $2.9 million
of income from our equity method investment in SAFE and $3.5 million of aggregate losses from our remaining equity method investments. During the three months ended September 30, 2018, we
recognized $0.8 million from our equity method investment in SAFE and $1.4 million of aggregate losses from our remaining equity method investments.

Income tax expense—Income tax expense of $0.1 million was recorded during the three months ended September 30, 2019 as compared to an income tax expense of $0.1 million for the same
period in 2018. The income tax expense for the three months ended September 30, 2019 and 2018 primarily related to federal taxes at one of our taxable REIT subsidiaries, state margins taxes and
other minimum state franchise taxes.
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Results of Operations for the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2019 compared to the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2018

For the Nine Months
Ended September 30,
2019 2018 $ Change
(in thousands)

Operating lease income $ 158,210 $ 149,516 $ 8,694
Interest income 60,417 74,824 (14,407)
Interest income from sales-type leases 12,157 — 12,157
Other income 43,133 63,951 (20,818)
Land development revenue 76,691 369,665 (292,974)

Total revenue 350,608 657,956 (307,348)
Interest expense 136,851 135,572 1,279
Real estate expense 71,165 105,511 (34,346)
Land development cost of sales 71,785 318,881 (247,096)
Depreciation and amortization 43,586 41,857 1,729
General and administrative 72,512 73,655 (1,143)
Provision for loan losses (3,792) 18,237 (22,029)
Impairment of assets 4,953 11,177 (6,224)
Other expense 12,798 5,180 7,618

Total costs and expenses 409,858 710,070 (300,212)
Income from sales of real estate 233,406 79,353 154,053
Loss on early extinguishment of debt, net (468) (3,447) 2,979
Earnings (losses) from equity method investments 16,566 (4,581) 21,147
Selling profit from sales-type leases 180,416 — 180,416
Gain on consolidation of equity method investment 67,877 (67,877)
Income tax expense (323) (386) 63
Net income $ 370,347 $ 86,702 $ 283,645

Revenue—Operating lease income, which primarily includes income from net lease assets and commercial operating properties, increased $8.7 million, or 6%, to $158.2 million during the nine
months ended September 30, 2019 from $149.5 million for the same period in 2018. The following table summarizes our operating lease income by segment ($ in millions).

For the Nine Months
Ended September 30,

2019 2018 Change
Net Lease(®) $ 1362 $ 1042 $ 32.0
Operating Properties®® 21.8 44.8 (23.0)
Land and Development 0.2 0.5 (0.3)
Total $ 1582 $ 1495 $ 8.7

(1) Change primarily due to a $42.1 million increase from the consolidation of the Net Lease Venture on June 30, 2018 and acquiring new assets during the nine months ended September 30, 2019, partially offset by a decrease of $9.1 million
from the reclassification of certain operating leases as sales-type leases in May 2019 (refer to Note 5) and asset sales.
(2) Change primarily due to asset sales.
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The following table shows certain same store statistics for our Net Lease segment. Same store assets are defined as assets we owned on or prior to January 1, 2018 and were in service through
September 30, 2019 (Operating lease income in millions).

Nine Months Ended September 30,

2019 2018
Operating lease income $ 674  $ 67.1
Rent per square foot $ 9.46  § 9.39
Occupancy® 97.1% 97.9%

(1) Occupancy as of September 30, 2019 and 2018.

Interest income decreased $14.4 million, or 19%, to $60.4 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2019 from $74.8 million for the same period in 2018. The decrease was due
primarily to a decrease in the average balance of our performing loans and other lending investments, which was $879.7 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2019 and $1.07 billion for
the nine months ended September 30, 2018. The weighted average yield on our performing loans and other lending investments was 9.0% and 9.3% for the nine months ended September 30, 2019
and 2018, respectively.

Interest income from sales-type leases was $12.2 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2019. On January 1, 2019, we adopted new accounting standards (refer to Note 3) and classify
certain of our leases as sales-type leases. Under sales-type leases, we accrue interest income from sales-type leases under the effective interest method as opposed to recognition of operating lease
income under the straight-line rent method for our leases that do not qualify as sales-type leases.

Other income decreased $20.8 million, or 33%, to $43.1 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2019 from $64.0 million for the same period in 2018. Other income during the nine
months ended September 30, 2019 consisted primarily of income from our hotel properties, lease termination fees, other ancillary income from our operating properties, land and development
projects and loan portfolio and interest income on our cash. Other income during the nine months ended September 30, 2018 consisted primarily of lease termination fees, income from our hotel
properties, other ancillary income from our operating properties and interest income on our cash.

Land development revenue and cost of sales—During the nine months ended September 30, 2019, we sold residential lots and units and recognized land development revenue of $76.7 million
which had associated cost of sales of $71.8 million. During the nine months ended September 30, 2018, we sold land parcels and residential lots and units and recognized land development revenue
of $369.7 million which had associated cost of sales of $318.9 million. The decrease in 2019 was primarily the result of two bulk parcel sales during the nine months ended September 30, 2018.

Costs and expenses—Interest expense increased $1.3 million, or 1%, to $136.9 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2019 from $135.6 million for the same period in 2018. The
balance of our average outstanding debt, inclusive of loan participations and lease liabilities associated with finance-type leases, was $3.52 billion for the nine months ended September 30, 2019 and
$3.47 billion for the same period in 2018. Our weighted average cost of debt for the nine months ended September 30, 2019 and 2018 was 5.4% and 5.5%, respectively.

Real estate expenses decreased $34.3 million, or 33%, to $71.2 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2019 from $105.5 million for the same period in 2018. The following table
summarizes our real estate expenses by segment ($ in millions).

Nine Months Ended September 30,

2019 2018 Change
Operating Properties() $ 288 $ 641 $ (35.3)
Land and Development® 24.2 29.2 (5.0)
Net Lease® 18.2 12.2 6.0
Total $ 712 $ 105.5 $ (34.3)

(1) Change primarily due to asset sales, partially offset by an increase at properties that began operations.
(2) Change primarily due to certain properties being moved to operating properties after beginning operations and a decrease in legal costs at properties, partially offset by an increase in marketing costs at certain of our properties.
(3) Change primarily due to the consolidation of the Net Lease Venture.
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Depreciation and amortization increased $1.7 million, or 4%, to $43.6 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2019 from $41.9 million for the same period in 2018, primarily due
to the consolidation of the Net Lease Venture on June 30, 2018, partially offset by the sale of commercial operating properties since October 1, 2018.

General and administrative expenses decreased $1.1 million, or 2%, to $72.5 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2019 from $73.7 million for the same period in 2018. The
following table summarizes our general and administrative expenses for the nine months ended September 30, 2019 and 2018 (in millions):

Nine Months Ended September 30,

2019 2018 Change
Payroll and related costs® $ 40.8 $ 450 $ 4.2)
Performance Incentive Plans® 16.6 5.0 12.6 4.0
Public company costs 4.4 3.9 0.5
Occupancy costs 3.3 3.8 (0.5)
Other 7.4 8.4 (1.0)
Total $ 725 $ 737 % (1.2)

(1) Decrease due to a reduction in headcount to 157 employees as of September 30, 2019 from 186 employees as of December 31, 2017.
(2) Represents the fair value of points issued and change in fair value of the plans during the periods presented. For liability-classified awards, such amounts may increase or decrease over time until the awards are settled. Please refer to Note
15 - Stock-Based Compensation Plans and Employee Benefits for a description of the Performance Incentive Plans.

The recovery of loan losses was $3.8 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2019 as compared to a provision for loan losses of $18.2 million for the same period in 2018. The
recovery of loan losses for the nine months ended September 30, 2019 was due to a decrease in the general reserve of $4.3 million offset by an increase in the specific reserve of $0.5 million. The
provision for loan losses for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 was due to a specific reserve of $21.4 million resulting from the resolution of a non-performing loan partially offset by a $3.2
million decrease in the general reserve.

Impairment of assets was $5.0 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2019 and resulted from an impairment of $3.3 million on a commercial operating property based on an
executed purchase and sale agreement, a $1.1 million impairment on a land and development asset due to a change in business strategy and $0.6 million of impairments in connection with the sale of
residential condominium units. During the nine months ended September 30, 2018, we recorded an aggregate impairment of $11.2 million that resulted from a net lease asset where the total recovery
was less than the carrying value, an impairment on a real estate asset that was sold and an impairment on a land and development asset based upon market comparable sales.

Other expense increased to $12.8 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2019 from $5.2 million for the same period in 2018. The increase in 2019 was due primarily to losses
associated with derivative contracts that were terminated.

Income from sales of real estate—Income from sales of real estate increased to during the nine months ended September 30, 2019 from $79.4 million for the same period in 2018. The
following table presents our income from sales of real estate by segment ($ in millions).

Nine Months Ended
September 30,
2019 2018
Net Lease® $ 2232 $ 54.5
Operating Properties 10.2 24.9
Total $ 2334 $ 79.4

(1) During the nine months ended September 30, 2019, we sold a portfolio of net lease assets with an aggregate carrying value of $220.4 million and recognized gains of $219.7 million in "Income from sales of real estate" in our consolidated
statements of operations.

Loss on early extinguishment of debt, net—During the nine months ended September 30, 2019 and 2018, we incurred losses on early extinguishment of debt of $0.5 million and $3.4 million,

respectively, resulting from repayments of senior notes prior to maturity during the nine months ended September 30, 2019 and from repayments of our 2016 Senior Term Loan prior to its
modification, the modification and upsize of our 2016 Senior Term Loan and repayments of senior notes prior to maturity during the nine months ended September 30, 2018.
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Earnings (losses) from equity method investments—Earnings (losses) from equity method investments increased to $16.6 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2019 from
$(4.6) million for the same period in 2018. During the nine months ended September 30, 2019, we recognized $8.2 million resulting from the sale of an asset in an operating property venture, $14.1
million of income from our equity method investment in SAFE and $5.7 million of aggregate losses from our remaining equity method investments. During the nine months ended September 30,
2018, we recognized $4.1 million related to operations at our Net Lease Venture (which we consolidate as of June 30, 2018), $2.9 million from our equity method investment in SAFE and $11.6
million of aggregate losses from our remaining equity method investments, inclusive of a $10.0 million impairment on a foreign equity method investment due to local market conditions.

Selling profit from sales-type leases—During the nine months ended September 30, 2019, we entered into a transaction with an operator of bowling entertainment venues, consisting of the
purchase of nine bowling centers for $56.7 million and a commitment to invest up to $55.0 million in additional bowling centers over the next several years. The new centers were added to our
existing master leases with the tenant. In connection with this transaction, the maturities of the leases were extended by 15 years to 2047. As a result of the modifications to the leases, we accounted
for the leases as sales-type leases and recognized $180.4 million in "Selling profit from sales-type leases" as a result of the transaction.

Gain on consolidation of equity method investment—On June 30, 2018, we gained control of the Net Lease Venture when its investment period expired. As a result, as of June 30, 2018, we
consolidated the assets and liabilities of the venture, which had previously been accounted for as an equity method investment. We recorded a gain of $67.9 million as a result of the consolidation.

Income tax expense—Income tax expense of $0.3 million was recorded during the nine months ended September 30, 2019 as compared to an income tax expense of $0.4 million for the same
period in 2018. The income tax expense for the nine months ended September 30, 2019 and 2018 primarily related to state margins taxes and other minimum state franchise taxes.

Adjusted Income

In addition to net income (loss) prepared in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America ("GAAP"), we use adjusted income, a non-GAAP
financial measure, to measure our operating performance. Adjusted income is used internally as a supplemental performance measure adjusting for certain non-cash GAAP measures to give
management a view of income more directly derived from operating activities in the period in which they occur. Adjusted income is calculated as net income (loss) allocable to common shareholders,
prior to the effect of depreciation and amortization, provision for (recovery of) loan losses, impairment of assets, stock-based compensation expense, the liquidation preference recorded as a premium
above book value on the redemption of preferred stock, the imputed non-cash interest expense recognized for the conversion feature of our senior convertible notes, the non-cash portion of gain (loss)
on early extinguishment of debt and is adjusted for the effect of gains or losses on charge-offs and dispositions on carrying value gross of loan loss reserves and impairments ("Adjusted Income").
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Adjusted Income should be examined in conjunction with net income (loss) as shown in our consolidated statements of operations. Adjusted Income should not be considered as an alternative
to net income (loss) (determined in accordance with GAAP), or to cash flows from operating activities (determined in accordance with GAAP), as a measure of our liquidity, nor is Adjusted Income
indicative of funds available to fund our cash needs or available for distribution to shareholders. Rather, Adjusted Income is an additional measure we use to analyze our business performance
because it excludes the effects of certain non-cash charges that we believe are not necessarily indicative of our operating performance while including the effect of gains or losses on investments
when realized. It should be noted that our manner of calculating Adjusted Income may differ from the calculations of similarly-titled measures by other companies.

For the Three Months Ended For the Nine Months Ended

September 30, September 30,
2019 2018 2017 2019 2018 2017
(in thousands)

Adjusted Income

Net income (loss) allocable to common shareholders $ (7,343) $ (18,984) $ (34,530) $ 337,807 $ 50,698 $ 115,834

Add: Depreciation and amortization( 14,266 19,873 14,765 44,008 52,153 45,438

Add (Less): Provision for (recovery of) loan losses (3,805) 200 (2,600) (3,792) 18,237 (8,128)

Add: Impairment of assets®® — 989 595 4,953 21,769 15,292

Add: Stock-based compensation expense 6,740 3,651 2,934 20,694 16,245 12,730

Add: Loss on early extinguishment of debt, net — 911 616 468 3,447 1,392

Add: Non-cash interest expense on senior convertible notes 1,254 — 1,191 110 3,714 3,527 110

Add: Premium on redemption of preferred stock — — 16,314 — — 16,314

Add: Deferred gain on sale®® — — — — — 55,500

Less: Losses on charge-offs and dispositions®) (7,673) (4,093) (1,779) (87,673) (65,553) (15,906)
Adjusted income (loss) allocable to common shareholders® $ 3,439 $ 3,738 $ (3,575) $ 320,179  $ 100,523 $ 238,576
(€] pepreciation and amortization also includes our proportionate share of depreciation and amortization expense for equity method investments and excludes the portion of depreciation and amortization expense allocable to noncontrolling
@) E‘lrtl;tfii;:em of assets includes impairments on equity method investments recorded in "Earnings from equity method investments" in our consolidated statements of operations.
3) Adjusted Income for the nine months ended September 30, 2018, as previously reported, included a $75.9 million add-back attributable to aggregate deferred gains on our retained interests in entities to which we sold or contributed

properties prior to 2018 and a $3.3 million add-back for depreciation related to such properties. We recognized those gains in our GAAP retained earnings as of January 1, 2018 when we adopted a new accounting standard that mandated
such recognition. We are retrospectively modifying our presentation of Adjusted Income for 2018 and 2017, as shown in the table above, to reflect the effects of the dispositions in the periods in which they occurred. Adjusted Income for the
nine months ended September 30, 2017 shown in the table above includes $55.5 million of the aggregate deferred gain, which resulted from the sale of our Ground Lease business to SAFE in the second quarter of 2017. The remaining $23.7
million of the aggregate deferred gains are not shown in the table above because the disposition transactions occurred prior to 2017. Adjusted Income as previously reported (i.e., prior to the retrospective modification) for the three and nine
months ended September 30, 2018 was $3.7 million and $179.7 million, respectively, and for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2017 was $(3.6) million and $183.1 million, respectively.

) Represents the impact of charge-offs and dispositions realized during the period. These charge-offs and dispositions were on assets that were previously impaired for GAAP and reflected in net income but not Adjusted Income.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

During the three months ended September 30, 2019, we invested $380.5 million into new investments, prior financing commitments and ongoing real estate development. This amount includes
$57.2 million in real estate finance, $20.6 million to develop our land and development assets, $300.1 million to invest in net lease assets and $2.3 million of capital to reposition or redevelop our
operating properties and $0.3 million in other investments. Also during the three months ended September 30, 2019, we generated $242.1 million of proceeds from loan repayments and asset sales
within our portfolio, comprised of $159.7 million from real estate finance, $28.7 million from operating properties and net lease assets and $53.7 million from land and development assets. These
amounts are inclusive of fundings and proceeds from both consolidated investments and our pro rata share from equity method investments.

The following table outlines our capital expenditures on operating properties, net lease and land and development assets as reflected in our consolidated statements of cash flows, by segment ($
in thousands):

For the Nine Months Ended September 30,

2019 2018
Operating Properties $ 5965 § 22,671
Net Lease 15,116 21,540
Total capital expenditures on real estate assets $ 21,081 $ 44,211
Land and Development $ 93,395 $ 98,489
Total capital expenditures on land and development assets $ 93,395 § 98,489

As of September 30, 2019, we had unrestricted cash of $917.3 million and $350.0 million of borrowing capacity available under the 2015 Revolving Credit Facility. In October 2019, we repaid
the $400.0 million principal amount outstanding of the 4.625% senior unsecured notes due September 2020 and the $275.0 million principal amount outstanding of the 6.50% senior unsecured notes
due July 2021. Our primary cash uses over the next 12 months are expected to be funding of investments, capital expenditures, distributions to shareholders and funding ongoing business operations.
Over the next 12 months, we currently expect to fund in the range of approximately $50.0 million to $100.0 million of capital expenditures within our portfolio. The majority of these amounts relate
to our land and development projects and operating properties, and include multifamily and residential development activities which are expected to include approximately $20.0 million in vertical
construction. The amount actually invested will depend on the pace of our development activities as well as the extent to which we strategically partner with others to complete these projects. As of
September 30, 2019, we also had approximately $395.5 million of maximum unfunded commitments associated with our investments of which we expect to fund the majority of over the next two
years, assuming borrowers and tenants meet all milestones, performance hurdles and all other conditions to fundings (see "Unfunded Commitments" below). We also have $331.8 million principal
amount of scheduled real estate finance maturities over the next 12 months, exclusive of any extension options that can be exercised by our borrowers. Our capital sources to meet cash uses through
the next 12 months and beyond are expected to include cash on hand, income from our portfolio, loan repayments from borrowers and proceeds from asset sales.

We cannot predict with certainty the specific transactions we will undertake to generate sufficient liquidity to meet our obligations as they come due. We will adjust our plans as appropriate in

response to changes in our expectations and changes in market conditions. While economic trends have stabilized, it is not possible for us to predict whether these trends will continue or to quantify
the impact of these or other trends on our financial results.
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Contractual Obligations—The following table outlines the contractual obligations related to our long-term debt obligations, loan participations payable and operating lease obligations as of
September 30, 2019 (refer to Note 11 to our consolidated financial statements).

Amounts Due By Period

Less Than 1 1-3 3-5 5-10 After 10
Total Year Years Years Years Years

(in thousands)

Long-Term Debt Obligations:

Unsecured notes() $ 2,412,500 $ — 5 1,737,500 $ — 3 675,000 $ —
Secured credit facilities 641,875 6,500 13,000 622,375 — —
Mortgages 724,651 13,452 179,612 66,959 453,687 10,941
Trust preferred securities 100,000 — — — — 100,000
Total principal maturities 3,879,026 19,952 1,930,112 689,334 1,128,687 110,941
Interest Payable()( 720,653 172,542 308,117 134,049 82,637 23,308
Loan Participations Payable® 33,189 33,189 — — — —
Lease Obligations® 1,613,457 9,554 14,119 12,869 32,401 1,544,514
Total $ 6,246,325 $ 235,237 $ 2,252,348  $ 836,252 $ 1,243,725  $ 1,678,763
1) The $400.0 million principal amount outstanding of the 4.625% senior unsecured notes due September 2020 and the $275.0 million principal amount outstanding of the 6.50% senior unsecured notes due July 2021 were repaid in full in
) \O/;;ioabbelg—zrgtlegaebt assumes one-month LIBOR of 2.02% and three-month LIBOR of 2.09% that were in effect as of September 30, 2019. Interest payable does not include payments that may be required under our interest rate derivatives.
3) Refer to Note 10 to the consolidated financial statements.
) ‘We are obligated to pay ground rent under certain operating leases; however, our tenants at the properties pay this expense directly under the terms of various subleases and these amounts are excluded from lease obligations.

Collateral Assets—The carrying value of our assets that are directly pledged or are held by subsidiaries whose equity is pledged as collateral to secure our obligations under our secured debt
facilities are as follows, by asset type ($ in thousands):

As of
September 30, 2019 December 31, 2018

Collateral Assets® Non-Collateral Assets Collateral Assets® Non-Collateral Assets

Real estate, net $ 1,413,531 $ 116,585 $ 1,620,008 $ 151,011

Real estate available and held for sale — 12,688 1,055 21,496

Net investment in leases 421,252 — — —

Land and development, net 42,402 567,978 12,300 585,918

Loans receivable and other lending investments, net(?®) 308,474 475,374 498,524 480,154

Other investments — 733,793 — 304,275

Cash and other assets 2,645 1,460,795 — 1,329,990

Total $ 2,188,304 $ 3,367,213 $ 2,131,887 $ 2,872,844
) The 2016 Senior Term Loan and the 2015 Revolving Credit Facility are secured only by pledges of equity of certain of our subsidiaries and not by pledges of the assets held by such subsidiaries. Such subsidiaries are subject to contractual

restrictions under the terms of such credit facilities, including restrictions on incurring new debt (subject to certain exceptions). As of September 30, 2019, Collateral Assets includes $412.0 million carrying value of assets held by entities
whose equity interests are pledged as collateral for the 2015 Revolving Credit Facility that is undrawn as of September 30, 2019.

) As of September 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018, the amounts presented exclude general reserves for loan losses of $8.7 million and $13.0 million, respectively.

3) As of September 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018, the amounts presented exclude loan participations of $33.1 million and $22.5 million, respectively.

Debt Covenants—Our outstanding unsecured debt securities contain corporate level covenants that include a covenant to maintain a ratio of unencumbered assets to unsecured indebtedness,
as such terms are defined in the indentures governing the debt securities, of at least 1.2x and a covenant not to incur additional indebtedness (except for incurrences of permitted debt), if on a pro
forma basis our consolidated fixed charge coverage ratio, determined in accordance with the indentures governing our debt securities, is 1.5x or lower. If any of our covenants are breached and not
cured within applicable cure periods, the breach could result in acceleration of our debt securities unless a waiver or modification is agreed upon with the requisite percentage of the
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bondholders. If our ability to incur additional indebtedness under the fixed charge coverage ratio is limited, we are permitted to incur indebtedness for the purpose of refinancing existing indebtedness
and for other permitted purposes under the indentures.

The 2016 Senior Term Loan and the 2015 Revolving Credit Facility contain certain covenants, including covenants relating to collateral coverage, restrictions on fundamental changes,
transactions with affiliates, matters relating to the liens granted to the lenders and the delivery of information to the lenders. In particular, the 2016 Senior Term Loan requires us to maintain collateral
coverage of at least 1.25x outstanding borrowings on the facility. The 2015 Revolving Credit Facility is secured by a borrowing base of assets and requires us to maintain both borrowing base asset
value of at least 1.5x outstanding borrowings on the facility and a consolidated ratio of cash flow to fixed charges of at least 1.5x. The 2015 Revolving Credit Facility does not require that proceeds
from the borrowing base be used to pay down outstanding borrowings provided the borrowing base asset value remains at least 1.5x outstanding borrowings on the facility. To satisfy this covenant,
we have the option to pay down outstanding borrowings or substitute assets in the borrowing base. We may not pay dividends if we cease to qualify as a REIT. In June 2018, we amended the terms of
the 2016 Senior Term Loan and the 2015 Revolving Credit Facility to include the ability to pay common dividends with no restrictions so long as we are not in default on any of our debt obligations.
We declared common stock dividends of $19.0 million, or $0.29 per share, for the nine months ended September 30, 2019.

Derivatives—Our use of derivative financial instruments is primarily limited to the utilization of interest rate swaps, interest rate caps or other instruments to manage interest rate risk exposure
and foreign exchange contracts to manage our risk to changes in foreign currencies. Refer to Note 13 to the consolidated financial statements.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements—We are not dependent on the use of any off-balance sheet financing arrangements for liquidity. We have made investments in various unconsolidated
ventures. Refer to Note 8 to the consolidated financial statements for further details of our unconsolidated investments. Our maximum exposure to loss from these investments is limited to the
carrying value of our investments and any unfunded commitments (see below).

Unfunded Commitments—We generally fund construction and development loans and build-outs of space in net lease assets over a period of time if and when the borrowers and tenants meet
established milestones and other performance criteria. We refer to these arrangements as Performance-Based Commitments. In addition, we have committed to invest capital in several real estate
funds and other ventures. These arrangements are referred to as Strategic Investments. As of September 30, 2019, the maximum amount of fundings we may be obligated to make under each
category, assuming all performance hurdles and milestones are met under the Performance-Based Commitments and assuming that 100% of our capital committed to Strategic Investments is drawn
down, are as follows (in thousands):

Loans and Other Lending Other
Investments®) Real Estate® Investments Total
Performance-Based Commitments $ 294,059 $ 77,251 $ — 3 371,310
Strategic Investments — — 24,177 24,177
Total $ 294,059 $ 77,251 $ 24,177 $ 395,487
1) Excludes $16.8 million of commitments on loan participations sold that are not our obligation.
(@3] Includes a commitment to invest up to $55.0 million in additional bowling centers over the next several years (refer to Note 5).

Stock Repurchase Program—We may repurchase shares in negotiated transactions or open market transactions, including through one or more trading plans. During the nine months ended
September 30, 2019, we repurchased 6.2 million shares of our outstanding common stock for $58.8 million, for an average cost of $9.44 per share. During the nine months ended September 30, 2018,
we repurchased 0.8 million shares of our outstanding common stock for $8.3 million, for an average cost of $10.22 per share. As of September 30, 2019, we had remaining authorization to repurchase
up to $22.1 million of common stock under our stock repurchase program.

Critical Accounting Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with GAAP requires management to make estimates and judgments in certain circumstances that affect amounts reported as assets,
liabilities, revenues and expenses. We have established detailed policies and control procedures intended to ensure that valuation methods, including any judgments made as part of such methods, are
well controlled, reviewed and applied consistently from period to period. We base our estimates on historical corporate and industry experience and various other assumptions that we believe to be
appropriate under the circumstances. For all of these estimates, we caution that future events rarely develop exactly as forecasted, and, therefore, routinely require adjustment.
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For a discussion of our critical accounting policies, refer to Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements and our Annual Report on Form 10-K.

New Accounting Pronouncements—For a discussion of the impact of new accounting pronouncements on our financial condition or results of operations, refer to Note 3 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

Market Risks

Market risk is the exposure to loss resulting from changes in interest rates, foreign currency exchange rates, commodity prices and equity prices. In pursuing our business plan, the primary
market risk to which we are exposed is interest rate risk. Our operating results will depend in part on the difference between the interest and related income earned on our assets and the interest
expense incurred in connection with our interest-bearing liabilities. Changes in the general level of interest rates prevailing in the financial markets will affect the spread between our floating rate
assets and liabilities subject to the net amount of floating rate assets/liabilities and the impact of interest rate floors and caps. Any significant compression of the spreads between interest-earning
assets and interest-bearing liabilities could have a material adverse effect on us.

In the event of a significant rising interest rate environment or economic downturn, defaults could increase and cause us to incur additional credit losses which would adversely affect our
liquidity and operating results. Such delinquencies or defaults would likely have a material adverse effect on the spreads between interest-earning assets and interest-bearing liabilities. In addition, an
increase in interest rates could, among other things, reduce the value of our fixed-rate interest-bearing assets and our ability to realize gains from the sale of such assets.

Interest rates are highly sensitive to many factors, including governmental monetary and tax policies, domestic and international economic and political conditions, and other factors beyond our
control. We monitor the spreads between our interest-earning assets and interest-bearing liabilities and may implement hedging strategies to limit the effects of changes in interest rates on our
operations, including engaging in interest rate swaps, interest rate caps and other interest rate-related derivative contracts. Such strategies are designed to reduce our exposure, on specific transactions
or on a portfolio basis, to changes in cash flows as a result of interest rate movements in the market. We do not enter into derivative contracts for speculative purposes or as a hedge against changes in
our credit risk or the credit risk of our borrowers.

While a REIT may utilize derivative instruments to hedge interest rate risk on its liabilities incurred to acquire or carry real estate assets without generating non-qualifying income, use of
derivatives for other purposes will generate non-qualified income for REIT income test purposes. This includes hedging asset related risks such as credit and interest rate exposure on our loan assets.
As a result our ability to hedge these types of risks is limited. There can be no assurance that our profitability will not be materially adversely affected during any period as a result of changing
interest rates.

The following table quantifies the potential changes in annual net income, assuming no change in our interest earning assets or interest bearing liabilities, should interest rates increase or
decrease by 10, 50 or 100 basis points, assuming no change in the shape of the yield curve (i.e., relative interest rates). The base interest rate scenario assumes the one-month LIBOR rate of 2.02% as
of September 30, 2019. Actual results could differ significantly from those estimated in the table.

Estimated Change In Net Income
($ in thousands)

Change in Interest Rates Net Income®

-100 Basis Points $ (6,184)
-50 Basis Points (3,172)
-10 Basis Points (670)
Base Interest Rate —

+10 Basis Points 702

+50 Basis Points 3,827

+100 Basis Points 7,821

(1)  We have an overall net variable-rate asset position, which results in an increase in net income when rates increase and a decrease in net income when rates decrease. As of September 30, 2019, $400.3 million of our floating rate loans have a
weighted average interest rate floor of 1.3% and $33.2 million of our floating rate debt obligations have a weighted average interest rate floor of 0.4%.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures

The Company maintains disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in the Company's Exchange Act reports is recorded, processed,
summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the Securities and Exchange Commission's rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to the
Company's management, including its Chief Executive Officer and Chief Accounting Officer, who is currently performing the functions of the Company's principal financial officer, as appropriate, to
allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. The
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Company has formed a disclosure committee that is responsible for considering the materiality of information and determining the disclosure obligations of the Company on a timely basis. The
disclosure committee reports directly to the Company's Chief Executive Officer and principal financial officer (whose functions are currently being performed by the Company's Chief Accounting
Officer).

As of the end of the period covered by this report, the Company carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of the disclosure committee and other members of
management, including its Chief Executive Officer and Chief Accounting Officer (performing the functions of principal financial officer), of the effectiveness of the Company's disclosure controls
and procedures pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(b) or Rule 15d-15. Based upon that evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Accounting Officer concluded that the Company's
disclosure controls and procedures are effective to provide reasonable assurance that the information required to be disclosed by the Company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange
Act is: (i) recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in SEC rules and forms; and (ii) accumulated and communicated to management, including the Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Accounting Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding disclosure.

There have been no changes during the last fiscal quarter in the Company's internal control over financial reporting that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
Company's internal control over financial reporting.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, a control system, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that it will detect or uncover failures within the
Company to disclose material information otherwise required to be set forth in the Company's periodic reports.
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PART II. OTHER INFORMATION
Item 1. Legal Proceedings

The Company and/or one or more of its subsidiaries is party to various pending litigation matters that are considered ordinary routine litigation incidental to the Company's business as a finance
and investment company focused on the commercial real estate industry, including foreclosure-related proceedings. The Company believes it is not a party to, nor are any of its properties the subject
of, any pending legal proceeding that would have a material adverse effect on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

Item la. Risk Factors
There were no material changes from the risk factors previously disclosed in our Annual Report.
Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

The following table sets forth the information with respect to purchases made by us or on our behalf of our common stock during the three months ended September 30, 2019.

Maximum Dollar Value of Shares
Total Number of Shares Average Price Paid per Total Number of Shares Purchased that May Yet be Purchased Under the

Purchased Share as Part of a Publicly Announced Plan Plans®
July 1 to July 31 35,632 $ 12.42 35,632 $ 22,101,305
August 1 to August 31 — $ — — $ 22,101,305
September 1 to September 30 — 3 — — $ 22,101,305
) ‘We may repurchase shares in negotiated transactions or open market transactions, including through one or more trading plans.

Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities

None.
Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures
Not applicable.
Item 5. Other Information

None.
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Item 6. Exhibits

INDEX TO EXHIBITS
Exhibit
Number Document Description
10.1 Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of September 27, 2019 among iStar Inc. and JP Morgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent
31.0 Certifications pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act.
32.0 Certifications pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act.
101* The following financial information from the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30, 2019 is formatted in Inline XBRL
("eXtensible Business Reporting Language"): (i) the Consolidated Balance Sheets (unaudited) as of September 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018, (ii) the
Consolidated Statements of Operations (unaudited) for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2019 and 2018, (iii) the Consolidated Statements of
Comprehensive Income (Loss) (unaudited) for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2019 and 2018, (iv) the Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity
(unaudited) for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2019 and 2018, (v) the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (unaudited) for the nine months ended
September 30, 2019 and 2018 and (vi) the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (unaudited).
* In accordance with Rule 406T of Regulation S-T, the XBRL related information in Exhibit 101 is deemed not filed or part of a registration statement or prospectus for purposes of sections 11 or 12 of the Securities Act of 1933, is deemed

not filed for purposes of section 18 of the Exchange Act of 1934 and otherwise is not subject to liability under these sections.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto
duly authorized.

iStar Inc.
Registrant
Date: October 31, 2019 /s/ JAY SUGARMAN
Jay Sugarman
Chairman of the Board of Directors and Chief
Executive Officer (principal executive officer)
iStar Inc.
Registrant
Date: October 31, 2019 /s/ GARETT ROSENBLUM

Garett Rosenblum
Chief Accounting Officer
(principal financial officer)
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SECOND AMENDED AND RESTATED CREDIT AGREEMENT

SECOND AMENDED AND RESTATED CREDIT AGREEMENT (this “ Agreement” )
dated as of September 27, 2019, among iISTAR INC., a Maryland Corporation (the “ Borrower”), the
BANKS listed on the signature pages hereof or otherwise from time to time parties hereto, and
JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A., asthe Administrative Agent.

WITNESSETH
WHEREAS, the Borrower, the Banks and the Administrative Agent are partiesto the

Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of September 27, 2017 (as heretofore amended,
supplemented or otherwise modified, the “ Existing Credit Agreement”);

WHEREAS, the Borrower has requested that the Banks, among other things, extend the
maturity date of the Existing Credit Agreement; and

WHEREAS, the Banks are willing to do so on the terms and conditions set forth herein;

NOW, THEREFORE, for good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of
which are hereby acknowledged, the parties hereby agree to amend and restate the Existing Credit
Agresment in its entirety as follows:

ARTICLE |
DEFINITIONS
Section1.1.  Déefinitions. Thefollowing terms, as used herein, have the following meanings:
* Administrative Agent” means JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A ., in its capacity asthe

administrative agent hereunder, and its permitted successors in such capacity in accordance with the terms
of this Agreesment.

“ Administrative Questionnaire” means with respect to each Bank, an administrative
questionnaire in the form prepared by the Administrative Agent and submitted to the Administrative
Agent (with a copy to the Borrower) duly completed by such Bank.

“Affiliate”, as epplied to any Person, means any other Person that directly or indirectly
controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with, that Person. For purposes of this definition,
“control” (including, with correlative meanings, the terms “controlling”, “controlled by” and “ under
common control with” ), as applied to any Person, means the possession, directly or indirectly, of the
power to vote ten percent (10.0%) or more of the equity securities having voting power for the el ection of
directors of such Person or otherwise to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of

that Person, whether through the ownership of voting equity securities or by contract or otherwise.

“ Affiliate Subordination Agreement” means a Second Amended and Restated Affiliate
Subordination Agreement substantially in the form of Exhibit A pursuant to which intercompany
obligations and advances owed by the Borrower are subordinated to the Obligations.

“Agents’ means, collectively, the Administrative Agent and the Arrangers.




“Agreement” means this Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement as the same
may from time to time hereafter be amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise modified.

“Anti-Corruption Laws’ means al laws, rules and regulations of any jurisdiction
applicable to the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries from time to time concerning or relating to bribery,
money |aundering or corruption.

“ Applicable Advance Rate” means as of any date of determination as to any Borrowing

Base Assst:

(i) 65%, if the relevant BPO with respect to such Borrowing Base Asset isless than
24 months old as of such date of determination, or if the Borrower is within the 90-day grace
period for delivery of a new BPO provided in Section 5.1(k);

(ii) 60%, if the relevant BPO with respect to such Borrowing Base Asset is 24
months old or older as of such date of determination;

(iii)  irrespective of the foregoing clauses (i) and (ii), 50% for any Credit Tenant Lease
Asset if (x) the vacancy rate with respect to such Credit Tenant Lease Asset is greater than 20%
as of such date of determination, (y) the weighted average remaining | ease term with respect to
such Credit Tenant Lease Asset isless than two (2) years as of such date of determination or
(z) the Borrower is not receiving any income from such Credit Tenant Lease Asset as of such date
of determination but such Credit Tenant Lease Asset has not become a Non-Cash Flow Tenant
Lease Asset as of such date of determination;

(iv)  irrespective of the foregoing clauses (i), (ii) and (iii), 0%, if such Credit Tenant
L ease Asset is a Non-Cash Flow Credit Tenant L ease Asset;

(v) irrespective of the foregoing clauses (i) and (ii), for any Construction Loan, (A) if
the LTC islessthan or equal to 40%, (x) 60%, if such Construction Loan is wholly-owned by a
Pledged Subsidiary and (y) 55%, if such Construction Loan is partialy-owned by a Pledged
Subsidiary and (B) if the LTC is greater than 40%, (x) 50%, if such Construction Loan is wholly-
owned by a Pledged Subsidiary and (y) 45%, if such Construction Loan is partially-owned by a
Pledged Subsidiary; and

(vi) irrespective of the foregoing clauses (i) and (ii), for any Loan Asset that is not a
Construction Loan, (A) 70%, if the Look-Through LTV isless than or equa to 45% and (B) 65%,
if the Look-Through LTV is greater than 45%;

provided that, if on any date of determination any Borrowing Base Asset meets the reguirements for an
Applicable Advance Rate based upon the foregoing criteriathat is different than the Applicable Advance
Rate as of the immediately preceding date of determination, such different Applicable Advance Rate shall
apply.

“Applicable Lending Office” means with respect to any Bank, (i) in the case of its Base
Rate Loans, its Domestic Lending Office and (ii) in the case of its Eurodallar Loans, its Eurodollar
Lending Office

*Applicable Margin” means with respect to each L oan, the respective percentages per
annum determined, at any time, based on the range into which the Credit Rating then falls, in accordance
with the table set forth below. Any change in the Credit Rating causing it to move to a different range on
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the table shall effect an immediate change in the Applicable Margin. In the event that the Borrower has
two (2) or more Credit Ratings that are not equivalent, the Applicable Margin shall be determined by (A)
if the difference between such Credit Ratings is one ratings category, the Applicable Margin shal be the
rate per annum that would be gpplicable if the higher of the Credit Ratings were used, and (B) if the
difference between such Credit Ratings is two or more ratings categories, the Applicable Margin shal be
the rate per annum that would be gpplicable if the median of the gpplicable Credit Ratings were used. In
the event that the Borrower has only one (1) Credit Rating, the Applicable Margin shall be determined by
such Credit Rating. In the event that the Borrower does not have a Credit Rating, the Applicable Margin
shall be the highest percentage per annum set forth on the table below. On the Closing Date, the Credit
Rating of the Borrower is BB-/Ba3/BB-.

Range of the Borrower's Applicable Margin for Base Applicable Margin for
Credit Rating RateLoans Eurodollar Loans
(S& P/IM oody’ ¢/Fitch Ratings) (% per annum) (% per annum)
>BB/Ba2/BB 1.00% 2.00%
>BB-/Ba3/BB- 1.25% 2.25%
<B+/B1/B+ 1.50% 2.50%

“Appraisa” means an gppraisa, reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent,
setting forth the appraised value of a Borrowing Base Asset, which appraisa shal be prepared by an
gppraiser engaged by the Administrative Agent.

" Appraisal Grace Period” means, as to a Borrowing Base Asset, forty-five (45) calendar
days following the day the Administrative Agent engages an appraiser to complete an Appraisd for such
Borrowing Base Asset.

“Appraised Vaue’ means, as to any Borrowing Base Asset, the appraised value of such
Borrowing Base Asset, as determined by the most recently delivered Appraisa for such Borrowing Base
Asset.

“Approved Electronic Platform” has the meaning assigned to it in Section 7.11(a).

“Arrangers’ means JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., BofA Securities, Inc. and Barclays
Bank PLC, in their respective capacities as Joint Lead Arranger and Joint Bookrunner hereunder.

“Assignee” has the meaning set forth in Section 9.6(c).
* Assignment and Assumption” means an Assignment and Assumption, in substantialy

the form of Exhibit H hereto or any other form (including electronic records generated by the use of an
electronic platform) approved by the Administrative Agent.

*Available Commitment” means as to any Bank at any time, an amount equa to the
excess, if any, of (a) such Bank’s Commitment then in effect over (b) such Bank’ s Revolving Loans then
outstanding.

“Average Utilization” means for any period, an amount, expressed as a percentage, equal
to (a) the daily average Total Revolving Loans for such period divided by (b) the daily average Totd
Commitments for such period.

“Bail-In Action” means the exercise of any Write-Down and Conversion Powers by the
gpplicable EEA Resolution Authority in respect of any liability of an EEA Financia Ingtitution.
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“Bail-In Legislation” means, with respect to any EEA Member Country implementing
Article 55 of Directive 2014/59/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council of the European
Union, the implementing law for such EEA Member Country from time to time which is described in the
EU Bail-In Legislation Schedule.

“Bankruptcy Event” means with respect to any Person, such Person becomes the subject
of abankruptcy or insolvency proceeding, or has had a receiver, conservator, trustee, administrator,
custodian, assignee for the benefit of creditors or similar Person charged with the reorganization or
liquidation of its business appointed for it, or, in the good faith determination of the Administrative
Agent, has taken any action in furtherance of, or indicating its consent to, gpprova of, or acquiescencein,
any such proceeding or agppointment, provided that a Bankruptcy Event shal not result solely by virtue of
any ownership interest, or the acquisition of any ownership interest, in such Person by a Governmental
Authority or instrumentdity thereof, provided, further, that such ownership interest does not result in or
provide such Person with immunity from the jurisdiction of courts within the United States or from the
enforcement of judgments or writs of attachment on its assets or permit such Person (or such
Governmenta Authority or instrumentdity) to rgect, repudiate, disavow or disaffirm any contracts or
agreements made by such Person,

“Banks’ means each entity listed on the signature pages hereof asa“Bank”, each
Assignee which becomes a Bank pursuant to Section 9.6(c), and their respective successors. For purposes
of this Agreement, BofA Securities, Inc. shall not constitute a “Bank”.

“Base Rate’ means, for any day, arate per annum (rounded upwards, if necessary, to the
next 1/16 of 1%) egua to the greatest of (a) the Prime Rate in effect on such day, (b) the Federa Funds
Ratein effect on such day plus 2 of 1% and (c) the Eurodollar Rate on such day (or, if such day isnot a
Business Day, the next preceding Business Day) for adeposit in Dollars with a maturity of one month
plus 1.0%. Any change in the Base Rate due to a change in the Prime Rate, the Federa Funds Rate or
such Eurodollar Rate shall be effective as of the opening of business on the day of such change in the
Prime Rate, the Federal Funds Rate or such Eurodollar Rate, respectively. If the Base Rateis being used
as an dlternate rate of interest pursuant to Section 8.1 hereof, then the Base Rate shall be the greater of
clause (a) and (b) above and shall be determined without reference to clause (c) above. For the avoidance
of doubt, if the Base Rate shall be |ess than zero, such rate shall be deemed to be zero for purposes of this
Agreement.

“Base Rate Borrowing” means a Borrowing in Dollars the interest on which is cal culated
by reference to the Base Rate in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement.

“Base Rate Loan” means a Loan in Dollars to be made by a Bank the interest on which is
calculated by reference to the Base Rate in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement.

“Benefit Plan” means any of (a) an “employee benefit plan” (as defined in ERISA) that is
subject to Title | of ERISA, (b) a“plan” as defined in and subject to Section 4975 of the Code, or (c) any
Person whose assets include (for purposes of ERISA Section 3(42) or otherwise for purposes of Title | of
ERISA or Section 4975 of the Code) the assets of any such “ employee benefit plan” or “plan.”

“Book Vaue' means, as to any asset as of any date of determination, the book value of
such asset at the end of the most recently ended fiscal quarter as determined in accordance with GAAP,
provided that depreciation shall be added back to such book value with respect to Credit Tenant Lease
Assets, but such book value with respect to all assets shall be net of any asset specific reserves and
impairments.




“Borrower” has the meaning set forth in the preamble hereto.

“Borrowing” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.3. “Borrowed” shall havea
correlative meaning.

“Borrowing Base" means, as of any date of determination, the sum of the Borrowing
Base Value of each Borrowing Base Asset as of such date as determined by the most recent Borrowing
Base Certificate and adjusted as reflected in the Monthly Certificate; provided that, the Borrowing Base
shall be subject to the following adjustments:

(i) no single Borrowing Base Asset (based on the Borrowing Base Value of such
Borrowing Base Asset) shall comprise in excess of 25% of the Borrowing Base at the time such
asset isincluded as a Borrowing Base Asset (and any such excess shall be disregarded for
purposes of determining the Borrowing Base);

(ii) the aggregate Borrowing Base \a ue of the Three Largest Assets shall not exceed
(x) at any time during a Concentration Test Increase Period, 75% of the Borrowing Base and
(y) at any other time, 55% of the Borrowing Base (and in each case of the foregoing cl auses (x)
and (y) any such excess shall be disregarded for purposes of determining the Borrowing Base);

(iii)  the aggregate Borrowing Base Vaue of al Non-Cash Flow Credit Tenant Lease
Assets shdl not exceed 5% of the Borrowing Base at any one time (and any such excess shall be
disregarded for purposes of determining the Borrowing Base);

(iv)  theaggregate Borrowing Base Value of al Limited Term Credit Tenant Lease
Assets shal not exceed 20% of the Borrowing Base at such date of determination (and any such
excess shal be disregarded for purposes of determining the Borrowing Base);

(v) the aggregate Borrowing Base Vaue of (x) Credit Tenant Lease Assets (i) with a
vacancy rate greater than 20% or (ii) with a weighted average remaining |ease term of less than
two (2) years in respect of the underlying leases with respect to such Credit Tenant Lease Asset
as of such date of determination or (y) Borrowing Base Assets with respect to hospitality and
healthcare rel ated stabilized assets shdl not, in the aggregate for al such assets described in the
foregoing clauses (x) and (y), exceed 35% of the Borrowing Base at such date of determination
(and any such excess shal be disregarded for purposes of determining the Borrowing Base);

(vi)  atdl timesthere shal be no less than ten (10) assets included as Borrowing Base
Assets; and

(vii)  the aggregate Borrowing Base Vaue of al Construction Loans shall not exceed
20% (the “ Construction Basket Percentage” ) of the Borrowing Base at such date of determination
(and any such excess shall be disregarded for purposes of determining the Borrowing Base),
provided that if the Total Corporate Leverage Ratio isless than 2.50 to 1.00, the Construction
Basket Percentage shal be 25% of the Borrowing Base at such date of determination (and any
such excess shall be disregarded for purposes of determining the Borrowing Base), provided
further that if the Borrower shal not have delivered the reporting required under Section
5.1(c)(1)(iii) within the time period set forth therein, the Construction Basket Percentage shall be
reduced to 20%).

“Borrowing Base Assefs’ means, as of any date of determination, the Eligible Loan
Assets and Eligible Credit Tenant Lease Assets constituting Collateral and Covered Assets and included
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in the Borrowing Base Certificate delivered on the Closing Date pursuant to Section 3.1(0) and,
thereafter, pursuant to Section 5.1(i).

“Borrowing Base Certificate” means a certificate, signed and certified as accurate and
complete by asenior financia officer of the Borrower, in substantidly the form of Exhibit B.

“Borrowing Base Value' means, with respect to any Borrowing Base Asset as of any date
of determination, the product of (x) the Applicable Advance Rate for such Borrowing Base Asset as of
such date and (y) the Designated Valuation Amount of such Borrowing Base Asset as of such date;
provided that, the Barrowing Base V due of any Borrowing Base Asset shall be recalculated upon a
material amendment or extension of the underlying lease or loan of such Borrowing Base Asset
(including, in the case of a Construction Loan, a material increasein the scope or budget in respect of the
project that is the subject of such Construction Loan), or the execution of a new lease or loan with respect
thereto and reflected in an updated BPO or subsequent Monthly Certificate or Barrowing Base
Certificate, in each case delivered pursuant to Section 5.1.

“Borrowing Date” means any Business Day specified by the Borrower as a date on which
the Barrower requests the relevant Banks to make L oans hereunder.

“BPQO" means asto any Borrowing Base Asset, a broker' s price opinion, determined in
accordance with standard market practices and upon reasonable assumptions, with respect to such
Borrowing Base Asset provided by a BPO Broker.

“BPQ Broker” shall mean HFF, Inc. and its affiliates, or such other broker reasonably
acceptable to the Borrower and the Administrative Agent.

“BPO Vaue' means, asto any Borrowing Base Asset that is a Credit Tenant Lease
Asset, on any date of determination, the valuation of such Borrowing Base Asset at the time of inclusion
thereof in the Borrowing Base as determined by the most recent BPO delivered in accordance with
Section 5.1(k) with respect to such Borrowing Base Asset as of such date of determination; provided that,
if the BPO Vaue of such Borrowing Base Asset is on such date of determination more than 100% of the
Book Value of such Borrowing Base Asset, the BPO Vaue of such Borrowing Base Asset shall be the
lower of such BPO Vaue and 130% of such Book Vaue.

“Business Day" means any day except a Saturday, Sunday or other day on which
commercia banksin New Y ork City are authorized by |aw to close.

“Capital Lease” as applied to any Person, means any lease of any property (whether real,
personal or mixed) by that Person as lessee which, in conformity with GAAP, is or should be accounted
for asa capita lease on the balance sheet of that Person.

“Cash and Cash Equivalents’ means (a) cash; (b) marketable direct obligationsissued or
unconditionaly guaranteed by the United States Government or issued by an agency thereof and backed
by the full faith and credit of the United States, in each case maturing within one (1) year after the date of
acquisition thereof; (¢) marketable direct obligations issued by any state of the United States of America
or any political subdivision of any such state or any public instrumentality thereof maturing within ninety
(90) days after the date of acquisition thereof and, at the time of acquisition, having one of the two highest
ratings obtainable from any two of S& P, Moody's or Fitch (or, if at any time no two of the foregoing
shall be rating such obligations, then from such other nationally recognized rating services acceptable to
the Administrative Agent); (d) commercia paper (foreign and domestic) or master notes, other than
commercia paper or master notes issued by the Borrower ar any of its Affiliates, and, at the time of
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acquisition, having a long-term rating of at least A or the equivaent from S& P, Moody’s or Fitch and
having a short-term rating of at least A-1, P-1 and F-1 from S& P, Moody' s and Fitch, respectively (or, if
at any time neither S& P nor Moody' s nor Fitch shall be rating such obligations, then the highest rating
from such other nationally recognized rating services acceptable to the Administrative Agent); (e)
domestic and foreign certificates of deposit or domestic time deposits or foreign deposits or bankers
acceptances (foreign or domestic) in Dollars that areissued by abank (1) which has, at the time of
acquisition, along-term rating of at least A or the equivaent from S& P, Moody's or Fitch and (1) if a
domestic bank, which is a member of the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation; (f) overnight securities
repurchase agreements, or reverse repurchase agreements secured by any of the foregoing types of
securities or debt instruments, provided that the collateral supporting such repurchase agreements shdl
have a vaue not less than 101% of the principa amount of the repurchase agreement plus accrued
interest; and (g) money market funds invested in investments substantialy all of which consist of the
items described in clauses (a) through (f) foregoing.

*Change of Control” means the occurrence of the event or events set forth in Section
6.1(i) or Section 6.1(j).

“Closing Date” means the date on which the conditions set forth in Section 3.1 shall have
been satisfied to the satisfaction of the Administrative Agent.

“Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and as it may be further
amended from time to time, any successor statutes thereto, and gpplicable U.S. Department of Treasury
regul ations issued pursuant thereto in temporary or final form.

“Collatera” means, at any time, al of the assets of the Borrower upon whichalLienis
purported to be created by the Collateral Documents. Asthe context may require, “ Collateral” also refers
to Covered Assets. For the avoidance of doubt, no Excluded Asset shall constitute Collatera or a
Covered Asset.

“Collateral and Covered Assets List” meansthelist of Collateral and Covered Assets as
of the Closing Date and set forth on Schedule 1.1B as such list may be modified from time to time.

“Collateral Documents’ means the Security Agreement, the Affiliate Subordination
Agreement, the Negative Pledge Agreement and all other similar agreements and security documents
hereafter delivered to the Administrative Agent granting aLien on any property of the Borrower or a
Covered Subsidiary to secure the obligations and liabilities of the Borrower under any Loan Document or
providing rights and remedies in respect of the Collateral and the Covered Assets.

*Commitment” means with respect to each Bank (x) prior to the Revolving Termination
Date, the obligation of such Bank to make Revolving Loans in an aggregate principa amount not to
exceed the amount set forth on Schedule 1.1A next to the name of such Bank under the heading
“Commitment” or in the Assignment and Assumption pursuant to which such Bank became a party hereto
and (y) on Revolving Termination Date, subject to Section 2.2 and Section 3.3, the obligation of such
Bank to convert all outstanding Revolving Loans made by such Bank as of such dateinto an equal
principal amount of Term Loans and to extend the Maturity Date. The initiad amount of the Total
Commitments is $350,000,000.

*Commitment Fee Rate” means the respective percentages per annum determined, at any
time, based on the range into which the Credit Rating then fals, in accordance with the table set forth
below. Any change in the Credit Rating causing it to move to a different range on the table shall effect an
immediate change in the Commitment Fee Rate. In the event that the Borrower has two (2) or more
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Credit Ratings that are not eguivaent, the Commitment Fee Rate shall be determined by (A) if the
difference between such Credit Ratings is one ratings category, the Commitment Fee Rate shall be the
rate per annum that would be gpplicable if the higher of the Credit Ratings were used, and (B) if the
difference between such Credit Ratings is two or more ratings categories, the Commitment Fee Rate shall
be the rate per annum that would be applicable if the median of the applicable Credit Ratings were used.
In the event that the Borrower has only one (1) Credit Rating, the Commitment Fee Rate shall be
determined by such Credit Rating. In the event that the Borrower does not have a Credit Rating, the
Commitment Fee Rate shall be the highest percentage per annum set forth on the table below. On the
Closing Date, the Credit Rating of the Borrower is BB-/B1/BB-.

Range of the Borrower’s

Credit Rating Commitment Fee Rate
(S& P/IM oody' s/Fitch Ratings) (% per annum)
>BB/Ba2/BB 0.25%
>BB-/Ba3/BB- 0.35%
<B+/B1/B+ 0.45%

*Communications” has the meaning assigned to it in Section 7.11(c).

“Concentration Test Holiday Period” means:

(i) with respect to a Concentration Test Increase Initia Notice, the period of ninety
(90) days from and after the delivery by the Borrower to the Administrative Agent of such
Concentration Test Increase Initial Notice or, if shorter, the Appraisal Grace Period for any of the
Three Largest Assets;

(ii) with respect to a Concentration Test Increase Renewa Notice, asto aBorrowing
Base Asset that is one of the Three Largest Assets, the period of ninety (90) days from and after
the last day of the twelve-month anniversary of the delivery of the then existing Appraisd for
such Borrowing Base Asset or, if shorter, the Appraisal Grace Period for such Borrowing Base
Asset; and

(iii)  with respect to a Concentration Test Increase Substitution Notice, asto a
Borrowing Base Asset that is a new Three Largest Asset, the period of ninety (90) days from and
after the delivery by the Borrower to the Administrative Agent of such Concentration Test
Increase Substitution Notice for such Borrowing Base Asset or, if shorter, the Appraisal Grace
Period for such Borrowing Base Asset.

*Concentration Test Increase Initial Notice” means the first written notice delivered by
the Borrower to the Administrative Agent requesting an increase to the Borrowing Base concentration
limit of the Three Largest Assets described in clause (ii) of the definition of “Borrowing Base”, which
shall include and constitute such notice for all. The Borrower may ddliver a Concentration Test Increase
Initial Notice no more than once per twelve-month period and a Concentration Test Increase Initial Notice
must be a notice for al of the Three Largest Assets.

“Concentration Test Increase Period” means the period during which, as to each
Borrowing Base Asset that is one of the Three Largest Assets, one of the following shall have been
satisfied:

(i) an Appraisa shdl have been delivered at any time in the prior twel ve-month
period with respect to such Borrowing Base Asset; or
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(i) after proper delivery of a Concentration Test Increase Initid Notice, a
Concentration Test Increase Renewa Notice or a Concentration Test Increase Substitution Notice
to the Administrative Agent, as the case may be, (A) the Concentration Test Holiday Period shall
bein effect or (B) if, prior to the end of the Concentration Test Holiday Period, the
Administrative Agent shall have engaged an appraiser to complete an Appraisa with respect to
such Borrowing Base Asset, the Appraisal Grace Period shal be in effect for such Borrowing
Base Asset.

*Concentration Test Increase Renewal Notice” means, at any time when the
Concentration Test Increase Period isin effect and clause (i) under its definition is satisfied, a written
notice delivered by the Borrower to the Administrative Agent requesting an extension of the
Concentration Test Increase Period no later than fifteen (15) Business Days prior to the end of the period
when clause (i) under its definition is satisfied.

“Concentration Test Increase Subsfitution Notice” means, at any time when the
Concentration Test Increase Period isin effect and the Borrower seeks to include a Borrowing Base Asset
as anew Three Largest Asset, a written notice delivered by the Borrower to the Administrative Agent
requesting the continuation of the Concentration Test Increase Period and the inclusion of such
Borrowing Base Asset as anew Three Largest Asset for purposes thereof.

“Consolidated Cash Flow" means as of any date of determination, for the period of four
fiscal quarters ended on such date of determination on a consolidated basis in accordance with GAAP, the
sum, without duplication, of (a) cash flows from operating activities of the Borrower and its Consolidated
Subsidiaries for such period, plus (b) repayments and collections of 1oans, plus (c) net proceeds from the
sale/monetization of |oans, red estate and other investments of the Borrower and its Consolidated
Subsidiaries for such period, plus (d) distributions from other investments of the Borrower and its
Consolidated Subsidiaries for such period, plus (e) cash interest payments paid on debt of the Borrower
and its Consolidated Subsidiaries for such period, plus (f) Taxes paid in Cash by the Borrower and its
Consolidated Subsidiaries for such period, in each case as reflected in the Borrower’ s consolidated
statements of cash flow for such period in the form delivered pursuant to Section 5.1(a) and (b).

“Consolidated Coverage Ratio” means, for each date of determination set forth in Section
5.9(a), the ratio of (a) Consolidated Cash Flow as of such date of determination to (b) Consolidated Fixed
Charges as of such date of determination.

“Consolidated Fixed Charges’ means as of any date of determination, for the period of
four fiscal quarters ended on such date of determination, the sum of (a) the total cash interest expense
(including imputed interest expense attributable to Capital L eases) of the Borrower and its Consolidated
Subsidiaries on all outstanding Indebtedness of the Borrower and its Consolidated Subsidiaries for such
period (assuming for purposes of determining such interest expense that the Total Commitments have
been fully Borrowed hereunder during such period) determined in accordance with GAAP and (b) tota
cash dividends on preferred units payable by the Borrower during such period.

*Consolidated Subsidiary” means at any date (i) any Covered Subsidiary and (ii) any
other Subsidiary or other entity which is consolidated with the Borrower in accordance with GAAP.

“Consolidated Tangible Net Worth” means, at any time, the tangible net worth of the
Borrower, on a consolidated basis, determined in accordance with GAAP.

*Construction Loan” means a Loan Asset that is aloan or participation in aloan made for
the construction or development of real property owned by the borrower thereof and secured at such time
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by a Mortgage on such real property or secured by an interest in a specia purpose entity substantialy
similar to the organizational and corporate structure and documentation of the Covered Subsidiaries that
directly or indirectly owns the real property, in each case the term of which loan shal not exceed five
years; provided, that upon issuance of atemporary certificate of occupancy related to the underlying rea
property, the loan shall qualify as a Loan Asset that isnot a Construction Loan for so long as a temporary
or fina certificate of occupancy isin effect (including pursuant to any renewa s thereof).

*Contingent Obligation” as to any Person means, without duplication, (i) any contingent
obligation of such Person required to be shown on such Person’ s bal ance sheet in accordance with GAAP
which is not otherwise Indebtedness, and (ii) any obligation required to be disclosed in accordance with
GAAP in the footnotes to such Person’ s financid statements, guaranteeing partialy or in whole any Non-
Recourse Indebtedness, |ease, dividend or other obligation including guarantees of completion and
guarantees of representations and warranties, provided, however, Contingent Obligations shall not include
contractua indemnities (including, without limitation, any indemnity or price-adjustment provision
relating to the purchase or sae of securities or other assets) and guarantees of non-monetary obligations
(other than as described above) which have not yet been called on or quantified, of such Person or of any
other Person. The amount of any Contingent Obligation described in clause (ii) shall be deemed to be
(a) with respect to a guaranty of interest or interest and principal, or operating income guaranty, the Net
Present Vaue of the sum of al payments required to be made thereunder (which in the case of an
operating income guaranty shall be deemed to be equal to the debt service for the note secured thereby),
through (i) in the case of an interest or interest and principal guaranty, the stated date of maturity of the
obligation (and commencing on the date interest could first be payable thereunder), or (ii) in the case of
an operating income guaranty, the date through which such guaranty will remain in effect, and (b) with
respect to all guarantees not covered by the preceding clause (a), an amount equal to the stated or
determinable amount of the primary obligation in respect of which such guaranty is made or, if not stated
or determinable, the maximum reasonably anticipated liability in respect thereof (assuming such Person is
required to perform thereunder) as recorded on the balance sheet and on the footnotes to the most recent
financial statements of the Borrower required to be delivered pursuant to Section 5.1 hereof .
Notwithstanding anything contained herein to the contrary, guarantees of completion shall not be deemed
to be Contingent Obligations unless and until aclaim for payment or performance has been made
thereunder, at which time any such guaranty of completion shal be deemed to be a Contingent Obligation
in an amount equa to any such claim. All matters constituting “ Contingent Obligations” shall be
calculated without duplication.

“Conversion Notice” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.2(a).

“Covered Assets” means, as of any date of determination, (a) the Loan Assats and the
Credit Tenant Lease Assets directly owned by a Pledged Subsidiary and (b) interests in a Pledged
Subsidiary owned by the Borrower, in each case listed on the Collatera and Covered Asset List.

“Covered Party” means (i) the Borrower and (ii) each Covered Subsidiary.

“Covered Subsidiary” means each (i) Pledged Subsidiary and (ii) Subsidiary of a Pledged
Subsidiary set forth on Schedule 4.28.

*Credit Ratings” means the Borrower' s corporate rating assigned by the Rating Agencies.

“Credit Tenant Lease Asset” means (a) for any such assetsinitially included in the
Borrowing Base on the Closing Date, aproperty owned by the Covered Subsidiaries and identified on the
Collatera and Covered Assets List on the Closing Date as a credit tenant |ease asset, or (b) for any assets
added to the Borrowing Base after the Closing Date, a property owned by a Pledged Subsidiary whichis
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(i) leased to a governmenta entity, (ii) leased to a tenant (or guaranteed by a Person) with an Investment
Grade Rating, (iii) a property which, if unavailable to a tenant, would materialy impair the continued
operation of such tenant, including without limitation, a headquarters facility, distribution center,
manufacturing facility, or apool or class of multiple properties leased under a blanket |lease or (iv)
identified by the Borrower as a credit tenant lease asset in the ordinary course of business and consistent
with its past practices.

“Default” means any condition or event which with the giving of notice or |gpse of time
or both would, unless cured or waived, become an Event of Default.

*Default Rate” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.7(c).

“Defaulting Bank" means any Bank that (a) has failed, within two Business Days of the
date required to be funded or paid, to (i) fund any portion of its Loans, or (ii) pay over to the
Administrative Agent or the other Banks any other amount required to be paid by it hereunder, unless, in
the case of clause (i) above, such Bank notifies the Administrative Agent in writing that such failureis the
result of such Bank's good faith determination that a condition precedent to funding (specifically
identified and including the particular default, if any) has not been satisfied, (b) has notified the Borrower
or the Administrative Agent and the other Banks in writing, or has made a public statement to the effect,
that it does not intend or expect to comply with any of its funding obligations under this Agreement
(unless such writing or public statement indicates that such position is based on such Bank’s good faith
determination that a condition precedent (specifically identified and including the particular default, if
any) to funding aloan under this Agreement cannot be satisfied) or generally under other agreementsin
which it commits to extend credit, (c) has faled, within three Business Days after request by athe
Administrative Agent or applicable Bank, acting in good faith, to provide a certification in writing from
an authorized officer of such Bank that it will comply with its obligations (and isfinancially able to mest
such obligations as of the date of certification) to fund prospective Loans under this Agreement, provided
that such Bank shall cease to be a Defaulting Bank pursuant to this clause (c) upon the Administrative
Agent or the gpplicable Bank’ s receipt of such certification in form and substance satisfactory to it and
the Administrative Agent, (d) has become the subject of a Bankruptcy Event, or () has, or has adirect or
indirect parent company that has, become the subject of aBail-In Action.

“Designated Valuation Amount” means, as of any date of determination, asto any single
asset included as a Borrowing Base Asset, the BPO Vaue of such Borrowing Base Asset as of such date
of determination; provided that:

(i) if there is a write-down with respect to the Book V due of such asset or a specific
reserve is taken with respect to such asset, the Designated Va uation Amount of such asset shall
be (a) other than for those Borrowing Base Assets as described in sub-clauses (b) and (c) below,
the lesser of (x) the Book Vaue of such asset, after giving effect to such write-down or asset
specific reserve, and (y) the BPO Value of such asset, after giving effect to such write-down and
asset specific reserve, (b) in the case of a Borrowing Base Asset described in clause (viii) below,
the lesser of (x) the Book Vaue of such Borrowing Base Asset, after giving effect to such write-
down or asset specific reserve and (y) to the extent available, the Appraised Value of such
Borrowing Base Asset, after giving effect to such write-down an asset specific reserve and (c) in
the case of al.oan Asset, the Book Vaue of such Borrowing Base Asset, after giving effect to
such write-down or asset specific reserve;

(i) the Designated Vauation Amount of a Loan Asset shall be the Book Value of

such Loan Asset adjusted (but, in no event bel ow zero) to reflect principa payments actually paid
or prepaid on account of such Loan Assets as reflected on the most recent Monthly Certificate;
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(iiil)  theDesignated Vauation Amount of a Loan Asset thatisincluded asa
Borrowing Base Asset after the Closing Date and for which the Look-Through LTV is greater
than 70% as of such date shall be reduced such that the Look-Through LTV is not greater than
70% after giving effect to such reduction;

(iv)  theDesignated Vauation Amount of a Borrowing Base Asset during the
gpplicable grace period during which a BPO is required to be delivered pursuant to Section 5.1(k)
shall be the Book Vaue until such BPO is delivered in accordance with Section 5.1(k); provided
that, the Designated V a uation Amount of a Borrowing Base Asset for which a BPO has not been
delivered within the gpplicable grace period required by Section 5.1(k) shall be zero;

(v) the Designated V aluation Amount of a Loan Asset that becomes a Non-
Performing Loan Assets shall be zero;

(vi)  theDesignated Valuation Amount of any Borrowing Base Asset that is subject to
alienthat is not a Permitted Lien shall be zero;

(vii)  the Designated Vauation Amount of any Eligible Loan Asset that isa
Construction Loan shall be adjusted to reflect any additiona funds loaned to the gpplicable
borrower and principal payments actually paid or prepaid by such borrower, in each case, on
account of such Construction Loan, including scheduled repayments from sal es proceeds received
on the underlying rea estate; and

(viii) irrespective of the foregoing clause (iv), the Designated Va uation Amount of
any Credit Tenant Lease Asset that is one of the Three Largest Asset at a time when the
Concentration Test Increase Period is in effect and an Appraisal for such Credit Tenant Lease
Asset has been completed during such Concentration Test Increase Period shall be the lesser of
{x) the Book Value of such Credit Tenant Lease Asset and (y) the Appraised Vdue of such Credit
Tenant Lease Asset.

“Dollars’ and “$" means the lawful money of the United States.

“Domestic Lending Office” means, as to each Bank, its office located at itsaddressin the

United States set forth in its Administrative Questionnaire (or identified in its Administrative

Questionnaire as its Domestic Lending Office) or such other office as such Bank may hereafter designate

as its Domestic Lending Office by notice to the Borrower and the Administrative Agent.

* Earnings Presentation” means an earnings presentation of the Borrower ina

substantialy similar form as the one attached as Exhibit 99.2 to the Borrower's Current Report on Form

8-K filed August 1, 2019 announcing the Borrower's results of operations and financial condition,

including the Total Corporate Leverage Ratio for such reporting period, as filed with the Securities and

Exchange Commission.

“EEA Financial Institution” means (a) any credit institution or investment firm
established in any EEA Member Country which is subject to the supervision of an EEA Resolution
Authority, (b) any entity established in an EEA Member Country which is aparent of an institution

described in clause (a) of this definition, or (c) any financid institution established in an EEA Member

Country which is a subsidiary of an institution described in clauses (a) or (b) of this definition and is
subject to consolidated supervision with its parent.
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“EEA Member Country” means any of the member states of the European Union,
Iceland, Liechtenstein, and Norway.

“EEA Resolution Authority” means any public administrative authority or any Person
entrusted with public administrative authority of any EEA Member Country (including any delegee)
having responsibility for the resolution of any EEA Financid Institution.

“Eligible Credit Tenant | ease Asset” means the Credit Tenant L ease Assets, provided

that:

(a) such Credit Tenant Lease Asset shdl (i) asto any Credit Tenant Lease Asset
added as a Covered Asset after the Closing Date, be wholly-owned by a Pledged Subsidiary and the
underlying rea property in respect of such Credit Tenant Lease Asset shall be owned in fee ssimple by
such Pledged Subsidiary, (ii) have a vacancy rate of less than 20% as of the date such Credit Tenant Lease
Asset is added as a Borrowing Base Asset, and (iii) asto any Credit Tenant Lease Asset added asa
Covered Asset after the Closing Date, have one or more leases with a weighted average remaining lease
term of not less than five (5) years as of the date such Credit Tenant Lease Asset is added as a Borrowing
Base Asset;

(b) the rea property underlying any such Credit Tenant Lease Asset shall not be
subject to aMortgage; and

(c) such Credit Tenant Lease Asset shal have been added to the Covered Assetsin
accordance with Section 2.18.

“Eligible L oan Assets’ means the L oan Assets of any Pledged Subsidiary, including
without limitation, Loan Assets with respect to hospitality and healthcare rel ated stabilized assets and
Construction Loans, provided that:

(a) any such Loan Asset shall be wholly-owned by a Pledged Subsidiary, except in
the case of Construction Loans in which case participations in such Construction Loan shall be permitted;

(b) with respect to a Construction Loan, LTC shall be less than or equal to 70% and
the construction project being financed by such Construction Loan shal be more than 50% completein
accordance with the terms of such Construction Loan;

(c) any such Loan Asset shall not be in respect of undeveloped land or transitional
properties;

(d) any such Loan Asset shall not be contractually or structurally junior to or pari
passu with any other loans, or secured by Mortgages that arejunior to or pari passu with the Mortgages
securing other loans encumbering shared collateral, unless such senior or pari passu loanisasoa
Borrowing Base Asset;

(e) such Loan Assets shall have been added to the Covered Assets in accordance
with Section 2.18; and

() in the case of any Loan Asset that is not a Construction Loan and for which the

Look-Through LTV isless than or equa to 45%, the Borrower shdl have delivered an Investment Memo
with respect to such Loan Asset.
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“Environmenta Affiliate” means any partnership, joint venture, trust or corporation in
which an equity interest is owned directly or indirectly by the Borrower and, as a result of the ownership
of such equity interest, the Borrower may become subject to liability for Environmental Claims against
such partnership, joint venture, trust or corparation (or the property thereof).

*Environmental Claim” means, with respect to any Person, any notice, claim, demand or
similar communication (written or ora) by any other Person aleging potentia liability of such Person for
investigatory costs, cleanup costs, governmental response costs, natural resources damage, property
damages, persond injuries, fines or pendlties arising out of, based on or resulting, directly or indirectly,
from (i) the presence, or release into the environment, of any Materids of Environmental Concern at any
location, whether or not owned by such Person or (ii) circumstances forming the basis of any violation, or
aleged violation, of any Environmenta Law.

“Environmenta Laws’ means any and al federd, state, and locd statutes, laws
(including common law), judicia decisions, regulations, ordinances, rules, judgments, orders, decrees,
plans, injunctions, permits, concessions, grants, licenses, agreements and other governmental restrictions
relating to protection of the environment or of human hedth or safety (as affected by exposure to harmful
or deleterious substances).

“ERISA" means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended, or
any successor statute.

“ERISA Group” means the Borrower, any Subsidiary, and al members of a controlled
group of corporations and al trades or businesses (whether or not incorporated) under common control
and adl members of an * affiliated service group™ which, together with the Borrower, or any Subsidiary,
are treated as a single employer under Section 414 of the Code or Section 4001(b)(1) of ERISA. Any
former member of the ERISA Group shall continue to be considered a member of the ERISA Group
within the meaning of this definition with respect to the period such entity was a member of the ERISA

Group.

“EU Bail-In L egislation Schedule” means the EU Bail-In Legislation Schedule published
by the Loan Market Association (or any successor Person), asin effect from time to time.

*Eurocurrency Reserve Reguirement” means, for any day as applied to a Eurodollar
Loan, the aggregate (without duplication) of the maximum rates (expressed as a decimal fraction) of
reserve requirements in effect on such day (including basic, supplemental, marginal and emergency
reserves) under any regulations of the Federal Reserve Board or other Governmental Authority having
jurisdiction with respect thereto dealing with reserve requirements prescribed for eurocurrency funding
(currently referred to as * Eurocurrency Liabilities” in Regulation D of the Board) maintained by a
member bank of the Federa Reserve System.

“Eurodollar Base Rate” means, with respect to any Eurodollar Loan for any Interest
Period, a rate per annum equal to the London interbank cffered rate as administered by the ICE
Benchmark Administration (or any other Person that takes over the administration of such rate) for
Dollarsfor aperiod equd in length to such Interest Period as displayed on pages LIBORO1 or LIBOR02
of the Reuters Screen that displays such rate (or, in the event such rate does not appear on either of such
Reuters pages, on any successor or substitute page on such screen that displays such rate, or on the
appropriate page of such other information service that publishes such rate from time to time as selected
by the Administrative Agent in its reasonable discretion; in each case, the “ Screen Rate”) as of the
Specified Time on the Quotation Day for such Interest Period; provided that if the Screen Rate shall be
less than zero, such rate shall be deemed to be zero for purposes of this Agreement; provided, further, that
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if the Screen Rate shall not be available at such time for such Interest Period (an  Impacted Interest
Period" ) with respect to Dallars, then the Eurodollar Base Rate shall be the Interpol ated Rate at such time
(provided that if the Interpol ated Rate shall be less than zero, such rate shal be deemed to be zero for
purposes of this Agreement).

*Eurodollar Borrowing” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.3.

“Eurodollar Business Day” means any Business Day on which banks are open for
dedings in deposits in Dollars in the London interbank market.

“Eurodallar Lending Office” means, asto each Bank, its office, branch or affiliate located
at its address set forth in its Administrative Questionnaire (or identified in its Administrative
Questionnaire as its Eurodollar Lending Office) or such other office, branch or affiliate of such Bank as it
may hereafter designate as its Eurodollar Lending Office by notice to the Borrower and the
Administrative Agent.

*Eurodollar Loan" means a Loan in Dollars, the interest on which is calculated by
reference to the Eurodollar Rate, made or to be made by a Bank in accordance with the applicable Notice
of Borrowing.

*Eurodollar Rate” means with respect to each day during each Interest Period pertaining
to a Eurodollar Loan, arate per annum determined for such day in accordance with the foll owing formula:

Eurodollar Base Rate
1.00 - Eurocurrency Reserve Requirement

“Event of Default” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.1.

"Excluded Assets’ means the assets owned by the Covered Subsidiaries identified from
time to time on Schedule 1.1D, none of which shall constitute a Covered Asset.

“Existing Credit Agreement” has the meaning set forth in the recita's hereto

“Facility Collateral Cash Flow" means, for any date of determination, the regularly
scheduled amortization, interest and rent income from the Borrowing Base Assetsincluded in the
Borrowing Base as of the date of determination for the period of four fiscal quarters ended as of such date
of determination; provided that, with respect to any Credit Tenant Lease Asset that was added as a
Borrowing Base Asset since the end of such period and that has a lease term that begins on or after such
date of determination, the Facility Collateral Cash Flow with respect to such Borrowing Base Asset shall
equdl, on a pro forma basis, the projected rentd income therefrom for the period of four fiscd quarters
commencing on such date of determination (or for each date of determination for the subsequent three
quarters, for the three quarter, two quarter and one quarter period, respectively, after such date of
determination).

“Eacility Collatera Coverage Ratio” means, for each date of determination set forth in
Section 5.9(b), the ratio of (a) Facility Collateral Cash Flow as of such date of determination to (b)
Facility Interest Expense as of such date of determination.

“Facility Interest Expense” means, for any date of determination, the total cash interest
expense (including Commitment Fees) of the Borrower payable with respect to the Loans for the period
of four fisca quarters ended as of such date of determination (assuming for purposes of determining such
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interest expense that the Totad Commitments have been fully Borrowed hereunder during such period)
determined in accordance with GAAP.

“FATCA" means Sections 1471 through 1474 of the Code, as of the date of this
Agreement (or any amended or successor version that is substantively comparable and not materially
more onerous to comply with), any current or future regulations or official interpretations thereof, any
intergovernmental agreements related thereto, and any agreement entered into pursuant to Section
1471(b)(1) of the Code and any law, regulation, rule, promulgation, guidance notes, practices or officid
agreement i mplementing an official government agreement with respect to the foregoing.

*Federal Funds Rate” means, for any day, the weighted average of the rates on overnight
federa funds transactions with members of the Federal Reserve System arranged by federal funds
brokers, as published on the next succeeding Business Day by the Federa Reserve Bank of New York, or,
if such rate is not so published for any day that is a Business Day, the average of the quotations for the
day of such transactions received by JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. from three federal funds brokers of
recognized standing selected by it; provided that if the Federal Funds Rate shall be |ess than zero, such
rate shal be deemed to be zero for purposes of this Agreement.

“Federal Reserve Board” means the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System
as constituted from time to time.

*Fiscal Quarter” means afisca quarter of aFisca Year.
“Fiscal Year" means the fisca year of the Borrower.
“Fitch” means Fitch Investor Services, Inc., or any successor thereto.

“GAAP" means generdly accepted accounting principles in the United States asin effect
from time to time, except that for purposes of Section 5.1, GAAP shall be determined on the basis of such
principlesin effect on the date hereof and consistent with those used in the preparation of the most recent
audited financid statements referred to in Section 5.1(a); provided, that (i) revenues, expenses, gains and
losses that are included in results of discontinued operations because of the application of SFAS No. 144
will be treated as revenues, expenses, gains and lasses from continuing operations. In the event that any
“ Accounting Change” (as defined below) shall occur and such change results in a change in the method of
calculation of financial covenants, standards or terms in this Agreement, then the Borrower and the
Administrative Agent agree to enter into negotiations in order to amend such provisions of this
Agreement so as to reflect equitably such Accounting Changes with the desired result that the criteriafor
evaluating the Borrower’ s financia condition shall be the same after such Accounting Changes as if such
Accounting Changes had not been made. Until such time as such an amendment shall have been executed
and déelivered by the Borrower, the Administrative Agent and the Required Banks, al financia covenants,
standards and terms in this Agreement shall continue to be calculated or construed as if such Accounting
Changes had not occurred. “Accounting Changes” refers to changes in accounting principles required by
the promulgation of any rule, regulation, pronouncement or opinion by the Financial Accounting
Standards Board of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants or, if gpplicable, the SEC.

“Governmental Authority” means any nation or government, any state or other politica
subdivision thereof, any agency, authority, instrumentality, regulatory body, court, central bank or other
entity exercising executive, legidative, judicial, taxing, regulatory or administrative functions of or
pertaining to government, any securities exchange and any self-regulatory organization (induding the
National Association of |nsurance Commissioners).
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“Group of Loans” means, a any time, agroup of Loans consisting of (i) al Loans which
are Base Rate Loans at such time, or (ii) all Eurodollar Loans having the same Interest Period at such
time; provided that, if aLoan of any particular Bank is converted to or made as a Base Rate Loan
pursuant to Section 8.2 or Section 8.5, such Loan shal be included in the same Group or Groups of Loans
from time to time as it would have been in if it had not been so converted or made.

* Indebtedness” as gpplied to any Person, means, at any time, without duplication, (a) all
indebtedness, obligations or other liabilities of such Person (i) for borrowed money (including
construction loans) or evidenced by debt securities, debentures, acceptances, notes or other similar
instruments, and any accrued interest, fees and charges relating thereto, (ii) under profit payment
agreements or in respect of obligations to redeem, repurchase or exchange any Securities of such Person
or to pay dividends in respect of any stock, (iii) with respect to letters of credit issued for such Person's
account, (iv) to pay the deferred purchase price of property or services, except accounts payable and
accrued expenses arising in the ordinary course of business, (v) in respect of Capital Leases, (vi) which
are Contingent Obligations or (vii) under warranties and indemnities; (b) al indebtedness, obligations or
ather liabilities of such Person or others secured by a Lien on any property of such Person, whether or not
such indebtedness, obligations or liabilities are assumed by such Person, all as of such time (provided that
the value of such indebtedness, obligations or liabilities shall be limited to the lesser of (x) the amount of
such indebtedness, obligations or liabilities assumed by such Person and (y) the undepreciated book value
of the property subject to such Lien, determined in accordance with GAAP, and less any impairment
charge; (c) dl indebtedness, obligations or other liabilities of such Person in respect of Interest Rate
Contracts and foreign exchange contracts, net of liabilities owed to such Person by the counterparties
thereon; (d) all preferred stock subject (upon the occurrence of any contingency or otherwise) to
mandatory redemption; and (e) all contingent contractual obligations with respect to any of the foregoing.

*Indemniteg” has the meaning set forth in Section 9.3(b).

*Insolvency” means with respect to any Multiemployer Plan, the condition that such plan
is insolvent within the meaning of Section 4245 of ERISA.

“Interest Period” means, with respect to each Eurodollar Borrowing, the period
commencing on the date of such Borrowing specified in the Notice of Borrowing or on the date specified
in the gpplicable Notice of Interest Rate Election and ending 1, 2, 3 or 6 months (or, if availabletodl
Banks, one week) thereafter as the Borrower may elect in the gpplicable Notice of Interest Rate Election;
provided, that:

(a) any Interest Period which would otherwise end on aday which isnot a
Eurodollar Business Day shall be extended to the next succeeding Eurodollar Business Day
unless such Eurodollar Business Day falls in another calendar month, in which case such Interest
Period shall end on the immediately preceding Eurodollar Business Day;

(b) any Interest Period which begins on the last Eurodollar Business Day of a
calendar month (or on aday for which thereis no numericaly corresponding day in the cdendar
month at the end of such Interest Period) shall end on the |ast Eurodollar Business Day of a
calendar month; and

(c) no Interest Period may end later than the Maturity Date.

“ Interest Rate Contracts’ means, collectively, interest rate swap, collar, cap or similar
agreements providing interest rate protection.
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“ Investment Affiliate” means any joint venture or Subsidiary, whose financid results are
not consolidated under GAAP with the financial results of the Borrower on the consolidated financial
statements of the Borrower.

* Interpolated Rate” means, at any time, the rate per annum (rounded to the same number
of decimal places as the Screen Rate) determined by the Administrative Agent (which determination shall
be conclusive and binding absent manifest error) to be equal to the rate that results from interpolating on a
linear basi s between: (a) the Screen Rate (for the |ongest period for which that Screen Rateis availablein
Dollars) that is shorter than the Impacted Interest Period and (b) the Screen Rate (for the shortest period
for which that Screen Rate is available for Dallars) that exceeds the Impacted Interest Period, in each
case, as of the Specified Time on the Quotation Day for such Interest Period. When determining the rate
for aperiod which islessthan the shortest period for which the Screen Rate is available, the Screen Rate
for purposes of clause (a) above shal be deemed to be the overnight rate for Dollars determined by the
Administrative Agent from such service as the Administrative Agent may select.

*Investment Grade Rating” means arating for a Person’s senior long-term unsecured debt
of BBB- or better from S&P, of Baa3 or better from Moody's or of BBB- or better from Fitch. In the
event that the Borrower receives Credit Ratings from S& P and Moody's, and such Credit Ratings are not
equivalent, the lower of such two (2) Credit Ratings shall be used to determine whether an Investment
Grade Rating was achieved.

“|Investment Memo" means, as to a Covered Asset, the Borrower' s memorandum
delivered to its internal investment committee or similar committes in connection with obtaining internal
approval for investment in such Covered Asset prepared in accordance with the Borrower's underwriting
standards in accordance with past practice, without any modification, deletion or redaction to such
memorandum as to the Borrower’ s determination of value as to such Covered Asset (it being understood
that Borrower may make non-material redacti ons as to competitor-specific information therein).

“Lien" means, with respect to any asset, any mortgage, lien, pledge, charge, security
interest or encumbrance of any kind, or any other type of preferential arrangement, in each case that has
the effect of creating a security interest in respect of such asset. For the purposes of this Agreement, the
Borrower or any Consolidated Subsidiary shall be deemed to own subject to a Lien any asset which it has
acquired or holds subject to the interest of a vendor or lessor under any conditiona sale agreement, capitd
lease or other title retention agreement relating to such asset.

“Limited Term Credit Tenant L ease Asset” means a Credit Tenant Lease Asset that is a
Borrowing Base Asset and for which the weighted average remaining lease term is greater than five (5)
years but |ess than eight (8) years from the date such Credit Tenant Lease Asset is added.

“Loan" means the Revolving Loans until such time that such Loans are converted into
Term Loans pursuant to Section 2.2 and Section 3.3 and the Term Loans.

“Loan Assets” means senior or subordinated loans that may be either fixed or variable
rate, including, without limitation, first mortgages, second mortgages, mezzanine |oans, repurchase
agreements, participations in loans, interim facilities, corporate |oans, debt securities, “B" notes and
collateralized mortgage-backed securities.

*Loan Documents’ means this Agreement, any Notes and each Collateral Document.

*Look-Through LTV" means, as to any Loan Asset as of any determination date, the ratio
af (x) the sum of the principal amount of such Loan Asset (including all cepitdized interest) plus the
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outstanding principal amount of al other loans (including all capitaized interest) that are pari passu or
senior in right of payment (whether structurally or contractually) to such Loan Asset, or that are secured
by pari passu or senior Mortgages with respect to common collatera to (y) (1) if such Loan Asset is one
of the Three Largest Asset at atime when the Concentration Test Increase Period is in effect and an
Appraisa for such Loan Asset has been completed during such Concentration Test Increase Period, the
Appraised Vaue or (2) otherwise, the value of the common collateral as determined in good faith by the
Borrower in accordance with its customary underwriting standards consistently gpplied at the end of the
most recently ended fiscal quarter as of such date of determination in accordance with GAAP,
consistently applied.

“LTC" means, asto any Loan Asset that is a Construction Loan as of any determination
date, the ratio of (1) the sum of the aggregate amount of principa of the Construction Loan as of such
determination date to (1) the aggregate cost, as of such determination date, of the construction project
(including all material and labor costs, land acquisition costs, and architectural, engineering,
development, financing, and legal fees, and other pre- and post-construction expenses) in respect of which
such Construction Loan isprovided as determined in good faith by the Borrower in accordance with its
customary underwriting standards consistently applied and set forth in the most recently-delivered
Borrowing Base Certificate or Monthly Certificate.

“Materia Adverse Effect” means an effect resulting from any circumstance or event or
series of circumstances or events, of whatever nature (but excluding general economic conditions), which
does or would reasonably be expected to, materialy and adversdly impair (i) the ability of the Covered
Parties, taken as awhole, to perform their respective obligations under the L oan Documents, or (ii) the
ability of the Administrative Agent or the Banks to enforce the Loan Documents.

“Materia Default” means (i) any Payment Default, (i) any Default resulting from the
Borrower' s failure to be in compliance with any covenant contained in Section 5.1(a), (b), (c), (d)(i)
(provided that the officer of the Borrower that, in such case, has obtained knowledge of the applicable
Default or Event of Default is any of the president, chief executive officer, chief financia officer or chief
operating officer of the Borrower or any officer performing the customary duties of any such position),
(i), (j) or (k), 5.8, 5.9, 5.10, 5.11, 5.15 or 5.18 or (iii) any other materia Default as to which the Borrower
shall have received written notice.

“Materias of Environmental Concern® means and includes any pollutants, contaminants,
hazardous wastes, toxic and hazardous substances, ashestos, lead, petroleum and petroleum by-products,
and any other substances regulated pursuant to, or that could giveriseto liability under, Environmenta
Law.

“Maturity Date” means the date when al Obligations hereunder shall be due and payable,
which shall be the Revolving Termination Date or, if the Revolving Loans are converted into Terms
L oans subject to Sections 2.2 and 3.3, the Term Loan Maturity Date, unlessin either case otherwise
accelerated pursuant to the terms hereof; provided, however, in each case, if such dateis not a Business
Day, the Maturity Date shall be the next preceding Business Day.

“Monthly Certificate” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.1(j).

“Moody’s’ means Moady's Investors Services, Inc. or any successor thereto.

“Mortgage” means a mortgage, deed of trust, deed to secured debt or similar security
interest.
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“Multiemployer Plan® means at any time an empl oyee pension benefit plan within the
meaning of Section 4001(a)(3) of ERISA, which is subject to Title IV of ERISA to which any member of
the ERISA Group is then making or accruing an obligation to make contributions.

“Negative Pledge Agreement” means the Second Amended and Restated Negative Pledge
Agreement, dated the date hereof, among the Covered Subsidiaries and the Administrative Agent,
substantidly in the form of Exhibit C, as the same may be amended, modified or supplemented from time
to time.

“Net Present Vaue' means, as to a specified or ascertainable Dollar amount, the present
value, as of the date of calculation of any such amount using a discount rate equal to the Base Rate in
effect as of the date of such caculation.

“Non-Cash Flow Credit Tenant L ease Asset” means, as of any date of determination, a
Credit Tenant Lease Asset for which no income is being generated as of such date of determination and
no income has been generated for aperiod of six months or longer as of such date of determination.

“Non-Excluded Taxes™ has the meaning set forth in Section 8.4(a).

“Non-Performing L oan Assets’ means any Loan Asset classified as non-performing in
accordance with the Borrower' sinterna procedures, consistent with past practice.

*Non-Recourse Indebtedness” means Indebtedness with respect to which recourse far
payment is limited to (i) specific assets related to a particular Property or group of Properties encumbered
by a Lien securing such Indebtedness or (ii) for al purposes other than Section 6.1(e) hereof, any
Subsidiary (so long as a Subsidiary is a partnership, there is no recourse to the Borrower as a general
partner of such partnership); provided that if any portion of Indebtedness is so limited, then such portion
shall constitute Non-Recourse Indebtedness and only the remainder of such Indebtedness shall constitute
Recourse Debt; provided, further, however, that direct recourse to the Borrower for any such
Indebtedness for fraud, misrepresentation, misapplication of cash, waste, Environmental Claims and
liabilities and other circumstances customarily excluded by institutional lenders from exculpation
pravisions and/or included in separate indemnification agreements in non-recourse financing of real estate
shall not, by itself, prevent such Indebtedness from being characterized as Non-Recourse Indebtedness.

“Notes’ means any promissory notes of the Borrower, substantialy in the form of Exhibit
D hereto, evidencing the obligation of the Borrower to repay the Loans, and “Note” means any one of
such promissory notes issued hereunder.

“Notice of Borrowing” means a notice from the Borrower in accordance with Section 2.3
and substantidly in the form attached of Exhibit E.

“Notice of Interest Rate Election” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.6.

“Obligations’ means dl obligations, liabilities, indemnity obligations and Indebtedness
of every nature of the Borrower (including interest accruing after the maturity of the Loans and interest
accruing after the filing of any petition in bankruptcy, or the commencement of any insolvency,
reorganization or like proceeding, relaing to the Borrower, whether or not a claim for post-filing or post-
petition interest is allowed in such proceeding), from time to time owing to the Administrative Agent, any
other Agent or any Bank under or in connection with the Loans under this Agreement or any other Loan
Document.
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“Other Taxes’ has the meaning set forth in Section 8.4(b).
“Parent” means, with respect to any Bank, any Person controlling such Bank.
“Participant” has the meaning set forth in Section 9.6(b).

“Participant Register” has the meaning set forth in Section 9.6(b).

“Patriot Act” has the meaning set forth in Section 9.15.

“Payment Date” means (a) thefirst Business Day of each January, April, July and
October and (b) the Maturity Date.

* Payment Default” means any Default resulting from the Borrower’ s failure to pay any
principa of any Loan hereunder, including any mandatory prepayment hereunder, or any interest due on
any Loan or any fees or other amount payable hereunder.

“PBGC" means the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation or any entity succeeding to
any or al of its functions under ERISA.

“Permitted Liens’ means:

(a) Liens for Taxes, assessments or other governmenta charges not yet delinquent or
which are being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings promptly instituted and
diligently conducted in accordance with the terms hereof;

(b) statutory liens of carriers, warehousemen, mechanics, materialmen and other
similar liensimposed by law, which areincurred in the ordinary course of business for sums not
more than ninety (90) days delinquent or which are being contested in good faith in accordance
with the terms hereof;

(c) utility deposits and other deposits or pledges to secure the performance of bids,
trade contracts (other than for borrowed money), leases, purchase contracts, construction
contracts, governmental contracts, statutory obligations, surety bonds, performance bonds and
other obligations of alike nature incurred in the ordinary course of business;

(d) easements (including reciprocal easement agreements and utility agreements),
rights-of-way, zoning restrictions, other covenants, reservations, encroachments, leases, licenses
or similar charges or encumbrances (whether or not recorded) and all other items listed on any
Schedule B to the Borrower’ s owner’ s title insurance policies, except in connection with any
Indebtedness, for any of the Borrower's Rea Property Assets, so long as the foregoing do not
interfere in any materia respect with the use or ordinary conduct of the business of the Borrower
and do not diminish in any materia respect the value of the property to which such Permitted
Lien is attached;

(e) (1) Liens and judgments which have been or will be bonded (and the Lien on any
cash or securities serving as security for such bond) or released of record within forty-five (45)
days after the date such Lien or judgment is entered or filed against the Borrower, or any other
Covered Party, or (I1) Liens which are being contested in good faith by agppropriate proceedings
for review and in respect of which there shall have been secured a subsisting stay of execution
pending such gopeal or proceedings and as to which the subject asset is not at risk of forfeiture;
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(f) Liens created pursuant to the Collatera Documents in favor of the
Administrative Agent for the benefit of the Secured Parties; and

(g) Liensin favor of the Borrower.

“Person” means an individual, a corporation, a partnership, alimited liability company,
an association, atrust or any other entity or organization, including, without limitation, a government or
political subdivision or an agency or instrumentaity thereof.

“Plan” means at any time an employee pension benefit plan (other than a Multiemployer
Plan) which is covered by Title IV of ERISA or subject to the minimum funding standards under Section
412 of the Code and either (i) is maintained, or contributed to, by any member of the ERISA Group, (ii)
has at any time within the preceding five years been maintained, or contributed to, by any Person which
was at such time a member of the ERISA Group or (iii} to which any member of the ERISA Group has
had liability within the previous five years.

“Plan Asset Regulations” means 29 CFR § 2510.3-101 et seq., as modified by Section
3(42) of ERISA, as amended from time to time.

“Pledged Subsidiary” means any Subsidiary of the Borrower the equity or other interests
in which constitute Collateral pledged pursuant to the Collateral Documents and that owns, directly or
indirectly, Covered Assets or any other Subsidiary that owns, directly or indirectly, Covered Assets.

“Prime Rate” means the rate of interest |ast quoted by The Wall Street Journd as the
“Prime Rate” in the U.S. or, if The Wall Street Journal ceases to quote such rate, the highest per annum
interest rate published by the Federd Reserve Board in Federal Reserve Statistica Release H.15 (519)
(Selected Interest Rates) as the “bank prime loan” rate or, if such rateis no longer quoted therein, any
similar rate quoted therein (as determined by the Administrative Agent in consultation with the Borrower)
or any similar release by the Federa Reserve Board (as determined by the Administrative Agent in
consultation with the Borrower). Each change in the Prime Rate shall be effective from and including the
date such change is publicly announced or quoted as being effective.

“Pro Rata Share” means, for any Bank at any time, a fraction (expressed as a percentage),
the numerator of which shall be the amount of such Bank’ s Commitment and the denominator of which
shall be the Tota Commitments.

“Projections’ means the projected cash flows of the Borrower and its Consolidated
Subsidiaries, substantially in the form of Exhibit F hereto.

“Property” means, with respect to any Person, any red or persond property, building,
facility, structure, equipment or unit, or other asset owned by such Person.

“PTE" means aprohibited transaction class exemption issued by the U.S. Department of
Labor, as any such exemption may be amended from time to time.

"

Rating Agencies” means, collectively, S& P, Moody's and Fitch.

“Real Property Assets’ means as to any Person as of any time, the real property assets
(including, without limitation, interests in participating mortgages in which such Person’ sinterest therein
is characterized as equity according to GAAP) owned directly or indirectly by such Person at such time.




“Recourse Debt” means Indebtedness other than Non-Recourse |ndebtedness.
“REIT" means ared estate investment trust, as defined under Section 856 of the Code.

“Required Banks™ means at any time Banks having or holding more than 50% of (i) prior
to the conversion of the Revolving Loansinto Term Loans in accordance with Section 2.2 and Section
3.3, the aggregate amount of the Total Commitments then in effect, and (ii) on or after such conversion,
or any termination of the Total Commitments, the aggregate unpaid principal amount of the Loans then
outstanding hereunder.

*Revalving Commitment Period” means the period from and including the Clesing Date
to the Revolving Termination Date.

“Revolving Loans" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.1(a).

“Revolving Termination Date” means September 27, 2022.

*S& P means Standard & Poor’ s Ratings Services, adivision of The McGraw-Hill
Companies, Inc., or any successor thereto.

" Safety” means Safehold, Inc. (f/k/a Safety, Income & Growth Inc.), aMaryland
corporation.

“ Safety Management Agresment” means the Management Agreement, dated as of June
27, 2017, by and among Safety, Safehold Operating Partnership LP (f/k/a Safety Income and Growth
Operating Partnership LP), SFTY Manager LLC and iStar Inc., as the same may be amended from time to
time.

* Sanctioned Country” means at any time, a country, region or territory which isitsef the
subject or target of any Sanctions (at the time of this Agreement, Cuba, the Crimea region of the Ukraine,
Iran, North Korea and Syria).

*Sanctioned Person” means, at any time, (a) any Person listed in any Sanctions-related
list of designated Persons maintained by the Office of Foreign Assets Control of the U.S. Department of
the Treasury or the U.S. Department of State, by the United Nations Security Council, the European
Union, any European Union member state, Her Majesty’ s Treasury of the United Kingdom or other
relevant sanctions authority, (b) any Person operating, organized or resident in a Sanctioned Country or
(c) any Person owned or controlled by any such Person or Persons described in the foregoing clauses (a)
or (b).

*Sanctions” means economic or financid sanctions or trade embargoes imposed,
administered or enforced from time to time by (a) the U.S. government, including those administered by
the Office of Foreign Assets Control of the U.S. Department of the Treasury or the U.S. Department of
State, (b) the United Nations Security Council, the European Union, any European Union member state or
Her Maesty’ s Treasury of the United Kingdom or (c) other relevant sanctions authority.

“Screen Rate” has the meaning set forth in the definition of “Eurodollar Base Rate.”

*Secured Parties” has the meaning set forth in the Security Agreement.
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“Securities” means any stock, partnership interests, shares, shares of beneficid interest,
voting trust certificates, bonds, debentures, notes or other evidences of indebtedness, secured or
unsecured, convertible, subordinated or otherwise, or in genera any instruments commonly known as
“securities,” or any certificates of interest, shares, or participations in temporary or interim certificates for
the purchase or acquisition of, or any right to subscribe to, purchase or acquire any of the foregoing, and
shall include Indebtedness which would be required to be included on the liabilities side of the balance
sheet of the Borrower in accordance with GAAP, but shal not include any Cash and Cash Equivdents or
any evidence of the Obligations.

“Security Agreement”™ means the Second Amended and Restated Security Agreement,
dated the date hereof, made by the Borrower in favor of the Administrative Agent, substantidly in the
form of Exhibit G, as the same may be amended, modified or supplemented from time to time.

*Solvent” means that, when used with respect to any Person, as of any date of
determination, (a) the amount of the “present fair saleable value® of the assets of such Person will, as of
such date, exceed the amount of all “liabilities of such Person, contingent or otherwise”, as of such date,
as such quoted terms are determined in accordance with applicable federa and state |laws governing
determinations of the insolvency of debtors, (b) the present fair sdeable value of the assets of such Person
will, as of such date, be greater than the amount that will be required to pay the liability of such Person on
its debts as such debts become absol ute and matured, (c) such Person will not have, as of such date, an
unreasonably small amount of capital with which to conduct its business, and (d) such Person will be able
to pay its debts as they mature. For purposes of this definition, (i) “debt” means liability on a“clam”,
and (ii) “clam” means any (x) right to payment, whether or not such aright is reduced to judgment,
liquidated, unliquidated, fixed, contingent, matured, unmatured, disputed, undisputed, legal, equitable,
secured or unsecured or (y) right to an equitable remedy for breach of performance if such breach gives
rise to aright to payment, whether or not such right to an equitable remedy is reduced to judgment, fixed,
contingent, matured or unmatured, disputed, undisputed, secured or unsecured.

* Specified Time” means 11:00 a.m., London time.

“Subsidiary” means any corporation, trust or other entity of which securities or other
ownership interests having ordinary voting power to elect a mgjority of the board of directors or other
persons performing similar functions are at the time directly or indirectly owned by the Borrower.

“Super Majority Banks’ means at any time Banks having or holding more than 66 2/3%
of (i) prior to the conversion of the Revolving Loans into Term Loans in accordance with Section 2.2 and
Section 3.3, the aggregate amount of the Total Commitments then in effect, and (ii) on or after such
conversion or any termination of the Tota Commitments, if gpplicable, the aggregate unpaid principa
amount of the Loans then outstanding hereunder.

“Taxes’” means all present or future taxes, levies, imposts, duties, deductions,
withholdings (including backup withholding), val ue added taxes, or any other goods and services, use or
sd es taxes, assessments, fees or ather charges imposed by any Governmental Authority, induding any
interest, additions to tax or penalties gpplicable thereto.

“Term Loan Maturity Date” means the first anniversary of the Revolving Termination

Date.

“Term Loans" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.2(a).
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“Termination Event” means (i) a " reportable event”, as such term is described in Section
4043 of ERISA (other than a “reportable event” for which notice to the PBGC has been waived by statute
or regulation), or an event described in Section 4062(e) of ERISA, (ii) thefiling of a notice of intent to
terminate any Plan under Section 4041 of ERISA, other than in a standard termination within the meaning
of Section 4041 of ERISA, or the treatment of a Plan amendment as a distress termination under Section
4041 of ERISA, (iii) theinstitution by the PBGC of proceedings to terminate, impose liability (other than
for premiums under Section 4007 of ERISA) in respect of, or cause atrustee to be appointed to
administer, any Plan, (iv) any failure to make by its due date any required installment under Section
430(j) of the Code with respect to any Plan, any failure by the Borrower or any member of the ERISA
Group to make any required contribution to any Multiempl oyer Plan, or any failure to satisfy the
minimum funding standards (within the meaning of Section 302 of ERISA or Section 412 of the Code),
whether or not waived, shall exist with respect to any Plan, any Lienin favor of the PBGC, aPlan, or a
Multiemployer Plan shall arise on the assets of the Barrower or any member of the ERISA Group, or
there shall be any determination that any Planis or is expected to bein “at risk” status (within the
meaning of Section 430 of the Code or Section 303 of ERISA), (v) ) the Borrower or any member of the
ERISA Group shall, or in the reasonable opinion of the Required Banks islikely to, incur any liability in
connection with awithdrawal from any Plan in which it was a substantia employer, or the withdrawal
from, termination, Insolvency of, or “endangered” or “critical” status (within the meaning of Section 432
of the Code or Section 305 of ERISA) of, a Multiemployer Plan, (vi) aproceeding shall be instituted by a
fiduciary of any Multiemployer Plan against any member of the ERISA Group, to enforce Section 515 or
4219(c)(5) of ERISA and such proceeding shall not have been dismissed within 30 days thereafter, (vii)
the provision by the administrator of any Plan pursuant to Section 4041(a)(2) of ERISA of anotice of
intent to terminate such plan in a distress termination described in Section 4041(c) of ERISA, (viii) the
withdrawal by the Borrower or any member of the ERISA Group from any Plan with two or more
contributing sponsors or the termination of any such Plan resulting in liability to any member of the
ERISA Group pursuant to Section 4063 or 4064 of ERISA, (ix) receipt from the Internal Revenue Service
of notice of the failure of any Plan (or any other employee benefit plan sponsored by the Borrower or any
of its Subsidiaries which isintended to be qualified under Section 401(a) of the Internal Revenue Code) to
qualify under Section 401(a) of the Internal Revenue Code, or the failure of any trust forming part of any
such employee benefit plan to quaify for exemption from taxation under Section 501(a) of the Internal
Revenue Code or (x) any other event or condition that might reasonably constitute grounds for the
termination of, or the appointment of atrustee to administer, any Plan or the imposition of any ligbility or
encumbrance or Lien on the Red Property Assets or any member of the ERISA Group under ERISA or
the Code.

“Three Largest Assefs’ means, as of any date of determination, the three most vauable
Borrowing Base Assets based on the Borrowing Base Va ue of each such Borrowing Base Asset as of
such date as determined by the most recent Borrowing Base Certificate and adjusted in the Monthly
Certificate.

“Totd Commitments® means at any time, the aggregate amount of the Commitments

then in effect.

“Totd Corporate L everage Ratio” means the totd corporate |everage ratio cdculated in
the manner calculated in the Borrower's August 1, 2019 Earnings Presentation, which shall be reflected in
each of the Borrower’ s Earnings Presentations.

“Tota Revolving Loans” means at any time, the aggregate amount of the Revolving
Loans outstanding at such time.
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“Uniform Commercia Code” means the Uniform Commercial Code as the same may
from time to time be in effect in the State of New Y ork or the Uniform Commercia Code (or similar code
or statute) of another jurisdiction, to the extent it may be required to apply to any item or items of
Collaterd.

“United States” means the United States of America, including the fifty states and the
District of Columbia.

“Weighted Average CTL Lease Term” means, as of any date of determination, the
weighted average remaining lease term as of such date of determination for all Credit Tenant Lease
Assets that are Borrowing Base Assets as of such date based on the Borrowing Base Value of such Credit
Tenant Lease Assets.

“Write-Down and Conversion Powers’ means, with respect to any EEA Resolution
Authority, the write-down and conversion powers af such EEA Resalution Authority from time to time
under the Bail-In Legidlation for the gpplicable EEA Member Country, which write-down and conversion
powers are described in the EU Bail-In Legislation Schedule.

Section 1.2,  Accounting Terms and Determinations. (a) Asused herein and in the other Loan
Documents, and any certificate or other document made or delivered pursuant hereto or thereto,
accounting terms relating to the Borrower and its Consolidated Subsidiaries not defined in Section 1.1
and accounting terms partly defined in Section 1.1, to the extent not defined, shall have the respective
meanings given to them under GAAP (provided that al terms of an accounting or financial nature used
herein shall be construed, and all computations of amounts and ratios referred to herein shall be made,
without giving effect to any election under Accounting Standards Codification 825-10-25 (previously
referred to as Statement of Financia Accounting Standards 159) (or any other Accounting Standards
Codification or Financial Accounting Standard having a similar result or effect) to value any Indebtedness
or other liabilities of the Borrower or any Subsidiary at “fair value”, as defined therein.

(b) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in Section 1.2(a) or in the
definition of “Capita Lease,” in the event of any change in accounting for leases pursuant to GAAP
resulting from the adoption of Financia Accounting Standards Board Accounting Standards Update No.
2016-02, Leases (Topic 842) ("FAS 842"), to the extent such adoption would require treating any lease
(or similar arrangement conveying the right to use) as a capita |ease where such lease (or similar
arrangement) would not have been required to be so treated under GAAP asin effect on the date hereof,
only those leases that would constitute capita leases in conformity with GAAP asin effect on the date
hereof shall be considered capita |leases, and all calculations and deliverables under this Agresment or
any other Loan Document shall be made or delivered, as gpplicable, in accordance therewith.

Section 1.3.  Types of Borrowings. Theterm “Borrowing” denotes the aggregation of Loans
of one or more Banks to be made to the Borrower pursuant to Article |l on the gpplicable Borrowing
Date, dl of which Loans are of the same type (subject to Article VII1) and, except in the case of Base
Rate Loans, have the same Interest Period.

Section 1.4.  Interest Rates; LIBOR Natification . The interest rate on Eurodollar Loansis
determined by reference to the Eurodollar Base Rate, which is derived from the London interbank offered
rate. The London interbank offered rate is intended to represent the rate at which contributing banks may
abtain short-term borrowings from each other in the London interbank market. In July 2017, the U K.
Financid Conduct Authority announced that, after the end of 2021, it would no longer persuade or
compel contributing banks to make rate submissions to the |CE Benchmark Administration (together with
any successor to the ICE Benchmark Administrator, the “IBA") for purposes of the IBA setting the
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London interbank offered rate. As aresult, it is possible that commencing in 2022, the London interbank
offered rate may no longer be available or may no longer be deemed an appropriate reference rate upon
which to determine the interest rate on Eurodollar Loans. In light of this eventuality, public and private
sector industry initiatives are currently underway to identify new or dternative reference rates to be used
in place of the London interbank offered rate. In the event that the London interbank offered rateis no
longer available or in certain other circumstances as set forth in Section 8.1(b) of this Agreement, such
Section 8.1(b) provides a mechanism for determining an alternative rate of interest. The Administrative
Agent will notify the Borrower, pursuant to Section 8.1, in advance of any change to the reference rate
upon which the interest rate on Eurodollar Loans is based. However, the Administrative Agent does not
warrant or acoept any responsibility for, and shall not have any liability with respect to, the
administration, submission or any other matter related to the London interbank offered rate or other rates
in the definition of “ Eurodollar Base Rate” or with respect to any alternative or successor rate thereto, or
replacement rate thereof, including without limitation, whether the composition or characteristics of any
such alternative, successor or replacement reference rate, as it may or may not be adj usted pursuant to
Section 8.1(b), will be similar to, or produce the same val ue or economic equivaence of, the Eurodollar
Base Rate or have the same volume or liquidity as did the London interbank offered rate prior toits
discontinuance or unavail ability.

ARTICLE Il
THE LOANS

Section2.1.  Revolving Commitments . (a) Each Bank severally agrees, on the terms and
conditions set forth in this Agreement, to make revol ving credit loans (“ Revolving Loans” ) in Dollars to
the Borrower from time to time during the Revolving Commitment Period in an aggregate principa
amount a any one time outstanding which would not result in either (i) the Revolving Loans of such
Bank exceeding the amount of such Bank’s Commitment or (ii) the Total Revolving L oans exceeding the
lesser of (x) the Total Commitments and (y) the Borrowing Base. During the Revolving Commitment
Period the Borrower may use the Commitments by borrowing, prepaying the Revolving Loans in whole
or in part, and reborrowing, al in accordance with the terms and conditions hereof.

(b) The Revolving Loans may from time to time be (i) Eurodollar Loans or (ii) Base
Rate Loans or (iii) a combination thereof, as determined by the Borrower and notified to the
Administrative Agent in accordance with Section 2.3 and Section 2.5.

(c) The Revol ving Commitments shall terminate, and, subject to the right of the
Borrower set forth in Section 2.2 and the conditions set forth in Section 3.3, the Borrower shall repay all
outstanding Revolving Loans, on the Revolving Termination Date.

Section 2.2. Term Commitments.

(a) The Borrower may request that all Revolving Loans outstanding on the
Revolving Termination Date be converted into an equa principal amount of term loans (“Term Loans”)
on the Revolving Termination Date by delivering the Administrative Agent notice of such conversion no
Iater than 10:00 a.m. five (5) Business Days prior to the Revolving Termination Date (the * Conversion
Notice").

(b) In the event that Administrative Agent receives atimely Conversion Notice, each

Bank severally agrees, on the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement and without further action
by any of the Banks, to convert such Bank’s outstanding Revol ving Loans into an equal principal amount

.




of Term Loans on the Revolving Termination Date and to extend the M aurity Date from the Revolving
Termination Date to the Term Loan Maturity Date.

(c) The Term Loans may from time to time be (i) Eurodollar Loans or (ii) Base Rate
Loans or (iii) a combination thereof, as determined by the Borrower and notified to the Administrative
Agent in accordance with Section 2.3 and Section 2.5

(d) The Term Loans shall berepaid in equa quarterly installments of 25% of the
origind principa amount of Term Loans, payable at the end of each calendar quarter, commencing with
thefirst such quarter ending after the Revolving Termination Date with the last such payment payable on
the Term Loan Maturity Date.

Section 2.3. Procedures for Revolving Loan Borrowing. (a) The Borrower may borrow under
the Commitments during the Revalving Commitment Period on any Business Day, provided that the
Borrower shall give the Administrative Agent a Notice of Borrowing (which Notice of Borrowing must
be received by the Administrative Agent prior to 10:00 am., New Y ork City time, on the day of the
requested Borrowing Date (in the case of Base Rate L oans) and three (3) Eurodollar Business Days
notice (in the case of Eurodollar Loans) prior to the requested Borrowing Date) requesting that the Banks
make the Loans on the requested Borrowing Date and specifying:

(i) the amount of Revolving Loans to be borrowed,
(i) the requested Borrowing Date;

(iii)  whether the Revolving Loans comprising such Borrowing are to be Base Rate
Loans or Eurodollar Loans;

(iv)  inthe case of a Eurodallar Borrowing, the duration of the Interest Period
gpplicable thereto, subject to the provisions of the definition of Interest Periad;

(v) payment instructions for delivery of such Borrowing; and

(vi)  that no Default or Event of Default has occurred or is continuing.

(b) Each Borrowing of Revalving Loans shdl be in an amount equd to (x) in the
case of Base Rate Loans, $1,000,000 or a whole multiple thereof (or, if the then aggregate Available
Commitments are less than $1,000,000, such lesser amount) and (y) in the case of Eurodollar Loans,
$5,000,000 or awhaole multiple of $1,000,000 in excess thereof.

Section 24. Notice to Banks; Funding of Revolving Loans.

(a) Upon receipt of a Notice of Borrowing from the Borrower in accordance with
Section 2.3 hereof, the Administrative Agent shall, on the date such Natice of Borrowing is received by
the Administrative Agent, notify each applicable Bank of the contents thereof and of such Bank’'s Pro
Rata Share of such Borrowing and of the interest rate gpplicable thereto and such Notice of Barrowing
shall not thereafter be revocable by the Borrower, unless the Borrower shall pay any applicable expenses
pursuant to Section 2.14.

(b) Not later than 1:00 p.m. (New Y ork City time) in the case of a Natice of

Borrowing of a Base Rate Loan delivered by the Borrower on the Borrowing Date and 12:00 p.m. (New
Y ork City time) on the requested Borrowing Date for al other Borrowings, each Bank shall (except as
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pravided in subsection (c) of this Section 2.4) make available its Pro Rata Share of such Borrowing in
Federal fundsimmediately availablein New York, New York, to the Administrative Agent at its address
referred to in Section 9.1.

(c) Unless the Administrative Agent shall have received notice from a Bank prior to
the requested Borrowing Date that such Bank will not make available to the Administrative Agent such
Bank's share of a Borrowing, the Administrative Agent may assume that such Bank has made such share
available to the Administrative Agent on the requested Borrowing Date in accordance with this Section
2.4 and the Administrative Agent may, in reliance upon such assumption, but shall not be obligated to,
make available to the Borrower on such date a corresponding amount on behalf of such Bank. If and to
the extent that such Bank shall not have so made such share available to the Administrative Agent, such
Bank agrees to repay to the Administrative Agent forthwith on demand such corresponding amount
together with interest thereon, at the Federal Funds Rate, for each day from the date such amount is made
available to the Borrower until the date such amount is repaid to the Administrative Agent. If such Bank
shall repay to the Administrative Agent such corresponding amount, such amount so repaid shall
constitute such Bank's Loan included in such Borrowing for purposes of this Agreement. |f such Bank
shall not pay to the Administrative Agent such corresponding amount after reasonabl e attempts are made
by the Administrative Agent to collect such amounts from such Bank, the Borrower agreesto repay to the
Administrative Agent forthwith on demand such corresponding amounts together with interest thereto, for
each day from the date such amount is made available to the Borrower until the date such amount is
repaid to the Administrative Agent, at the interest rate gpplicable thereto one (1) Business Day after
demand. Nothing contained in this Section 2.4(c) shall be deemed to reduce the Commitment of any
Bank or in any way affect the rights of the Borrower with respect to a Defaulting Bank or the
Administrative Agent. The failure of any Bank to make available to the Administrative Agent such
Bank's share of any Borrowing in accordance with Section 2.4(b) hereof shdl not relieve any other Bank
of its obligations to fund its Commitment, in accordance with the provisions hereof.

(d) Subject to the provisions hereof, the Administrative Agent shall make available
each Borrowing to the Borrower in Federa fundsimmediately available in accordance with, and on the
date set forth in, the gpplicable Notice of Borrowing.

Section 2.5. Notes.

(a) Each Bank may, by notice to the Borrower and the Administrative Agent, request
that each of its Loans be evidenced by a Note substantialy the form of Exhibit D hereto. Uponthe
execution and delivery of any such Note, any existing Note payable to such Bank shall be returned to the
Borrower and replaced or modified accordingly. Each referencein this Agreement to the “Note” of such
Bank shall be deemed to refer to and include any or al of such Notes, as the context may require.

(b) Upon receipt of any Bank's Note pursuant to Section 3.1(a), the Administrative
Agent shall forward such Note to such Bank. Such Bank shall record the date, amount, currency, type
and maturity of each Loan made by it and the date and amount of each payment of principal made by the
Borrower, with respect thereto, and may, if such Bank so elects in connection with any transfer or
enforcement of its Note, endorse on the gppropriate schedule gppropriate notations to evidence the
foregoing information with respect to each such Loan then outstanding; provided that the failure of such
Bank to make any such recordation or endorsement shall not affect the obligations of the Borrower
hereunder or under the Notes. Each Bank is hereby irrevocably authorized by the Borrower so to endorse
its Note and to attach to and make a part of its Note a continuation of any such schedule as and when
required.




(c) There shdl be no more than fifteen (15) Eurodollar Group of Loans outstanding
at any onetime.

Section26.  Method of Electing Interest Rates. (a) The Loansinduded in each Borrowing
shall bear interest initidly at the type of rate specified by the Borrower in the applicable Notice of
Borrowing. Theregfter, the Borrower may from time to time eect to change or continue the type of
interest rate borne by each Group of Loans (subject in each case to the provisions of Article VII1), as
follows:

(i) if such Loans are Base Rate Loans, the Borrower may elect to convert dl or any
portion of such Loans ta Eurodollar Loans as of any Eurodollar Business Day;

(ii) if such Loans are Eurodollar Loans, the Borrower may elect to convert dl or any
portion of such Loans to Base Rate Loans and/or elect to continue dl or any portion of such
Loans as Euroddllar Loans for an additional Interest Period or additional Interest Periods, in each
case effective on the last day of the then current Interest Period applicable to such Loans, or on
such other date designated by the Borrower in the Notice of Interest Rate Election, provided the
Borrower shall pay any losses pursuant to Section 2.14.

Each such eection shall be made by delivering a noticein aform gpproved by the Administrative Agent
(a“Notice of Interest Rate Election”) to the Administrative Agent at least three (3) Eurodollar Business
Days prior to, but excluding, the effective date of the conversion or continuation selected in such natice.
A Notice of Interest Rate Election may, if it so specifies, gpply to only aportion of the aggregate principal
amount of the relevant Group of Loans; provided that (i) such portion is dlocated ratably among the

L oans comprising such Group of Loans, (ii) the portion to which such Notice of Interest Rate Election
applies, and the remaining portion to which it does not apply, are each in the minimum amounts required
hereby, (iii) no Loan may be continued as, or converted into, a Eurodollar Loan when any Event of
Default has occurred and is continuing, provided, however, that if and for so long as the Borrower shall
have an Investment Grade Rating from S& P and Moody's, if the Borrower shall so request and the
Required Banks shall so elect, then a Loan may be continued as, or converted into, a Eurodollar Loan
when any Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, and (iv) no Interest Period shall extend beyond
the Maturity Date.

(b) Each Notice of Interest Rate Election shall specify:
(i) the Group of Loans (or portion thereof) to which such notice gpplies;

(ii) the date on which the conversion or continuation selected in such notice is to be
effective, which shal comply with the gpplicable clause of subsection (a) above;

(iii)  if the Loans comprising such Group of Loans are to be converted, the new type
of Loans and, if such new Loans are Eurodallar Loans, the duration of theinitial Interest Period
applicable thereto; and

(iv)  if such Loans are to be continued as Eurodollar Loans for an additional Interest
Period, the duration of such additiona Interest Period.

Each Interest Period specified in a Notice of Interest Rate Election shall comply with the provisions of the
definition of Interest Period.




(c) Upon receipt of a Notice of Interest Rate Election from the Borrower pursuant to
subsection (a) above, the Administrative Agent shall notify each Bank with L oans affected thereby the
same day as it receives such Notice of Interest Rate Election of the contents thereof and the interest rates
determined pursuant thereto and such notice shall not thereafter be revocable by the Borrower. If the
Borrower fails to deliver atimely Notice of Interest Rate Election to the Administrative Agent for any
Group of Eurodollar Loans, such Loans shall be converted into Base Rate Loans on the last day of the
then current Interest Period gpplicable thereto.

Section 2.7. Interest Rates.

(a) Each Base Rate L oan shall bear interest on the outstanding principal amount
thereof, for each day from the date such Loan is made until the date it isrepaid or converted into a
Eurodollar Loan pursuant to Section 2.6, at arate per annum equal to the sum of the Base Rate plus the
Applicable Margin for Base Rate Loans for such day.

(b) Each Eurodollar Loan shal bear interest on the outstanding principal amount
thereof, for each day during the Interest Period epplicable thereto, at arate per annum equd to the sum of
the Applicable Margin for Eurodollar Loans for such day plus the Eurodollar Rate applicable to such
Interest Period.

(c) In the event that, and for so long as, any Event of Default shall have occurred and
be continuing, any overdue principal amount of the L oans and, to the extent permitted under applicable
law, overdue interest and fees in respect of al Loans, shall bear interest at the annual rate equa to the sum
of the Base Rate and the Applicable Margin for Base Rate Loans and two percent (2%), or, if any Loan
shall have been continued as, or converted into, a Eurodollar Loan, then, as to such Loan only, the sum of
the Eurodollar Rate gpplicable to such Loan and the Applicable Margin for Eurodollar Loans, and two
percent (2%) (collectively, the “ Default Rate").

(d) The Administrative Agent shall determine each interest rate gpplicableto the
Loans hereunder. The Administrative Agent shal give prompt notice to the Borrower and the Banks of
each rate of interest so determined, and its determination thereof shall be conclusive in the absence of
demonstrable error.

(e) Interest on all Loans bearing interest at the Base Rate shall be payablein arrears
on each Payment Date. Interest on al Loans bearing interest based on the Eurodollar Rate shall be
payablein arrears on the |ast day of the applicable Interest Period as to any such Loan having an Interest
Period of three months or less and, as to any such Loan having an Interest Period longer than three
months, each day that is three months, or a whole multiple thereof, after the first day of such Interest
Period and the | ast day of such Interest Period.

Section 2.8. Fees.

(a) Commitment Fees. The Borrower agrees to pay to the Administrative Agent for
the account of each Bank a commitment fee for the period from and including the date hereof to the last
day of the Revolving Commitment Period, computed at the Commitment Fee Rate on the average daily
amount of the Available Commitment of such Bank during the period for which payment is made,
payable quarterly in arrears on each Payment Date, commencing on the first such date to occur after the
date hereof.

(b) Upfront Fee; Other Fees. The Borrower agrees to pay to the Administrative
Agent, for the account of each Bank, an upfront fee equa to 0.25% of the Commitment of such Bank,
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payable on the Closing Date. The Borrower agrees to pay to the Administrative Agent for its own
account and the account of the Agents such fees as may from time to time be separately agreed upon
among the Borrower and such Agents.

(c) Fees Non-Refundable. All fees set forth in this Section 2.8 shall be deemed to
have been earned on the date payment is due in accordance with the provisions hereof and shall be non-
refundable. The obligation of the Borrower to pay such fees in accordance with the provisions hereof
shal be binding upon the Borrower and shall inure to the benefit of the Administrative Agent and the
Banks regardless of whether any Loans are actually made.

Section 2.9. Maturity Date. All Loans (together with accrued interest thereon and all other
Obligations) shall be due and payable on the Maturity Date.

Section 2.10. Optiona Prepayments; Termination or Reduction of Commitments.

(a) The Borrower may, upon at least one (1) Business Day’ s notice to the
Administrative Agent (which notice shall be substantialy in the form of Exhibit | hereto), prepay any
Group of Base Rate L oans, in whole at any time, or from time to time in part in amounts aggregating
$1,000,000 or more, by paying the principal amount to be prepaid together with accrued interest thereon
to the date of prepayment. Each such optional prepayment shall be applied to prepay ratably the Loans of
the several Banks included in such Group of Loans or Borrowing.

(b) The Borrower may, upon at least three (3) Eurodollar Business Days' noticeto
the Administrative Agent, given no later than 12:00 Noon (New York City time) (which notice shall be
substantially in the form of Exhibit | hereto), prepay al, or from time to time in part in amounts
aggregating $5,000,000 or more, any Group of Eurodollar Loans as of the last day of the Interest Period
applicable thereto. Except as provided in Article VIII, the Borrower may not prepay all or any portion of
the principal amount of any Eurodollar Loan prior to the end of the Interest Period applicable thereto
unless the Borrower shall aso pay any applicable expenses pursuant to Section 2.14. Any such
prepayment notice shall be given on or prior to the third (3) Eurodollar Business Day prior to, but
excluding, the date of prepayment to the Administrative Agent. Each such optional prepayment shall be
applied to prepay ratably the Loans of the Banksinduded in any Group of Eurodollar Loans.

(c) Any amount of Revolving Loans so prepaid pursuant to Section 2.10(a) or (b)
may be reborrowed during the Revolving Commitment Period subject to the terms of this Agreement.
Any amounts of Term Loans so prepaid pursuant to Section 2.10(a) or (b) may not be borrowed or
reborrowed and the amount of each such prepayment of Term Loans shall be gpplied to reduce the then
remaining installments of Term Loans described in Section 2.2(d) in direct order of maturity. Each
prepayment of the Loans under this Section 2.10 shall be accompanied by accrued and unpaid interest
thereon to the date of such prepayment on the amount so prepaid.

(d) The Borrower shal have the right, upon not less than three (3) Business Days
notice to the Administrative Agent, to terminate the Commitments or, from time to time, to reduce the
amount of the Commitments; provided that no such termination or reduction of Commitments shal be
permitted if, after giving effect thereto and to any prepayments of the Revolving L oans made on the
effective date thereof, the Totd Revolving Loan would exceed the lesser of the Total Commitments and
the Borrowing Base. Any such reduction shall bein an amount equa to $5,000,000, or a whole multiple
thereof, and shal reduce permanently the Commitments then in effect.

Section 2.11.  Mandatory Prepayments of L oans.
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(a) In the event and on such occasion (whether upan delivery of a Borrowing Base
Certificate pursuant to Section 5.1(i), a Monthly Certificate pursuant to Section 5.1(j) or a BPO pursuant
to Section 5.1(k) or any other circumstance) that (i) the Tota Revolving Loans exceed the Total
Commitments or (ii) the aggregate principal amount of the L oans exceed the Borrowing Base, the
Borrower shall within 30 days after such occasion prepay the Loans in an aggregate amount egua to such
excess or cause one or more additiona Eligible Credit Tenant Lease Assets or Eligible Loan Assetsto
become Covered Assets in accordance with Section 2.18.

(b) Any prepayment of Loans pursuant to this Section 2.11 shall be made upon
notice (which shal beirrevocabl e unless otherwise agreed by the Administrative Agent) delivered to the
Administrative Agent no later than 12:00 Noon (New Y ork City time), three (3) Eurodollar Business
Days prior thereto, in the case of Eurodollar Loans, and no later than 12:00 Noon (New Y ork City time),
one (1) Business Day prior thereto, in the case of Base Loans, which notice shdl specify the date and
amount of prepayment and whether the prepayment is of Eurodollar Loans or Base Rate L oans; provided,
that if a Eurodollar Loan is prepaid on any day other than the last day of the Interest Period applicable
thereto, the Borrower shall aso pay any amounts owing pursuant to Section 2.14. Upon receipt of any
such notice the Administrative Agent shall promptly notify each Bank thereof. If any such noticeis
given, the amount specified in such notice shall be due and payabl e on the date specified therein. The
application of any mandatory prepayment pursuant to this Section 2.11 shall be made, first, to Base Rate
L oans, and second, to Eurodollar Loans. Each prepayment of the Loans under this Section 2.11 shall be
accompanied by accrued and unpaid interest thereon to the date of such prepayment on the amount so

prepaid.
Section2.12.  General Provisions as to Payments.

(a) The Borrower shall make each payment of the principa of and interest on the
Loans and fees hereunder, without set-off or counterclaim, by initiating a wire transfer not later than
12:00 Noon (New Y ork City time) on the date when due, of Federal funds immediately availablein New
York, New Y ork, to the Administrative Agent at its address referred to in Section 9.1, it being understood
that written or facsimile notice by the Borrower to the Administrative Agent to make a payment from the
funds in the Borrower's account maintained at the Administrative Agent shall constitute the making of
such payment to the extent of such funds held in such account. The Administrative Agent will promptly
(and in any event within one (1) Business Day after receipt thereof) distribute to each Bank its ratable
share in accordance with the amount of such Bank's relevant outstanding L oans, of each such payment
received by the Administrative Agent for the account of the Banks. If and to the extent that the
Administrative Agent shall receive any such payment for the account of the Banks on or before 11:00
a.m. (New Y ork City time) on any Business Day (or Eurodollar Business Day, as epplicable), and the
Administrative Agent shall not have distributed to any Bank its applicable share of such payment on such
day, the Administrative Agent shall distribute such amount to such Bank together with interest thereon,
for each day from the date such amount should have been distributed to such Bank until the date the
Administrative Agent distributes such amount to such Bank, at the Federa Funds Rate. Whenever any
payment of principa of, or interest on the Base Rate L oans or of fees shall be due on aday whichisnot a
Business Day, the date for payment thereof shall be extended to the next succeeding Business Day.
Whenever any payment of principal of, or interest on, the Eurodollar Loans shall be due on aday which is
not a Eurodollar Business Day, the date for payment thereof shall be extended to the next succeeding
Eurodollar Business Day unless such Eurodollar Business Day falls in another calendar month, in which
case the date for payment thereof shall be the immediately preceding Eurodollar Business Day. If the
date for any payment of principa is extended by operation of |aw or otherwise, interest thereon shall be
payable for such extended time.
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(b) Unless the Administrative Agent shall have received notice from the Borrower
prior to the date on which any payment is due to the Banks hereunder that the Borrower will not make
such payment in full, the Administrative Agent may assume that the Borrower has made such payment in
full to the Administrative Agent on such date and the Administrative Agent may, in reliance upon such
assumption, cause to be distributed to each Bank on such due date an amount equal to the amount then
due such Bank. If and to the extent that the Borrower shall not have so made such payment, each Bank
shall repay to the Administrative Agent forthwith on demand such amount distributed to such Bank
together with interest thereon, for each day from the date such amount is distributed to such Bank until
the date such Bank repays such amount to the Administrative Agent, at the Federal Funds Rate.

Section 2.13.  [Reserved].

Section 2.14.  Funding Losses. If the Borrower makes any payment of principal with respect to
any Eurodollar Loan (pursuant to Artide |1, Article VI or Article V11 or otherwise) on any day other than
the last day of the Interest Period applicable thereto, or if the Borrower fails to borrow any Eurodollar
L oans after notice has been given to any Bank in accordance with Section 2.4(a), or if the Borrower shall
deliver aNotice of Interest Rate Election specifying that a Eurodollar Loan shal be converted on a date
other than the first (1) day of the then current Interest Period applicable thereto, the Borrower shall
reimburse each Bank within 15 days after certification by such Bank of such loss or expense (which shall
be ddivered by each such Bank to the Administrative Agent for delivery to the Borrower) for any
resulting loss (based on interest only, exclusive of fees, if any) or expenseincurred by it (or by an existing
Participant in the related Loan), including, without limitation, any loss incurred in obtaining, liquidating
or employing deposits from third parties, but excluding loss of margin for the period after any such
payment or failure to borrow, provided that such Bank shall have delivered to the Administrative Agent
and the Administrative Agent shall have delivered to the Borrower a certification as to the amount of such
loss or expense, which certification shall set forth in reasonable detail the basis for and caculation of such
loss or expense and shal be conclusive in the absence of demonstrable error.

Section 2.15.  Computation of Interest and Fees. With respect to Base Rate L oans, the rate of
interest on which is cd cul ated based on the Prime Rate hereunder, interest thereon shall be computed on
the basis of a year of 365 days (or 366 days in alegp year) and paid for the actua number of days €l apsed
(incdluding thefirst day but excluding the last day). All other interest and fees shall be computed on the
basis of a year of 360 days and paid for the actual number of days eapsed (including the first day but
excluding the last day).

Section 2.16.  Use of Proceeds. The Borrower shall use the proceeds of the Loans for genera
corporate purposes, induding without limitation, the repayment of the Borrower’s debt obligations, the
acquisition of assets and to fund capital expenditures and general working capita needs of the Borrower,
in each case, in accordance with and subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement.

Section 2.17. Reserved.

Section 2.18. Coallateral and Covered Assets.

(a) The Obligations shall, at dl times, be secured by a perfected first priority security
interest in the Collateral. The Covered Assets and the equity interestsissued by Covered Subsidiaries,
shall, a al times, be free and clear of dl Liens except Liens permitted under Section 5.15.

(b) On the Closing Date, the Covered Assets shdl consist of the assets listed on the

Collatera and Covered Asset List delivered to the Administrative Agent pursuant to Section 3.1(r).
Thereafter, the Borrower may add assets as Covered Assets and Borrowing Base Assets, subject to the
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limitations described in this Agreement, and withdraw or substitute (and the Administrative Agent shdll
be authorized to rel ease liens thereon) any Covered Asset so long as (1) no Payment Default or Event of
Default shall have occurred and be continuing, (11) the Facility Collateral Coverage Ratio as of the date of
such proposed withdrawal or substitution is greater than 1.90 to 1.00, in the case of both clauses (1) and
(1), after giving pro forma effect to such proposed withdrawa or substitution, (I11) the inclusion of any
new asset as a Covered Asset would not conflict with any of the terms of the debt documents governing
any of the Borrower’ s material Indebtedness, and an officer of the Borrower shall certify as to the absence
of any such conflict prior to or substantially contemporaneously with such inclusion, (IV) the Borrower
shall have complied with Section 5.1(n), after giving effect thereto, (i) the Total Revolving Loans shall
not exceed the lesser of (x) the Total Commitments and (y) the Borrowing Base asreflected in a
Borrowing Base Certificate delivered on such date of inclusion which shall reflect the adjustments
required pursuant to clause (vii) of the definition of Designated Valuation Amount and (V) the
representations and warranties of the Covered Parties contained in the L oan Documents shall be true and
correct in al materia respects (or if qualified by “materidity,” “ materia adverse effect” or similar
language, in al respects (after giving effect to such qualification)) on and as of the date of such addition,
withdrawa or substitution after giving effect thereto.

(c) An asset previously withdrawn as a Covered Asset pursuant to the terms hereof
may be subseguently redesignated as a Covered Asset and a Borrowing Base Asset provided it satisfies
the criteria described in this Agreement and subject to delivery of a BPO with respect to such asset in
accordance with Section 5.1(k)(ii). The Borrower may al so withdraw an asset as a Covered Asset (and
the Administrative Agent shall be authorized to release liens thereon) at any timeif the Borrowing Base
Vaue of such asset is zero. Other than as set forth in this Section 2.18(b), an asset may not be withdrawn
as a Covered Asset and the Covered Subsidiaries shall at al times own the Covered Assets. Such
withdrawa, and where appropriate release of lien, shal be effected in accordance with Section 9.17 and
the Collatera Documents.

(d) With respect to any addition of a Covered Asset, the Borrower shall promptly
(i) execute and ddliver to the Administrative Agent such amendments to the Security Agreement as the
Administrative Agent deems necessary or advisable to grant to the Administrative Agent, for the benefit
of the Banks, a perfected first priority security interest in the Capital Stock of the Subsidiary that owns
such Covered Asset, (ii) deliver to the Administrative Agent (A) the certificates representing such Capital
Stock, together with undated stock powers, in blank, executed and delivered by a duly authorized officer
of such Subsidiary, and (B) the documents described in Section 3.1(g) as to such Subsidiary, (iii) cause
such Subsidiary (A) to execute and deliver to the Administrative Agent an Acknowledgment and Consent
in the form attached to the Security Agreement, (B) to become a party to the Negative Pledge Agresment,
(C) to become party to the Affiliate Subordination Agreement, and (D) to take such actions necessary or
advisable to grant to the Administrative Agent for the benefit of the Banks a perfected first priority
security interest in the Collateral with regpect to such new Subsidiary, including the filing of Uniform
Commercid Code financing statements in such jurisdictions as may be required by the Security
Agreement or by law or as may be requested by the Administrative Agent, (iv) satisfy the condition
described in Section 3.1(j) as to such Subsidiary, (v) if requested by the Administrative Agent, deliver to
the Administrative Agent legal opinions relating to the matters described above, which opinions shall be
in form and substance, and from counsel, reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent and (vi) if
such Covered Asset isaLoan Asset and if the Look-Through LTV for such Loan Asset is less than or
equal to 45%, ddliver to the Administrative Agent the Investment Memo for such Loan Asset.

(e) If at any time, there are less than ten (10) Borrowing Base Assets, the Borrower

shall within 30 days after such occasion prepay the Loans to zero or cause one or more additional Eligible
Credit Tenant Lease Assets or Eligible Loan Assets to become Covered Assets (and Borrowing Base
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Assets) in accordance with this Section 2.18 and no Loans shall be made, and the Borrower shall not
request any Loans, until such time as there are ten (10) or more Borrowing Base Assets.

Section 2.19.  Defaulting Bank. Notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement to the
contrary, if any Bank becomes a Defaulting Bank, then the foll owing provisions shall goply for so long as
such Bank is a Defaulting Bank:

(a) fees shall cease to accrue on the unfunded portion of the Revol ving Commitment
of such Defaulting Bank pursuant to Section 2.8(a);

(b) the Commitment and Loans of such Defaulting Bank shall not beincluded in
determining whether the Reguired Banks or Super Majority Banks have taken or may take any action
hereunder (including any consent to any amendment, waiver or other modification pursuant to Section
9.5); provided, that this clause (b) shall not apply to the vote of a Defaulting Bank in the case of an
amendment, waiver or other modification requiring the consent of such Bank or each Bank affected
thereby;

(c) the Borrower may, at its sole expense and effort, upon notice to such Defaulting
Bank and the Administrative Agent, require such Defaulting Bank to assign and delegate, without
recourse (in accordance with and subject to the restrictions contained in Section 9.6), dl its Available
Commitments under this Agreement to an assignee that shall assume such obligations (which assignee
may be another Bank, if a Bank accepts such assignment); provided that the Borrower shall have received
the prior written consent of the Administrative Agent, which consent shall not unreasonably be withheld;
provided further that nothing contained in this clause (c) shall affect the obligations due to such
Defaulting Bank; and

(d) the Administrative Agent may, in its sole discretion (notwithstanding any
contrary provision of this Agreement), apply any amounts thereafter received by it from any Covered
Party for the account of such Defaulting Bank to satisfy such Defaulting Bank’ s obligations hereunder
until dl such unsatisfied obligations are fully paid.

In the event that the Administrative Agent and the Borrower each agrees that a Defaulting
Bank has adequately remedied all matters that caused such Bank to be a Defaulting Bank, then on such
date such Bank shall purchase at par such of the Loans of the other Banks as the Administrative Agent
shall determine may be necessary in order for such Bank to hold such Loans in accordance with its Pro
Rata Share.

ARTICLE Il
CONDITIONS
Section3.1.  Clesing. The Closing Date shall occur on the date when each of the following
conditions is satisfied (or waived in writing by the Administrative Agent and the Banks), each document
to be dated the Closing Date unless otherwise indicated:
(a) the Borrower as of the Closing Date shall have executed and delivered to the
Administrative Agent a Note or Notes for the account of each Bank requesting the same dated the Closing
Date and complying with the provisions of Section 2.5;
(b) the Borrower, the Administrative Agent and each of the Banks shall have
executed and delivered to the Administrative Agent a duly executed original of this Agreement;
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(c) the Borrower shall have executed and delivered to the Administrative Agent a
duly executed original of the Security Agreement and each other Collateral Document and each issuer of
equity interests pledged pursuant to the Security Agreement shall have executed and delivered to the
Administrative Agent an Acknowledgment and Consent in the form attached to the Security Agreement;

(d) the Administrative Agent shall have received a duly executed Affiliate
Subordination Agreement, duly executed by the Covered Parties;

(e) the Administrative Agent shall have received any certificates representing
Pledged Stock described in the Security Agreement and required to be delivered thereunder as of the
Closing Date and gppropriate transfer documents with respect to any such certificates included in the
Collaterd as of the Closing Date, signed in blank by the Borrower or the other owner thereof and, each
document (including, without limitation, any Uniform Commercial Code financing statement to befiled
in the jurisdiction of organization of the Borrower) required by the Security Agreement or under law or
reasonably requested by the Administrative Agent to be filed, registered, recorded or delivered in order to
create or perfect the Liens intended to be created under the Security Agreement shall have been delivered
to the Administrative Agent in proper form for filing, registration or recordation (if applicable);

() the Administrative Agent shall have received opinions of (i) Clifford Chance US
LLP, specia counsd for the Borrower, (ii) Geoffrey Dugan, Esg., in-house counsd for the Borrower, and
(iii) Venable LLP, speciad Maryland counsel to the Borrower, each acceptable to the Administrative
Agent, the Banks and their counse!;

(Q) the Administrative Agent shal have received all documents the Administrative
Agent may reasonably request relating to the existence of the Borrower and each other Covered Party as
of the Closing Date, the authority for and the vaidity of this Agreement and the other Loan Documents,
the incumbency of officers executing this Agresment and the other Loan Documents and any other
matters relevant hereto, dl in form and substance satisfactory to the Administrative Agent. Such
documentation shall include, without limitation, the articles of incorporation, certificate of formation or
similar organizational document of each such entity, as amended, modified or supplemented on or prior to
the Closing Date, certified to be true, correct and complete by a senior officer of such entity as of the
Closing Date, together with a good standing certificate as to each such entity from the Secretary of State
(or the equivalent thereof) of its jurisdiction of organization, to be dated as of a date within ten Business
Days from the Closing Date. Any such organizational documents of each Covered Subsidiary shall
provide for, and require that there at all times be, a specia director or member whose consent would be
required for a bankruptey filing by such Covered Subsidiary or for the transfer of any equity interests
therein (other than the sale of such equity interests in a transaction permitted under the L oan Documents)
and shall otherwise be satisfactory to the Administrative Agent;

(h) the Borrower shall have executed a solvency certificate reasonably acceptable to
the Administrative Agent;

(i) the Administrative Agent shal have received all certificates, agreements and
other documents and papers referred to in this Section 3.1 and the Notice of Borrowing referred to in
Section 2.3, unless otherwise specified, in sufficient counterparts, satisfactory in form and substance to
the Administrative Agent in its reasonable discretion;

() each Covered Party shall have taken all actions reguired to authorize the
execution and ddlivery of (i) in the case of the Borrower, this Agreement and (ii) in the case of the
Borrower and each other Covered Party, any other Loan Document to which it is a party and the
performance thereof by the Borrower or such other Covered Party, as gpplicable;
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(k) the Banks shall be satisfied that the Borrower is not subject to any present or
contingent Environmenta Claim which, if adversdly determined, would reasonably be expected to have a
Material Adverse Effect on the Borrower, and the Borrower shall have delivered to the Administrative
Agent a certificate of a senior officer of the Borrower so stating;

(1 (i) the Administrative Agent shall have received, on or before the Closing Date,
(x) for its and any other Bank's account, (A) al accrued and unpaid fees as of the Closing Date pursuant
to Section 2.8 of the Existing Credit Agreement and (B) al fees due and payable pursuant to Section 2.8
on or before the Closing Date and (y) all other fees required to be paid and al expenses for which
invoices have been presented and (ii) the reasonable and documented fees and expenses accrued through
the Closing Date of Simpson Thacher & Bartlett LLP shall have been paid to Simpson Thacher & Bartlett
LLP;

(m) the Borrower shall have delivered copies of all consents, licenses and approvals
(subject to Section 4.3), if any, required in connection with the execution, ddivery and performance by
the Borrower or any other Covered Party, or the vaidity and enforceability, of the Loan Documents, or in
connection with any of the transactions contempl ated thereby, and such consents, licenses and gpprovas
shall bein full force and effect;

(n) no Default or Event of Default shdl have occurred and be continuing before or
immediately after giving effect to the transactions contempl ated hereby;

(0) the Administrative Agent shall have received (x) the Collatera and Covered
Assets List, which shall bein form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent and
(y) aBorrowing Base Certificate, dated as of the Closing Date and duly executed by afinancial officer of
the Borrower, reflecting a Borrowing Base as of the Closing Date of not less than $350,000,000;

(p) the Borrower shall have delivered Projections which shdl include (x) the
Borrower' s projected sources and uses of cash (and the timing thereof) through a date that is on or after
the Term Loan Maturity Date and (y) that such sources are at al times sufficient for such uses;

(q) the representations and warranties of the Covered Parties contained in the Loan
Documents shall be true and correct in al material respects (or if qudified by “ materiaity,” “materid
adverse effect” or similar language, in al respects (after giving effect to such quaification)) on and as of
the Closing Date both before and after giving effect to the transactions contempl ated hereby;

(r) the Administrative Agent shall have received the results of arecent Lien search
with respect to the Borrower and each other Covered Party and such search shall reveal no Liens on any
of the Covered Assets or the Collatera except for Liens permitted by Section 5.15 and the Negative
Pledge Agreement or discharged on or prior to the Closing Date pursuant to documentation satisfactory to
the Administrative Agent; and

(s) any Bank that so reasonably requests (in writing) at least two Business Days
prior to the Closing Date shall have received, through the Administrative Agent, dl U.S.A. PATRIOT
Act information required under Section 9.15.

Section 3.2.  Borrowings. The obligation of any Bank to make a Revolving Loan is subject to
the following conditions:

(a) after giving effect to such Borrowing on the gpplicable Borrowing Date, (i) the
Tota Revolving Loans shall not exceed the lesser of (x) the Totd Commitments and (y) the Borrowing
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Base as reflected in a Borrowing Base Certificate delivered on such Borrowing Date which shall reflect
the adj ustments required pursuant to clause (vii) of the definition of Designated Va uation Amount;

(b) receipt by the Administrative Agent of a Notice of Borrowing as required by
Section 2.3(a);

(c) there shall be not less than ten (10) Borrowing Base Assets;

(d) the representations and warranties of the Covered Parties contained in the Loan
Documents shall betrue and correct in al material respects (or if qudified by “ materidity,” “materid
adverse effect” or similar language, in all respects (after giving effect to such qudification)) on and as of
the date of such Borrowing both before and after giving effect to the making of such Revolving Loans;
and

(e) no Default or Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing before or
immediately after giving effect to the making of such Revolving Loans.

Each Borrowing by the Borrower hereunder shall constitute a representation and warranty by the
Borrower as of the date of such Borrowing that the conditions contained in this Section 3.2 have been
satisfied.

Section 3.3.  Conditions to Conversion into Term Loan. The obligation of the Banks to
convert the Revolving Loans into Term Loans and to extend the Maturity Date from the Revolving
Termination Date to the Term Loan Maturity Date is subject to the following conditions:

(a) receipt by the Administrative Agent of a Conversion Notice as required by
Section 2.3(a);

(b) the representations and warranties of the Covered Parties contained in the Loan
Documents shall be true and correct in al material respects (or if quaified by “ materiadity,” “materia
adverse effect” or similar language, in dl respects (after giving effect to such qudification)) on and as of
the date of such conversion both before and after giving effect to the conversion of such Revolving Loans
and extension of maturity;

(c) no Default or Event of Default shal have occurred and be continuing before or
immediately after giving effect to the conversion of such Revolving L oans and extension of maturity; and

(d) after giving effect to such conversion of the Revolving Loans and the extension
of maturity, the aggregate principal amount of the Term Loans shall not exceed the Borrowing Base as
reflected in a Borrowing Base Certificate delivered on such date which shall reflect the adjustments
required pursuant to clause (vii) of the definition of Designated Va uation Amount.

ARTICLE IV

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES

In order to induce the Administrative Agent and each of the other Banks whichis or may
become a party to this Agreement to make the Revolving Loans and to convert the Revalving Loans into
Term Loans, the Borrower makes the following representations and warranties as of the Closing Date, as
of each Borrowing and, if applicable, as of the conversion of the Revolving Loansinto Term Loans. Such
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representations and warranties shdl survive the effectiveness of this Agreement, the execution and
delivery of the other Loan Documents and the making of the Loans.

Section4.1.  Existence and Power. Each of the Borrower and each other Covered Party isa
corporation, limited liability company or limited partnership, as gpplicable, duly organized or
incorporated, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of thejurisdiction of its organization or
incorporation and has al powers and al material governmental licenses, authorizations, consents and
approvals required to own its property and assets and carry on its business as now conducted or as it
presently proposes to conduct and has been duly qualified and isin good standing in every jurisdiction in
which the failure to be so qualified and/or in good standing is likely to have a Material Adverse Effect.

Section4.2,  Power and Authority; Enforceable Obligation. Each of the Borrower and each
other Covered Party has the requisite power and authority to execute, deliver and carry out the terms and
pravisions of each of the Loan Documents to which it is a party and has taken all necessary action, if any,
to authorize the execution and delivery on its behalf and its performance of the Loan Documents to which
it isaparty. Each of the Borrower and each other Covered Party has duly executed and delivered each
L oan Document to which it is aparty in accordance with the terms of this Agreement, and each such Loan
Document constitutes (or, upon execution and delivery thereof, will constitute) itslegal, valid and binding
obligation, enforceable in accordance with the terms thereof, except as enforceability may be limited by
applicableinsal vency, bankruptcy or other similar laws affecting creditors rights generally, or generd
principles of equity, whether such enforceability is considered in aproceeding in equity or at law.

Section4.3.  NoViolation. Neither the execution, delivery or performance by or on behalf of
any Covered Party of the Loan Documents to which it is a party, nor compliance by any such Covered
Party with the terms and provisions thereof nor the consummation of the transactions contemplated by
such Loan Documents, (i) will contravene any applicable provision of any |aw, statute, rule, regulation,
order, writ, injunction or decree of any court or governmental instrumentality, (ii) will conflict with or
result in any breach of any of the terms, covenants, conditions or provisions of, or constitute a default
under, or result in the creation or imposition of (or the obligation to create or impose) any Lien (other than
Liens created under the Callateral Documents) upon any of the property or assets of the Borrower or any
of its Consolidated Subsidiaries pursuant to the terms of, any |oan agreement, indenture, mortgage, deed
of trust, or other agreement or other instrument to which the Borrower (or any partnership of which the
Borrower is a partner) or any of its Consolidated Subsidiaries is a party or by which it or any of its
property or assetsis bound or to which it is subject, or (iii) will cause a default by any Covered Party
under any organizationa document of any Person in which such Covered Party has an interest, or cause a
materia default under such Person’s agreement or certificate of limited partnership, the consequences of
which conflict, contravention, breach or default under the foregoing clauses (i), (ii) or (iii) would (x) have
aMateria Adverse Effect (provided, however, that for purposes of determining whether the consequences
of aconflict, contravention, breach or default under clause (ii) of this Section 4.3 would have aMaterid
Adverse Effect, clause (ii) of the definition of theterm “Materia Adverse Effect” shall be modified to
read as follows: “(ii) the ability of the Administrative Agent or the Banks to enforce the Loan Documents
in amanner that materidly and adversely affects the rights of the Administrative Agent or the Banks
thereunder”), or (y) result in or require the creation or imposition of any Lien whatsoever upon any
Collaterd (except as contemplated herein).

Section 4.4, Financia Information.

(a) The consolidated financid statements of the Borrower and its Consolidated
Subsidiaries as of December 31, 2018, and for the Fiscal Y ear then ended, reported on by
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP fairly presents, in conformity with GAAP, the consolidated financia
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position of the Borrower and its Consolidated Subsidiaries as of such date and the consolidated results of
operations and cash flows for such Fiscal Year.

(b) The unaudited consolidated bal ance sheet of the Borrower and its Consolidated
Subsidiaries as at each of March 31, 2019 and June 30, 2019, and the related unaudited consolidated
statements of income and cash flows for the three-month and six-month periods ended on such dates,
present fairly the consolidated financia condition of the Borrower and its Consolidated Subsidiaries as at
such date, and the consolidated results of its operations and its consolidated cash flows for the three-
month and six-month periods then ended (subject to normal year-end audit adjustments).

(c) All such financial statements described above, including the related schedules
and notes thereto, have been prepared in accordance with GAAP applied consistently throughout the
periods involved (except as approved by the aforementioned firm of accountants and disclosed therein).

(d) Since December 31, 2018, (i) nothing has occurred having a Materid Adverse
Effect, (ii) except (x) as set forth on Schedule 4.4(d) or in connection with the capitdization plans
disclosed to the Agents and (y) for the incurrence of Loans hereunder on the Closing Date, the Borrower
has not incurred any material Indebtedness or guaranteed any materia Indebtedness on or before the
Closing Date and (iii ) except as set forth in Schedule 4.4(d) or in connection with the cepitdization plans
disclosed to the Agents, the Borrower will not have incurred any materia Indebtedness or guaranteed any
material Indebtedness on or before the Closing Date.

(e) Schedule 4.4(d) sets forth the Indebtedness for borrowed money of each Covered
Subsidiary outstanding on and as of the Closing Date.

(f) No Covered Subsidiary has incurred any Indebtedness or guaranteed any
Indebtedness other than Non-Recourse Indebtedness in respect of the Excluded Assets and Indebtedness
permitted by Section 5.14.

Section4.5.  Litigation. Thereisno action, suit or proceeding pending against, or to the
knowledge of the Borrower threatened against or affecting, (i) the Borrower or any of its Consolidated
Subsidiaries, (ii) the Loan Documents or any of the transacti ons contemplated by the Loan Documents or
(iii} any of the assets of the Borrower or any of its Consolidated Subsidiaries, before any court or
arbitrator or any governmenta body, agency or officia in which there is a reasonabl e possibility of an
adverse decision which could, individually, or in the aggregate have a Material Adverse Effect or which
in any manner draws into question the vaidity of this Agreement or the other Loan Documents.

Section4.6.  Compliance with ERISA. (a) Except as set forth on Schedule 4.6(a) attached
hereto, neither the ERISA Group nor any other Covered Party is a member of or has entered into,
maintained, contributed to, or been required to contribute to, or may incur any liability with respect to any
Plan or Multiemployer Plan. Except as could not be reasonably expected to have a Materid Adverse
Effect individually or in the aggregate (i) there has been no filing pursuant to Section 412 of the Code or
Section 302 of ERISA of an gpplication for awaiver of the minimum funding standards with respect to
any Plan; (ii) there has been no failure to make by its due date any required installment under Section
430(j) of the Code with respect to any Plan nor a failure by the Borrower nor any member of the ERISA
Group to make any required contribution to a Multiemployer Plan; (iii) there has been no determination
that any Plan isor is expected tobe in “at risk” status (within the meaning of Section 430 of the Code or
Section 303 of ERISA); (iv) the present value of all accrued benefits under each Plan (determined based
on the assumptions used by such Plans pursuant to Section 430(h) of the Code) did not, as of the last
annua valuation date prior to the date on which this representation is made or deemed made, exceed by
more than an immaterial amount the value of the assets of such Plan (as determined pursuant to Section
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430(qg) of the Code) allocable to such accrued benefits, and the present value of dl accumul ated benefit
obligations of all underfunded Plans (based on the assumptions used for purposes of ASC Topic 715-30)
did not, as of the date of the most recent financial statements reflecting such amounts, exceed by more
than an immaterial amount the fair market value of the assets of all such underfunded Plans; (v) no
liability to the PBGC (other than required premium payments), the Internal Revenue Service, any Plan or
any trust established under Title IV of ERISA has been or is expected to be incurred by any member of
the ERISA Group other than in the ordinary course; and (vi) no Termination Event has occurred or is
reasonably expected to occur. The Borrower and its Subsidiaries have no contingent liabilities with
respect to any post retirement benefits under a Welfare Plan, other than liability for continuation coverage
described in article 6 of Title 1 of ERISA, and except as would not be reasonably expected to have a
Material Adverse Effect. In the event that at any time after the Closing Date, the Borrower or any other
Covered Party shall sponsor or contribute to any other materia Plan or Multiemployer Plan, the Borrower
promptly shall notify the Administrative Agent thereof (and from and after such notice, Schedule 4.6(a)
shall be deemed modified thereby).

(b) No assets of the Borrower or any other Covered Party constitute “ assets” (within
the meaning of ERISA or Section 4975 of the Code, including, but not limited to, 29 C.F.R. § 2510.3-101
or any successor regulation thereto) of an “employee benefit plan” within the meaning of Section 3(3) of
ERISA that is subject to Title | of ERISA or a“plan” within the meaning of, and subject to, Section
4975(e)(1) of the Code. In addition to the prohibitions set forth in this Agreement and the other Loan
Documents, and not in limitation thereof, the Borrower covenants and agrees that the Borrower shall not,
and shall not permit any other Covered Party to, use any “assets” (within the meaning of ERISA or
Section 4975 of the Code, including but not limited to 29 C.F.R. § 2510.3101) of an “empl oyee benefit
plan” within the meaning of Section 3(3) of ERISA that is subject to Title | of ERISA or a“plan” within
the meaning of, and subject to, Section 4975(e)(1) of the Code to repay or secure the Note, the Loan, or
the Obligations.

Section4.7.  Environmental. (a) The Borrower conducts reviews of the effect of
Environmental Laws on the business, operations and properties of the Borrower and its Consolidated
Subsidiaries when necessary in the course of which it identifies and evaluates associated liabilities and
costs (including, without limitation, any capital or operating expenditures required for clean-up or closure
of properties presently owned, any capital or operating expenditures required to achieve or maintain
compliance with environmental protection standards imposed by law or as a condition of any license,
permit or contract, any related constraints on operating activities, and any actual or potential liabilities to
third parties, including, without limitation, empl oyees, and any related costs and expenses). On the basis
of this review, the Borrower has reasonably concluded that such associated liabilities and costs, including,
without limitation, the costs of compliance with Environmental Laws, are unlikely to have a Materia
Adverse Effect.

(b) Except as, in the aggregate, could not reasonably be expected to have aMateria
Adverse Effect: (i) neither the Borrower nor any other Covered Party has received any notice of violation,
aleged violation, non-compliance, liability or potentia liability regarding environmental matters or
compliance with Environmental Laws with regard to any of the facilities and properties owned, leased or
operated by the Borrower or any other Covered Party (the “ Properties” ) or the business operated by the
Borrower or any other Covered Party (the " Business”) that is not fully and finally resolved, (ii) to the
Borrower's actual knowledge, after due inquiry, nojudicial proceeding or governmental or administrative
action is pending or, to the Barrower' s actual knowledge, after due inquiry, threatened, under any
Environmental Law to which the Borrower or any other Covered Party is or will be named as a party with
respect to the Properties or the Business, nor are there any consent decrees or other decrees, consent
orders, administrative orders or other orders, or other administrative or judicia requirements outstanding
under any Environmental Law or relating to Materials of Environmenta Concern with respect to the
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Business; and (iii) to the Borrower’ s actua knowledge, the Properties and all operations at the Properties
arein compliance, and havein the |ast five years been in compliance, with all gpplicable Environmenta
Laws, and there are no Materials of Environmental Concern at, under or about the Properties or violation
of any Environmenta Law with respect to the Properties or the Business.

Section4.8.  Taxes. The Borrower and its Consolidated Subsidiaries havefiled all U.S.
federa income tax returns and all other material tax returns which are required to be filed by them and
have paid all taxes due pursuant to such returns or pursuant to any assessment recei ved by the Borrower,
or any Consolidated Subsidiary, except (i) such taxes, if any, as are being contested in good faith by
appropriate proceedings and are reserved against in accordance with GAAP or (ii) such tax returns or
such taxes, the failure to file when due or to make payment when due and payable will not have, in the
aggregate, a Materia Adverse Effect. The charges, accruas and reserves on the books of the Borrower
and its Consolidated Subsidiaries in respect of taxes or other governmental charges are, in the opinion of
the Borrower, adequate. No Tax lien (other than a Permitted Lien) has been filed, and, to the knowledge
of Borrower and its Consolidated Subsidiaries, no claim is being asserted, with respect to any such Tax,
fee or other charge.

Section4.9.  Full Disclosure. All information heretofore furnished by the Borrower or any
other Covered Party to the Administrative Agent or any Bank for purposes of or in connection with this
Agreement or any transaction contemplated hereby or thereby is, when taken as a whole, true and
accurate in al materia respects on the date as of which such information is stated or certified; provided
that, with respect to projected financia information, the Borrower represents and warrants only that such
information represents the Borrower’ s expectations regarding future performance, based upon historical
information and reasonable assumptions, it being understood, however, that actual results may differ from
the projected results described in the financid projections. The Borrower has disclosed to the Banksin
writing any and al facts which have or may have (to the extent the Borrower can now reasonably foresee)
aMateria Adverse Effect.

Section 4.10.  Solvency. (i) On the Closing Date and after giving effect to the transactions
contemplated hereby and by the other Loan Documents occurring on the Closing Date and (ii) on each
date that the Borrower provides additional Covered Assets or Collateral pursuant to Section 2.18 or
otherwise, the Borrower and each other Covered Party, taken as a whole, are Solvent.

Section4.11. Useof Proceeds. All proceeds of the Loans will be used by the Borrower only in
accordance with the provisions hereof, Neither the making of any Loan nor the use of the proceeds
thereof will violate or be inconsistent with the provisions of regulations T, U, or X of the Federd Reserve
Board.

Section4.12.  Governmenta Approvals. No order, consent, approval, license, authorization, or
validation of, or filing, recording or registration with, or exemption by, any governmental or public body
or authority, or any subdivision thereof, is required to authorize, or is required in connection with the
execution, delivery and performance by the Borrower or any other Covered Party of any Loan Document
towhich it is a party or the consummation of any of the transactions contemplated thereby other than
those that have already been duly made or obtained and remain in full force and effect or those which, if
not made or obtained, would not have a Material Adverse Effect.

Section4.13.  Investment Company Act. Neither the Borrower nor any other Covered Party is
(x) an “investment company” or a company “controlled” by an “investment company”, within the
meaning of the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended, or (y) subject to any other federd or state
law or regulation which purports to restrict or regulate its ability to borrow money.
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Section 4.14.  Principd Offices. As of the Closing Date, the principal office, chief executive
office and principa place of business of each Covered Party is 1114 Avenue of the Americas, New Y ork,
NY 10036.

Section 4.15. REIT Status. As of the date hereof, the Borrower is qualified as a REIT.

Section 4.16.  Intellectua Property. The Borrower and each other Covered Party has obtained
and holds in full force and effect all patents, trademarks, servicemarks, trade names, domain names,
copyrights and other intellectua property rights, free from burdensome restrictions, which are necessary
for the operation of its business as presently conducted, the impairment of whichislikely tohavea
Material Adverse Effect.

Section4.17. Judgments. As of the Closing Date, there are no fina, non-appeal able
judgments or decrees in an aggregate amount of $50,000,000 or more entered by a court or courts of
competent jurisdiction against the Borrower, any other Covered Party or any Consolidated Subsidiary or,
to the extent such judgment would be recourse to the Borrower, any other Covered Party or any
Consolidated Subsidiary, any other Person (other than, in each case, judgments as to which, and only to
the extent, a reputable insurance company has acknowledged coverage of such claim in writing or which
have been paid or stayed).

Section 4.18. No Default. No Event of Default or, to the best of the Borrower's knowledge,
Default exists under or with respect to any Loan Document and neither the Borrower nor any other
Covered Party isin default in any material respect beyond any gpplicable grace period under or with
respect to any other materid agreement, instrument or undertaking to which it is aparty or by which it or
any of its property isbound in any respect, the existence of which default islikely to result in aMaterid
Adverse Effect.

Section 4.19.  Licenses, eic. Each Covered Party has abtained and does hold in full force and
effect, dl franchises, licenses, permits, certificates, authorizations, qudifications, accreditation,
easements, rights of way and other consents and approvals which are necessary for the operation of its
businesses as presently conducted, the absence of which islikely to have a Materia Adverse Effect.

Section 4.20. Compliance with Law. To the Borrower’'s knowledge, each Covered Party and
each of its assets are in compliancein al respects with all laws, rules, regulations, orders, judgments,
writs and decrees, the failure to comply with which is likely to have a Material Adverse Effect.

Section4.21. No Burdensome Restrictions. Except as may have been disclosed by the
Borrower in writing to the Banks prior to the Closing Date or that would otherwise be permitted under the
L oan Documents, neither the Borrower nor any other Covered Party is a party to any agreement or
instrument or subject to any other obligation or any charter or corporate or partnership restriction, as the
case may be, which, individualy or in the aggregate, is likely to have a Material Adverse Effect.

Section4.22. Brokers' Fees. Neither the Borrower nor any other Covered Party has dealt with
any broker or finder with respect to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or otherwise in
connection with this Agresment, and neither the Borrower nor any other Covered Party has done any act,
had any negotiations or conversation, or made any agreements or promises which will in any way create
or giveriseto any obligation or liability for the payment by the Borrower or any other Covered Party of
any brokerage fee, charge, commission or other compensation to any party with respect to the transactions
contemplated by the Loan Documents, other than the fees payable to the Administrative Agent and the
Banks, and certain other Persons as previously disclosed to the Administrative Agent.




Section 4.23. Labor Matters. Except as disclosed on Schedule 4.6(a), there are no collective
bargaining agreements covering the employees of the Borrower or any other Covered Party, and neither
the Borrower nor any other Covered Party has suffered any material strikes, wakouts, work stoppages or
other material |abor difficulty within the |ast five years.

Section4.24. Insurance. Each of the Borrower and each other Covered Party currently
maintains 100% replacement cost insurance coverage (subject to customary deductibles) in respect of
each of its Real Property Assets, aswell as commercial generd liability insurance (including, without
limitation, “builders’ risk” where gpplicable) against claims for personal, and bodily injury and/or death,
to one or more persons, or property damage, as well asworkers' compensation insurance, in each case
with respect to liability and casualty insurance with insurers having an A.M. Best policyholders' rating of
not less than A-/V1I at the time of issuance or extension of any such coverage policy in amounts no less
than customarily carried by owners of properties similar to, and in the same |ocations as, the Covered
Parties' Real Property Assets; provided, however, that the foregoing A.M. Best policyholders' rating
requirement shall not be required for (a) such insurance as tenants of Credit Tenant Lease Assetsare
permitted or required pursuant to gpplicable leases to abtain or maintain and (b) liability and casudty
insurance policies issued after the Closing Date on Real Property Assets constituting not more than 5.0%
of al Real Property Assets owned by the Covered Parties with insurers having an A.M. Best
policyholders' rating of less than A-/V11, but not less than B++/V11.

Section 4.25.  Organizationd Documents. The documents delivered pursuant to Section 3.1(g)
constitute, as of the Closing Date, all of the organizational documents (together with al amendments and
modifications thereof) of the Borrower and each Covered Party. The Borrower represents that it has
delivered to the Administrative Agent true, correct and complete copies of each such document.

Section4.26. Unencumbered Assets. As of the Closing Date after giving effect to the
transactions contemplated hereby, the Borrower shal be in compliance with the covenants with respect to
the Borrower's maintenance of its unencumbered assets under the documentation governing its other
Indebtedness for borrowed money.

Section 4.27. Ownership of Property: Liens. The Borrower owns the Collateral purported to be
owned by it (and in the case of Credit Tenant Lease Assets, feetitle to the underlying real property in
respect thereof) and each other Covered Party directly and wholly owns the Covered Assets purported to
be owned by it, as applicable, in each case as sef forth in the Collaterd and Covered Asset List, except as
set forth on Schedule 4.27, and none of the Collatera or Covered Assetsis subject to any Lien except as
permitted by Section 5.15.

Section4.28. Covered Parties. (a) Schedule 4.28 sets forth the full legal name and jurisdiction
of incorporation or organization of each Covered Party and, as to each such Covered Subsidiary, the
percentage of each class of equity interests owned by the Borrower or any Covered Party and (b) there are
no outstanding subscriptions, options, warrants, calls, rights or other agreements or commitments (other
than, in respect of the Borrower only, stock options granted to employees or directors and directors
qualifying shares) of any nature relating to any equity interests of the Borrower or any other Covered
Party, except as permitted by the L oan Documents,

Section4.29.  Security Documents. The Security Agreement is effective to create in favor of
the Administrative Agent, for the benefit of the Agents and the Banks, alegal, valid and enforceable
security interest in the Collateral described therein and proceeds thereof. In the case of the Pledged Stock
described in the Security Agreement, when certificates representing such Pledged Stock, if any, are
delivered to the Administrative Agent, and in the case of the other Collatera described in the Security
Agresment, when financing statements and other filings specified on Schedule 4.29 in gppropriate form
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arefiled in the offices specified on Schedule 4.29, the Security Agreement shal constitute a fully
perfected Lien on, and security interest in, al right, title and interest of the Borrower in such Collatera
and the proceeds thereof, as security for the Obligations, in each case prior and superior in right to any
other Lien.

Section 4.30.  Anti-Corruption Laws and Sanctions. The Borrower has implemented and
maintains in effect policies and procedures designed to ensure compliance by the Borrower, its
Subsidiaries and their respective directors, officers, employees and agents with Anti-Corruption Laws and
gpplicable Sanctions, and the Borrower, its Subsidiaries and their respective officers and directors, and to
the knowledge of the Borrower its employees and agents, are in compliance with Anti-Corruption Laws
and applicable Sanctionsin al materia respects and are not knowingly engaged in any activity that would
reasonably be expected to result in the Borrower being designated as a Sanctioned Person. None of (a)
the Borrower, any Subsidiary or to the knowledge of the Borrower or such Subsidiary any of their
respective directors, officers or employees, or (b) to the knowledge of the Borrower, any agent of the
Borrower or any Subsidiary that will act in any capacity in connection with or benefit from the credit
facility established hereby, is a Sanctioned Person. No Loan, use of proceeds or other transaction
contemplated by this Agreement will violate any Anti-Corruption Law or gpplicable Sanctions.

Section4.31. EEA Financial Institutions. No Covered Party is an EEA Financid Institution.

ARTICLEV

AFFIRMATIVE AND NEGATIVE COVENANTS

The Borrower covenants and agrees that, so long as any of the Obligations remain
unpaid:

Section 5.1. Information. The Borrower shall deliver to the Administrative Agent and each of
the Banks (or post to Intralinks or another similar electronic system acceptable to the Administrative
Agent), provided such information is not otherwise publicly available:

(a) as soon as available and in any event within five (5) Business Days after the
same is required to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (but in no event later than 95
days after the end of each Fiscal Year of the Borrower) a consolidated balance sheet of the Borrower and
its Consolidated Subsidiaries as of the end of such Fiscal Year and the related consolidated statements of
operations and consolidated statements of cash flow for such Fiscal Y ear, setting forth in each casein
comparative form the figures for the previous Fiscal Year (if available), dl reported in a manner
acceptable to the Securities and Exchange Commission on the Borrower’s Form 10-K and reported on by
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP or other independent public accountants of nationally recognized standing;

(b) (i) as soon as available and in any event within five (5) Business Days after the
sameis required to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (but in no event later than 50
days after the end of each of the first three Fisca Quarters of each Fiscal Year of the Borrower), a
consalidated balance sheet of the Borrower and its Consolidated Subsidiaries as of the end of such Fiscal
Quarter and the related consolidated statements of operations and consolidated statements of cash flow for
such quarter and for the portion of the Borrower's Fiscal Y ear ended at the end of such Fiscal Quarter, all
reported in the form provided to the Securities and Exchange Commission on the Borrower' s Form 10-Q,
together with (ii) such other information reasonably requested by the Administrative Agent or any Bank;

(c) simultaneoudy with the delivery of each set of financia statements referred toin
clauses (a) and (b) above, (1) a certificate of afinancial officer of the Borrower (i) setting forth in
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reasonable detall the cd cul ations required to establish whether the Borrower was in compliance with the
requirements of Section 5.9 on the date of such financia statements, (ii) certifying (x) that such financial
statements fairly present the financia condition and the results of operations of the Borrower and its
Consolidated Subsidiaries on the dates and for the periods indicated, on the basis of GAAP, subject, in the
case of interim financia statements, to normally recurring year-end adjustments, and (y) that such officer
has reviewed the terms of the Loan Documents and has made, or caused to be made under his or her
supervision, areview in reasonable detail of the business and condition of the Borrower and its
Consolidated Subsidiaries during the period beginning on the date through which the last such review was
made pursuant to this Section 5.1(c) (or, in the case of the first certification pursuant to this Section

5.1(c), the Closing Date) and ending on a date not more than ten (10) Business Days prior to, but
excluding, the date of such delivery and that (1) on the basis of such financia statements and such review
of the Loan Documents, no Event of Default existed under Section 6.1(b) with respect to Section 5.9 at or
as of the date of such financid statements, and (2) on the basis of such review of the L oan Documents and
the business and condition of the Borrower and its Consolidated Subsidiaries, to the best knowledge of
such officer, as of the last day of the period covered by such certificate no Default or Event of Default
under any other provision of Section 6.1 occurred and is continuing or, if any such Default or Event of
Default has occurred and is continuing, specifying the nature and extent thereof and, the action the
Borrower proposes to take in respect thereof (and such certificate shall set forth the calculations required
to establish the matters described in clause (1) above) and (iii) setting forth the Total Corporate Leverage
Ratio as at the end of such period referred to in clauses (a) and (b) above and setting forth in reasonable
detail the calculations required to establish such Totad Corporate Leverage Ratio (it being understood that,
notwithstanding the proviso in the introductory paragraph of this Section 5.1, this clause (iii) may be
satisfied by the delivery of the Borrower’ s Earnings Presentation for such period to the extent the
Borrower continues to report the Total Corporate Leverage Ratio in the ordinary course therein) and

(1) updated Projections for the next successive four-quarter period;

(d) (i) within five (5) Business Days after any officer of any Covered Party obtains
knowledge of any Default or Event of Default, if such Default or Event of Default isthen continuing, a
certificate of the chief financia officer, or other executive officer of the Borrower, setting forth the details
thereof and the action which the Borrower is taking or proposes to take with respect thereto; and (ii)
promptly and in any event within five (5) Business Days after any Covered Party obtains knowledge
thereof, notice of (x) any litigation or governmenta proceeding pending or threatened against the
Borrower or any Consolidated Subsidiary or its directly or indirectly owned Red Property Assets asto
which there is areasonable possibility of an adverse determination and which, if adversely determined, is
likely to individually or in the aggregate, result in a Materid Adverse Effect, and (y) any other event, act
ar condition whichislikéy to result in a Materia Adverse Effect;

(e) promptly upon the mailing thereof to the shareholders of the Borrower generaly,
copies of al proxy statements or any other materias so mailed;

(f) promptly and in any event within thirty (30) days, if and when any member of the
ERISA Group (i) gives or isrequired to give notice to the PBGC of any “reportable event” (as defined in
Section 4043 of ERISA) with respect to any Plan which might constitute grounds for a termination of
such Plan under Title IV of ERISA, or knows that the plan administrator of any Plan hasgiven or is
required to give notice of any such reportable event, a copy of the notice of such reportable event given or
required to be given to the PBGC; (ii) receives notice of complete or partial withdrawal liability under
Title IV of ERISA or notice that any Multiemployer Plan is Insolvent or has been terminated, a copy of
such notice; (iii) receives notice from the PBGC under Title IV of ERISA of an intent to terminate,
impose liability (other than for premiums under Section 4007 of ERISA ) in respect of, or gppoint atrustee
to administer any Plan, a copy of such natice; (iv) applies for awaiver of the minimum funding standard
under Section 412 of the Code, a copy of such spplication; (v) gives notice of intent to terminate any Plan

.y 2




under Section 4041(c) of ERISA, a copy of such notice and other information filed with the PBGC; (vi)
gives notice of withdrawa from any Plan pursuant to Section 4063 of ERISA, a copy of such notice; or
(vii) fails to make any payment or contribution to any Plan or Multiemployer Plan or makes any
amendment to any Plan which has resulted or could result in the imposition of aLien or the posting of a
bond or other security, in each case to the extent any occurrence covered by any of clauses (i) through
(vii) above, would reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect. In the event noticeis
required pursuant to this Section 5.1(f), the Borrower shall provide a certificate of the chief financia
officer or the chief accounting officer of the Barrower setting forth details as to such occurrence and
action, if any, which the Borrower or applicable member of the ERISA Group is required or proposesto
take;

(g) promptly and in any event within ten (10) days after any Covered Party obtains
actua knowledge of any of the following events, a certificate of the Borrower, executed by an officer of
the Borrower, specifying the nature of such condition, and the Borrower's or, if the Borrower has actua
knowledge therecf, the Environmenta Affiliate's proposed initial response thereto: (i) the receipt by the
Borrower, or any of the Environmenta Affiliates of any communication (written or ord), whether from a
governmental authority, citizens group, employee or otherwise, that aleges that the Borrower, or any of
the Environmental Affiliates, is not in compliance with applicable Environmenta Laws, and such
noncompliance would reasonably be expected to have a Materid Adverse Effect, (ii) the existence of any
Environmental Claim pending against the Borrower or any Environmenta Affiliate and such
Environmenta Claim would reasonably be expected to have a Materia Adverse Effect or (iii) any release,
emission, discharge or disposa of any Materid of Environmenta Concern that would reasonably be
expected to form the basis of any Environmenta Claim against the Borrower or any Environmental
Affiliate or would reasonably be expected to interfere with the Borrower' s Business or the fair sdeable
value or use of any of its Properties, which in any such event would reasonably be expected to have a
Material Adverse Effect;

(h) promptly and in any event within five (5) Business Days after receipt of any
notices or correspondence from any company or agent for any company providing insurance coverage to
the Borrower or any other Covered Party relating to any loss which islikely to resultin a Material
Adverse Effect, copies of such notices and correspondence;

(i) as soon as available and in any event within fifteen (15) Business Days after the
end of each fiscal quarter, commencing with the first fiscal quarter following the Closing Date, a
Borrowing Base Certificate duly executed by afinancia officer of the Borrower setting forth in
reasonable detail the cd culation of the Borrowing Base as at the end of such quarter, together with
sufficient information to cal culate each of the limitations set forth in the definition of “Borrowing Base”
as at the end of such quarter and whether each such Borrowing Base Asset is categorized as construction,
hed thcare or hospitality, based upon the best available information at such time as certified by afinancid
officer of the Borrower;

() as soon as available and in any event (A) on or before the fifteenth day of each
caendar month in respect of theimmediately prior caendar month (other than amonth in which a
Borrowing Base Certificate is required to be delivered pursuant to Section 5.1(i)) a certificate from an
financia officer of the Borrower (a“Monthly Certificate” ) specifying (i) any adjustmentsin the
Borrowing Base VValue of any Borrowing Base Asset that is not reflected in the most recent Borrowing
Base Certificate, as aresult of (x) any principa payments actually paid or prepaid on account of any Loan
Assets (excluding any scheduled amortization payments actually paid) and (y) any Borrowing Base Asset
becoming a Non-Performing Loan Asset or a Non-Cash Flow Credit Tenant Lease Asset, (ii) the most
recent Tota Corparate Leverage Ratio delivered in accordance with Section 5.1(c)(1)(iii) and (iii) the
resulting aggregate amount of the Borrowing Base and (B) within three Business Days after obtaining
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knowledge thereof, notice of any event giving rise to the requirement of a prepayment, or addition of
Covered Assets, pursuant to Section 2.11;

(k) in the case of a Covered Asset that is a Credit Tenant Lease Asset, (i) as soon as
available and in any event within 90 days after the Closing Date, a BPO for such Covered Asset as of the
Closing Date, (ii) as soon as available and in any event within 90 days after an asset is added as a Covered
Asset after the Closing Date, a BPO for such Covered Asset (including delivering a BPO with respect to
an asset that was previously withdrawn as a Covered Asset but is now added back), (iii) as soon as
available and in any event within 90 days after such Covered Asset has a write-down in Book Value that
results in such Book Vaue being less than 80% of the Book Vaue for such Covered Asset as of the later
of (x) the date such asset became a Covered Asset and (y) the date of delivery of the most recent BPO
with respect to such Covered Asset, a new BPO for such Covered Asset and (iv) at any time at the
Borrower' s request, deliver an updated BPO for such Covered Asset;

(N from time to time such additional information regarding any of the Collateral,
Covered Assets or the financial condition or operations or investments of the Borrower and its
Subsidiaries, in each case, as the Administrative Agent, at the request of any Bank, may reasonably
request in writing, so long as disclosure of such information could not result in a violation of, or expose
the Borrower or its Subsidiaries to any materia liability under, any applicable law, statute, ordinance or
regulation or any agreements with unaffiliated third parties that are binding on the Borrower or any of its
Subsidiaries or on any Property of any of them;

(m)  promptly and in any event within ten (10) days after the Borrower obtains actual
knowledge that it hasfailed to qualify as a REIT under the gpplicable provisions of the Code; and

(n) at the time the Borrower adds, withdraws or substitutes a Covered Asset or
Collaterd pursuant to Section 2.18, arevised Collateral and Covered Assets List, an updated Borrowing
Base Certificate and an updated Schedule 4.28.

(0) promptly following any reasonable request therefor, information and
documentation reasonably requested by the Administrative Agent or any Bank for purposes of
compliance with gpplicable * know your customer” and anti-money |aundering rules and regulations,
including the Patriot Act.

Section 5.2, Payment of Obligations. The Borrower and its Consolidated Subsidiaries will
pay and discharge, at or before maturity, al their respective material obligations and liabilities including,
without limitation, any such material obligations (a) pursuant to any agreement by which it or any of its
propertiesisbound and (b) in respect of federa, state and other taxes, in each case where thefalureto so
pay or discharge such obligations or liabilitiesislikely to result in a Material Adverse Effect, and will
maintain in accordance with GAAP, appropriate reserves for the accrua of any of the same.

Section 5.3. Mai ntenance of Property; Insurance; L eases.

(a) The Borrower shall keep, and shall cause each Consolidated Subsidiary to keep,
al property useful and necessary in its business, including without limitation each of its Real Property
Assets (for so long as the same constitutes a Redl Property Asset), in good repair, working order and
condition, ordinary wear and tear excepted, in each case where the failure to so maintain and repair will
have a Materid Adverse Effect.

(b) The Borrower shall maintain, or cause to be maintained, insurance described in
Section 4.24 hereof with insurers meeting the qualifications described therein, which insurance shdl in
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any event not provide for |ess coverage than insurance customarily carried by owners of properties similar
to, and in the same locations as, the Covered Parties' Real Property Assets. The Borrower shall ddliver to
the Administrative Agent (i) upon the reasonable request of the Administrative Agent from time to time
certificates of insurers evidencing the insurance carried, (ii) within five (5) days of receipt of notice from
any insurer a copy of any notice of cancellation or material change in coverage required by Section 4.24
from that existing on the date of this Agreement and (iii) forthwith, notice of any cancellation or
nonrenewal (without replacement) of coverage by the Borrower or any other Covered Party.

Section5.4.  Maintenance of Existence. The Borrower shall and shall cause each of its
Consolidated Subsidiaries to preserve, renew and keep in full force and effect, its corporate existence and
its rights, privileges and franchises necessary for the norma conduct of its business unless the failure to
maintain such existence (other than the existence of the Borrower), rights, privileges and franchises does
not have a Material Adverse Effect.

Section 5.5. Compliance with Laws. The Borrower shal, and shall cause its Consolidated
Subsidiaries to, comply in al materia respects with dl gpplicablelaws, ordinances, rules, regulations,
and requirements of governmenta authorities (including, without limitation, Environmenta Laws, and al
zoning and building codes with respect to its Real Property Assets and ERISA and the rules and
regul ations thereunder and all federa securities laws) except where the necessity of compliance therewith
is contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings or where the failure to do so will not have a M aterial
Adverse Effect or expose the Administrative Agent or Banks to any material liability therefor,

Section 5.6. Inspection of Property, Books and Records.

(a The Borrower shal, and shall cause each of its Consolidated Subsidiaries to,
keep proper books of record and account in which full, true and correct entries shall be made of al
dedlings and transactionsin relation to its business and activities in conformity with GAAP, modified as
required by this Agreement and applicable law; and shall permit representatives of any Bank, at such
Bank's expense, or upon the occurrence and during the continuance of any Event of Default, at the
Borrower' s expense (but subject to the rel mbursement limitations in Section 9.3), so long as disclosure of
such information could not result in a violation of, or expose the Borrower or any of its Subsidiariesto
any material liability under, any gpplicable law, ordinance or regulation or any agreements with
unaffiliated third parties that are binding on the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries, to examine and make
abstracts from any of its books and records and to discuss its affairs, finances and accounts with its
officers and independent public accountants, al at such reasonable times during normal business hours,
upon reasonabl e prior notice and as often as may reasonably be desired. Upon the occurrence and during
the continuance of any Event of Default, representatives of any Bank permitted to review such books or
engage in such discussions shall include consultants, accountants, auditors and any other representatives
that any Bank deems necessary in connection with any workout or proposed workout of the Loans.

(b) The Borrower shall permit the Administrative Agent to conduct Appraisals of
each of the Borrowing Base Assets that are or are contemplated to be one of the Three Largest Assets and
shall use commercialy reasonable efforts to provide access to, and information in respect of, the relevant
Borrowing Base Asset to complete such Appraisal. Such Appraisals shall be at the sole cost and expense
of the Borrower; provided that the Borrower shall not be required to pay the cost and expense of more
than one Appraisd in respect of an individual Borrowing Base Asset per any twelve-month period.

Section5.7.  Existence. The Borrower shall do or cause to be done, all things necessary to

preserve and keep in full force and effect its and its Consolidated Subsidiaries’ existence and its patents,
trademarks, servicemarks, domain names, tradenames, copyrights, franchises, licenses, permits,
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certificates, authorizations, quaifications, accreditation, easements, rights of way and other rights,
consents and approvals the nonexistence of which islikely to have a Materia Adverse Effect,

Section 5.8.  Independent Director. The board of directors, board of managers, or other
equivalent governing body of each Covered Subsidiary that is a Pledged Subsidiary or owns a Covered
Assef shall include at |east one specia, independent director or member (or equivaent thereof), pursuant
to documentation satisfactory to the Administrative Agent, whose consent shall be required for (i) any
bankruptcy or insolvency filing by the relevant Covered Subsidiary, as the case may be, (ii) the transfer of
any membership or other equity interests therein (other than the sale or other transfer of such membership
or equity interests in a transaction permitted under the Loan Documents) and (iii) encumbering any asset
owned by such Covered Subsidiary, other than an Excluded Asset, with a rea property mortgage or deed
of trust, as gpplicable, or a security agreement, pledge agreement or any similar agreement creatingalien
in respect thereof, except as permitted under the Loan Documents (including as aresult of any consent,
amendment, waiver or other modification obtained in accordance with the terms of the Loan Documents).

Section 5.9. Financia Covenants.

(a) Consolidated Coverage Ratio. As of the last day of each fiscal quarter, the
Consolidated Coverage Ratio shall be equa to or greater than 1.50 to 1.00.

(b) Facility Collaterd Coverage Ratio. As of the last day of each fiscd quarter, the
Facility Collateral Coverage Ratio shall be equal to or greater than 1.50 to 1.00.

(c) Weighted Average CTL Lease Term. Asof thelast day of each fiscal quarter,
the Weighted Average CTL Lease Term shall be greater than or equd to five (5) years.

Section 5.10.  Restricted Payments. {a) The Borrower shall not, and shall not permit its
Subsidiaries to, declare and/or pay (or incur any obligation (contingent or otherwise) to declare and/or
pay) dividends (whether in the form of cash, common stock or other equity interests) on its equity
interests or declare and/or make (and incur any obligation (contingent or otherwise) to declare and/or
make) distributions with respect thereto; provided that, (x) the Borrower shall be permitted to declare
and/or pay (and incur any obligation (contingent or otherwise) to declare and/or pay) dividends (which
may, for the avoidance of doubt, bein the form of cash, common stock or other equity interests) on its
equity interests or declare and/or make (and incur any obligation (contingent or otherwise) to declare
and/or make) distributions with respect thereto in an amount for any Fiscal Year equa to such amount as
is necessary for the Borrower to (i) maintain its qualification asa REIT and (ii) so long as no Event of
Default is continuing or would result therefrom, avoid payment or imposition of any entity-level tax on
the Borrower (including pursuant to Section 4981 of the Code) that could be avoided by reason of a
distribution by the Borrower; and (y) in addition to the dividends and distributions permitted to be made
under clause (x), the Borrower and each Subsidiary may declare and/or make (and incur any obligation
(contingent or otherwise) to declare and/or make) any other dividends or distributions (except dividends
or distributions of Loan Assets, Red Property Assets or Securities that are Collateral, Covered Assels or
equity interestsin a Pledged Subsidiary or Covered Subsidiary), provided that such other dividends or
distributions may only be made if at the time of such dividends or distributions, (i) no Material Default or
Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing or result therefrom and (i) taking into account
such dividend or distribution, the Borrower and its Subsidiaries shal be in compliance, on apro forma
basis, with the provisions of Article V' (Affirmative and Negative Covenants).

(b) The Borrower shal not, and shall not permit its Subsidiaries to, make any
prepayments, repurchases or redemptions of unsecured Indebtedness of the Borrower or any Subsidiary
(including any unsecured Indebtedness convertible into capita stock of the Borrower), Indebtedness for
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borrowed money of the Borrower or any Subsidiary that is subordinated to the Obligations or preferred or
common stock of the Borrower or any Subsidiary except to the extent funded with or exchanged for (i)
income or payments received in respect of, or proceeds from the sale, refinancing or maturity of, assets
not constituting Collateral or a Covered Asset, (ii) interest, fee or rental income in respect of any assets
(incdluding assets constituting part of the Collateral or Covered Assets) or (iii) equity or Indebtedness
issued by the Borrower or the proceeds thereof.

Section 5.11.  Restriction on Fundamental Changes. (a) The Borrower shall not, and shall not
permit any other Covered Party to, enter into any merger, division or plan of division under Delaware law
(or any comparable event under a different jurisdiction’ s laws) or consolidation without obtaining the
prior written consent thereto of the Required Banks, unless (i) in the case of any such merger or
consalidation involving (x) the Borrower, the Borrower is the surviving entity (regardless of whether a
Covered Subsidiary isinvolved), (y) any other Covered Subsidiary, a Covered Subsidiary is the surviving
entity (which surviving entity must be a Pledged Subsidiary if a Pledged Subsidiary isinvolved) and
(z) in the case of such adivision or plan of division, the resulting entities are both Covered Subsidiaries
(bath of which aso must be Pledged Subsidiaries if a Pledged Subsidiary isinvolved) and (ii) in each
case, the same will not result in the occurrence of aMaterid Default or an Event of Default. The
Borrower shall not, and, except in connection with a merger or consolidation permitted in the preceding
sentence, shall not permit any other Covered Subsidiary to, liquidate, wind-up or dissolve (or suffer any
liquidation or dissolution), discontinue its business or convey, lease, sell, transfer or otherwise dispose of,
in one transaction or series of transactions, al or substantially all of its business or property, whether now
or hereafter acquired, other than to the Borrower or to any Covered Subsidiary (and if involving a Pledged
Subsidiary or the assets of a Covered Subsidiary, to another Pledged Subsidiary) or in connection with
any sale of Al or substantialy all of its assets or any payment or prepayment in full or other monetization
in full of its assets. Nothing in this Agreement shall limit or restrict any Covered Party to sell, pledge,
mortgage or transfer any Excluded Asset, except as set forth in Sections 5.14 and 5.15.

(b) The Borrower shall not, and shall not permit any other Covered Party to, amend
its articles of incorporation, bylaws, or other organizational documents such that the provisions thereof
would violate Section 5. 8 or permit any action prohibited by Section 5.18 or, otherwise, in any manner
that would be materialy adverse to the Banks without the Required Banks' consent.

Section 5.12. Changesin Business. The Borrower’ s primary business shall not be substantially
different from that conducted by the Borrower on the Closing Date and shall include ownership and
management of Credit Tenant Lease Assets, Loan Assets and Red Property Assets. The Borrower shdll
carry on its busi ness gperations through the Borrower and its Consolidated Subsidiaries and its
Investment Affiliates.

Section 5.13. Borrower Status. The Borrower shall at dl times remain a publicly traded
company listed for trading on the New Y ork Stock Exchange (or another nationally recognized stock
exchange (for the avoidance of doubt, the NASDAQ stock quotation system or any successor thereto shall
be considered a nationally recognized exchange)).

Section 5.14.  Other Indebtedness. (a) The Borrower shall not permit any Covered Subsidiary
to create, incur, assume or suffer to exist any Indebtedness other than Indebtedness of the Covered
Subsidiaries existing on the Closing Date and set forth on Schedule 4.4(d), obligations under warranties
and indemnities incurred in the ordinary course of business, and Non-Recourse Indebtedness in respect of

Excluded Assets.
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(b) The Borrower shal not consent to or vote in favar of (and shdl not permit any
Subsidiary to consent to or votein favor of) the incurrence of any Indebtedness by any Covered Party
(other than Indebtedness permitted under Section 5.14(a)).

Section 5.15. Liens. (a) The Borrower shall not, nor shall it permit any Subsidiary to, create,
incur, assume or suffer to exist any Lien upon any item of Collatera or Covered Assets, except for
Permitted Liens.

(b) The Borrower shall not consent to or vote in favor of (and shal not permit any
Subsidiary to consent to or votein favor of) the incurrence of any Liens on any assets of any Covered
Party, except for Permitted Liens and Liens on Excluded Assets in respect of Non-Recourse Indebtedness.

Section 5.16. Reserved].

Section 5.17.  Restrictive Agreements. The Borrower shall not, and shal not permit any
Subsidiary to, directly or indirectly, enter into, incur or permit to exist any agreement or other
arrangement that prohibits, restricts or imposes any condition upon (a) the ability of such Person or any of
its subsidiaries to create, incur or permit to exist any Lien upon the Collateral, provided that the foregoing
clause (a) shall not apply to restrictions and conditions imposed by law or by any Loan Document or (b)
the ability of any other Covered Party (other than the Borrower) to pay dividends or other distributions
with respect to any shares of its capital stock or to make or repay |oans or advances to the Borrower or
any other Covered Party or to guarantee |ndebtedness of the Borrower or any other Covered Party;
provided that the foregoing shall not apply to restrictions and conditions imposed by law, by any Loan
Document, by the Borrower” s existing or future public note Indebtedness or credit agreements governing
Indebtedness for borrowed money.

Section 5.18.  Limitation on Activities of the Covered Parties. The Borrower shall not permit
any other Covered Party (other than the Borrower) to (a) (i) conduct, transact or otherwise engagein, or
commit to conduct, transact or otherwise engage in, any business or operations other than ownership of
Covered Assets, Excluded Assets and anything incidenta thereto, (i) own any assets other than Covered
Asset, Excluded Assets or any assets incidental thereto, or (iii) take any action, or conduct its effairsin a
manner, that could reasonably be expected to result in the separate existence of such Covered Party being
ignored, or the assets and liabilities of such Covered Party being substantively consolidated with those of
the Borrower or any Subsidiary thereof in abankruptcy, reorganization or other insol vency proceeding or
(b) incur, create, assume or suffer to exist any Indebtedness or other liabilities or financial obligations,
except (i) Indebtedness permitted pursuant to Section 5.14(a), (ii) nonconsensual obligations imposed by
operation of law, (iii) obligations with respect to its equity interests to the extent in compliance with
Section 5.8, not prohibited by this Section 5.18 or, otherwise, materially adverse to the Banks, (iv)
abligations (other than Indebtedness) in the ordinary course of business in the operation of its assets and
(v) the statutory liability of any general partner for the liabilities of the limited partnership in whichitisa
general partner.

Section 5.19.  Transactions with Affiliates. The Borrower will not, and will not permit any of
its Subsidiaries to, sell, lease or otherwise transfer any property or assets to, or purchase, lease or
otherwise acquire any property or assets from, or otherwise engage in any other transactions with, any of
its Affiliates, except (a) in the ordinary course of business at prices and on terms and conditions not less
favorable to the Borrower or such Subsidiary than could be obtained on an arm'’ s-length basis from
unrelated third parties, (b) in the case of a Covered Party (other than the Borrower), in transactions
between or among such Covered Parties not invalving any other Affiliate (but if such transactions
involving the transfer of assets, such transfers shall be subject to the Liens granted pursuant to the
Collatera Documents), (c) in the case of the Borrower or any Subsidiary which is not a Covered Party, in
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transactions between or among the Borrower and such Subsidiaries not involving any other Affiliate,

(d) any payment of dividends, other restricted payments or other transactions permitted by Section 5.11,
(e) transactions pursuant to the Safety Management Agreement and (f) transactions between the Borrower
and Safety that are approved by at |east a mgjority of their respective independent directors so long as, (x)
such transactions are otherwise permitted under this Agreement, (y) no materid Default or Event of
Default shall have occurred and be continuing at the time of or after giving effect to such transaction and
(z) the Borrower shal be in pro forma compliance with the covenants set forth in Section 5.19 after
giving effect to such transaction.

Section 5.20.  Corporate Ratings. The Borrower shdl obtain affirmation of its corporate ratings
from S& P and Moody’ s within 60 days after the Closing Date, which corporate ratings shal be equa to
ar higher than B+ from S&P and B2 from Moody's.

Section 5.21.  Anti-Corruption Laws and Sanctions. The Borrower shall (a) maintain in effect
and enforce policies and procedures designed to ensure compliance by the Borrower, its Subsidiaries and
their respective directors, officers, employees and agents with Anti-Corruption Laws and applicable
Sanctions and (b) not request or use, and shall procure that its Subsidiaries and its or their respective
directors, officers, employees and agents shall not use, the proceeds of any Loan (A) in furtherance of an
offer, payment, promise to pay, or authorization of the payment or giving of money, or anything €l se of
value, to any Person in violation of any Anti-Corruption Laws, (B) for the purpose of funding, financing
or facilitating any activities, business or transaction of or with any Sanctioned Person, or in any
Sanctioned Country, to the extent such activities, business or transaction would be prohibited by
Sanctions if conducted by a corporation incorporated in the United States, the United Kingdom orin a
European Union member state or (C) in any manner that would result in the violation of any Sanctions
applicable to any party hereto.

ARTICLE VI
DEFAULTS

Section6.1.  Events of Default. An*“Event of Default” shal have occurred if one or more of
the following events shall have occurred and be continuing:

(a) the Borrower shall fail to (i) pay when due any principa of any Loan, or (ii) the
Borrower shdl fail to pay when due interest on any Loan or any fees or any other amount payable to the
Administrative Agent or the Banks hereunder and the same shall continue for a period of five (5) days
after the same becomes due; or

(b) the Borrower shall fail to observe or perform any covenant contained in Sections
2.11, 2.16, 2.18, Section 5.1(d)(i), 5.1(i), 5.1(j), 5.1(k), 5.4, 5.9, 5.10, 5.11, 5.12, 5.13, 5.14, 5.15, 5.17,
5.18, 5.19, 5.20 or 5.21 and, (i) solely in the case of any failure to comply with Section 5.9(b) and Section
5.9(c), such failure shall continue unremedied for aperiod of thirty (30) days (it being understood that any
such failure to comply with (x) Section 5.9(b) may be remedied by a prepayment of the Loans or adding
assets as Covered Assets pursuant to Section 2.18 prior to or during such 30-day period so long as after
giving effect to any such prepayment or addition of Covered Asset the Borrower isin pro forma
compliance with Section 5.9(b) and (y) Section 5.9(c) may be remedied by adding or withdrawing Credit
Tenant Lease Assets as Covered Assets pursuant to Section 2.18 prior to or during such period so long as
after giving effect to any such addition or withdrawal of Credit Tenant L ease Assets the Borrower isin
pro forma compliance with Section 5.9(c)) and (ii) solely in the case of any failure to comply with Section
5.1(d)(i), such failure shal continue unremedied for aperiod of 10 days; or
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(c) the Borrower or any Covered Party shall fail to observe or perform any covenant
or agreament contained in this Agreement or any other Loan Document (other than those covered by
clause (a), (b), (e), (f), (9), (h), (i), (1) or (n) of this Section 6.1) for 30 days after written notice thereof has
been given to the Borrower by the Administrative Agent; or if such default is of such a nature that it
cannot with reasonable effort be completely remedied within said period of thirty (30) days such
additional period of time as may be reasonably necessary to cure same, provided the Borrower
commences such cure within said thirty (30) day period and diligently prosecutes same, until completion,
but in no event shall such extended period exceed ninety (90) days; or

(d) any representation, warranty, certification or statement that is made by the
Borrower in this Agreement or by the Borrower or any other Covered Party in any other Loan Document
to which it is aparty or that is contained in any certificate, financia statement or other document
delivered pursuant to this Agreement or any other Loan Document, shal prove to have been incorrect in
any material respect when made (or deemed made); or

(e) the Borrower or any Subsidiary shall default in the payment when due (whether
by scheduled maturity, required prepayment, acceleration, demand or otherwise) of any amount owing in
respect of any Recourse Debt (other than the Obligati ons) for which the aggregate outstanding principa
amounts exceed $75,000,000 and such default shall continue beyond the giving of any required notice and
the expiration of any applicable grace period and such default has not been waived, in writing, by the
holder of any such Recourse Debt; or the Borrower or any Subsidiary shall default in the performance or
observance of any obligation or condition with respect to any such Recourse Debt or any other event shdl
oceur or condition exist beyond the giving of any reguired natice and the expiration of any applicable
grace period, in each case if the effect of such default, event or condition is to accel erate the maturity of
any such indebtedness or to permit (without any further requirement of notice or Iapse of time) the holder
or holders thereof, or any trustee or agent for such holders, to acceerate the maturity of any such
indebtedness; or

(f) (i) the Borrower or (ii) any Subsidiary of the Borrower or any Investment
Affiliate of the Borrower to which, either individualy or in the aggregate, $100,000,000 or more of the
Borrower's Consolidated Tangible Net Worth is attributable, or (iii) a Pledged Subsidiary shall
commence a voluntary case or other proceeding seeking liquidation, reorganization or other relief with
respect to itself or its debts under any bankruptcy, insolvency or other similar law now or hereafter in
effect or seeking the appointment of atrustee, receiver, liquidator, custodian or other similar officid of it
ar any substantial part of its property, or shall consent to any such rief or to the appointment of or taking
possession by any such officia in aninvoluntary case or other proceeding commenced against it, or shall
make a general assignment for the benefit of creditors, or shall fail generdly to pay its debts as they
become due, or shall take any action to authorize any of the foregoing; or

(9) an involuntary case or other proceeding shall be commenced against (i) the
Borrower, (ii) any Subsidiary of the Borrower or any Investment Affiliate of the Borrower to which,
either individudly or in the aggregate, $100,000,000 or more of the Borrower's Consolidated Tangible
Net Worth is attributable, or (iii) any Pledged Subsidiary seeking liquidation, reorganization or other
relief with respect to it or its debts under any bankruptcy, insolvency or other similar |law now or hereafter
in effect or seeking the appointment of atrustee, receiver, liquidator, custodian or other similar officia of
it or any substantial part of its property, and such involuntary case or other proceeding shall remain
undismissed and unstayed for aperiod of ninety (90) days; or an order for relief shall be entered against
the Borrower, any such Subsidiary of the Borrower, any such Investment Affiliate or any such Pledged
Subsidiary under the federal bankruptcy laws as now or hereafter in effect; or
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(h) one or more final, non-gppeal able judgments or decrees in an aggregate amount
of $75,000,000 or more shall be entered by a court or courts of competent jurisdiction against the
Borrower or any Subsidiary of the Borrower (other than any judgment as to which, and only to the extent,
a reputable insurance company has acknow!edged coverage of such claimin writing), and (i) any such
judgments or decrees shall not be stayed, discharged, paid, bonded or vacated within ninety (90) days or
(ii) enforcement proceedings shall be commenced by any creditor on any such judgments or decrees; or

(i) there shall be a replacement of a majority of the Board of Directors of the
Borrower over atwo-year period from the directors who constituted the Board of Directors of the
Borrower at the beginning of such period, and such replacement shall not have been gpproved by avote
of a least amgority of the Board of Directors of the Borrower then still in office who were either
members of such Board of Directors at the beginning of such period or whose € ection as a member of
such Board of Directors was previously so approved; or

() any Person or “group” (as such term is defined in gpplicable federal securities
laws and regulations) shall become the owner, directly or indirectly, beneficially or of record, of shares
representing more than forty percent (40%) of the aggregate ordinary voting power represented by the
issued and outstanding common shares of the Borrower; or

(k) if any Termination Event with respect to a Plan or Multiemployer Plan shall
aceur as a result of which Termination Event or Events any member of the ERISA Group has incurred or
may incur any liability to the PBGC or any other Person and the sum (determined as of the date of
occurrence of such Termination Event) of the insufficiency of such Plan or Multiemployer Plan and the
insufficiency of any and dl other Plans and Multiemployer Plans with respect to which such a
Termination Event shal occur and be continuing (or, in the case of a Multiple Employer Plan with respect
to which a Termination Event described in clause (ii) of the definition of Termination Event shall occur
and be continuing and in the case of aliability with respect to a Termination Event whichisor couldbe a
liability of the Borrower rather than aligbility of the Plan, the liability of the Borrower) isequa to or
greater than $50,000,000 and which the Required Banks reasonably determine will have a Material
Adverse Effect; or

(N if, any member of the ERISA Group shal commit afailure described in Section
303(k)(1) of ERISA or Section 430(k)(1) of the Code and the amount of the lien determined under
Section 303(k)(3) of ERISA or Section 430(k)(3) of the Code that could reasonably be expected to be
imposad on any member of the ERISA Group or their assets in respect of such failure shal be equal to or
greater than $50,000,000 and which the Required Banks reasonably determine will have a Material
Adverse Effect; or

(m)  any assets of the Borrower shall constitute “plan assets” (within the meaning of
Section 3(42) of ERISA or Section 4975 of the Code, including but not limited to 29 C.F.R. § 2510.3-101
or any successor regul ation thereto) of an “employee benefit plan” within the meaning of Section 3(3) of
ERISA and subject to Title | of ERISA or a“plan” within the meaning of, and subject to, Section
4975(e)(1) of the Code; or

(n) at any time, for any reason the Borrower repudiates in writing its payment
obligations under any Loan Document or any Covered Party repudiates in writing its negative pledge
abligations under the Negative Pledge Agreement or any other Loan Document; or

(0) this Agreement or any Collateral Document shall not, for any reason, bein full

force and effect (or any Covered Party shall so assert), or any security interest purported to be created by
any of the Collateral Documents shall not be a valid, enforceable and perfected security interest having
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the priority required by the Collateral Documents (or any Covered Party shall so assert) (other than (i)
pursuant to the terms of this Agreement or any other Loan Document (including any release pursuant to
the terms hereof or thereof) or (ii) as a result of acts or omissions by the Administrative Agent); or

(p) at any time Borrower shal fail to directly or indirectly own and control 100% of
the outstanding equity interests in any Covered Subsidiary at any time such Covered Subsidiary owns
Covered Assets.

Section 6.2. Rights and Remedies. (a) Upon the occurrence of any Event of Default
described in Section 6.1(f) or Section 6.1(g), the Commitments shall immediately terminate and the
unpaid principal amount of, and any and all accrued interest on, the Loans and any and all accrued fees
and other Obligations hereunder shall automatically become immediately due and payable, with all
additional interest from time to time accrued thereon and without presentation, demand, or protest or
other requirements of any kind (including, without limitation, valuation and gppraisement, diligence,
presentment, notice of intent to demand or accel erate and notice of acceleration), dl of which are hereby
expressly waived by the Borrower for itself; and upon the occurrence and during the continuance of any
other Event of Default, the Administrative Agent, following consultation with the Banks, may (and upon
the demand of the Reguired Banks shall), by written notice to the Borrower, in addition to the exercise of
al of the rights and remedies permitted the Administrative Agent, and the Banks at |aw or equity or under
any of the other Loan Documents, declare that the Commitments are terminated and declare the unpaid
principal amount of and any and all accrued and unpaid interest on the Loans and any and all accrued fees
and other Obligations hereunder to be, and the same shall thereupon be, immediately due and payable
with al additiona interest from time to time accrued thereon and (except as otherwise provided in the
L oan Documents) without presentation, demand, or protest or other requirements of any kind (including,
without limitation, val uation and gppraisement, diligence, presentment, notice of intent to demand or
accelerate and notice of acceleration), dl of which are hereby expressly waived by the Borrower for itself.

(b) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Agreement or in any
other Loan Document, the Administrative Agent and the Banks each agree that any exercise or
enforcement of the rights and remedies granted to the Administrative Agent or the Banks under this
Agreement or any other Loan Document or at law or in equity with respect to this Agreement or any other
Loan Documents shall be commenced and maintained solely by the Administrative Agent, in each case on
behalf of the Administrative Agent, any other Agent and/or the Banks. The Administrative Agent shall
act at the direction of the Required Banks in connection with the exercise of any and all remedies at law,
in equity or under any of the Loan Documents or, if the Required Banks are unable to reach agreement
after being afforded reasonable notice and opportunity to consent, then, from and after an Event of
Default, the Administrative Agent may pursue such rights and remedies as it may determine.

Section 6.3. Naotice of Default. The Administrative Agent shal give notice to the Borrower
under Section 6.1(b), Section 6.1(c) and Section 6.1(d) promptly upon being requested to do so by the
Required Banks and shall thereupon notify all the Banks thereof. The Administrative Agent shall not be
deemed to have knowledge or notice of the occurrence of any Default or Event of Default (other than
nonpayment of principa of or interest on the Loans) unless the Administrative Agent has received notice
in writing from a Bank or the Borrower referring to this Agreement or the other Loan Documents,
describing such event or condition. Should the Administrative Agent receive notice of the occurrence of
a Default or Event of Default expresdy stating that such notice is anotice of a Default or Event of
Default, or should the Administrative Agent send the Borrower a notice of Default or Event of Defaullt,
the Administrative Agent shall promptly give notice thereof to each Bank.

Section 6.4. Distribution of Proceeds after Default. Notwithstanding anything contained
herein to the contrary, from and after the occurrence and during the continuance of an Event of Default, to
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the extent proceeds are received by the Administrative Agent, such proceeds shdl be distributed to the
Banks pro ratain accordance with the unpaid principa amount of the Loans (giving effect to any
participations granted therein pursuant to Section 9.6).

ARTICLEVII

THE AGENTS; CERTAIN MATTERS RELATING TO THE BANKS

Section7.1.  Appointment and Authorization. Each Bank irrevocably appoints and authorizes
the Administrative Agent to take such action as agent on its behaf, including execution of the other Loan
Documents, and to exercise such powers under this Agreement and the other Loan Documents as are
delegated to the Administrative Agent by the terms hereof or thereof, together with al such powers as are
reasonably incidental thereto. Except as set forth in Section 7.8 hereof, the provisions of this Article VI
are soldly for the benefit of the Administrative Agent, the other Agents and the Banks, and the Borrower
shall not have any rights to rely on or enforce any of the provisions hereof. In performing its functions
and duties under this Agreement and the other L can Documents, the Administrative Agent shall act solely
as an agent of the Banks and shall not assume and shall not be deemed to have assumed any obligation
toward or rel ationship of agency or trust with or for the Borrower or any other Covered Party.
Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary elsewhere in this Agreement, the Agents shall not have any
duties or responsibilities, except those expressly set forth herein, or any fiduciary relationship with any
Bank, and no implied covenants, functions, responsibilities, duties, obligations or liabilities shall be read
into this Agreement or any other Loan Document or otherwise exist against the Agents.

Section7.2.  Administrative Agency and Affiliates. JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. hasthe
same rights and powers under this Agreement as any other Bank and may exercise or refrain from
exercising the same as though it were not the Administrative Agent and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. and
each of its affiliates, may accept deposits from, lend money to, and generally engage in any kind of
business with the Borrower or any Subsidiary or affiliate of the foregoing asif they were not the
Administrative Agent hereunder, and the term “Bank™ and “Banks® shdl include JPMorgan Chase Bank,
N.A.initsindividua capacity.

Section7.3.  Action by Agents.

(a) The obligations of each of the Agents hereunder are only those expressly set
forth herein. Without limiting the generdity of the foregoing, each of the Agents shall not be required to
take any action with respect to any Default or Event of Default, except as expressly provided in Article
V1. Theduties of each Agent shall be administrative in nature. Subject ta the provisions of Section 7.1,
Section 7.5 and Section 7.6, each Agent shall administer the Loansin the same manner as each
administersits own loans. Without limiting the generdity of the foregoing, (a) the Administrative Agent
shal not be subject to any fiduciary or other implied duties, regardless of whether a Default or Event of
Default has occurred and is continuing, (b) the Administrative Agent shall not have any duty to take any
discretionary action or exercise any discretionary powers, except discretionary rights and powers
expressly contemplated by the Loan Documents that the Administrative Agent is required to exercise in
writing as directed by the Required Banks, (c) except for notices, reports and other documents expressly
required to be furnished to the Banks by the Administrative Agent hereunder, the Administrative Agent
shall not have any duty or responsibility to provide any Bank with any credit or other information
concerning the business, operations, property, condition (financia or otherwise), prospects or
creditwaorthiness of the Covered Party or any affiliate of the Covered Party that may come into the
possession of the Administrative Agent or any of its officers, directors, employees, agents, advisors,
attorneysin fact or affiliates and (d) the Administrative Agent shal not be required to take any action that
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(inits opinion or the opinion of its counse!) exposes it to persond liability or which is contrary to the
Loan Documents or goplicable law.

(b) The Administrative Agent may execute any of its duties under this Agreement
and the other Loan Documents by or through agents or attorneys in fact (induding without limitation, a
custodian to administer the Collateral) and shall be entitled to advice of counsel concerning al matters
pertaining to such duties. The Administrative Agent shall not be responsible for the negligence or
misconduct of any agents or attorneys in fact selected by it with reasonable care. In furtherance of the
foregoing, each Bank hereby authorizes the Administrative Agent to enter into such documents and
instruments as it deems reasonably necessary to implement its duties under this Agreement and the other
Loan Documents.

Section7.4.  Consultation with Experts. As between any Agent on the one hand and the
Banks on the other hand, such Agent may consult with legal counsel (who may be counsd for the
Borrower), independent public accountants and other experts selected by it and shall not be liable for any
action taken or omitted to be taken by it in good faith in accordance with the advice of such counsal,
accountants or experts.

Section7.5.  Liability of Agents. As between each Agent on the one hand and the Banks on
the other hand, none of the Agents nor any of their affiliates nor any of their respective directors, officers,
agents or employees shall be liable for any action taken or not taken by it in connection herewith (i) with
the consent or at the request of the Required Banks or (ii) in the absence of its own gross negligence or
willful misconduct. As between each Agent on the one hand and the Banks on the other hand, none of the
Agents nor any of their respective directors, officers, agents or employees sha | be responsible for or have
any duty to ascertain, inquireinto or verify (i) any statement, warranty or representation madein
connection with this Agreement, any other Loan Document, or any Borrowing hereunder; (ii) the
performance or observance of any of the covenants or agreements of the Borrower or any other Covered
Party, (iii) the satisfaction of any condition specified in Article |11, except receipt of items required to be
delivered to such Agent, or (iv) the validity, effectiveness or genuineness of this Agreement, the other
L oan Documents or any other instrument or writing furnished in connection herewith. As between each
Agent on the one hand and the Banks on the other hand, none of the Agents shall incur any liability by
acting in reliance upon any notice, consent, certificate, statement, or other writing (which may be a bank
wire, telex, email message, facsmile or similar writing) believed by it to be genuine or to be signed by the
proper party or parties. The Administrative Agent shal not be deemed to have knowledge or notice of the
accurrence of any Default or Event of Default unless the Administrative Agent has received notice from a
Bank or the Borrower referring to this Agreement, describing such Default or Event of Default and stating
that such noticeis a " notice of default”. The Administrative Agent shall be entitled to rely, and shall be
fully protected in relying, upon any instrument, writing, resolution, notice, consent, certificate, affidavit,
letter, telecopy or email message, statement, order or other document or conversation believed by it to be
genuine and correct and to have been signed, sent or made by the proper Person or Persons and upon
advice and statements of legal counsel (including counsel to the Borrower), independent accountants and
other experts selected by the Administrative Agent. The Administrative Agent also may rely upon any
statement made to it orally or by telephone and believed by it to have been made by the proper Person,
and shall not incur any liability for relying thereon. In determining compliance with any condition
hereunder that by its terms must be fulfilled to the satisfaction of a Bank, the Administrative Agent may
presume that such condition is satisfactory to such Bank unless the Administrative Agent shal have
received notice to the contrary from such Bank prior to the applicable extension of credit or other action.

Section7.6.  Indemnification. Each Bank shall, ratably in accordance with its Commitments
or Loans, as applicable, outstanding, indemnify the Agents and their affiliates and their regpective
directors, officers, agents, advisors and employees (to the extent not reimbursed by the Borrower) against
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any cost, expense (including, without limitation, counsel fees and disbursements), claim, demand, action,
loss or liahility (except such as result from such indemnitee’ s gross negligence or willful misconduct) that
such indemnitee may suffer or incur in connection with its duties as Agent under this Agreement, the
other Loan Documents or any action taken or omitted by such indemnitee hereunder. In the event that
any Agent shall, subsequent to its receipt of indemnification payment(s) from Banks in accordance with
this section, recoup any amount from the Borrower, or any other party liable therefor in connection with
such indemnification, such Agent shal reimburse the Banks which previously made the payment(s) pro
rata, based upon the actual amounts which were theretofore paid by each Bank. Each Agent shall
reimburse such Banks so entitled to reimbursement within two (2) Business Days of its receipt of such
funds from the Borrower or such other party liable therefor. In the case of an investigation, litigation or
proceeding to which the indemnity in this paragraph applies, such indemnity shal be effective whether or
not such investigation, litigation or proceeding is brought by a Bank, an indemnitee or any other Person,
whether or not an indemnitee is otherwise a party thereto. The agreements in this Section shal survive the
termination of this Agreement and the payment of the Loans and all other amounts payable hereunder.

Section 7.7. Credit Decision. Each Bank acknowledges that it has, independently and without
reliance upon any Agent or any other Bank, and based on such documents and information as it has
deemed appropriate, made its own credit analysis and decision to enter into this Agreement. Each Bank
aso acknowledges that it will, independently and without reliance upon any Agent or any other Bank, and
based on such documents and information as it shall deem appropriate at the time, continue to make its
own credit decisionsin taking or not taking any action under this Agreement.

Section 7.8. Successor Agent. The Administrative Agent may resign at any time by giving
notice thereof to the Banks and the Borrower. Upon any such resignation, the Required Banks shall have
the right to appoint a successor Administrative Agent, which successor Administrative Agent shall,
provided no Event of Default has occurred and is then continuing, be subject to the Borrower’ s approval,
which gpproval shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed. If no successor Administrative Agent
shall have been so appointed by the Required Banks and spproved by the Borrower, and shdl have
accepted such gppointment, within 10 days after the retiring Administrative Agent gives notice of
resignation, then the retiring Administrative Agent may (but shall not be required to), on behalf of the
Banks, appoint a successor Administrative Agent which shall be the Administrative Agent, who shal act
until the Required Banks shall gppoint an Administrative Agent. Any gopointment of a successor
Administrative Agent by Required Banks or the retiring Administrative Agent, pursuant to the preceding
sentence shall, provided no Event of Default has occurred and is then continuing, be subject to the
Borrower' s gpproval, which gpproval shdl not be unreasonably withheld or delayed. If no successor
Administrative Agent has accepted gppointment as Administrative Agent by the date that is 10 days
following a retiring Administrative Agent' s notice of resignation (and no successor agent has been
appointed as successor Administrative Agent by the retiring Administrative Agent), the retiring
Administrative Agent’ s resignation shall nevertheless thereupon become effective, and the Banks shall
assume and perform al of the duties of the Administrative Agent hereunder until such time, if any, asthe
Required Banks appoint a successor agent as provided for above. Upon the acceptance of its gppointment
as the Administrative Agent hereunder by a successor Administrative Agent, such successor
Administrative Agent shall thereupon succeed to and become vested with all the rights and duties of the
retiring Administrative Agent and the retiring Administrative Agent, shall be discharged from its duties
and obligations hereunder. After any retiring Administrative Agent' s resignation hereunder, the
pravisions of this Article shall inure to its benefit as to any actions taken or omitted to be taken by it while
it was the Administrative Agent. Such resignation or removal shal take effect upon the acceptance of
appointment by a successor Administrative Agent in accordance with the provisions of this Section 7.8.

Section 7.9. Exculpation of BPO Broker. Each Bank acknowledges and agress, for the
benefit of the Agents, the Borrower and each of the BPO Brokers and each of their respective affiliates

- 60-




and each of their respective partners, directors, officers, employees, agents, counsd, auditors, advisors
and other representatives (collectively, the “ Representatives” ), asfollows:

(a) Each BPO Broker prepared its respective BPO relying primarily on information
provided by the Borrower, and neither any BPO Broker nor any Agent is responsible or liable for any
inaccuracy or omission in the information provided to the BPO Brokers by the Borrower. None of the
BPO Brokers or Agents has made or makes any express or implied representation or warranty as to the
accuracy or completeness of such information.

(b) None of the BPO Brokers or Agents has any obligation to engage in any further
diligence regarding the information provided to it by the Borrower or to obtain any additional information
for purposes of the BPO Brokers preparing their respective BPOs,

(c) Nane of the BPO Brokers or Agents has engaged an auditor to perform an audit
ar review of thefinancid statements of the Borrower, and none of the BPO Braokers or Agentsis
providing any assurance of the accuracy of the information in such financial statements.

(d) There is no assurance that the BPOs will accurately predict the actual future
performance and/or operations of any asset and/or property reviewed for purposes of the BPOs.

(e) No Agent shall be responsible or liable for the preparation or the contents of the
BPOs or such Bank's use of the BPOs, and such Bank agrees that such Bank will not bring or assert any
claim, suit or action against any Agent or any of its Representatives with respect to, or arising out of, the
BPOs or such Bank’s use thereof.

Section 7.10.  Proofs of Claim. In case of the pendency of any proceeding under any federal,
state or foreign bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or similar law or any other judicia proceeding
relative to any Covered Party, the Administrative Agent (irrespective of whether the principa of any Loan
shall then be due and payabl e as herein expressed or by declaration or otherwise and irrespective of
whether the Administrative Agent shall have made any demand on the Borrower) shall be entitled and
empowered, by intervention in such proceeding or otherwise:

(a) tofile and prove a claim for the whole amount of the principa and interest owing
and unpaid in respect of the Loans and al other Obligations that are owing and unpaid and to file such
other documents as may be necessary or advisable in order to have the claims of the Banks and the
Administrative Agent (including any claim for the reasonabl e compensation, expenses, disbursements and
advances of the Banks and the Administrative Agent and their respective agents and counsel and al other
amounts due the Banks and the Administrative Agent hereunder) allowed in such judicial praceeding; and

(b) to collect and receive any monies or other property payable or deliverable on any
such claims and to distribute the same; and any custodian, receiver, assignee, trustee, liquidator,
sequestrator or other similar officia in any such judicial proceeding is hereby authorized by each Bank to
make such payments to the Administrative Agent and, if the Administrative Agent shall consent to the
making of such payments directly to the Banks, to pay to the Administrative Agent any amount due for
the reasonable compensation, expenses, disbursements and advances of the Administrative Agent and its
agents and counsel, and any other amounts due the Administrative Agent hereunder. Nothing in this
Section 7.10 shall be deemed to authorize the Administrative Agent to authorize or consent to or accept or
adopt on behaf of any Bank any plan of reorganization, arrangement, adjustment or composition
affecting the Obligations or the rights of any Bank to authorize the Administrative Agent to votein
respect of the claim of any Bank in any such proceeding.
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Section 7.11.  Posting of Communications. (a) The Borrower agrees that the Administrative
Agent may, but shal not be obligated to, make any Communications available to the Banks by posting the
Communications on IntraLinks™, DebtDomain, SyndTrak, ClearPar or any other electronic platform
chosen by the Administrative Agent to be its eectronic transmission system (the “ Approved Electronic
Platform”).

(b) Although the Approved Electronic Platform and its primary web portal are
secured with generally-applicable security procedures and policies implemented or madified by the
Administrative Agent from time to time (including a user |D/password authorization system) and the
Approved Electronic Platform is secured through a per-deal authorization method whereby each user may
access the Approved Electronic Platform only on a ded-by-deal basis, each of the Banks and the
Borrower acknowledges and agrees that the distribution of materia through an eectronic medium is not
necessarily secure, that the Administrative Agent is not responsible for approving or vetting the
representatives or contacts of any Bank that are added to the Approved Electronic Platform, and that there
are confidentiality and other risks associated with such distribution. Each of the Banks and the Borrower
hereby approves distribution of the Communications through the Approved Electronic Platform and
understands and assumes the risks of such distribution.

(c) THE APPROVED ELECTRONIC PLATFORM AND THE
COMMUNICATIONS ARE PROVIDED "AS 1S AND “ASAVAILABLE". THE APPLICABLE
PARTIES (AS DEFINED BELOW) DO NOT WARRANT THE ACCURACY OR COMPLETENESS
OF THE COMMUNICATIONS, OR THE ADEQUACY OF THE APPROVED ELECTRONIC
PLATFORM AND EXPRESSLY DISCLAIM LIABILITY FOR ERRORS OR OMISSIONS IN THE
APPROVED ELECTRONIC PLATFORM AND THE COMMUNICATIONS. NO WARRANTY OF
ANY KIND, EXPRESS, IMPLIED OR STATUTORY, INCLUDING ANY WARRANTY OF
MERCHANTABILITY, FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE, NON-INFRINGEMENT OF
THIRD PARTY RIGHTS OR FREEDOM FROM VIRUSES OR OTHER CODE DEFECTS, ISMADE
BY THE APPLICABLE PARTIES IN CONNECTION WITH THE COMMUNICATIONS OR THE
APPROVED ELECTRONIC PLATFORM. IN NO EVENT SHALL THE ADMINISTRATIVE AGENT,
ANY OTHER AGENT OR ANY OF THEIR RESPECTIVE RELATED PARTIES (COLLECTIVELY,
“APPLICABLE PARTIES') HAVE ANY LIABILITY TO ANY COVERED PARTY, ANY BANK OR
ANY OTHER PERSON OR ENTITY FOR DAMAGES OF ANY KIND, INCLUDING DIRECT OR
INDIRECT, SPECIAL, INCIDENTAL OR CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES, LOSSES OR EXPENSES
(WHETHER IN TORT, CONTRACT OR OTHERWISE) ARISING OUT OF ANY COVERED
PARTY'S OR THE ADMINISTRATIVE AGENT' S TRANSMISSION OF COMMUNICATIONS
THROUGH THE INTERNET OR THE APPROVED ELECTRONIC PLATFORM.

“Communications’ means, collectively, any notice, demand, communication, information,
document or other materia provided by or on behalf of the Borrower or any other Covered Party pursuant
to any Loan Dacument or the transactions contemplated therein which is distributed by the Administrative
Agent or any Bank by means of electronic communications pursuant to this Section, including through an
Approved Electronic Platform.

(d) Each Bank agrees that notice to it (as provided in the next sentence) specifying
that Communications have been posted to the Approved Electronic Platform shall constitute effective
delivery of the Communications to such Bank for purposes of the Loan Documents. Each Bank agrees (i)
to notify the Administrative Agent in writing (which could be in the form of & ectronic communication)
from time to time of such Bank's email address to which the foregoing notice may be sent by electronic
transmission and (ii) that the foregoing notice may be sent to such email address.
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(e Each of the Banks and the Borrower agrees that the Administrative Agent may,
but (except as may be required by applicable law) shall not be obligated to, store the Communications an
the Approved Electronic Platform in accordance with the Administrative Agent’ s generally applicable
document retention procedures and policies.

() Nothing herein shdl prejudice the right of the Administrative Agent or any Bank
to give any notice or other communication pursuant to any L oan Document in any other manner specified
in such Loan Document.

Section7.12.  Certain ERISA Matters. (a) Each Bank (x) represents and warrants, as of the
date such Person became a Bank party hereto, to, and (y) covenants, from the date such Person became a
Bank party hereto to the date such Person ceases being a Bank party hereto, for the benefit of, the
Administrative Agent, and each other Agent and their respective Affiliates, and not, for the avoidance of
doubt, to or for the benefit of the Borrower or any other Covered Party, that at least one of the following
isand will be true:

(i) such Bank is not using “plan assets” (within the meaning of Section 3(42) of
ERISA or otherwise) of one or more Benefit Plans with respect to such Bank' s entrance into,
participation in, administration of and performance of the Loans, the Commitments, or this
Agreement,

(ii) the transacti on exemption set farth in one or more PTEs, such as PTE 84-14 (a
class exemption for certain transactions determined by independent qualified professional asset
managers), PTE 95-60 (a class exemption for certain transactions invol ving insurance company
general accounts), PTE 90-1 (a class exemption for certain transactions involving insurance
company pooled separate accounts), PTE 91-38 (a class exemption for certain transactions
invalving bank collective investment funds) or PTE 96-23 (a class exemption for certain
transactions determined by in-house asset managers), is gpplicable with respect to such Bank’s
entrance into, participation in, administration of and performance of the Loans, the Commitments
and this Agreement,

(iii)  (A) such Bank isan investment fund managed by a“Qualified Professional Asset
Manager” (within the meaning of Part VI of PTE 84-14), (B) such Qualified Professional Asset
Manager made the investment decision on behalf of such Bank to enter into, participatein,
administer and perform the Loans, the Commitments and this Agreement, (C) the entrance into,
participation in, administration of and performance of the Loans, the Commitments and this
Agreement satisfies the requirements of sub-sections (b) through (g) of Part | of PTE 84-14 and
(D) to the best knowledge of such Bank, the requirements of subsection (a) of Part | of PTE 84-14
are satisfied with respect to such Bank's entrance into, participation in, administration of and
performance of the Loans, the Commitments and this Agreement, or

(iv)  such other representation, warranty and covenant as may be agreed in writing
between the Administrative Agent, in its sole discretion, and such Bank.

(b) In addition, unless sub-clause (i) in the immediately preceding clause (a) is true
with respect to a Bank or such Bank has provided another representation, warranty and covenant in
accordance with sub-clause (iv) in the immediatel y preceding clause (a), such Bank further (x) represents
and warrants, as of the date such Person became a Bank party hereto, to, and () covenants, from the date
such Person became a Bank party hereto to the date such Person ceases being a Bank party hereto, for the
benefit of the Administrative Agent, and each other Agent and their respective Affiliates, and not, for the
avoidance of doubt, to or for the benefit of the Borrower or any other Covered Party, that none of the
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Administrative Agent, or any other Agent or any of their respective Affiliatesis afiduciary with respect
to the assets of such Bank involved in such Bank’s entrance into, participation in, administration of and
performance of the L oans, the Commitments and this Agreement (including in connection with the
reservation or exercise of any rights by the Administrative Agent under this Agreement, any Loan
Document or any documents related hereto or thereto).

ARTICLE VIII

CHANGE IN CIRCUMSTANCES

Section 8.1. Basis for Determining Interest Rate Inadequate or Unfair. (a) If on or prior to the
first day of any Interest Period for any Eurodollar Borrowing (i) the Administrative Agent determines
(which determination shall be conclusive absent manifest error) that adequate and reasonable means do
not exist for ascertaining the Eurodollar Base Rate or the Eurodollar Rate, as gpplicable (including,
without limitation, because the Screen Rate is not available or published on a current basis), for Dollars
and such Interest Period or that depositsin Dollars are not being offered in the relevant market for such
Interest Period or (ii) the Administrative Agent or the Required Banks determine in good faith that the
Eurodollar Rate for such Interest Period will not adequately reflect the cost to the Banks or the Required
Banks, as the case may be, of making, funding or maintaining such Eurodollar Borrowing for such
Interest Period, the Administrative Agent shall forthwith give notice thereof to the Borrower and the
Banks, whereupon until the Administrative Agent notifies the Borrower that the circumstances giving rise
to such suspension no longer exist, the obligations of the Banks to make, continue, or convert Loansinto,
Eurodollar Loans in Dollars shall be suspended. In such event, unless the Borrower notifies the
Administrative Agent on or before the second (2™) Eurodollar Business Day before, but excluding, the
date of any Eurodollar Borrowing for which a Notice of Borrowing has previously been given that it
elects not to borrow on such date, such Borrowing shall instead be made as a Base Rate Borrowing.

(b) If at any time the Administrative Agent determines (which determination shall be
conclusive absent manifest error) that (i) the circumstances set forth in paragraph (a)(i) have arisen and
such circumstances are unlikely to be temporary or (ii) the circumstances set forth in paragraph (a)(i) have
not arisen but either (w) the supervisor for the administrator of the Screen Rate has made apublic
statement that the administrator of the Screen Rate isinsolvent (and there is no successor administrator
that will continue publication of the Screen Rate), (x) the administrator of the Screen Rate has made a
public statement identifying a specific date after which the Screen Rate will permanently or indefinitely
cease to be published by it (and there is no successor administrator that will continue publication of the
Screen Rate), (y) the supervisor for the administrator of the Screen Rate has made a public statement
identifying a specific date after which the Screen Rate will permanently or indefinitely ceaseto be
published or (z) the supervisor for the administrator of the Screen Rate or a Governmental Authority
having jurisdiction over the Administrative Agent has made a public statement identifying a specific date
after which the Screen Rate may na longer be used for determining interest rates for loans, then the
Administrative Agent and the Borrower shal endeavor to establish an dlternate rate of interest to the
Eurodollar Rate that gives due consideration to the then prevailing market convention for determining a
rate of interest for syndicated loansin the United States at such time, and shall enter into an amendment to
this Agreement to reflect such alternate rate of interest and such other related changes to this Agreement
as may be gpplicable. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in Section 9.5, such amendment shall
become effective without any further action or consent of any other party to this Agreement so long as the
Administrative Agent shall not have received, within five Business Days of the date that such amendment
to such dternate rate of interest is provided to the Banks, a written notice from the Required Banks stating
that such Required Banks object to such amendment. Until an aternate rate of interest shall be determined
in accordance with this clause (b) (but, in the case of the circumstances described in clause (ii) of the first
sentence of this Section 8.1(b), only to the extent the Screen Rate for Dollars and such Interest Period is
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not available or published at such time on a current basis), (x) any Notice of Interest Rate Election that
requests the conversion of any Borrowing to, or continuation of any Borrowing as, a Eurodollar
Borrowing shall be ineffective, and (y) if any Notice of Borrowing requests a Eurodollar Borrowing, such
Borrowing shall be made as an Base Rate Borrowing; provided that, if such dternate rate of interest shall
be | ess than zero, such rate shall be deemed to be zero for the purposes of this Agreement.

Section8.2.  lllegdlity. If, on or after the date of this Agreement, the adoption of any
applicable law, rule or regulation, or any change in any applicable law, rule or regulation, or any change
in the interpretation or administration thereof by any governmenta authority, central bank or comparable
agency charged with the interpretation or administration thereof, or compliance by any Bank (or its
Eurodollar Lending Office) with any request or directive (whether or not having the force of law) made
after the Closing Date of any such authority, central bank or comparable agency shall make it unlawful
for any Bank (or its Eurodollar Lending Office) to make, maintain or fund its Eurodollar Loansin a
particular currency, the Administrative Agent shal forthwith give notice thereof to the other Banks and
the Borrower, whereupon until such Bank notifies the Borrower and the Administrative Agent that the
circumstances giving rise to such suspension no longer exist, the obligation of such Bank in the case of
the event described above to make Eurodollar Loans in such currency, shall be suspended. With respect
to Eurodollar Loans, before giving any notice to the Administrative Agent pursuant to this Section 8.2,
such Bank shall designate adifferent Eurodollar Lending Office if such designation will avoid the need
for giving such notice and will not, in the reasonable judgment of such Bank, be otherwise commercialy
disadvantageous to such Bank.

If at any time, it shall be unlawful for any Bank to make, maintain or fund any of its
Eurodollar Loans, the Borrower shall have the right, upon five (5) Business Days notice to the
Administrative Agent, to either (x) cause a bank, reasonably acceptable to the Administrative Agent, to
offer to purchase the Loans of such Bank for an amount egual to such Bank's outstanding Loans, together
with accrued and unpaid interest and fees thereon and dl other amounts due to such Bank are
concurrently therewith paid in full to such Bank, and to become a Bank hereunder, or obtain the
agreement of one or more existing Banks to offer to purchase the L cans of such Bank for such amount,
which offer such Bank is hereby required to accept, or (y) to repay in full dl Loans then outstanding of
such Bank, together with interest due thereon and any and al fees and other amounts due hereunder.

Section 8.3. Increased Cost and Reduced Return.

(a) If, on or after the date hereof, the adoption of any applicable law, rule or
regulation, or any change in any applicable law, rule or regulation, or any change in the interpretation or
administration thereof by any governmental authority, central bank or comparable agency charged with
the interpretation or administration thereof, or compliance by any Bank (or its Applicable Lending Office)
with any reguest or directive (whether or not having the force of law) made after the Closing Date of any
such authority, central bank or comparable agency, (i) shall subject any Bank to any tax on its capital
reserves (or any similar tax) with respect to this Agreement or any Eurodollar Loan made by it (except for
Taxes and Other Taxes covered by Section 8.4 and changes in the rate of tax on the overdl net income or
profits of such Bank); (ii) shall impose, modify or deem applicable any reserve (including, without
limitation, any such requirement imposed by the Board of Governors of the Federa Reserve System (but
excluding with respect to any Eurodollar Loan any such requirement reflected in an applicable Eurodollar
Reserve Percentage)), special deposit, insurance assessment or similar requirement against assets of,
deposits with or for the account of, or credit extended by, any Bank (or its Applicable Lending Office) or
(iii) shall impose on any Bank (or its Applicable Lending Office) or on the interbank market any other
condition materially more burdensome in nature, extent or consequence than those in existence as of the
date hereof affecting such Bank's Eurodollar Loans or its obligation to make Eurodollar Loans, and the
result of any of the foregoing is to increase the cost to such Bank (or its Applicable Lending Cffice) of
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making or maintaining any Eurodollar Loan, or to reduce the amount of any sum received or receivable
by such Bank (or its Applicable Lending Office) under this Agreement or under its Note with respect to
such Eurodallar Loans, by an amount reasonable determined by such Bank to be materid, then, within 15
days after demand by such Bank (with a copy to the Administrative Agent), the Borrower shall pay to
such Bank such additional amount or amounts (based upon a reasonable all ocation thereof by such Bank
to the Eurodollar Loans made by such Bank hereunder) as will compensate such Bank for such increased
cost or reduction to the extent such Bank generdly imposes such additiona amounts on other borrowers
of such Bank in similar circumstances; provided however, that notwithstanding anything herein to the
contrary, the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act and Basel 111 all requests,
rules, guidelines or directives thereunder or issued in connection therewith shal be deemed to be a change
in law, regardless of the date enacted, adopted or issued.

(b) If any Bank shall have reasonably determined that, after the date hereof, the
adoption of any applicable law, rule or regulation regarding capitd or liquidity requirements, or any
change in any such law, rule or regulation, or any change in the interpretation or administration thereof by
any governmental authority, centra bank or comparable agency charged with the interpretation or
administration thereof, or any request or directive regarding capital or liquidity requirements (whether or
not having the force of law) made after the Closing Date of any such authority, central bank or
comparable agency, has or would have the effect of reducing the rate of return on capital of such Bank (or
its Parent) as a conseguence of such Bank' s obligations hereunder to alevel below that which such Bank
(or its Parent) could have achieved but for such adoption, change, request or directive (taking into
consideration its palicies with respect to capita adequacy) by an amount reasonably deemed by such
Bank to be materid, then from time to time, within 15 days after demand by such Bank (with a copy to
the Administrative Agent), the Borrower shall pay to such Bank such additiona amount or amounts as
will compensate such Bank {or its Parent) for such reduction to the extent such Bank generdly imposes
such additiona amounts on other borrowers of such Bank in similar circumstances.

(c) Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, (i) all requests, rules,
guidelines, requirements and directives promul gated by the Bank for Internationa Settlements, the Basel
Committee on Banking Supervision (or any successor or similar authority) or by United States or foreign
regulatory authorities, in each case pursuant to Basel 111, and (ii) the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and
Consumer Protection Act and all requests, rules, guiddines, requirements and directives thereunder or
issued in connection therewith or in implementation thereof, shall in each case be deemed to be a change
in law, regardless of the date enacted, adopted, issued or implemented.

(d) Each Bank will promptly notify the Borrower and the Administrative Agent of
any event of which it has knowledge, occurring after the date hereof, which will entitle such Bank to
compensation pursuant to this Section and will designate a different Applicable Lending Officeif such
designation will avoid the need for, or reduce the amount of, such compensation and will not, in the
reasonable judgment of such Bank, be otherwise disadvantageous to such Bank. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, if such Bank shall fail to notify the Borrower of any such event within ninety (90) days
following the end of the month during which such event occurred, then the Borrower' s ligbility for any
amounts described in this Section incurred by such Bank as a result of such event shall be limited to those
attributable to the period occurring subsequent to the ninetieth (90" day prior to, but excluding, the date
upon which such Bank actually notified the Borrower of the occurrence of such event. A certificate of
any Bank claiming compensation under this Section and setting forth a reasonably detailed calculation of
the additional amount or amounts to be paid to it hereunder shall be condusive in the absence of
demonstrable error. In determining such amount, such Bank may use any reasonable averaging and
attribution methods.




(e If at any time, any Bank has demanded compensation pursuant to this Section
8.3, the Borrower shdl have the right, upon five (5) Business Days' notice to the Administrative Agent to
either (x) in accordance with Section 9.6(c), cause an Assignee to offer to purchase the Loans of such
Bank for an amount equa to such Bank’ s outstanding L oans plus accrued interest, fees and other amounts
due to such Bank, and to become a Bank hereunder, or to obtain the agreement of one or more existing
Banks to offer to purchase the Loans of such Bank for such amount, which offer such Bank is hereby
required to accept, or (y) to repay in full dl Loans then outstanding of such Bank, together with interest
and dl other amounts due thereon.

Section 8.4. Taxes.

(a) Any and al payments made by or on behalf of the Borrower to or for the account
of any Bank or the Administrative Agent hereunder or under any other Loan Docurnent shall be made free
and dear of and without deduction for or on acoount of any and dl present or future taxes, duties, levies,
imposts, deductions, charges or withholdings, and all liabilities with respect thereto, excluding (i) in the
case of each Bank and the Administrative Agent, taxes imposed on itsincome, and franchise taxes
imposed on it, by (A) the jurisdiction under the laws of which such Bank or the Administrative Agent (as
the case may be) is organized or any politica subdivision thereof, (B) in the case of each Bank, the
jurisdiction of such Bank's Applicable Lending Office or any political subdivision thereof or (C) any
other jurisdiction (or any political subdivision thereof) as aresult of apresent or former connection
between such Bank or the Administrative Agent and such other jurisdiction, except to the extent that such
connection would not have arisen but for entering into the transactions contemplated hereby and (ii) U.S.
federa withholding taxes imposed under FATCA (all such non-excluded taxes, duties, levies, imposts,
deductions, charges, withholdings and liabilities being hereinafter referred to as “Non-Excluded Taxes");
provided that, if any Non-Excluded Taxes are required to be deducted from or in respect of any sum
payable hereunder or under any other Loan Document, as determined in good faith by the applicable
withholding agent, (w) the sum payable by the Borrower shall be increased as necessary so that after
making all required deductions of Non-Excluded Taxes (including, without limitation, deductions of Non-
Excluded Taxes applicable to additional sums payable under this Section 8.4) such Bank or the
Administrative Agent (as the case may be) receives an amount equa to the sum it would have received
had no such deductions been made, (x) the Borrower shall make or cause to be made all deductions as
required by gpplicable law, (y) the Borrower shall pay or cause to be paid the full amount deducted to the
relevant taxation authority or other authority in accordance with applicable law and (z) the Borrower shall
furnish to the Administrative Agent, at its address referred to in Section 9.1, the original or a certified
copy of areceipt evidencing payment thereof.

(b) In addition, the Borrower agrees to pay any present or future stamp or
documentary taxes and any other excise or property taxes, or charges or similar levies which arise from
any payment made hereunder or under any other Loan Document or from the execution or delivery of, or
otherwise with respect to, this Agreement or any other Loan Document (herei nafter referred to as“ Other
Taxes').

(c) The Borrower agrees to indemnify each Bank and the Administrative Agent for
the full amount of Non-Excluded Taxes or Other Taxes (including, without limitation, any Non-Excluded
Taxes or Other Taxes imposed or asserted by any jurisdiction on amounts payable under this Section 8.4)
payable or paid by such Bank or the Administrative Agent (as the case may be) and any liability for
penalties and interest arising therefrom or with respect thereto, whether or not such Non-Excluded Taxes
or Other Taxes were correctly or legally imposed or asserted by the relevant jurisdiction. This
indemnification shall be made within 15 days from the date such Bank or the Administrative Agent (as
the case may be) makes demand therefor.
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(d) Each Bank that is a United States person for U.S. federal income tax purposes, on
or prior to the date of its execution and delivery of this Agreement in the case of each Bank listed on the
signature pages hereof and on or prior to the date on which it becomes a Bank in the case of each other
Bank (and from time to time thereafter upon the reasonable request of the Borrower or the Administrative
Agent), shall provide the Borrower and the Administrative Agent with two duly completed copies of
Internal Revenue Service Form W-9 or any successor form prescribed by the Internal Revenue Service
and shall provide the Borrower and the Administrative Agent with two further copies of any such formon
or before the date any such form or certification expires or becomes obsolete and after the occurrence of
any event requiring a change in the most recent form previously delivered to the Borrower and the
Administrative Agent. Each Bank that is not aUnited States person for U.S. federa income tax purposes,
on or prior to the date of its execution and delivery of this Agreement in the case of each Bank listed on
the signature pages hereof and on or prior to the date on which it becomes a Bank in the case of each
other Bank (and from time to time thereafter upon the reasonabl e request of the Borrower or the
Administrative Agent), shall provide the Borrower and the Administrative Agent with two duly
completed copies of an Internal Revenue Service Form W-8BENE, W-8ECI, or W-8IMY as gpplicable to
such Bank, or any successor form prescribed by the Internal Revenue Service, and shall provide the
Borrower and the Administrative Agent with two further copies of any such form on or before the date
that any such form expires or becomes obsolete and after the occurrence of any event requiring a change
in the most recent form previously delivered by it to the Borrower and the Administrative Agent. A Bank
that provides copies of the Internal Revenue Service Form W-8BENE and that is legally entitled to claim
the portfolio interest exemption pursuant to Section 881(c) of the Code, shall further provide the
Borrower and the Administrative Agent with, together with such Internal Revenue Service Form W-
8BENE, awritten confirmation of its entitlement to such exemption substantialy in the form of Exhibit J.
Tothe extent that it islegally entitled to do so, a Bank shall properly claim that such Bank is entitled to
benefits under an income tax treaty to which the United States is a party which reduces the rate of, or
eliminates, withholding tax on payments of interest hereunder. A Bank that is not a United States person
and that grants a participating interest in aLoan or Commitment to any other Person shall provide, in
addition to its own forms specified above, the Borrower and the Administrative Agent with two duly
completed copies of the Internal Revenue Service form applicable to such other Person, each under the
cover of an Interna Revenue Service Form W-8IMY and a withhol ding statement prepared in the manner
prescribed by the Internal Revenue Service, or such other forms and/or certificates evidencing such
Participant’s entitlement to any exemption from, or reduction in the rate of U.S. withholding tax, and
shall provide the Borrower and the Administrative Agent with two further copies of any such forms and
statements on or before the date any such forms or statements expire or become obsolete and after the
occurrence of any event requiring a change in the most recent form or statement previously delivered to
the Borrower and the Administrative Agent. Each Bank that is not a United States person for U.S. federd
income tax purposes shal deliver to the Borrower and the Administrative Agent any other form
prescribed by applicable requirements of U.S. federa income tax law as a basis for claiming exemption
from or areduction in U.S. federa withholding tax duly completed together with such supplementary
documentation as may be prescribed by applicable requirements of law to permit the Borrower and the
Administrative Agent to determine the withholding or deduction required to be made. If aBank failsto
timely and properly provide or update such forms or statements (unless such failureis due to achangein
treaty, law or regulation occurring subsequently to the time such Bank first becomes a party to this
Agreement) or if the form or statement provided by aBank at the time such Bank first becomes aparty to
this Agreement indicates a United States withholding tax rate in excess of zero, then backup withholding
or withholding tax resulting from the foregoing shall be considered excluded from “Non-Excluded Taxes"
as defined in Section 8.4(a), except to the extent that, in the case of United States withholding tax, such
Bank'sassignor (if any) was entitled, at the time of assignment, to receive additional amounts from the
Borrower or its Consolidated Subsidiary with respect to such United States withholding tax.
Notwithstanding any other provision of this paragraph (d)(i), no Bank shall be required to deliver any
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form, statement, certificate or supplementary documentation pursuant to this paragraph (d)(i) that such
Bank isnot legaly able to deliver.

(e) Upon reasonable demand by, and at the expense of, the Borrower or the
Administrative Agent to any Bank, the Bank shall ddliver to the Borrower and the Administrative Agent,
or to such government or taxing authority as the Borrower or the Administrative Agent may reasonably
direct, any form or document that may be required or reasonably requested in writing in order to dlow a
payment to be made hereunder or under any other L oan Document without any deduction or withholding
for or on account of any Non-Excluded Taxes or with such deduction or withholding at a reduced rate (so
long as the compl etion, execution or submission of such form or document would not materially prejudice
thelegal or commercia position of the party in receipt of such demand), with any such form or document
to be accurate and completed in a manner reasonably satisfactory to the Borrower or the Administrative
Agent making such demand and to be executed and to be delivered with any reasonably required
certification.

(f) If a payment made to a Bank under any Loan Document would be subject to U.S.
federa withholding tax imposed by FATCA if such Bank were to fail to comply with the applicable
reporting requirements of FATCA (including those contained in Section 1471(b) or 1472(b) of the Code,
as applicable), such Bank shall deliver to the Borrower and the Administrative Agent at the time or times
prescribed by law and at such time or times reasonably requested by the Barrower or the Administrative
Agent such documentation prescribed by applicable law (including as prescribed by Section
1471(b)(3)(C)(i) of the Code) and such additional documentation reasonably requested by the Borrower
or the Administrative Agent as may be necessary for the Borrower and the Administrative Agent to
comply with their obligations under FATCA and to determine that such Bank has complied with such
Bank's obligations under FATCA or to determine the amount to deduct and withhold from such payment.
Solely for purpaoses of this clause (f), “FATCA” shadl include any amendments made to FATCA after the
date of this Agreement.

(Q) For any period with respect to which a Bank has failed to provide the Borrower
and the Administrative Agent with the appropriate form pursuant to (and to the extent required by)
paragraph (d)(i) (unless such failure is due to a change in treaty, law or regulation occurring subsequent to
the date on which aform originally was required to be provided), such Bank shal not be entitled to
indemnification under Section 8.4(c) with respect to Non-Excluded Taxes imposed by the United States,
to the extent that such Non-Excluded Taxes would not have been imposed but for such Bank’sfailure to
pravide such form; provided, however, that should a Bank, which is otherwise exempt from or subject to
areduced rate of withhalding tax, become subject to Non-Excluded Taxes because of its failure to deliver
a form required hereunder, the Borrower shall take such steps as such Bank shall reasonably request to
assist such Bank to recover such taxes so long as the Borrower shall incur no cost or liability as a result
thereof.

(h) If the Borrower is required to pay additional amounts to or for the account of any
Bank pursuant to this Section 8.4, then such Bank will, if requested in writing by the Borrower, use
reasonable efforts to change the jurisdiction of its Applicable Lending Office so as to diminate or reduce
any such additional payment which may thereafter accrue if such change, in the reasonable judgment of
such Bank, will not subject such Bank to any unreimbursed cost or expense and is not otherwise
disadvantageous to such Bank; provided, that nothing in this Section 8.4(h) shall affect or postpone any of
the obligations of the Borrower or the rights of any Bank pursuant to this Section 8.4. The Borrower
hereby agrees to pay al reasonabl e costs and expenses incurred by any Bank in connection with any such
change.

- 69-




(i) If at any time, any Bank has demanded compensation pursuant to Section 8.3 or
Section 8.4 or the obligation of such Bank to make Eurodollar Loans has been suspended pursuant to
Section 8.2, in any such case, the Borrower shall have the right, upon five (5) Business Day’ s notice to
the Administrative Agent to either (x) in accordance with Section 9.6(c), cause an Assignee to offer to
purchase the Commitments of such Bank for an amount egual to such Bank's outstanding Loans plus
accrued interest, fees and other amounts due to such Bank, and to become a Bank hereunder, or to obtain
the agreement of one or more existing Banks to offer to purchase the Commitments of such Bank for such
amount, which offer such Bank is hereby required to accept, or (y) to repay in full all Loans then
outstanding of such Bank, together with interest and all other amounts due thereon; provided thet (i) any
replacement of a Bank under this paragraph does not conflict with any organizationa or governing
documents of any Person and any law, treaty rule or regulation goplicable to or binding upon such Person
or any of its property, (ii) prior to any replacement under this paragraph, such Bank shall have taken no
action under Section 8.4(h) so as to diminate the continued need for payments of amounts owing
pursuant to Section 8.3 or 8.4, (iii) the replacement financid institution shall be reasonably satisfactory to
the Administrative Agent, (iv) the replaced Bank shall be obligated to make such replacement in
accordance with the provisions of Section 9.6 (provided that the Borrower shall be obligated to pay the
registration and processing fee referred to therein), (v) until such time as such replacement shall be
consummated, the Borrower shdl pay al additional amounts (if any) required pursuant to Section 8.3 or
8.4, as the case may be, and (vi) any such replacement shall not be deemed to be awaiver of any rights
that the Borrower, the Administrative Agent or any other Bank shall have against the replaced Bank.

g) Each Bank shal severally indemnify the Administrative Agent for the full
amount of any taxes, duties, levies, imposts, deductions, charges or withholdings imposed by any taxation
autharity or other authority, that are attributable to (i) such Bank (but only to the extent that the Borrower
has not aready indemnified the Administrative Agent for such Non-Excluded Taxes or Other Taxes and
without limiting the obligation of the Borrower to do so) or (ii) such Bank's failure to comply with the
provisions of Section 9.6(b) relating to the maintenance of a Participant Register and, in either case, that
are payable or paid by the Administrative Agent, together with all interest, penaties, reasonable costs and
expenses arising therefrom or with respect thereto, as determined by the Administrative Agent in good
faith. A certificate as to the amount of such payment or liability delivered to any Bank by the
Administrative Agent shall be condlusive absent manifest error. Each Bank hereby authorizes the
Administrative Agent to set off and apply any and dl amounts at any time owing to such Bank under any
Loan Document or otherwise payable by the Administrative Agent to the Bank from any other source
against any amount due to the Administrative Agent under this paragraph (j).

(k) If a Bank or the Administrative Agent determines, inits sole discretion, that it
has received a refund of any Non-Excluded Taxes as to which it has been indemnified by the Borrower or
with respect to which the Borrower has paid additional amounts pursuant to this Section 8.4, it shall pay
to the Borrower within five (5) Business Days an amount equal to such refund (but only to the extent of
indemnity payments made, or Non-Excluded Taxes paid, by the Borrower under this Section 8.4 with
respect to the Non-Excluded Taxes giving rise to such refund), net of all out-of-pocket expenses of such
Bank or the Administrative Agent and without interest (other than any interest paid by the relevant
Governmental Authority with respect to such refund); provided, that the Borrower, upon the request of
such Bank or the Administrative Agent, agrees to repay the amount paid over to the Borrower (plus any
penalties, interest or other charges imposed by the relevant Governmental Authority) to such Bank or the
Administrative Agent in the event such Bank or the Administrative Agent is required to repay such refund
to such Governmental Authority. This paragraph shall not be construed to require any Bank or the
Administrative Agent to make available its tax returns (or any other information relating to its taxes that it
deems confidentia ) to the Borrower or any other person. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary, in no
event will any Bank or the Administrative Agent be required to pay any amount to the Borrower the
payment of which would place such Bank or the Administrative Agent in aless favorable net after tax
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position than it would have been in if the Non-Excluded Taxes giving rise to such refund had never been
deducted, withheld or otherwise imposed and the indemnification payments or additional amounts with
respect to such Non-Excluded Taxes had never been paid.

(N Each party’ s obligations under this Section 8.4 shall survive the resignation or
replacement of the Administrative Agent or any assignment of rights by, or the replacement of, a Bank,
the termination of the Commitments and the repayment, satisfaction or discharge of al obligations under
the Loan Documents.

Section8.5.  Base Rate L oans Substituted for Affected Eurodollar Loans. If (i) the obligation
of any Bank to make Eurodollar L oans has been suspended pursuant to Section 8.2 or (ii) any Bank has
demanded compensation under Section 8.3 or Section 8.4 with respect to its Eurodollar Loans and the
Borrower shal, by at |east five Business Days' prior notice to such Bank through the Administrative
Agent, have el ected that the provisions of this Section shall apply to such Bank, then, unless and until
such Bank natifies the Borrower that the circumstances giving rise to such suspension or demand for
compensation no longer exist:

(a) the Borrower shall be deemed to have delivered a Notice of Interest Rate
Election with respect to such affected Eurodollar Loans and thereafter dl Loans which would otherwise
be continued or converted by such Bank to the Borrower as Eurodollar Loans shal be made instead as
Base Rate Loans; and

(b) after each of its Eurodollar Loans has been repaid, al payments of principa
which would otherwise be applied to repay such Eurodollar Loans shdl be applied to repay its Base Rate
L oans instead; and

(c) the Borrower will not be required to make any payment which would otherwise
be reguired by Section 2.14 with respect to such Eurodollar L oans converted to Base Rate L oans pursuant
to clause (a) above.

ARTICLE IX

MISCELLANEOUS

Section9.1.  Notices. (a) All notices, requests and other communications to any party
hereunder shal be in writing (including bank wire, facsimile transmission followed by telephonic
confirmation or similar writing) and shall be given to such party: (x) in the case of the Borrower and the
Administrative Agent, at its address or facsimile number set forth on Exhibit K attached hereto with
duplicate copies thereof, in the case of the Borrower, to the Borrower, at its address set forth on the
signature page hereof, to its General Counsel and Chief Financia Officer, (y) in the case of any Bank, at
its address or facsimile number set forth in its Administrative Questionnaire or (z) in the case of any
party, such other address or facsimile number and/or email address as such party may hereafter specify
for the purpose by notice to the Administrative Agent and the Borrower. Each such notice, request or
other communication shall be effective (i) if given by telex or facsimile transmission, when such facsimile
is transmitted to the facsimile number specified in this Section and the appropriate answerback or
facsimile confirmation is received, and if not received during the recipient’s normal business hours, shall
be deemed received at the opening of its next Business Day, (ii) if given by certified registered mail,
return receipt requested, with first class postage prepaid, addressed as aforesaid, upon receipt or refusa to
accept delivery, (iii) if given by anationaly recognized overnight carrier, 24 hours after such
communication is deposited with such carrier with postage prepaid for next day ddlivery, or (iv) if given
by any other means, when delivered at the address specified in this Section; provided that notices to the
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Administrative Agent under Article Il or Article V11 shal not be effective until actually received. Notices
delivered through Approved Electronic Platforms, to the extent provided in paragraph (b) below, shdl be
effective as provided in said paragraph (b).

(b) Notices and other communications to the Banks hereunder may be delivered or
furnished by using Approved Electronic Platforms pursuant to procedures gpproved by the Administrative
Agent; provided that the foregoing shall not apply to notices pursuant to Article Il unless otherwise
agreed by the Administrative Agent and the gpplicable Bank. The Administrative Agent or the Borrower
may, in its discretion, agree to accept notices and other communications to it hereunder by electronic
communications pursuant to procedures goproved by it; provided that gpproval of such procedures may be
limited to particul ar notices or communi cations.

(c) Unless the Administrative Agent otherwise prescribes, (i) notices and other
communications sent to an e-mail address shall be deemed received upon the sender’ s receipt of an
acknowledgement from the intended recipient (such as by the “return receipt requested” function, as
available, return e-mail or other written acknowledgement), and (ii) notices or communications posted to
an Internet or intranet website shal be deemed received upon the deemed receipt by the intended
recipient, at its email address as described in the foregoing clause (i), of notification that such notice or
communication is available and identifying the website address therefor; provided that, for both clauses
(i) and (ii) above, if such notice, email or other communication is not sent during the normal business
hours of the recipient, such notice or communication shall be deemed to have been sent at the opening of
business on the next business day for the recipient.

(d) Any party hereto may change its address or telecopy number for notices and
other communications hereunder by notice to the other parties hereto.

Section9.2.  NoWaivers. No failure or delay by the Administrative Agent or any Bank in
exercising any right, power or privilege hereunder or under any Note shall operate as awaiver thereof nor
shall any single or partia exercise thereof preclude any other or further exercise thereof or the exercise of
any other right, power or privilege. The rights and remedies herein provided shall be cumulative and not
exclusive of any rights or remedies provided by law.

Section 9.3. Expenses; |ndemnification.

(a) The Borrower shall pay within thirty (30) days after written notice from the
Administrative Agent, (i) for al reasonable and documented out-of-pocket costs and expensesincurred in
connection with the development, preparation and execution of, and any amendment, supplement or
modification to, this Agreement and the other Loan Documents and any other documents prepared in
connection herewith or therewith, and the consummation and administration of the transactions
contempl ated hereby and thereby, including the reasonable and documented fees and disbursements of
counsel to the Administrative Agent and (ii) if an Event of Default occurs, all reasonable out-of-pocket
expenses incurred by the Administrative Agent and each Bank, including, without limitation, reasonable
and invoiced fees and disbursements of counseal for the Administrative Agent and each of the Banks, in
connection with the enforcement of the Loan Documents and the instruments referred to therein and such
Event of Default and collection, bankruptcy, insolvency and other enforcement proceedings resulting
therefrom (provided, however, that the attorneys’ fees and disbursements for which the Borrower is
abligated under this subsection (a)(ii) shall belimited to the reasonable and invoiced non-duplicative fees
and disbursements of (A) counsel for the Administrative Agent, and (B) counsdl for al of the Banksasa
group; and provided, further, that all other costs and expenses for which the Borrower is obligated under
this subsection (a)(ii) shall be limited to the reasonable and invoiced non-duplicative costs and expenses
of the Administrative Agent). For purposes of this subsection (a)(ii), (1) counsel for the Administrative
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Agent shall mean a single outside law firm representing the Administrative Agent and (2) counsel for all
of the Banks as a group shal mean a single outside law firm representing such Banks as a group (which
law firm may or may not be the same law firm representing the Administrative Agent).

(b) The Borrower agrees to indemnify each Agent and each Bank, their respective
affiliates and the respective directors, officers, agents, partners, advisors, representatives and employees
of the foregoing (each an “Indemnitee” ) and hold each Indemnitee harmless from and against any and al
liabilities, losses, damages, costs and expenses of any kind, including, without limitation, the reasonable
fees and disbursements of counsel, which may be incurred by such Indemnitee in connection with any
investigative, administrative or judicial proceeding that may at any time (ind uding, without limitation, at
any time following the payment of the Obligations) be asserted against any Indemnitee, as aresult of, or
arising out of, or in any way related to or by reason of, (i) any of the transactions contemplated by the
Loan Documents or the execution, delivery or performance of any Loan Document, (ii) any violation by
the Borrower or the Environmental Affiliates of any applicable Environmental Law, (iii) any
Environmenta Claim arising out of the management, use, control, ownership or operation of property or
assets by the Borrower or any of the Environmenta Affiliates, including, without limitation, al on-site
and off-site activities of the Borrower or any Environmental Affiliateinvolving Materiads of
Environmental Concern, or (iv) the breach of any environmenta representation or warranty set forth
herein, but excluding those liabilities, losses, damages, costs and expenses (a) for which such Indemnitee
has been compensated pursuant to the terms of this Agreement or that are excluded under Section 8.3, (b)
incurred solely by reason of the gross negligence or willful misconduct of such Indemnitee as determined
by afind judgment of a court of competent jurisdiction, (c) arising from any violation of Environmenta
Law relating to a Property, which violation is caused by the act or omission of such Indemnitee after such
Indemnitee takes possession of such Property or (d) owing by such Indemnitee to any third party based
upon contractud obligations of such Indemnitee owing to such third party which are not expressly set
forth in the Loan Documents. In addition, the indemnification set forth in this Section 9.3(b) in favor of
any director, officer, agent or employee of any Agent or any Bank shall be solely in their respective
capacities as such director, officer, agent or employee. The Borrower's obligations under this Section
shall survive the termination of this Agreement and the payment of the Obligations. Without limitation of
the other provisions of this Section 9.3, the Borrower shall indemnify and hold each of the Agents and the
Banks free and harmless from and against al loss, costs (including reasonable and documented attorneys
fees and expenses), expenses, taxes, and damages (including consequential damages) that the Agents and
the Banks may suffer or incur by reason of the investigation, defense and settlement of claims and in
abtaining any prohibited transaction exemption under ERISA or the Code necessary in the Administrative
Agent’ s reasonable judgment by reason of the inaccuracy of the representations and warranties, or a
breach of the provisions, set forthin Section 4.6(a). In the case of an investigation, litigation or
proceeding to which the indemnity in this paragraph gpplies, such indemnity shall be effective whether or
not such investigation, litigation or proceeding is brought by the Borrower, any of the Borrower’ s equity
holders or creditors, an Indemnitee or any other Person, whether or not an Indemnitee is otherwise a party
thereto.

Section9.4.  Sharing of Set-Offs. In addition to any rights now or hereafter granted under
applicable law or otherwise, and not by way of limitation of any such rights, upon the occurrence and
during the continuance of any Event of Default, each Bank is hereby authorized at any time or from time
to time, without presentment, demand, protest or other notice of any kind to the Borrower or to any other
Person, any such notice being hereby expressly wai ved, to set off and to gppropriate and apply any and dll
deposits (general or gpecid, time or demand, provisional or final) and any other indebtedness at any time
held or owing by such Bank (including, without limitation, by branches, agencies and Affiliates of such
Bank wherever located) to or for the credit or the account of the Borrower against and on account of the
Obligations of the Borrower then due and payable to such Bank under this Agreement or under any of the
other Loan Documents, including, without limitation, all interests in Obligations purchased by such Bank;
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provided that if any Defaulting Bank shall exercise any such right of set-off, (i) dl amounts so set-of f
shall be paid over immediately to the Administrative Agent for further goplication in accordance with the
provisions of this Agreement and, pending such payment, shall be segregated by such Defaulting Bank
from its other funds and deemed held in trust for the benefit of the Administrative Agent and the Banks
and (ii) the Defaulting Banks shall provide promptly to the Administrative Agent a statement describing
in reasonable detail the obligations owing to such Defaulting Bank as to which it exercised such right of
set-off. Each Bank agreesthat if it shall, by exercising any right of set-off or counterclaim or otherwise,
receive payment of aproportion of the aggregate amount of principa and interest due with respect to any
Loan made by it, which is greater than the proportion received by any other Bank with respect to such due
amount, the Bank receiving such proportionately greater payment shall purchase such participationsin the
Loans made by the other Banks, and such other adjustments shall be made, as may be required so that all
such payments of principa and interest with respect to the L oans made by the Banks shall be shared by
the Banks pro rata; provided that, but subject to the proviso in thefirst sentence of this Section 9.4,
nothing in this Section shall impair the right of any Bank to exercise any right of set-off or counterclaim it
may have to any deposits not received in connection with the Loans and to apply the amount subject to
such exercise to the payment of indebtedness of the Barrower other than its indebtedness under the Loans.
The Borrower agrees, to the fullest extent it may effectively do so under gpplicable law, that any holder of
aparticipation in a Loan, whether or not acquired pursuant to the foregoing arrangements, may exercise
rights of set-off or counterclaim and other rights with respect to such participation as fully asif such
holder of a participation were adirect creditor of the Borrower in the amount of such participation.
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, any Bank may, by separate agreement with
the Borrower, waive its right to set off contained herein or granted by law and any such written waiver
shall be effective against such Bank under this Section 9.4.

Section 9.5.  Amendments and Waivers. (@) Any pravision of this Agreement or the Notes or
other Loan Documents may be amended or waived if, but only if, such amendment or waiver isin writing
and is signed by the Borrower and the Required Banks (and, if the rights or duties of the Administrative
Agent in its capacity as the Administrative Agent are affected thereby, by the Administrative Agent);
provided that no amendment or waiver with respect to this Agreement, the Notes or any other Loan
Document shall, unless signed by (x) each Bank directly affected thereby, (i) reduce the principal of or,
subject to Section 8.1(b), rate of interest on any Loan or any fees hereunder, (ii) postpone, whether
through forbearance or otherwise, the date fixed for any payment of principa of or interest on any Loan
or any fees hereunder or for any reduction or termination of any Commitments, (iii) reduce the percentage
specified in the definition of “Reguired Banks” or " Super Mgjority Banks™ or otherwise change the
aggregate unpaid principa amount of the Loans, or the number of Banks, which shall be required for the
Banks or any of them to take any action under this Section or any other provision of this Agreement or
any Collatera Document, (iv) release all or a substantial portion of the Collateral under the Collatera
Documents (exoept as expressly permitted by the Collateral Documents or this Agreement), (v) modify
the provisions of this Section 9.5, (vi) increase, extend or restate the Commitments of any Bank or subject
any Bank to any additional obligation hereunder, or (vii) amend, modify or waive the definition of “ Pro
Rata Share” or any other provision that provides for the ratable or pro rata nature of disbursements by or
payments to Banks, (y) each Bank, amend, modify or waive any provision of Sections 2.10 and Section
2.11, and (z) the Super Mgority Banks, amend, modify or waive the definition of “Borrowing Base” or
any component thereof or definition used therein if such amendment, modification or waiver is has the
effect of increasing the Borrowing Base.

(b) The Administrative Agent may, but shal have no obligation to, with the
concurrence of any Bank, execute amendments, modifications, waivers or consents on behaf of such
Bank. Any waiver or consent shall be effective only in the specific instance and for the specific purpose
for which it was given. No notice to or demand on any Covered Party in any case shall entitle any
Covered Party to any other or further notice or demand in similar or other circumstances. Any
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amendment, modification, termination, waiver or consent effected in accordance with this Section 9.5
shall be binding upon each Bank at the time outstanding, each future Bank and, if signed by a Covered
Party, on such Covered Party.

Section 9.6. Successors and Assigns.

(a) The provisions of this Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit
of the parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns, except that (i) the Borrower
may not assign or otherwise transfer any of its rights under this Agreement or the other Loan Documents
without the prior written consent of all Banks and the Administrative Agent and (ii) a Bank may not
assign, pledge or otherwise transfer any of its interest under this Agreement except as permitted in under
this Section 9.6.

(b) Prior to the occurrence of an Event of Default, any Bank may at any time,
without notice to and the consent of the Borrower or the Administrative Agent, grant to athen existing
Bank or any Affiliate thereof, one or more banks, finance companies, insurance companies or other
financial institutions or trusts (a“ Participant”) participating interestsin any or al of its Commitments or
Loans. After the occurrence and during the continuance of an Event of Default, any Bank may at any
time, without notice to and the consent of the Borrower or the Administrative Agent, grant to any Person
in any amount (also a“Participant” ), participating interestsin any or dl of its Loans. Any participation
made during the continuation of an Event of Default shall not be affected by the subsequent cure of such
Event of Default. In the event of any such grant by a Bank of a participating interest to a Participant,
whether or not upon notice to the Borrower and the Administrative Agent, such Bank shall remain
responsible for the performance of its obligations hereunder, and the Borrower and the Administrative
Agent shall continue to ded solely and directly with such Bank in connection with such Bank's rights and
obligations under this Agreement. Any agresment pursuant to which any Bank may grant such a
participating interest shall provide that such Bank shall retain the sole right and responsibility to enforce
the obligations of the Borrower hereunder including, without limitation, the right to gpprove any
amendment, modification or waiver of any provision of this Agreement or any other L oan Document;
provided that such participation agreement may provide that such Bank will not agree to any
modification, amendment or waiver of this Agreesment described in Section 9.5(a)(x) or (y) without the
consent of the Participant. The Borrower agrees that each Participant shall, to the extent provided in its
participation agreement, be entitled to the benefits of Article V111 with respect to its participating interest
(it being understood that the documentation required under Section 8.4(d) shall be delivered to the
participating Bank) to the same extent asif it were a Bank and had acquired its interest by assignment
pursuant to paragraph (c) of this Section 9.6; provided that such Participant (i) agrees to be subject to the
provisions of Section 8.3 and Section 8.4 as if it were an assignee under paragraph (c) of this Section and
(ii) shall not be entitled to receive any greater payment under Section 8.3 or Section 8.4, with respect to
any participation, than its participating Bank would have been entitled to receive, except to the extent
such entitlement to receive a greater payment results from an adoption of or any change in any
requirement, interpretation or gpplication of law or compliance by any Bank with any request or directive
(whether or not having the force of law) from any central bank or relevant authority made subsequent to
the Closing Date that occurs after the Participant acquired the applicable participation. Each Bank that
grants participating interests in any or dl of its Commitments or Loans, acting soldy for thispurpose as a
non-fiduciary agent of the Borrower, shall maintain aregister on which it enters the name and address of
each Participant and principal amount of the Commitment or Loan and interest owing to each Participant
(the " Participant Register”); provided that no Bank shall have any obligations to disclose dl or any
portion of the Participant Register to any Person, except to the extent that such disclosure is necessary to
establish that such Loan isin registered form under Section 5f.103-1(c) of the United States Treasury
Regulations. The entriesin the Participant Register shall be conclusive, and the Borrower, the
Administrative Agent and the Banks shall treat each Person whose name is recorded in the Participant
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Register pursuant to the terms hereof as the owner of such participation for al purpases of this
Agreament, notwithstanding notice to the contrary.

(c) (i) Subject tothe conditions set forth in paragraph (c)(ii) below, any Bank may
assign to one or more assignees (each, an “ Assignee”), other than a natura person, the Borrower or any of
the Borrower's Affiliates or Subsidiaries, any Defaulting Bank or any of its Subsidiaries, al or aportion
of its rights and obligations under this Agreement (including al or a portion of its Commitments or Loans
at the time owing to it) with the prior written consent of:

(A)  theBorrower (such consent not to be unreasonably withheld and
provided that the Borrower shall be deemed to have consented to any such assignment
unlessit shall object thereto by written notice to the Administrative Agent within 10
Business Days after having received notice thereof), provided that no consent of the
Borrower shall be required for an assignment to a Bank, an affiliate of aBank, an
Approved Fund (as defined below) or, if an Event of Default has occurred and is
continuing, any other Person; and

(B) the Administrative Agent, provided that no consent of the Administrative
Agent shall be required for an assignment of dl or any portion of aLoanto aBank, an
affiliate of a Bank, an Approved Fund or an assignment to the Borrower as contempl ated
by Section 2.13.

(ii) Assignments shall be subject to the following additional conditions:

(A)  exceptin the case of an assignment to a Bank, an affiliate of aBank or an
Approved Fund or an assignment of the entire remaining amount of the assigning Bank's
Commitments or L oans, the amount of the Commitments or Loans of the assigning Bank
subject to each such assignment (determined as of the date the Assignment and
Assumption with respect to such assignment is delivered to the Administrative Agent)
shall not be less than $5,000,000 (which shall be cadculated as necessary to include any
concurrent assignments by the assignor to an affiliate, or an Approved Fund, of the
gnee) unless each of the Borrower and the Administrative Agent otherwise consents,
provided that (1) no such consent of the Borrower shall be required if an Event of Default
has occurred and is continuing and (2) such amounts shall be aggregated in respect of
each Bank and its affiliates or Approved Funds, if any;

(B) (1) the parties to each assignment shall execute and deliver to the
Administrative Agent (x) an Assignment and Assumption or (y) to the extent applicable,
an agreament incorporating an Assignment and Assumption by reference pursuant to an
Approved Electronic Platform as to which the Administrative Agent and the parties to the
Assignment and Assumption are participants, together with a processing and recordation
fee of $3,500 (other than in the case of an assignment to the Borrower as contempl ated by
Section 2.13) and (2) the assigning Bank shall have paid in full any amounts owing by it
to the Administrative Agent; and

(C) the Assignee, if it shall not be a Bank, shall deliver to the Administrative
Agent an administrative questionnaire in which the Assignee designates one or more
credit contacts to whom all syndicate-level information (which may contain material non-
public information about the Borrower and its Affiliates and their rel ated parties or their
respective securities) will be made avail able and who may receive such information in
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accordance with the assignee’ s compliance procedures and applicable laws, including
Federal and state securities |aws.

For the purposes of this Section 9.6, “ Approved Fund” means any Person (other than a

natural person) that is engaged in making, purchasing, holding or investing in bank loans and similar
extensions of credit in the ordinary course of its business and that is administered or managed by (a) a
Bank, (b) an affiliate of a Bank or (c) an entity or an affiliate of an entity that administers or manages a

(iii)  Subject to acceptance and recording thereof pursuant to paragraph (c)(iv) below,
from and after the effective date specified in each Assignment and Assumption the Assignee
thereunder shall be a party hereto and, to the extent of the interest assigned by such Assignment
and Assumption, have the rights and obligations of a Bank under this Agreement, and the
assigning Bank thereunder shall, to the extent of the interest assigned by such Assignment and
Assumption, be released from its obligati ons under this Agreement (and, in the case of an
Assignment and Assumption covering all of the assigning Bank's rights and obligations under
this Agreement, such Bank shall cease to be aparty hereto but shall continue to be entitled to the
benefits of Sections 8.3, 8.4 and 9.3). Any assignment or transfer by a Bank of rights or
obligations under this Agreement that does not comply with this Section 9.6 shall be treated for
purposes of this Agreement as a sale by such Bank of aparticipation in such rights and
obligations in accordance with paragraph (b) of this Section.

(iv)  The Administrative Agent, acting for this purpose as a non-fiduciary agent of the
Borrower and permitting access thereto to the Borrower, shal maintain at one of its offices a
copy of each Assignment and Assumption delivered to it and a register for the recordation of the
names and addresses of the Banks and each of their Assignees, and principa amount of the Loans
and interest owing to, each Bank pursuant to the terms hereof from time to time (the “ Register”).
The entries in the Register shall be conclusive, and the Borrower, the Administrative Agent and
the Banks shall treat each Person whose name is recorded in the Register pursuant to the terms
hereof as a Bank hereunder for all purposes of this Agreement, notwithstanding notice to the
contrary.

(v) Upon its receipt of a duly completed Assignment and Assumption executed by an
assigning Bank and an Assignee, the Assignee’ s completed administrative questionnaire (unless
the Assignee shall dready be a Bank hereunder), the processing and recordation fee referred toin
paragragph (c)(ii)(B) of this Section and any written consent to such assignment required by
paragraph (c)(i) of this Section, the Administrative Agent shall accept such Assignment and
Assumption and record the information contained therein in the Register. No assignment shall be
effective for purposes of this Agreement unlessit has been recorded in the Register as provided in
this paragraph.

(d) Any Bank may at any time (1) assign, pledge or assign a security interest in all or

any portion of its rights under this Agreement and its Note to secure obligations to a Federd Reserve
Bank or (2) pledge or assign a security interest in all or any portion of its rights under this Agreement and
its Note to secure obligations of such Bank, and this Section 9.6 shall not apply to any such assignment,
pledge or assignment of a security interest. No such assignment, pledge or assignment of a security
interest shall release the transferor Bank from its obligations hereunder or substitute such pledgee for such
transferor Bank as a party hereto.

(e No Assignee, Participant, pledgee or other transferee of any Bank'’ s rights shall

be entitled to receive any greater payment under Section 8.3 or Section 8.4 than such Bank would have

g 2




been entitled to receive with respect to the rights transferred, unless such transfer is made (i) with the
Borrower' s prior written consent, (ii) by reason of the provisions of Section 8.2, Section 8.3 or Section
8.4 requiring such Bank to designate a different Applicable Lending Office under certain circumstances
or (iii) at a time when the circumstances giving rise to such greater payment did not exist.

Section9.7.  Governing Law; Submission to Jurisdiction; Judgment Currency. (a) THIS
AGREEMENT AND THE OTHER LOAN DOCUMENTS AND THE RIGHTS AND OBLIGATIONS
OF THE PARTIES HEREUNDER AND THEREUNDER SHALL BE CONSTRUED IN
ACCORDANCE WITH AND BE GOVERNED BY THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK.

(b) Any legal action or proceeding with respect to this Agreement or any other Loan
Document and any action for enforcement of any judgment in respect thereof may be brought in the
courts of the State of New Y ork or of the United States of America for the Southern District of New
York, in each case, which are located in New Y ork County, and, by execution and delivery of this
Agreement, the Borrower hereby accepts for itself and in respect of its property, generally and
unconditionally, the exclusive jurisdiction of the aforesaid courts and appellate courts from any thereof.
The Borrower irrevocably consents, for itself, to the service of process out of any of the aforementioned
courts in any such action or proceeding by the hand delivery, or mailing of copies thereof by registered or
certified mail, postage prepaid, to the Borrower at its address for notice as provided under Section 9.1
hereof. The Borrower hereby, for itself, irrevocably waives any objection which it may now or hereafter
have to the laying of venue of any of the aforesaid actions or proceedings arising out of or in connection
with this Agreement or any other Loan Document brought in the courts referred to above and hereby
further irrevocably waives and agrees not to plead or claim in any such court that any such action or
proceeding brought in any such court has been brought in an inconvenient forum. Nothing herein shall
affect the right of the Administrative Agent to serve process in any other manner permitted by law or to
commence lega proceedings or otherwise proceed against the Borrower in any other jurisdiction.

(c) If for the purpose of obtaining judgment in any court it is necessary to convert a
sum due hereunder in one currency into another currency, the parties hereto agree, to the fullest extent
that they may effectively do so under applicable law, that the rate of exchange used shal be the spot rate
at which in accordance with normal banking procedures the first currency could be purchased in New
York City with such other currency by the person obtaining such judgment on the Business Day
preceding that on which final judgment is given.

(d) The parties agree, to the fullest extent that they may effectively do so under
applicable law, that the obligations of the Borrower to make payments in any currency of the principa of
and interest on the Loans of the Borrower and any other amounts due from the Borrower hereunder to the
Administrative Agent as provided herein (i) shall not be discharged or satisfied by any tender, or any
recovery pursuant to any judgment (whether or not entered in accordance with Section 9.7(c)), in any
currency other than the relevant currency, except to the extent that such tender or recovery shal result in
the actual receipt by the Administrative Agent at its relevant office on behalf of the Banks of the full
amount of the relevant currency expressed to be payable in respect of the principa of and interest on the
Loans and all other amounts due hereunder (it being assumed for purposes of this clause (i) that the
Administrative Agent will convert any amount tendered or recovered into the relevant currency on the
date of such tender or recovery), (ii) shal be enforceable as an dternative or additiona cause of action for
the purpose of recovering in the relevant currency the amount, if any, by which such actua receipt shall
fall short of the full amount of the relevant currency so expressed to be payable and (iii) shall not be
affected by an unrel ated judgment being obtained for any other sum due under this Agreement.

Section9.8.  Counterparts; Integration; Effectiveness. This Agreement may be signed in any
number of counterparts, each of which shall be an original, with the same effect asif the signatures
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thereto and hereto were upon the same instrument. This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement and
understanding among the parties hereto and supersedes any and dl prior agreements and understandings,
ord or written, relating to the subject matter hereof. This Agreement shall become effective upon receipt
by the Administrative Agent and the Borrower of counterparts hereof signed by each of the parties hereto.
Delivery of an executed signature page of this Agreement by email or facsimile transmission shall be
effective as delivery of a manually executed counterpart hereof.

Section9.9. WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL. EACH OF THE BORROWER, THE AGENTS
AND THE BANKS HEREBY IRREVOCABLY AND UNCONDITIONALLY WAIVE TRIAL BY
JURY IN ANY LEGAL ACTION OR PROCEEDING RELATING TO THISAGREEMENT OR ANY
OTHER LOAN DOCUMENT AND FOR ANY COUNTERCLAIM THEREIN.

Section 9.10.  Survival. All indemnities set forth herein shall survive the execution and
delivery of this Agreement and the other Loan Documents and the making and repayment of the Loans
hereunder.

Section9.11.  Domicile of Loans. Subject to the provisions of Article V11, each Bank may
transfer and carry its Loans at, to or for the account of any domestic or foreign branch office, subsidiary
or effiliate of such Bank.

Section 9.12.  Limitation of Liability. No claim may be made by the Borrower or any other
Person acting by or through the Borrower against any Agent or any Bank or the affiliates, directors,
officers, employees, attorneys or agent of any of them for any punitive, consequential, specia or
exemplary damages in respect of any claim for breach of contract or any other theory of liability arising
out of or reated to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or by the other L oan Documents, or
any act, omission or event occurring in connection therewith; and the Borrower hereby waives, releases
and agrees not to sue upen any claim for any such damages, whether or not accrued and whether or not
known or suspected to exist in its favor.

Section 9.13.  Recourse Obligation. This Agreement and the Obligations hereunder are fully
recourse to the Borrower. Notwithstanding the foregoing, no recourse under or upon any obligation,
covenant, or agreement contained in this Agreement shall be had against any officer, director, shareholder
or employee of the Borrower except in the event of fraud or misgppropriation of funds on the part of such
officer, director, shareholder or employee.

Section 9.14.  Confidentiality.

Each of the Agents and the Banks understands that some of the information furnished to
it pursuant to this Agreement and the other L oan Documents may be received by it prior to the time that
such information shall have been made public, and each of the Agents and the Banks hereby agrees that it
will keep dl Information (as defined below) received by it confidentia except that each Agent and each
Bank shall be permitted to disclose Information (i) only to its Affiliates and such of its and its Affiliates
respective officers, directors, employees, agents, auditors, partners, trustees, administrators, managers,
advisors, representatives, consultants, service providers and buyers as need to know such information in
connection with this Agreement or any other Loan Document and who will be advised of the confidentia
nature of such Information; (ii) to any other party to this Agreement; (iii) to a proposed Assignee, pledgee
ar Participant in accordance with Section 9.6 hereof or to a counterparty or prospective counterparty (or
its advisors) to any swap or derivative transaction relating to the Borrower and its obligati ons hereunder,
provided such Person agrees in writing to keep such Information confidentia on terms substantially
similar to this Section 9.14; (iv) on a confidentia basis to any rating agency in connection with rating the
Borrower or its Subsidiaries or the Loans or the CUSIP Service Bureau or any similar agency in
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connection with the issuance and monitoring of identification numbers with respect to the Loans; (v) to
the extent required by applicable |law and regulations or by any subpoena or other legal process; (vi) to the
extent requested by any bank regulatory authority or other regulatory authority or self-regulatory
organization; (vii) to the extent such information becomes publicly available other than as a result of a
breach of this Agreement; (viii) to the extent the Borrower shall have consented to such disclosure or (ix)
in connection with the exercise of any remedies hereunder or under any other Loan Document or any of
the transactions contemplated thereby or any legal or other enforcement proceeding in connection with
any Loan Document or any of the transaction contemplated thereby. For the purposes of this Section,
“Information” means al information received from the Borrower or its officers, directors, employees,
agents, auditors, |lawyers and Affiliates relating to the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries or Affiliates
(including Investment Affiliates) or any of their respective businesses other than any such information
that is available to the Administrative Agent or any Bank on a non-confidentia basis prior to disclosure
by the Borrower and other than information pertaining to this Agreement routiney provided by arrangers
to data service providers, including league table providers, that serve the lending industry; provided that,
in the case of information received from the Borrower after the date hereof, such information is clearly
identified at the time of delivery as confidential provided further, however, that al financia information
delivered in connection with this Agreement and the other Loan Documents is deemed to be and shdll be
treated as confidential. In the event of any required disclosure of Information, any Person required to
maintain the confidentidity of such Information as provided in this Section 9.14 agrees to use reasonable
efforts to inform the Borrower as promptly as practicable of the circumstances and the Information
required to be disclosed to the extent not prohibited by applicable law.

Section9.15. USA Patriot Act. Each Bank hereby notifies the Borrower that pursuant to the
requirements of the USA Patriot Act (Title I11 of Pub. L. 107-56 (signed into law October 26, 2001)) (the
“Patriot Act”), it is required to obtain, verify and record infarmation that identifies the Borrower, which
information i ncl udes the name and address of the Borrower and other information that will allow such
Bank to identify the Borrower in accordance with the Patriot Act.

Section 9.16.  Acknowledgements. The Borrower hereby (a) acknowledges that (i) it has been
advised by counsel in the negotiation, execution and delivery of this Agreement and that the Covered
Parties have consulted their own accounting, regulatory and tax advisors to the extent the Covered Parties
have deemed gppropriate in the negotiation, execution and delivery of this Agreement and the other Loan
Documents; (ii ) none of the Agents or any Bank has any fiduciary, advisory or agency relationship with
or duty to the Borrower arising out of or in connection with this Agreement or any of the other Loan
Documents, and the rel ationship between the Agents and Banks, on one hand, and the Borrower, on the
other hand, in connection herewith or therewith is solely that of debtor and creditor; (iii) no joint venture
is created hereby or by the other Loan Documents or otherwise exists by virtue of the transactions
conternpl ated hereby among the Banks or among the Borrower or any other Covered Parties and the
Banks; (iv) the Agents and the Banks on the one hand, and the Covered Parties, on the other hand, have
an arm’ s length business rdationship that does not directly or indirectly give rise to, nor do the Covered
Parties rely on, any fiduciary duty to the Covered Parties or their affiliates on the part of the Agents or the
Banks; (v) each Agent and Bank has been, is, and will be acting solely as aprincipal and, except as
otherwise expressly agreed in writing by it and the relevant parties, has not been, is not, and will not be
acting as an advisor, agent or fiduciary for the Covered Parties, any of their affiliates or any ather Person;
(vi) none of the Agents or Banks has any obligation to the Covered Parties or their affiliates with respect
to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or the other Loan Documents except those obligations
expressly set forth herein or therein or in any other express writing executed and delivered by such Agent
or Bank and the Covered Parties or any such affiliate; and (vii) the Covered Parties are capable of
evaluating and understanding, and the Covered Parties understand and accept, the terms, risks and
conditions of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the other Loan Documents; and (b)
waives and rel eases, to the fullest extent permitted by law, any claimsthat it may have against the
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Administrative Agent or any other Agent or Bank with respect to any breach or alleged breach of agency
or fiduciary duty.

Section 9.17. Releasesof Liens.

(a) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein or in any other Loan
Document, the Administrative Agent is hereby irrevocably authorized by each Bank (without requirement
of notice to or consent of any Bank except as expressly required by Section 9.5) to take any action
requested by the Borrower (i) having the effect of releasing any Collatera (A) to the extent necessary to
permit consummation of any transaction permitted by any Loan Document or that has been consented to
in accardance with Section 9.5 or (B) under the circumstances described in paragraph (b) below and (ii)
having the effect of confirming that a Covered Subsidiary or Covered Asset are no longer subject to the
terms of this Agreement or the Collateral Documents and no longer constitute a “ Covered Subsidiary” or
“Covered Asset” as defined.

(b) At such time as the Loans and the other Obligations under the Loan Documents
shall have been paid in full and the Commitments have been terminated, the Collaterd shall be rel eased
from the Liens created by the Collateral Documents, and the Collaterad Documents and al obligations
(other than those expresdy stated to survive such termination) of the Administrative Agent and each
Covered Party under the Collatera Documents shall terminate, al without delivery of any instrument or
performance of any act by any Person.

Section 9.18.  No Novation. The amendment and restatement of the Existing Credit Agreement
shall not extinguish the obligations outstanding under the Existing Credit Agreement, the Collatera
Documents or the other Loan Documents or discharge or release the lien or priority of the Collatera
Documents or the other Loan Documents. Nothing herein contained shal be construed as a substitution
or novation of the obligations outstanding under the Existing Credit Agreement, the Coll ateral
Documents, the other Loan Documents or instruments securing the same or the other Loan Documents,
which shall remain in full force and effect, except to any extent modified hereby or by instruments
executed concurrently herewith. Nothing implied in this Agreement, the Collateral Documents, the other
Loan Documents or in any other document contempl ated hereby or thereby shall be construed as arelease
or other discharge of any of Borrower or any other Covered Party from any of its obligations and
licbilities as a“ Borrower,” or “Covered Party,” under the Agreement, the Collateral Documents or the
other Loan Documents, except to any extent modified hereby or by instruments executed concurrently
herewith or therewith. Each of this Agreement, the Callateral Documents and the other Loan Documents
shall remain in full force and effect, until (as applicable) and except to any extent modified hereby or in
connection herewith.

Section 9.19.  Acknowledgement and Consent to Bail-In of EEA Financia Institutions.
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in any Loan Document or in any other agreement, arrangement
or understanding among any such parties, each party hereto acknowledges that any liability of any EEA
Financid Institution arising under any Loan Document, to the extent such liability is unsecured, may be
subject to the write-down and conversion powers of an EEA Resolution Authority and agrees and
consents to, and acknowl edges and agrees to be bound by:

(a) the gpplication of any Write-Down and Conversion Powers by an EEA
Resolution Authority to any such liabilities arising hereunder which may be payable to it by any party
hereto that is an EEA Financid Institution; and

(b) the effects of any Bail-In Action on any such liability, including, if applicable:
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(i) areductionin full or in part or cancellation of any such liability;

(ii) aconversion of al, or aportion of, such liability into shares or other instruments
of ownership in such EEA Financid Institution, its parent undertaking, or a bridge institution that
may be issued to it or otherwise conferred onit, and that such shares or other instruments of
ownership will be accepted by it in lieu of any rights with respect to any such liability under this
Agreement or any other Loan Document; or

(iii)  thevariation of the terms of such liability in connection with the exercise of the
Write-Down and Conversion Powers of any EEA Resolution Authority.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be duly
executed by their respective authorized officers as of the day and year first above written,

iSTARINC,,
as the Borrower

By: /¢ Authorized Signatory
Name:
Title:

[iStar Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement]




JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A.,
as the Administrative Agent and a Bank

By: /s/Authorized Signatory
Name:
Title:

[iStar Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement]




BANK OF AMERICA, N.A.,
asaBank

By: /s/Authorized Signatory
Name:
Title:

[iStar Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement]




BARCLAYSBANK PLC,
asaBank

By: /s/Authorized Signatory
Name:
Title:

[iStar Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement]




MORGAN STANLEY SENIOR FUNDING, INC.,
asaBank

By: /s/Authorized Signatory
Name:
Title:

[iStar Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement]




GOLDMAN SACHS BANK USA,
asaBank

By: /s/Authorized Signatory
Name:
Title:

[iStar Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement]







Exhibit 31.0
CERTIFICATION
1, Jay Sugarman, certify that:
1. T have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of iStar Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances
under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and
cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e))
and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to
the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and
procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal
quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee
of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's
ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.
Date: October 31, 2019 By: /s/ JAY SUGARMAN

Name: Jay Sugarman
Title: Chief Executive Officer




CERTIFICATION
1, Garett Rosenblum, certify that:
1. T have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of iStar Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances
under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and
cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e))
and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to
the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and
procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal
quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee
of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's
ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.
Date: October 31, 2019 By: /s/ GARETT ROSENBLUM
Name: Garett Rosenblum

Chief Accounting Officer
(principal financial officer)

Title:



Exhibit 32.0
Certification of Chief Executive Officer
Pursuant to Section 906 of The Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

The undersigned, the Chief Executive Officer of iStar Inc. (the "Company"), hereby certifies on the date hereof, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of The Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002, that the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2019 (the "Form 10-Q"), filed concurrently herewith by the Company, fully complies with the
requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and that the information contained in the Form 10-Q fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial
condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: October 31, 2019 By: /s/ JAY SUGARMAN
Name: Jay Sugarman
Title: Chief Executive Officer




Certification of Principal Financial Officer
Pursuant to Section 906 of The Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

The undersigned, the principal financial officer of iStar Inc. (the "Company"), hereby certifies on the date hereof, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of The
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2019 (the "Form 10-Q"), filed concurrently herewith by the Company, fully complies with
the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and that the information contained in the Form 10-Q fairly presents, in all material respects, the
financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: October 31, 2019 By: /s/ GARETT ROSENBLUM
Name: Garett Rosenblum
Title: Chief Accounting Officer

(principal financial officer)



